

منظمة الطيران المدني الدولي

فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة (DGP)

الاجتماع الثامن والعشرون

افتراضي، ١٥ - ١٩ نوفمبر ٢٠٢١

ملف التقرير

لم تنظر لجنة الملاحة الجوية بعد في محتويات هذا التقرير. وتعتبر الآراء الواردة فيه مشورة من فريق من الخبراء تابع للجنة الملاحة الجوية ولا تمثل آراء المنظمة. وبعد أن تستعرض لجنة الملاحة الجوية هذا التقرير سوف تصدر إضافة له تبين الإجراءات التي اتخذتها لجنة الملاحة الجوية في هذا الشأن.

الاجتماع الثامن والعشرون
لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة (DGP) (٢٠٢١)

كتاب إحالة

إلى: رئيس لجنة الملاحة الجوية

من: رئيس فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة (DGP) (٢٠٢١)

أتشرف بتقديم تقرير الاجتماع الثامن والعشرين لفريق خبراء البضائع
الخطرة (DGP) الذي انعقد افتراضيا من ١٥ إلى ١٩/١١/٢٠٢١.



تون مولر

رئيس فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة

جدول المحتويات

الصفحة

الخلفية التاريخية للاجتماع

ii-1	١- مدة الاجتماع.....
ii-1	٢- الحضور.....
ii-3	٣- المسؤولون والأمانة العامة.....
ii-3	٤- جدول أعمال الاجتماع.....
ii-5	٥- ترتيبات العمل.....
ii-5	٦- الملاحظات الافتتاحية من جانب رئيس لجنة الملاحة الجوية.....

تقرير الاجتماع

1-1	البند رقم ١: الموافقة بين أحكام الإيكاء المتعلقة بالبضائع الخطرة وتوصيات الأمم المتحدة بشأن نقل البضائع الخطرة (المرجع REC-ADGS-2023)
1-1	١-١: إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل الملحق الثامن عشر - "النقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو"
1-2	٢-١: إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل وثيقة التعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو" (Doc 9284) لإدخالها في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤
1-7	٣-١: إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل وثيقة الإضافة الملحقة بالتعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو" (Doc 9284SU) لإدراجها في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤
	البند رقم ٢: إدارة المخاطر التي تهدد السلامة الجوية، وتحديد أوجه التعارض (المرجع REC-A-DGS-2023)
2-1	١-٢: إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل الملحق الثامن عشر - "النقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو"
2-2	٢-٢: إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل وثيقة التعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو" (Doc 9284) لإدراجها في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤
2-8	٣-٢: إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل وثيقة الإضافة الملحقة بالتعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو" (Doc 9284SU) لإدراجها في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤
2-9	٤-٢: إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل إرشادات التعامل مع حالات الطوارئ المرتبطة بحوادث الطائرات الناتجة عن البضائع الخطرة (Doc 9481) لإدراجها في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤

3-1	البند رقم ٣: تسهيل النقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة عن طريق الجو (المرجع: REC-A-DGS- 2023)
4-1	البند رقم ٤: إدارة مخاطر السلامة الناجمة عن نقل بطاريات الليثيوم جواً (المرجع: بطاقة الأعمال رقم DGP.003.03)
5-1	البند رقم ٥: توضيح مسؤوليات الدول عن المراقبة وفقاً للملحق الثامن عشر (المرجع: بطاقة الأعمال رقم DGP.005.03)
6-1	البند رقم ٦: التنسيق مع أفرقة الخبراء الأخرى
6-2	١-٦: فريق خبراء عمليات الطيران (SCGSWG.001.01, SCGSWG.002.01, SCGSWG.003.01)
6-3	٢-٦: فريق خبراء السلامة للطيران (ARP) (المرجع: AIRP.012.04)
6-4	٣-٦: فريق خبراء إدارة السلامة (المرجع: SMP.017.03, SMP.019.02, SMP.020.01, SMP.021.01)
6-5	٤-٦: فريق خبراء نظم الطائرات الموجهة عن بُعد (المرجع: ROI-7-2020-2)
6-6	٥-٦: فريق خبراء أمن الطيران (AVSECP)
7-1	٦-٦: أي أفرقة خبراء أخرى
8-1	البند رقم ٧: المواءمة بين إرشادات فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة، التي تساعد على تحضير التعليمات الفنية والوثائق الداعمة، وبين الأحكام المنقحة بشأن البضائع الخطرة
A-1	البند رقم ٨ من جدول الأعمال: الأعمال الأخرى
B-1	APPENDIX A TO THE REPORT: CONSOLIDATED AMENDMENTS TO THE TECHNICAL INSTRUCTIONS RECOMMENDED UNDER AGENDA ITEMS 1, 2, 3 AND 4
C-1	APPENDIX B TO THE REPORT: CONSOLIDATED AMENDMENTS TO THE SUPPLEMENT TO THE TECHNICAL INSTRUCTIONS RECOMMENDED UNDER AGENDA ITEMS 1, 2, 3 AND 4
	المرفق (ج) بالتقرير: مشاريع التعديلات على وثيقة "إرشادات التعامل مع حالات الطوارئ المرتبطة بحوادث الطائرات الناتجة عن البضائع الخطرة"

قائمة التوصيات*

- ١/١ — تعديل لوثيقة التعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو (Doc 9284) مقترح إدخاله في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من أجل مواءمة هذه الوثيقة مع توصيات الأمم المتحدة بشأن نقل البضائع الخطرة 1-6
- ٢/١ — تعديل للإضافة الملحق بوثيقة التعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو (Doc 9284SU) مقترح إدخاله في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من أجل مواءمة هذه الوثيقة مع توصيات الأمم المتحدة بشأن نقل البضائع الخطرة 1-7
- ١/٢ — تعديل لوثيقة "التعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو" (Doc 9284) مقترح إدخاله في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من أجل معالجة المخاطر المتعلقة تحديداً بالسلامة الجوية وأوجه التعارض المرصودة 2-7
- ٢/٢ — مواد إرشادية بشأن نقل الجليد الجاف 2-7
- ٣/٢ — تعديل للإضافة الملحق بوثيقة "التعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو" (9284SU) مقترح إدخاله في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من أجل معالجة المخاطر المتعلقة تحديداً بالسلامة الجوية وأوجه التعارض المرصودة 2-8
- ٤/٢ — تعديل إرشادات التصدي لطوارئ حوادث الطائرات الناجمة عن البضائع الخطرة (Doc 9481)، مقترح إدخاله في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤، من أجل معالجة المخاطر المتعلقة تحديداً بالسلامة الجوية وأوجه التعارض المرصودة 2-9
- ١/٣ — تعديل لوثيقة التعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو (Doc 9284) مقترح إدخاله في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من أجل تيسير النقل 3-5
- ١/٤ — تعديل للأحكام الخاصة ببطاريات الليثيوم، مقترح إدخاله في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من وثيقة التعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو (Doc 9484) 4-8
- ٢/٤ — تعديل الأحكام الخاصة ببطاريات الليثيوم، مقترح إدخاله في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ للإضافة الملحق بالمعلومات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو (Doc 9481 SU) 4-8
- ١/٦ — استعراض أحكام الملحق السادس ذات الصلة بالبضائع الخطرة 6-4
- ٢/٦ — أحكام البضائع الخطرة لدعم عمليات نظم الطائرات الموجهة عن بعد 6-4

* التوصيات الموسومة (ت. ق. د) تتعلق بمقترحات لتعديل القواعد والتوصيات الدولية وإجراءات خدمات الملاحة الجوية أو تتصل بمادة إرشادية في الملحق.

فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة (DGP)

الاجتماع الثامن والعشرون

افتراضيا، ١٥ إلى ٢٠٢١/١١/١٩

الخلفية التاريخية للاجتماع

١- مدة الاجتماع

١-١ افتتح السيد نبيل نعومي، رئيس لجنة الملاحة الجوية، الاجتماع الثامن والعشرين لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة في الساعة الحادية عشرة صباحاً من يوم ٢٠٢١/١١/١٥ وكان الاجتماع افتراضياً وقد سبقته حلقة عمل افتراضية استمرت أربعة أيام من ٨ إلى ٢٠٢١/١١/١١. واختتم الاجتماع في يوم ٢٠٢١/١١/١٩.

٢- الحضور

١-٢ حضر الاجتماع أعضاء ومراقبون رشحتهم ٢١ دولة متعاقدة وسبع منظمات دولية، فضلاً عن عدد من المستشارين وآخرين على النحو الوارد أدناه:

الأعضاء	المستشارون	جهة الترشيح
S. Bitossi		Australia
L. Cascardo	P.F. Macario	Brazil
S. Cumberbirch	D. Bolton D. Evans N. Prince A. G. Sansoucy	Canada
P.Guo	S.AU (Hong Kong) T.Feng F. Lam (Hong Kong) A. Lee (Hong Kong) Y. Qiang J. Ying (Hong Kong) J. Wan (Hong Kong) Q. Zhenhua	China
P. Tatin		France
S. Weizenhoefer		Germany
P. Privitera	C. Carboni A. Pellas E. Toriello	Italy
M. Araya	Y. Funai N. Iki	Japan

الأعضاء	المستشارون	جهة الترشيح
	K. Nakano T. Tanaka K. Yanagawa	
T. Muller	E. Boon R. Dardenne H. Strijbosch K. Vermeersch	Netherlands
E. Gillett	M. Cowlinshaw W. Herath	Qatar
S. Kang		Republic of Korea
P. Pavlov	D. Kurdchenko	Russian Federation
L. Gqeke	S. Maharaj B. Ngiba	South Africa
M. de Castro	A. de Marcos F. Rodriguez Guzman S. Garcia Wolfrum	Spain
السيد هـ. المهيري	هـ. عبد المنعم ك. البلوشي هـ. الحوتي السيد ت. هاوارد السيد أ. وجيه	الإمارات العربية المتحدة
J. Hanafin	M. Ranito C. Ruzicka	United Kingdom
D. Pfund	M. Cameron M. Givens R. Hill K. Leary E. Petrie K. Ranck	United States
D. Brennan	C. Chan	International Air Transport Association (IATA)
D. Ferguson		International Coordinating Council of Aerospace Industries Associations (ICCAIA)
S. Schwartz	T. Guitierrez T. Limpiainen M. Phaneuf M. Schlichting	International Federation of Air Line Pilots' Associations (IFALPA)
المستشارون		
A. Altemos G. Leach		Dangerous Goods Advisory Council (DGAC)
S. Schultes E. Sigrist		European Council Industry Council (CEFIC)

المستشارون

المراقبون

Argentina	N. J. Luro
Chile	R. Machuca
Finland	H. Senja
Switzerland	R. Cataldo
European Union Aviation Safety Agency (EASA)	N. Hagmann L. Calleja Barcena
Global Express Association (GEA)	A. McCulloch T. Rogers
Medical Device Battery Transport Council (MDTC)	T. Rosetti
North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO)	E. Remy
PRBA – The Rechargeable Battery Association	G. Kerchner
Strategic Aviation Solutions International (SASI)	P. Balasubramanian
UL	J. Jeevarajan
Universal Postal Union	D. Wilkes

٣- المسؤولين والأمانة العامة

- ١-٣ انتخب الاجتماع السيد تون مولر (هولندا) رئيساً له والسيد ليوناردو كاسكارو (البرازيل) نائباً للرئيس.
- ٢-٣ تولت مهام أمانة الاجتماع الدكتورة كاثرين روني، رئيسة قسم سلامة البضائع، وساعدتها في ذلك السيدة فيرجيليو أليغريا والسيدة لين ماكغوينغ المسؤولتان الفنيّتان من القسم ذاته.

٤- جدول أعمال الاجتماع

- ١-٤ أقرت لجنة الملاحة الجوية في ٦/٨/٢٠٢١ جدول أعمال الاجتماع الوارد أدناه:
- البند رقم ١: المواءمة بين أحكام الإيكاء المتعلقة بالبضائع الخطرة وتوصيات الأمم المتحدة بشأن نقل البضائع الخطرة (المرجع: REC-A-DGS-2023).
- ١-١: إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل الملحق الثامن عشر — "النقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو"
- ٢-١: إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل وثيقة "التعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو" (Doc 9284) لإدخالها في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من الوثيقة

- ٣-١: إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل وثيقة "الإضافة للتعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو" (Doc 9284SU) لإدخالها في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من الوثيقة
- البند رقم ٢: إدارة المخاطر المتعلقة بالسلامة الجوية وتحديد أوجه التعارض (المرجع: REC-A-DGS-2023)
- ١-٢: إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل الملحق الثامن عشر — "النقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو"
- ٢-٢: إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل وثيقة "التعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو" (Doc 9284) لإدخالها في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من الوثيقة
- ٣-٢: إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل وثيقة "الإضافة للتعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو" (Doc 9284SU) لإدخالها في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من الوثيقة
- ٤-٢: إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل وثيقة "إرشادات التعامل مع حالات الطوارئ المرتبطة بحوادث الطائرات الناتجة عن السلع الخطرة" (Doc 9481) لإدخالها في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من الوثيقة
- البند رقم ٣: تسهيل النقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة عن طريق الجو (المرجع: REC-A-DGS-2023)
- البند رقم ٤: إدارة مخاطر السلامة الناجمة عن نقل بطاريات الليثيوم جواً (المرجع: بطاقة الأعمال رقم DGP.003.03)
- البند رقم ٥: توضيح مسؤوليات الدول عن المراقبة وفقاً للملحق الثامن عشر (المرجع: بطاقة الأعمال رقم DGP.005.02).
- البند رقم ٦: التنسيق مع أفرقة الخبراء الأخرى
- ١-٦: فريق خبراء عمليات الطيران (FLTOSP) (المرجع: SCGSWG.001.01, SCGSWG.002.01, SCGSWG.003.01)
- ٢-٦: فريق خبراء صلاحية الطائرات للطيران (AIRP) (المرجع: AIRP.012.04)
- ٣-٦: فريق خبراء إدارة السلامة (SMP) (المرجع: SMP.017.03, SMP.019.02, SMP.020.01, SMP.021.01)
- ٤-٦: فريق خبراء نظم الطائرات الموجهة عن بُعد (RPASP) (المرجع: ROI-7-2020-2)
- ٥-٦: أمن الطيران (AVSECP) (المرجع: REC-A-DGS 2023)
- ٦-٦: أي أفرقة خبراء أخرى
- البند رقم ٧: مواءمة "المواد الإرشادية لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة للمساعدة في إعداد التعليمات الفنية والوثائق الداعمة" مع الأحكام المنقحة بشأن البضائع الخطرة
- البند رقم ٨: الأعمال الأخرى

٥- ترتيبات العمل

١-٥ عقد فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة اجتماعه في شكل هيئة واحدة، وشكل أفرقة خاصة للصياغة حسب الحاجة. وأجريت المناقشات في الاجتماع الرئيسي باللغات العربية والصينية والإنجليزية، والفرنسية، والروسية والإسبانية. وقُدمت بعض ورقات العمل باللغة الإنجليزية فقط. وأجري اجتماع مجموعة العمل الذي امتد لأربعة أيام باللغة الإنجليزية فقط. وأجاز فريق الخبراء النتائج الختامية لمناقشات مجموعة العمل. التي تضمنت التقرير. وصدر تقرير فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة، الذي يتضمن مناقشات مجموعة العمل باللغات العربية (السردي فقط) والصينية والإنجليزية، والفرنسية، والروسية والإسبانية.

٦- الملاحظات الافتتاحية من جانب رئيس لجنة الملاحة الجوية

١-٦ صباح الخير. اسمي نبيل نعومي، وصفتي هي رئيس لجنة الملاحة الجوية، وأود أن أرحب بكم بالنيابة عن لجنة الملاحة الجوية في هذا الاجتماع الثامن والعشرين لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة. وكنت أتمنى أن أشاهدكم وجها لوجه في مونتريال ولكن على أن أكتفي برؤيتكم افتراضياً.

٢-٦ وستتعدد اجتماعاتكم رسمياً هذا الأسبوع بصفتكم فريقاً للخبراء. وأفهم أن اجتماعاً غير رسمي لمجموعة العمل انعقد الأسبوع الماضي. وآمل أن يكون الإعداد غير الرسمي قد سمح لكم بالتقدم البناء فيما يخص العديد من عناصر برنامج عملكم قبل مراجعته رسمياً هذا الأسبوع في الجلسة العامة.

٣-٦ وقد شكل العمل افتراضياً منذ بداية جائحة كوفيد-١٩ تحدياً لنا جميعاً، لكن من اللافت للنظر مقدار ما تمكنا من تحقيقه. وأعلم أن الأمر لم يكن سهلاً، خاصة بالنسبة للأعضاء المقيمين في مناطق زمنية معينة الذين يضطرون، وبصورة منتظمة، إلى المشاركة في الاجتماعات في وقت متأخر جداً من المساء أو في وقت مبكر جداً من الصباح. واللجنة ممتنة لجميع الأعضاء على الجهود التي بذلتموها للدفع قدماً ببرنامج عملكم على الرغم من هذه التحديات. وأشير بشكل خاص إلى المساهمة السريعة التي قدمتها اللجنة فيما يتعلق بتسهيل النقل الآمن لشحنات البضائع اللازمة لاحتواء جائحة كوفيد-١٩ وإنقاذ الأرواح. وكان نتيجة ذلك أن دعمت اللجنة ووافق المجلس على إضافتين للتعليمات الفنية من خلال إجراء تعديل المسار السريع. ونحن ممتنون للفريق لتمكنه من تطوير الأحكام التي وافق عليها الجميع بسرعة. وقد تحقق ذلك من خلال التعاون الفعال بين أعضاء فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة والتنسيق مع الأعضاء في اللجان الأخرى وبالطبع بدعم من الأمانة العامة.

٤-٦ ومنذ الاجتماع السابع والعشرين، حدثت العديد من التغييرات في عضوية فريق الخبراء:

- فقد غادرت السيدة باكايت فريق الخبراء بعد رئاستها له لعدة سنوات. وقد حظيت السيدة باكايت باحترام الجميع كرئيسة للفريق وسوف نفتقدها. ووافقت اللجنة لاحقاً على تعيين خلفها السيدة كمبيريرش من كندا.
- وغادر السيد جيليت الفريق كعضو رشحته المملكة المتحدة، ووافق الفريق على ترشيح السيدة هنفين كبديل له. وتم ترشيح السيد جيليت في وقت لاحق كعضو جديد في الفريق من قبل قطر، الأمر الذي وافقت عليها اللجنة.
- وغادر السيد بروكهاوس الفريق الذي كان أحد أقدم أعضائه، وقد سعدت بالتعرف عليه والعمل معه في الماضي. ووافقت اللجنة على ترشيح ألمانيا للسيدة وايزنهوفر كبديل له.
- وغادر السيد سونغ اللجنة ووافقت اللجنة على ترشيح الصين للسيد غو ليحل محله.
- وغادر السيد يو الفريق ووافقت اللجنة على ترشيح جمهورية كوريا للسيد كانغ.

واللجنة ممتنة للغاية لإسهامات كل عضو من الأعضاء المنتهية مدتهم وترحب بالأعضاء الجدد. وقد أسفرت هذه التغييرات في العضوية عن تشكيل مجموعة العمل من عشرين عضواً رشحتهم سبعة عشر دولة وثلاث منظمات دولية. ونشمن غالباً العمل الذي يضطلع به جميع الأعضاء.

٥-٦ لقد توسع برنامج عملكم وأصبح أكثر تعقيداً في السنوات الأخيرة. وتدرك اللجنة التحديات التي ينطوي عليها الأمر وتقدر جهودكم للتعاون مع بعضكم البعض ومع خبراء من الأفرقة الأخرى للوصول إلى الاستنتاجات بعد دراسة متأنية. وقد علمت أن فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة قد أنشأ عدة مجموعات عمل مخصصة للدفع قدماً ببرنامج عمله. أود أن أشكر بشكل خاص الأعضاء الذين تطوعوا لقيادة مجموعات العمل المنشأة حديثاً وكذلك قادة مجموعات العمل القائمة منذ فترة طويلة بشأن التدريب على البضائع الخطرة والملحق الثامن عشر.

٦-٦ ومن المهم بالنسبة لي أن أذكر كل منكم بأنه هنا كخبير بصفته الشخصية. وعلى الرغم من أن حكوماتكم أو مؤسساتكم قد رشحتكم، فقد قبلتكم لجنة الملاحاة الجوية كخبراء في مجال تخصصكم. وقد لا تكون المشورة التي تقدمونها هي نفس مشورة منظمكم. كما أود أن أذكركم بأهمية التوصل إلى الحلول والنتائج بإجماع الآراء. وسيساعد ذلك على ضمان معالجة التعديلات وتنفيذها بفعالية على مستوى الدول.

٧-٦ أود أن أبلغكم أن اللجنة قد استعرضت مؤخراً الأولويات الممنوحة لكل بند من بنود برنامج عملها، وأن البنود الموكلة إلى فريقكم تم توصيفها كأولويات عالية. إنني أتطلع إلى الاستماع إلى نتائج مناقشاتكم حول هذه البنود من خلال إحاطة غير رسمية مع اللجنة يوم الجمعة، لا سيما فيما يتعلق بإدارة المخاطر المرتبطة ببطاريات الليثيوم وتوضيح مسؤوليات الدول من خلال الملحق الثامن عشر.

٨-٦ وأخيراً، أود أن أخبركم بأن إبلاغ الايكاو بالصعوبات التي تواجهونها في تطبيق التعليمات الفنية وأي تعديلات قد تكون مرغوبة يجب أن يحدث مباشرة إلى الأمانة أو من خلال فرادى أعضاء الفريق وليس من خلال أعضاء اللجنة أو المجلس.

٩-٦ وبقي لي أن أتمنى لكم التوفيق إذ نعلن افتتاح الاجتماع الثامن والعشرين لفريق البضائع الخطرة متمنين لكم كل النجاح في عملكم. واللجنة على ثقة من أنكم ستحافظون على المستويات العالية التي أظهرتموها في الاجتماعات السابقة. وآمل ألا يمر وقت طويل قبل أن نتمكن من الترحيب بكم مرة أخرى في مونتريال.

البند رقم ١ المواءمة بين أحكام الإيكاو المتعلقة بالبضائع الخطرة وبين توصيات الأمم المتحدة بشأن نقل البضائع الخطرة (Ref: REC-A-DGS-2023)

١-١: إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل الملحق الثامن عشر - النقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو"

لم يتم وضع اقتراحات في إطارها البند من جدول الأعمال لتعديل الملحق الثامن عشر.

— — — — —

البند رقم ١: المواءمة بين أحكام الإيكو المتعلقة بالبضائع الخطرة وبين توصيات الأمم المتحدة بشأن نقل البضائع الخطرة (Ref: REC-A-DGS-2023)

٢-١ إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل وثيقة "التعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو" (Doc 9284) لإدخالها في طبعة ٢٠٢١-٢٠٢٢

١-٢-١ مشاريع تعديلات "التعليمات الفنية" التي اقترحتها مجموعة العمل المعنية بالمواءمة التابعة لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة لتتوافق مع توصيات الأمم المتحدة

خلفية الموضوع

١-٢-١-١ استعرض الاجتماع التعديلات المقترحة إدخالها على "التعليمات الفنية" بناءً على القرارات التي اتخذتها لجنة خبراء الأمم المتحدة المعنية بنقل البضائع الخطرة والنظام المنسق عالمياً لتصنيف المواد الكيميائية ووسمها (التي تسمى أدناه اختصاراً بـ "لجنة خبراء الأمم المتحدة" (UNCOE)) في دورتها العاشرة (جنيف، ١١/١٢/٢٠٢٠). وقد وضعت هذه التعديلات مجموعة العمل المعنية بالمواءمة مع الأمم المتحدة. وكانت مجموعة العمل تلك قد أنشئت في اجتماع مجموعة العمل التابعة لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة في عام ٢٠٢٠ (اجتماع عام ٢٠٢٠ المعقود بين ١٩ و ٢٣/١٠/٢٠٢٠) لكي تكون هيئة دائمة مكلفة بالمهام التالية:

- أ) مواءمة أحكام الإيكو الخاصة بالبضائع الخطرة مع توصيات الأمم المتحدة بشأن نقل البضائع الخطرة بهدف تسهيل النقل متعدد الوسائل مع الحفاظ على مستوى مقبول من السلامة للنقل الجوي؛
- ب) تحديد المجالات التي قد يؤدي فيها التنسيق مع توصيات الأمم المتحدة بشأن نقل البضائع الخطرة إلى بروز مخاطر غير مقبولة على الطيران.

٢-١-٢-١ وفي البدء تمت مراجعة مخرجات مجموعة العمل المعنية بالمواءمة مع الأمم المتحدة في اجتماع مجموعة العمل التابعة لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة الحادي والعشرين (DGP-WG / 21)، من ٢٤ إلى ٢٨ مايو ٢٠٢١ (انظر الفقرة ٣-١-٢ من تقرير مجموعة العمل). وواصلت مجموعة العمل المعنية بالمواءمة استعراضها بعد ذلك الاجتماع وأوصت بتقديرات إضافية على نحو ما يرد في تقرير مناقشات الاجتماع الثامن والعشرين لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة أدناه.

الجزء الأول (DGP/28-WP/11 و DGP/28-WP/54)

٣-١-٢-١ تمت الموافقة على التعديلات المقترحة على الجزء الأول المقدمة إلى اجتماع مجموعة العمل الحادي والعشرين، رهنًا بتعديل إضافي للإشارة في تعريف الأيروسول أو موزع الأيروسول جاء نتيجة للتعديلات على الأحكام الخاصة بالأيروسول في الجزأين الرابع والسادس (انظر أيضًا التعديلات على هذين الجزأين والإضافة الواردة في الفقرات ٦-١-٢-١ و ٨-١-٢-١ و ١-١-٣-١ والمرفق (أ) بالتقرير المتعلق بهذا البند من جدول الأعمال).

الجزء الثاني (DGP/28 WP / 12 و DGP/28 WP / 51 والمرفق (أ) بالوثيقة DGP / 28 WP / 53)

٤-١-٢-١ تمت الموافقة على التعديلات المقترحة على الجزء الثاني المقدمة إلى الاجتماع الحادي والعشرين لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة (DGP-WG / 21)، رهنًا بإدراج التعديلات الإضافية التالية التي أوصت بها مجموعة العمل المعنية بالتنسيق مع الأمم المتحدة:

(أ) إضافة تفاصيل مستقاة من لوائح الأمم المتحدة التنظيمية لتصنيف المواد ذاتية التفاعل الواردة في القسم ١-٤ من الجزء الثاني؛ والفقرة ١-٢-٣-٢-٤ من القسم ٢-٥ من الجزء الثاني؛ والفقرة ٢-٢-٣ من التعليمات الفنية.

(ب) إضافة أكسيد فوقي عضوي مدرج في تعليمات التعبئة لحاويات السوائل المتوسطة الحجم في لوائح الأمم المتحدة التنظيمية النموذجية (IBC520) إلى الجدول ٧-٢. وتضمنت وثيقة الأمم المتحدة الأكاسيد الفوقية العضوية في جدول مقابل وسمحت لأكاسيد عضوية أخرى من خلال إدراجها في تعليمات التعبئة تلك. ولا توجد تعليمات تعبئة مناظرة لها في التعليمات الفنية، نظرًا لأن الحاويات المتوسطة الحجم للنقل الجوي غير مسموح بها عمومًا في النقل الجوي. وبسبب إضافة هذا البند إلى الجدول ٢-٧ أصبح الجدول مختلفًا عن الجدول المناظر في لوائح الأمم المتحدة التنظيمية النموذجية، غير أن ذلك اعتبر ضروريًا لأغراض التنسيق الشامل.

الجزء الثالث (DGP/28-WP/13 and DGP/28-WP/51)

٥-١-٢-١ تمت الموافقة على التعديلات على الجزء ٣ المقدمة إلى اجتماع فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة DGP-WG / 21، رهنا بإدراج التعديلات الإضافية التالية التي أوصت بها مجموعة العمل المعنية بالمواءمة وتصحيح التناقضات المكتشفة في النسخة الإسبانية (انظر الملحق (ب) بالتقرير عن هذا البند من جدول الأعمال):

(أ) تنقيحات البنود في الجدول ١-٣ لرقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3221 - مادة سائلة ذاتية التفاعل من النوع باء ورقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3231 مادة سائلة ذاتية التفاعل من النوع باء درجة الحرارة مضبوطة لجعلها ممنوعة تحت أي ظرف من الظروف لأغراض المواءمة مع طريقة التعامل مع بنود المادة الصلبة ذاتية التفاعل من النوع باء والمادة الصلبة ذاتية التفاعل من النوع باء، درجة الحرارة مضبوطة في الجدول ١-٣ ومع الاعتراف بأن لوائح الأمم المتحدة النموذجية حددت المواد ذاتية التفاعل من القسم ١-٤، النوع باء على أنها ذات خصائص متفجرة.

(ب) استبدال النص في الحكم الخاص أ ٥٧ بكلمة "غير مستخدم" وحذفه من الجدول ١-٣. فقد كان النص زائدًا عن الحاجة لأنه تم تضمينه بالفعل في تعليمات التعبئة المخصصة للمواد التي تم تعيين الحكم الخاص لها.

الجزء الرابع (DGP / 28-WP / 54 و DGP / 28 WP / 14)

٦-١-٢-١ تمت الموافقة على التعديلات المقترحة على الجزء الرابع المقدمة إلى الاجتماع، رهنا بإدراج التعديلات الإضافية على أحكام الأيروسول في تعليمات التعبئة 203 و Y203 و Y963 التي أوصت بها مجموعة العمل المعنية بالتوافق مع الأمم المتحدة (انظر أيضًا التعديلات على الجزئين الأول والسادس والإضافة كما ترد في الفقرات ٣-١-٢-١ و ٨-١-٢-١ و ١-١-٣-١ والمرفق (أ) بالتقرير المتعلق بهذا البند من جدول الأعمال) وتصحيح التناقضات المكتشفة في النسخة الإسبانية (انظر الملحق (ب) بالتقرير في هذا البند من جدول الأعمال).

الجزء الخامس (DGP/28-WP/15 and Appendix B to DGP/28-WP/53)

٧-١-٢-١ تمت الموافقة على التعديلات المقترحة على الجزء الخامس التي عُرضت على اجتماع اللجنة، رهناً بإدخال تعديل إضافي يتعلق بإلغاء شرط ظهور رقم هاتف على علامة بطارية الليثيوم (الشكل ٥-٣). وكان الغرض من ذلك هو حذف الملاحظة الحالية تحت الشكل ٥-٣ التي تسمح باستخدام العلامة المستطيلة الموضحة في طبعة ٢٠١٩-٢٠٢٠ من التعليمات الفنية. واعتبرت مجموعة العمل المعنية بالتوافق مع الأمم المتحدة أن الملاحظة غير ضرورية. وقد استمر استخدام العلامة المربعة لمدة سنتين، كما أن الإبقاء على الملاحظة الحالية بالإضافة إلى ملاحظة جديدة تسمح باستخدام العلامة مصحوبة برقم الهاتف من طبعة ٢٠٢١-٢٠٢٢ حتى عام ٢٠٢٦ تسبب في حدوث ارتباك. وأثير تساؤل عما إذا كانت علامات بطارية الليثيوم، التي طبعت مسبقاً مع إفادة تقول "للحصول على معلومات إضافية، اتصل بـ". (مع ترك مساحة فارغة لاستكمال رقم الهاتف يدوياً) يمكن الاستمرار في استخدامها بعد ١ كانون الثاني/يناير ٢٠٢٣ دون ذكر رقم الهاتف. وساد اتفاق بإمكانية ذلك، مع بعض الجدل بشأن ما إذا كان من الضروري عرض المسألة على اللجنة الفرعية للأمم المتحدة و/أو تقديم إرشادات. وخلص إلى أن هذا الموجز للمناقشات سيكون كافياً.

الجزء السادس (DGP/28-WP/16, Appendix C to DGP/28-WP/53 and DGP/28-WP/54)

٨-١-٢-١ تمت الموافقة على التعديلات المقترحة على الجزء السادس المقدمة إلى الاجتماع، رهناً بإدراج التعديلات الإضافية التالية التي أوصت بها مجموعة العمل وفريق الخبراء:

- (أ) التنقيحات على الأحكام الخاصة بالأيروسول في الجزأين ٣٤٦ و ٥٤٦ (انظر أيضاً التعديلات على الأجزاء الأولى والرابع والإضافة الواردة في الفقرات ٣-١-٢-١ و ٦-١-٢-١ و ١-١-٣-١ والمرفق (أ) بالتقرير المتعلق بهذا البند من جدول الأعمال).
- (ب) ملاحظة توضح ما يشير إليه مصطلح "أوعية الضغط" في نظام تقييم المطابقة والقسم الخاص بالموافقة على تصنيع أوعية الضغط، المضاف في الفقرة ٥-٢-٢-٦ من اللوائح التنظيمية النموذجية للأمم المتحدة لم يتم اعتماده في التعليمات الفنية (٦؛ ٥-٢-٢-١-١)، لأن التعليمات الفنية أشارت إلى مصطلحات محددة، هي "أسطوانة" و "غلاف أسطوانة" و "وعاء داخلي للأوعية القوية" وليس "وعاء الضغط".
- (ج) يتم استبدال الإشارات إلى "أوعية الضغط" في الفقرة ١-٥-٢-٢-٦ الجديدة و ١١-٢-٢-٦ من لوائح الأمم المتحدة التنظيمية النموذجية بعبارة "أسطوانات وأوعية قوية مغلقة" في التعليمات الفنية (الجزء السادس؛ ١-٥-٢-٥ والسادس؛ ١١-٢-٥).
- (د) استبدلت فقرة فرعية جديدة تتعلق بعبوات الأسطوانات في ١-٥-٢-٢-٦ من اللوائح النموذجية للأمم المتحدة بعبارة "غير مستخدمة" في التعليمات الفنية (الجزء السادس؛ ٢-١-٥-٢-٥ ب)، نظراً لأن حزم الأسطوانات غير مسموح بها في النقل الجوي.

٩-١-٢-١ تم كذلك اكتشاف تعارض محتمل فيما يتعلق باستخدام "و" و "أو" في الجزء السادس؛ الفقرة ٧-٢٤، على الرغم من اعتقاد البعض بأن الصياغة كانت مقصودة ومناسبة. وبغض النظر عن ذلك، فقد تمت مواءمة الأحكام مع لوائح الأمم المتحدة النموذجية، لذا فإن التنقيحات لن تكون مناسبة.

التنزيلات (DGP/28-WP/20)

١٠-١-٢-١ تمت الموافقة على التعديلات المقترحة على التنزيلات المقدمة إلى اجتماع فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة الحادي والعشرين. وتمت الإشارة إلى أن التعديلات الإضافية على الفصل الأول التي تترتب عنها آثارٌ على تعديلات الجدول ٣-١ سيتم توليدها تلقائيًا عند نشر التعليمات الفنية.

٢-٢-١ تنقيح تصنيف المواد المشعة كطروود مستثناة (DGP / 28 WP / 34)

١-٢-٢-١ في الجزء الثاني؛ تنص الفقرة ٧-٢-٤-١-٢ على أنه "يمكن تصنيف العبوات التي تحتوي على مادة مشعة كطروود مستثنى شريطة ألا يتجاوز معدل الجرعة في أي نقطة على سطحها الخارجي ٥ ميكرو سيفرت / ساعة (5 µSv/h)". وينص الحكم الوارد في الفقرة السابقة ٢؛ ٧-٢-٤-١-١ على أنه يمكن تصنيف الطرد كطروود مستثنى إذا استوفى أحد الشروط الخمسة المدرجة. وطُرح تساؤل عما إذا كان حد معدل الجرعة المقرر بـ ٥ ميكرو سيفرت/ ساعة في ٢؛ ٧-٢-٤-١-١ ينطبق على كل من الشروط في ٢؛ ٧-٢-٤-١-١ أم ما إذا كان من المفترض أن يؤخذ بمعزل عنها ، كخيار آخر ، الأمر الذي يبدو كأنه ينطوي على تناقضات. فالنص الخاص بالتعليمات الفنية يتماشى مع اللوائح النموذجية للأمم المتحدة، ولكن ليس مع لوائح الوكالة الدولية للطاقة الذرية للنقل الآمن للمواد المشعة. فلوائح الوكالة الدولية للطاقة الذرية تقضي دون لبس بأن حد ٥ ميكرو سيفرت/ ساعة يُطبق في كل الأحوال وذلك من خلال النص على أن "معدل الجرعة في أي نقطة على السطح الخارجي للطرد المستثنى يجب ألا يتجاوز ٥ ميكرو سيفرت/ ساعة". وتم اقتراح تعديل على الفقرة ٢؛ ٧-٢-٤-١-١ لتتماشى مع نص الوكالة الدولية للطاقة الذرية. وتمت الموافقة على التعديل. وسيجري إبلاغ لجنة الخبراء الفرعية التابعة للأمم المتحدة المعنية بنقل البضائع الخطرة بقرار فريق الخبراء.

٣-٢-١ أسبقية التصنيف للمواد الخطرة بيئيًا مقابل المواد المنظمة للطيران (DGP / 28 WP / 42)

١-٣-٢-١ تم اقتراح إدخال تعديل على معايير التصنيف الخاصة برقم الأمم المتحدة 3334 UN - مادة سائلة تستخدم في الطيران خاضعة للتنظيم، غاز تبريد غ. م. أ، و 3335 UN - مادة صلبة تستخدم في الطيران خاضعة للتنظيم. يشترط بأن تُضاف تلك المواد إلى رقم الأمم المتحدة 3082 UN - مادة خطرة بيئيًا، سائلة، غ. م. أ. أو 3077 UN - مادة خطرة بيئيًا، صلبة، غ. م. أ إذا كانت تستوفي أيضًا معايير المواد الخطرة بيئيًا على النحو المنصوص عليه في الفقرة ٢-٩-٣ من اللوائح النموذجية للأمم المتحدة. وتم سحب التعديل بسبب عدم وجود توافق في الآراء. وترد تفاصيل الاقتراح والمناقشة في الملحق (أ) للتقرير الخاص بهذا البند من جدول الأعمال.

١-٢-٤ التوصية

١-٢-٤-١ وفي ضوء المناقشات المذكورة، وضع الاجتماع التوصية التالية:

التوصية ١/١ — تعديل لوثيقة "التعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو

(Doc 9284) مقترح إدخاله في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من أجل مواءمة هذه الوثيقة مع توصيات الأمم

المتحدة بشأن نقل البضائع الخطرة

أن تُدرج التعديلات المشار إليها في المرفق (أ) بالتقرير باعتبارها "تعديلات أدخلت للمواءمة مع الأمم المتحدة" في التعليمات الفنية.

البند رقم ١: المواءمة بين أحكام الإيكو المتعلقة بالبضائع الخطرة وتوصيات الأمم المتحدة بشأن نقل البضائع الخطرة

٣-١ : إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل وثيقة *إضافة التعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو* (Doc 9284SU) لإدخالها في طبعة ٢٠٢١-٢٠٢٢

١-٣-١ مشروع التعديلات على الإضافة الملحقمة بالتعليمات الفنية للتوافق مع توصيات الأمم المتحدة (ورقة العمل DGP / 28 WP / 19، المرفق (د) بورقة العمل DGP / 28-WP / 53 والمرفق (ج) بورقة العمل DGP / 28-WP / 54)

١-١-٣-١ قامت مجموعة العمل المعنية بالمواءمة مع الأمم المتحدة التابعة لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة بوضع مشروع التعديلات للإضافة الملحقمة بالتعليمات الفنية لتعكس القرارات التي اتخذتها لجنة خبراء الأمم المتحدة المعنية بنقل البضائع الخطرة وبالنظام المنسق عالمياً لتصنيف المواد الكيميائية ووسمها (UNCOE). وفي البدء تم استعراض مخرجات مجموعة عمل المواءمة في اجتماع المجموعة الحادي والعشرين (DGP-WG / 21). وواصلت مجموعة العمل استعراضها بعد ذلك الاجتماع وأوصت بالتقنيات الإضافية التالية:

(أ) حذف النص من تعليمات التعبئة رقم ٢٠٠ الذي تم اقتراحه من أجل التوافق مع لوائح الأمم المتحدة النموذجية. فالنص يشير بشكل غير مباشر إلى مواد لم يتم إدراجها في تعليمات التعبئة ٢٠٠ في الإضافة. وحددت مجموعة عمل المواءمة الحاجة إلى استعراض شامل لتعليمات التعبئة خلال فترة السنتين المقبلة.

(ب) تعديلات على أحكام الأيروسولات في تعليمات التعبئة ٢٠٣ (انظر أيضاً التعديلات على الأجزاء ١ و ٤ و ٦ من التعليمات الفنية كما ترد في الفقرات ٣-١-٢-١ و ٦-١-٢-١ و ٨-١-٢-١ والمرفق (أ) بالتقرير الخاص بهذا البند من جدول الأعمال).

٢-١-٣-١ تمت الموافقة على التعديلات المقترحة على الإضافة.

٢-٣-١ التوصية

١-٢-٣-١ في ضوء المناقشات السابقة قام الاجتماع بوضع التوصية التالية:

التوصية ٢/١ — تعديل للإضافة الملحقمة بوثيقة *التعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو* (Doc 9284SU) مقترح إدخاله في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من أجل مواءمة هذه الوثيقة مع توصيات الأمم المتحدة بشأن نقل البضائع الخطرة

أن تُدرج التعديلات المشار إليها في المرفق (ب) بالتقرير باعتبارها "تعديلات أدخلت للمواءمة مع الأمم المتحدة" في الإضافة الملحقمة بالتعليمات الفنية.

APPENDIX A TO THE REPORT ON AGENDA ITEM 1**(English only)****ADDITIONAL DETAILS ON DISCUSSIONS RELATED TO AEROSOLS
AND GAS CARTRIDGES AND ENVIRONMENTAL HAZARDOUS
AND AVIATION REGULATED SUBSTANCES PRECEDENCE OF
HAZARDS****1. RECOMMENDED REVISIONS TO THE
REQUIREMENTS FOR AEROSOLS AND GAS
CARTRIDGES TO ALIGN WITH THE UN
RECOMMENDATIONS (DGP/28 WP/54 AND
ADDENDUM/CORRIGENDUM)**

Revisions to the provisions for aerosols in Packing Instruction 203, Packing Instruction Y203, Part 6;3 and Part 6;5 were proposed to address inconsistencies between the provisions in the UN Model Regulations and the Technical Instructions (see paragraphs 1.2.1.6 and 1.2.1.9 of the report on this agenda item). These were identified with the introduction of paragraph 5.4.1 in Part 6;5 that was added for the sake of alignment with the 22nd revised edition of the UN document. The new paragraph limited the pressure in aerosols based on the classification of the aerosol and the form of the gas. However, Packing Instructions 203 and Y203 applied one pressure limit regardless of the classification or the form of the gas making them less restrictive than the provisions for aerosols in the UN Model Regulations. It was further identified that the very detailed requirements set out in Packing Instructions 203, Y203 and in Part 6;3.2.7 and 3.2.8 for dimensions and manufacture of aerosols, including references to inner packagings IP.7, IP.7A, IP.7B and IP.7C, did not appear in the UN Model Regulations. It was noted that these were developed over thirty years ago and that provisions for aerosols developed by the UN Sub-Committee since that time were not incorporated in the Technical Instructions. This created a misalignment between the Technical Instructions and the regulations for other modes of transport. Amendments were therefore proposed to:

- a) remove the detailed requirements that did not appear in the UN Model Regulations from Packing Instructions 203 and Y203 and introduce a reference to Part 6;5.4 in the packing instructions;
- b) include a reference to Part 6;5.4;
- c) simplify the requirements for hydraulic pressure testing in Part 6;3.2.7 and move them to Part 6;5.4; and
- d) remove the remaining provisions from Part 6;3.2.7 and 6;3.2.8.

**2. PRECEDENCE OF CLASSIFICATION
ENVIRONMENTALLY HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCE VS
AVIATION REGULATED SUBSTANCE (DGP/28-WP/42)**

A proposed amendment to the classification criteria for UN 3334 — **Aviation regulated liquid, n.o.s.** and UN 3335 — **Aviation regulated solid, n.o.s.** was withdrawn (see paragraph 1.2.3 to the report on this agenda item), but the following provides details on the proposal and the discussion.

The amendment required UN 3334 AND UN 3335 to be assigned to UN 3082 — **Environmentally hazardous substance, liquid, n.o.s.** or UN 3077 — **Environmentally hazardous substance, solid, n.o.s.** if they also met the criteria for environmentally hazardous substances as set out in 2.9.3 of the UN Model Regulations. It was argued that establishing a higher precedence of hazard for environmentally hazardous substances was appropriate given the well-defined criteria for their classification, which applied to all modes of transport, versus the very subjective criteria for classifying aviation regulated substances, which were only regulated by the air mode. Introducing a precedence of hazard would facilitate acceptance checks. It was noted that both environmentally hazardous substances and aviation regulated substances were assigned to the same packing instructions. An amendment was first considered at DGP-WG/21 (see paragraph 3.2.2.2 of the DGP-WG/21 Report), and while there was some support for it, there were concerns that the aviation hazard would be ignored if not classified as UN 3334 or UN 3335, given that the drill code assigned to aviation regulated substances (“9A”, with “A” an indication that the substance could be anaesthetic) was different to the one assigned to environmentally hazardous substances (“9L”, with “L” an indication that additional hazards were low or none). There were also concerns that the exception for environmentally hazardous substances in Special Provision A197 could make substances previously classified as aviation regulated unregulated. Special Provision A97 would also create an anomaly if the amendment was adopted in that it specified that substances could not be assigned to UN 3077 or UN 3082 if they met the classification criteria of another class or another substance within Class 9.

The amendment proposed to DGP-WG/21 was revised so that Special Provision A197 would not apply to substances meeting the criteria for an aviation regulated substance. The text in Special Provision A97 was moved to the classification criteria for UN 3077 and UN 3082 in Table 2-16 for the sake of alignment with the UN Model Regulations and revised to specify that UN 3077 or UN 3082 were used for substances and mixtures dangerous to the aquatic environment not meeting the classification criteria of any other class or substance within Class 9 *other than aviation substances, where environmentally hazardous takes precedence*. The revised amendment did not address the concern with respect to the different drill codes. The proposer suggested this was unnecessary because the packing, labelling, handling and loading requirements were the same for aviation regulated and environmentally hazardous substances.

While many supported the amendment, with some editorial suggestions, there remained opposition by one member because of the specific hazard to air transport that aviation regulated substances posed, versus no hazard to air transport for environmentally hazardous substances. The drill codes were different for each because of this. It was noted that the specific drill code for aviation regulated substances was assigned in response to an accident.

The proposer remained concerned that classifying something as aviation regulated substances instead of environmentally hazardous substances would cause problems in the event of an accident because of the lack of harmonization with the UN Model Regulations. However, he would accept not adopting the amendment if there was opposition. While it would benefit the shipping community, it was not critical.

— — — — —

APPENDIX B TO THE REPORT ON AGENDA ITEM 1

(Spanish only)

REVISIONS TO THE SPANISH VERSION OF THE TECHNICAL INSTRUCTIONS

PROPUESTAS DE ENMIENDA DE LA PARTE 3 DE LAS INSTRUCCIONES TÉCNICAS

Denominación	Núm. ONU	Clase o división	Peligros secundarios	Etiquetas	Discrepancias estatales	Disposiciones especiales	Grupo de embalaje ONU	Cantidad exceptuada	Aeronaves de pasajeros y aeronaves de carga		Aeronaves de carga	
									Instrucciones de embalaje	Cantidad neta máxima por bulto	Instrucciones de embalaje	Cantidad neta máxima por bulto
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
Bolsa de resina poliestérica, material de base básico líquido†	3269	3		Líquido inflamable		A66 A163	II	E0	370	5 kg	370	5 kg
									Y370	1 kg		
							III	E0	370	10 kg	370	10 kg
Bolsa de resina poliestérica, material de base básico sólido†	3527	4.1		Sólido inflamable		A66 A163	II	E0	450	5 kg	450	5 kg
									Y450	1 kg		
							III	E0	450	10 kg	450	10 kg
									Y370	5 kg		
									Y450	5 kg		

IT ONU

- A66 (236) Los equipos de resina de poliéster constan de dos componentes: un material **de base básico** (ya sea de la Clase 3 o de la División 4.1, Grupo de embalaje II o III) y un activador peróxido orgánico). El peróxido orgánico será de los tipos D, E o F y no requerirá regulación de temperatura. El grupo de embalaje debe ser el II o el III, según los criterios de la Clase 3 o la División 4.1 que se apliquen al material **de base básico**.

PROPUESTAS DE ENMIENDA DE LA PARTE 4 DE LAS INSTRUCCIONES TÉCNICAS

Instrucción de embalaje 450

Aeronaves de pasajeros y de carga para ONU 3527 (Grupo de embalaje II o III) únicamente

EMBALAJES COMBINADOS						EMBALAJES ÚNICOS
Condiciones de embalaje	Embalaje interior (véase 6;3.2)	Embalaje interior cantidad (por recipiente)— para material de base líquido sólido	Embalaje interior cantidad (por recipiente)— para líquido activador	Embalaje interior cantidad (por recipiente)— para activador sólido	Cantidad total por bulto	

Instrucción de embalaje Y450

Cantidades limitadas

EMBALAJES COMBINADOS							EMBALAJES ÚNICOS
Condiciones de embalaje	Embalaje interior (véase 6;3.2)	Embalaje interior cantidad (por recipiente) — para material de base líquido sólido	Embalaje interior cantidad (por recipiente) — para activador líquido	Embalaje interior cantidad (por recipiente) — para activador sólido	Cantidad total por bulto	Masa bruta total por bulto	

PROPUESTAS DE ENMIENDA AL CAPÍTULO 1 DEL ADJUNTO 1 DE LAS INSTRUCCIONES TÉCNICAS

Adjunto 1: Lista de las denominaciones del artículo expedido

- 3269 Bolsa de resina poliésterica, material ~~básico~~ de base líquido
- 3527 Bolsa de resina poliésterica, material ~~básico~~ de base sólido

البند رقم ٢ : إدارة المخاطر التي تهدد السلامة الجوية، وتحديد أوجه التعارض (المرجع:
(*RECA DGS 2023*)

١-٢ : إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل الملحق الثامن عشر - "النقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق
الجو"

١-١-٢ لم تُقترح أي تعديلات على الملحق الثامن عشر في إطار هذا البند من جدول الأعمال.

البند رقم ٢: إدارة المخاطر التي تهدد السلامة الجوية، وتحديد أوجه التعارض (المرجع
(REC A DGS 2023)

٢-٢: إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل وثيقة "التعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو"
(Doc 9284) لإدخالها في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤

١-٢-٢ مشروع تعديلات للتعليمات الفنية تعالج المخاطر التي تهدد السلامة الجوية
وأوجه التعارض المحددة التي تم الاتفاق عليها في الاجتماعين DGP-WG 20
و DGP-WG/ 21 (ورقة العمل DGP/28-WP/22)

١-١-٢-٢ استعرض الاجتماع التعديلات المعدّة للتعليمات الفنية بهدف معالجة المخاطر التي تهدد السلامة الجوية، وحدد
الاجتماع أوجه التعارض في نقل البضائع الخطرة حسب المتفق عليه في الاجتماعين DGP-WG/20 و DGP-WG/21. ووافق
الاجتماع على هذه التعديلات رهناً بالتعديلات الإضافية التالية:

(أ) تُحذف ملاحظة فائضة عن الحاجة بخصوص فترة انتقالية بموجب ١-٨-٥-١-٤ أ) ؛
(ب) يجري الاتفاق في الاجتماع العشرين من حيث المبدأ على التعديلات المدخلة على أحكام
المعلومات التي يتعين على الشاحن توفيرها لشحنات المواد المشعة في الجزء الخامس، الفقرتين
١-٤-٥-١-٧ و ١-٤-٥-٨-١-٨ أ) ؛ ريثما تجري مراجعة الصياغة (انظر الفقرة ٨-٢-٣-٣ من
التقرير 2 / DGP / 28-WP / 20 (DGP-WG / 20)) لتوضيح القصد أكثر .

٢-٢-٢ تنقيحات تعليمات التعبئة التي تشمل الوزن الإجمالي
(DG / 28-WP / 26) والتصويب)

١-٢-٢-٢ تعليمات التعبئة Y956, Y958 و Y964 تحدد الكمية الإجمالية لكل عبوة بـ ٣٠ كجم والوزن الإجمالي الكلي
لكل عبوة بـ ٣٠ كجم للبضائع الخطرة التي تم تخصيص تعليمات التعبئة Y956 و Y958 و Y964 لها. وكان هناك اقتراح بأن
ذكر الكمية الإجمالية لكل عبوة في تعليمات التعبئة غير ضروري ويتعارض مع الحدود الأخرى عندما تكون الكمية الإجمالية
للعبوة ٣٠ كجم، لأن الكتلة الإجمالية عندها ستتجاوز ٣٠ كجم. وتم الاتفاق على تعديل بحذف العمود. وتم الاتفاق أيضًا على
تعديلات إضافية لتصحيح خطأ يتعلق باسم الشحن الصحيح المشار إليه في تعليمات التعبئة 958 و Y958 لرقم الأمم المتحدة
UN 2071. وستجري مواءمة الاسم مع البند في الجدول ١-٣.

٣-٢-٢ تخصيص الحكم الخاص A1 لرقم الأمم المتحدة UN 2881
(DGP / 28-WP / 30) والحكم الخاص A36 (DGP / 28-WP / 50)

١-٣-٢-٢ تم تقديم اقتراح بتعديل على الجدول ١-٣ لتخصيص الحكم الخاص A1 إلى رقم الأمم المتحدة ٢٨٨١ -
محفز معدني، جاف. ورقم الأمم المتحدة UN 2881 ممنوع للنقل على طائرات الركاب والبضائع سواء بسواء عند استيفاء معايير
مجموعة التعبئة الأولى، المحظور على طائرات الركاب عند استيفاء معايير مجموعة التعبئة الثانية Group II، ويسمح به على
كل من طائرات الركاب والبضائع عند استيفاء معايير مجموعة التعبئة الثالثة Group III. وتم تخصيص الحكم الخاص A36 للمادة،

الذي يقضي بأنه لا يمكن تطبيق الحكم الخاص A2 إلا على مجموعة التعبئة الأولى والحكم الخاص A1 لا يمكن تطبيقه إلا على مجموعة التعبئة II، ومع ذلك لم يتم تخصيص A1 أو A2 للمواد. وتم تخصيص رقم تعليمات التعبئة لرقم الأمم المتحدة UN 2881 في عمود طائرة الركاب لمجموعة التعبئة الثانية في الجدول S 3-1 من الإضافة الملحقة بالتعليمات الفنية، مما يشير إلى أنه يمكن نقل المادة على متن طائرات ركاب بموجب موافقة. وتمت الموافقة على التعديل.

٢-٣-٢-٢ عند استعراض التعديل وأساسه المنطقي، تم التوصل إلى أنه يمكن حذف تخصيص الحكم الخاص A36 من اثنين من البنود التي تم تخصيصه لهما (رقم الأمم المتحدة UN 1693 - مادة الغاز المسيل للدموع، مادة سائلة، ورقم الأمم المتحدة غاز التبريد غ. م. أ. و UN 1228 خليط ميثيل ميركابتان، مادة سائلة، قابلة للاشتعال، سامة، وميثيل مركبتان، مادة سائلة، قابلة للاشتعال، سامة، غاز تبريد غ. م. أ. لأن النقل كان ممنوعاً فقط لإحدى مجموعات التعبئة لهذه المواد. ولذلك فإن التوضيح الذي تضمنه الحكم الخاص غير ضروري. ورقم الأمم المتحدة UN 1693 هو البند الوحيد الذي تم تخصيص كل من الحكم الخاصة A2 والحكم الخاص A36 له. وبهدف تخصيص A36 من هذا البند، لم يعد من الضروري الإشارة إلى الحكم الخاص A2 في الحكم الخاص. وتمت الموافقة على التعديلات لحذف تخصيص A36 من رقمي الأمم المتحدة UN 1228 و UN 1693 وحذف الإشارة إلى الحكم الخاص A2 في الحكم الخاص A36.

٢-٢-٤ إضافة مجموعات التعبئة إلى قائمة البضائع الخطرة للمواد المحظورة على طائرات الركاب وطائرات الشحن (DGP / 28-WP / 52)

١-٤-٢-٢ لم يتم تضمين مجموعة التعبئة في الجدول ١-٣ للمواد الممنوع نقلها على كل من طائرات الركاب والبضائع. وكان قد طُرح اقتراح بأنه ينبغي إدراجها، لأنها جزء من التصنيف الكامل للمادة المعنية، كما أن ذلك من شأنه أن يسهل استخراج البيانات من البنود التي تحتوي على أكثر من مجموعة تعبئة واحدة والتي قد لا تكون ممنوعة على كل من طائرات الركاب والبضائع. وتمت الموافقة على تعديل لتضمين مجموعة التعبئة، عند الاقتضاء، لجميع البنود في الجدول ١-٣، رهناً باستبدال التخصيص الخاطئ لمجموعة التعبئة الثانية إلى رقم الأمم المتحدة UN 1838 رباعي كلوريد التيتانيوم مع مجموعة التعبئة الأولى. وستنظر مجموعة العمل المعنية بالتوافق مع الأمم المتحدة فيما إذا كانت هناك حاجة إلى إدخال تعديلات على المواد الإرشادية الخاصة بفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة على حساب التعديل.

٢-٢-٥ متطلبات التحميل بالثلج الجاف (DGP / 28 WP / 31)

١-٥-٢-٢ جاء الاقتراح بتنقيح الأحكام الخاصة بتحميل الثلج الجاف لمعالجة الحاجة إلى نقل كميات متزايدة منه، التي أملتتها الضرورة أثناء جائحة كوفيد - ١٩ لتأمين صلاحية المستحضرات الصيدلانية الخاصة بالجائحة، بما في ذلك كميات كبيرة من اللقاحات. وتضمن التعديل إشارة إلى معدل تسامي الجليد الجاف، معترفاً بتأثيره الكبير على الكميات التي يمكن حملها بأمان، كما تضمن اشتراطات إضافية للمشغل تقضي بتزويد مقصورة القيادة ومقصورة الركاب بمعدات الكشف عن تركيز غاز ثاني أكسيد الكربون، ووضع إجراءات الطوارئ للاستجابة لأي حدث يتم فيه تجاوز حدود التركيز، وتقييم مركز ثقل الطائرة قبل الإقلاع وقبل الهبوط، حيث يحتمل أن يكون قد تحول نتيجة تسامي كميات كبيرة من الجليد الجاف.

٢-٥-٢-٢ ولم يحظ التعديل بالتأييد. وفي حين تم الإقرار بأن التوجيهات المستندة إلى الدروس المستفادة خلال جائحة كوفيد - ١٩ يمكن أن تكون مفيدة، إلا أن التعديل المقترح اعتُبر توجيهي أكثر مما ينبغي. واعتبرت معدات الكشف عن تركيز غاز ثاني أكسيد الكربون غير ضرورية نظراً لأن مصنعي الطائرات يقدمون حدوداً آمنة للمشغلين وكان هناك بعض الذين أيدوا

إدراج الحاجة إلى أخذ معدل التسامي في الاعتبار، ملاحظين أن الصياغة المقترحة تحتاج إلى تعديل للإشارة إلى معدل التسامي في الطرد الذي يحتوي على جليد جاف. ورأى آخرون أن إدراج هذا الأمر غير مناسب في التعليمات الفنية. فالمهندسون عادة ما يقومون بوضع حدود قياسية لأنواع معينة من الطائرات، ولن يكون من الضروري أخذ معدل التسامي في الاعتبار إلا عند تجاوز هذه الحدود.

٢-٢-٥-٣ وعلى الرغم من أن التعديل لم تحظ بالتأييد، فقد قدمت اقتراحات بأنه يمكن وضع إرشادات، ولكن ينبغي أن يقوم بذلك فريق متعدد التخصصات مثل مجموعة العمل المخصصة تحديدا للنقل الآمن للبضائع التابعة لفريق خبراء عمليات الطيران. ويمكن النظر في إدراج المادة المعنية في إرشادات العمليات الآمنة لمقصورات الشحن الجوي (الوثيقة ١٠١٠٢). وبناء على ذلك، صيغت التوصية ٢/٢ (انظر الفقرة ٢-٢-١٠).

٢-٢-٦ إدخال التنقيحات على "البند الخاص" رقم A136 (DGP/28-WP/33)

٢-٦-٢-٢ ينص الحكم الخاص A136 على وجوب حجب المواد الخاضعة له من أشعة الشمس المباشرة وجميع مصادر الحرارة ووضعه في مناطق تتوفر بها التهوية بشكل كاف. واقترح تعديل للحكم الخاص A136 يشترط تقديم بيان بهذا المعنى في مستند نقل البضائع الخطرة وأقترح أيضا تطبيق الوسم الذي يقول بالاحتفاظ بعيدا عن مصادر الحرارة لضمان أن يكون المشغل بحاجة إلى إبعاد هذه الطرود عن أشعة الشمس أو مصادر الحرارة.

٢-٦-٢-٢ ولم يحظ التعديل بالتأييد. وقد وُضع هذا الحكم الخاص في البداية للنقل البحري لمعالجة المخاطر المرتبطة بتحلل كميات كبيرة من المواد العابرة لفترات طويلة. ولا يشكل هذا الخطر عاملا على مستوى النقل الجوي، لأنه لا ينقل مثل هذه الكميات الكبيرة. ويُحظر النقل الجوي للمواد التي تحتاج إلى مراقبة درجة الحرارة بسبب عدم القدرة على ذلك. ولذلك اعتبر النص المعدل غير ذي صلة بالموضوع.

٢-٢-٧ اقتراح إضافة الأحكام الخاصة A4 إلى المادة UN2922 والأحكام الخاصة A5 إلى المادة UN2923 في الجدول ٣-١

٢-٧-٢-٢ تحظر الأحكام الخاصة A4 A5 السوائل والمواد الصلبة على التوالي، التي لديهاسمية استنشاق (رذاذ أو سائل) مجموعة التعبئة الأولى من النقل على متن طائرات الركاب. ويحظر الحكم الخاص A4 إلى جانب ذلك، نقل السوائل التي تنطوي علىسمية استنشاق البخار من مجموعة التعبئة الأولى من التعبئة على متن طائرات الركاب والبضائع على حد سواء. وتضمن كلا الحكماين شروطا يمكن بموجبهما نقل هذه المواد على متن طائرات الشحن. واقترح تخصيص الحكم الخاص A4 إلى رقم الأمم المتحدة UN 2922 - سوائلاكالةسمية، غ م أ، والحكم A5 إلى UN 2923 مواد صلبةأكالةسمية، غ م أ وكلاهما ينتميان إلى مواد الرتبة ٨ التي تنطوي على مخاطر ثانوية من الشعبة ٦-١، ومع الاعتراف بأن السوائل التي تحتوي علىسمية استنشاق رذاذ أو مواد صلبة من مجموعة التعبئة الأولى وأن المواد الصلبة التي تنطوي علىسمية استنشاق للرذاذ والمواد الصلبة من مجموعة التعبئة الأولى يمكن تخصيصها إلى UN 2922 وفقاً للجزء الثاني؛ (١،٤،٠ غ).

٢-٧-٢-٢ وحظي الاقتراح بدعم عام، ولكن اتضح أن هناك تضارب حيث حدد الحكم الخاص A4 الكمية الصافية القصوى لكل طرد ب ٥ لترات بينما حددها الجدول ٣-١ ب ٢,٥ لتر بالنسبة ل UN 2922. واتضح أيضا أن الأمر يتعلق بتناقض

موجود للعديد من أرقام الأمم المتحدة الأخرى المخصصة لـ A4. وتمت الموافقة على النص المعدل الذي عالج هذه الحالة الشاذة، رهنا بإجراء تنقيحات تحريرية إضافية ستقوم بها الأمانة للتوضيح.

٨-٢-٢ أحكام استخدام الإخطارات الإلكترونية لقائد الطائرة

١-٨-٢-٢ تم تقديم اقتراح بتعديل يسمح بتقديم المعلومات الإلكترونية إلى قائد الطائرة وفقاً للجزء السابع؛ الفقرة ١-٤-١ من التعليمات الفنية (في الاجتماع السابع والعشرين لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة، مونتريال، ١٦ إلى ٢٠ سبتمبر ٢٠١٩) (انظر الفقرة ٢-٢-٩ من تقرير الاجتماع). ووافق الاجتماع على الانتظار إلى أن تكتمل دراسة عن احتياجات أصحاب المصلحة المعنيين من المعلومات المتعلقة بالاستجابة لحالات الطوارئ وكيفية تقديم المعلومات المكتملة قبل النظر في إدخال أي تعديلات على الأحكام. وتجري الدراسة مجموعة من أصحاب المصلحة المعنيين لتحليل الاحتياجات من المعلومات. وتضم المجموعة طيارين، وموظفين من فرق الإنقاذ ومكافحة الحرائق وخبراء في البضائع الخطرة.

٢-٨-٢-٢ وقُدّم إلى اجتماع فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة الثامن والعشرين اقتراح جديد يشير تحديداً إلى الإرسال الإلكتروني كوسيلة لتوفير المعلومات لقائد الطائرة. وجاء هذا الاقتراح استجابة للمشغلين الراغبين في استخدام النسخ الإلكترونية لمتابعة تنقلات سندات الشحن الجوي وإعلانات الشاحن، والاستفادة من المعالجة الإلكترونية للبيانات/التبادل الإلكتروني للبيانات القائم، والتقليل من التفاعلات المباشرة أثناء جائحة كوفيد-١٩. ولم يحظ التعديل بالتأييد حيث علق المعارضون على ذلك بما يلي:

(أ) رأى البعض أن التعديل المقترح غير ضروري، لأن الأحكام الحالية لا تحول دون نقل المعلومات إلكترونياً إلى قائد الطائرة. وأشار آخرون إلى أن هذا صحيح، ولكن لا يزال هناك شرط يقضي بتقديم نسخة مطبوعة أو مكتوبة.

(ب) المصطلحات المستخدمة في الأحكام الحالية غير متسقة وتحتاج إلى توضيح، لا سيما فيما يتعلق بما يقصد بكلمتي "مكتوبة" و "مطبوعة". وهناك أيضاً أوجه تضارب مع المرفق الثامن عشر، الذي يشير فقط إلى المعلومات "الخطية".

(ج) ينبغي ترك سبل تقديم المعلومات إلى قائد الطائرة للمشغل، رهنا بموافقة الدولة من خلال دليل العمليات.

(د) التعديل المقترح توجيهي أكثر مما يجب، وينبغي أن تستند الأحكام إلى الأداء.

(هـ) وأعرب في الاجتماع عن مخاوف لا تزال قائمة من أن التعديل قد يؤدي إلى عدم وجود نسخة ورقية من المعلومات بحوزة أطقم القيادة. وكان العضو الذي رشحه الاتحاد الدولي لرابطات طياري الخطوط الجوية (IFALPA) برفقة مستشارين أكدوا هذه المخاوف. وشرحوا كيف يمكن للبيانات الإلكترونية أن تضيق أثناء الرحلة. وهم لا يعارضون الإرسال الإلكتروني ويدركون فوائده، لكنهم ليس بمقدورهم دعم فكرة السماح بأن يتم إخطار قائد الطائرة بالوسائل الإلكترونية حصرياً دون أن تكون هناك

وسيلة لتوفير المعلومات لأول المستجيبين. ورغم الاعتراف بأن المعلومات الإلكترونية لطاقت القيادة أصبحت أكثر شيوعاً، لا تزال هناك حاجة إلى نسخ ورقية من قوائم التحقق من معدات الطوارئ.

(و) كان رئيس مكافحة الحرائق لأحد المطارات الدولية وأحد أعضاء مجلس إدارة مجموعة عمل إنقاذ الطائرات ومكافحة الحرائق متواجدين لشرح احتياجات المستجيبين للطوارئ في جميع أنحاء العالم. وأوضح المسؤولان أنهما يفضلان معلومات البضائع الخطرة الورقية لأنهما قد لا يتمكنان دائماً من الوصول إلى المعلومات الضرورية إذا كانت متوفرة إلكترونياً فقط.

٣-٨-٢-٢ ورأى الفريق أن أي تنقيحات للأحكام سابقة لأوانها، بالنظر إلى أن عمل مجموعة أصحاب المصلحة لم يكتمل بعد. فقد تم إحراز تقدم قبل بدء جائحة كوفيد، لكنه توقف بسبب الجائحة. كما كانت هناك أنشطة ذات صلة جارية في الايكاو، بما في ذلك عمل متعدد التخصصات على التوقيعات الإلكترونية قامت به مجموعة عمل مشتركة من فريق خبراء عمليات الطيران (FLTOSP)/فريق خبراء صلاحية الطيران (AIRP) / وفريق خبراء تدريب وإجازة العاملين (PTLP) وكان من المتوقع أن تصدر تعديلات لوثيقة دليل خدمات المطارات، الجزء الأول - الإنقاذ ومكافحة الحرائق والجزء السابع تخطيط الطوارئ بالمطارات (Doc 9137). وفي أعقاب انتهاء عمل مجموعة أصحاب المصلحة ومجموعات عمل الايكاو كان النهج المستصوب هو إجراء استعراض شامل للأحكام المتعلقة بتقديم المعلومات إلى قائد الطائرة. وقد أعرب رئيس الإطفاء عن الحاجة إلى تقديم معلومات أكثر إيجازاً للمستجيبين في حالات الطوارئ عما تحتويه المعلومات المقدمة إلى قائد الطائرة. ويمكن أيضاً أن ينظر فريق الخبراء في المسألة بمجرد اكتمال عمل مجموعتي العمل.

٩-٢-٢ تنقيح أرقام الحكم الخاص المطلوبة بشأن وثيقة نقل البضائع الخطرة (DGP/28-WP/41)

١-٩-٢-٢ تم الاتفاق على تعديل للأحكام الخاصة A1 و A2 بحيث تنص على وجوب وضع تعليق توضيحي للبند الخاص على مستند نقل البضائع الخطرة إلى جانب تعديلات على قائمة الأحكام الخاصة المطلوب إدراجها في مستند البضائع الخطرة الوارد في الجزء الخامس؛ الفقرة ١-٨-٥-١-٤ (ب) في الاجتماع (انظر الفقرة ١٤-٢-٢-٣ من تقرير الاجتماع الحادي والعشرين لمجموعة العمل التابعة لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة).

٢-٩-٢-٢ وأجري مزيد من الاستعراض بعد الاجتماع الحادي والعشرين لمجموعة العمل أظهر الحاجة إلى تعديل مماثل للحكم الخاص A176 وإلى إضافته إلى القائمة في الجزء الخامس؛ الفقرة ١-٨-٥-١-٤ (ب). وينص الحكم الخاص A176 على أن تقوم الهيئة الوطنية المختصة باعتماد أنظمة تخزين الهيدريدات الفلزية المركبة أو المزمع تركيبها في المركبات، أو السفن، أو الآلات، أو المحركات، أو الطائرات أو في مكونات مكتملة، قبل قبولها للنقل. واعتُبر إثبات رقم الحكم الخاص على مستند النقل ضرورياً لمنع موظفي القبول من التغاضي عن هذه الحقيقة.

٣-٩-٢-٢ وأثناء مناقشة التعديل في الاجتماع، برزت الحاجة إلى النظر فيما إذا كان يتوجب وضع الحكم الخاص A78 على القائمة في الجزء الخامس؛ الفقرة ١-٨-٥-١-٤ (ب). واقترح أنه ليس من الضروري تسجيل الحكم الخاص في مستند النقل، وبالتالي ينبغي حذفه من القائمة في الجزء الخامس؛ الفقرة ١-٨-٥-١-٤.

٤-٩-٢-٢ تمت الموافقة على التعديلات.

١٠-٢-٢ التوصيات

١-١٠-٢-٢ وفي ضوء المناقشات السابقة، قام الاجتماع بإعداد التوصيتين التاليتين:

التوصية ١/٢ — تعديل لوثيقة "التعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو" (Doc 9284) مقترح إدخاله في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من أجل معالجة المخاطر المتعلقة تحديداً بالسلامة الجوية وأوجه التعارض المرصودة

أن تُدرج التعديلات المشار إليها في المرفق (أ) بالتقرير باعتبارها "تعديلات لإدارة المخاطر المتعلقة بالسلامة الجوية" في التعليمات الفنية.

التوصية ٢/٢ — مواد إرشادية بشأن نقل الثلج الجاف

ترى مجموعة عمل النقل الآمن للبضائع التابعة لفريق خبراء عمليات الطيران أن هناك حاجة لمواد إرشادية لتناول نقل كميات كبيرة من الثلج الجاف.

— — — — —

البند رقم ٢: إدارة المخاطر المتعلقة بالسلامة الجوية وتحديد أوجه التعارض (المراجع: REC-A-DGS-2023)

٣-٢: إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل وثيقة "الإضافة للتعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو" (Doc 9284SU) لإدخالها في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من الوثيقة

١-٣-٢ مشروع التعديلات على الإضافة الملحقمة بوثيقة التعليمات الفنية لمعالجة المخاطر المتعلقة تحديداً بالسلامة الجوية والحالات الشاذة المتفق عليها خلال الاجتماعين العشرين والحادي والعشرين لمجموعة العمل التابعة لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة (DGP/28-WP/23)

١-١-٣-٢ استعرض الاجتماع التعديلات على الإضافة الملحقمة بالتعليمات الفنية لمعالجة المخاطر المتعلقة تحديداً بالسلامة الجوية وتحديد حالات التعارض ذات الصلة بالبضائع الخطرة التي وافق عليها اجتماعاً مجموعة العمل التابعة لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة.

٢-١-٣-٢ تمت الموافقة على تعديلات الإضافة.

٢-٣-٢ التوصية

١-٢-٣-٢ في ضوء المناقشات السابقة، وضع الاجتماع التوصية التالية:

التوصية ٣/٢ — تعديل للإضافة الملحقمة بوثيقة "التعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو" (9284SU) مقترح إدخاله في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من أجل معالجة المخاطر المتعلقة تحديداً بالسلامة الجوية وأوجه التعارض المرصودة

أن تُدرج التعديلات المشار إليها في المرفق (ب) بالتقرير باعتبارها "تعديلات لإدارة المخاطر المتعلقة بالسلامة الجوية" في الملحق بالتعليمات الفنية.

— — — — —

البند رقم ٢: إدارة المخاطر المتعلقة بالسلامة الجوية وتحديد أوجه التعارض (المراجع: REC-A-DGS-2023)

٢-٤: إعداد ما يلزم من اقتراحات لتعديل وثيقة إرشادات التعامل مع حالات الطوارئ المرتبطة بحوادث الطائرات الناتجة عن البضائع الخطرة" (Doc 9481) لإدخالها في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من الوثيقة

٢-٤-١ مشاريع التعديلات على وثيقة إرشادات التعامل مع حالات الطوارئ المرتبطة بحوادث الطائرات الناتجة عن البضائع الخطرة (Doc 9481) المزمع إدخالها في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من الوثيقة (DGP/28-WP/21)

٢-٤-١-١ استعرض الاجتماع تعديلات رموز التصنيف في إرشادات التعامل مع حالات الطوارئ المرتبطة بحوادث الطائرات الناتجة عن البضائع الخطرة (Doc 9481) والتي جاءت نتيجة للقرارات التي اتخذتها لجنة خبراء الأمم المتحدة المعنية بنقل البضائع الخطرة وبالنظام المنسق عالمياً لتصنيف المواد الكيميائية ووسمها (UNCOE) في دورتها العاشرة (جنيف، ١١ كانون الأول / ديسمبر ٢٠٢١). وتعكس التعديلات أيضاً المقترحات المتعلقة بإمكانية الوصول إلى البضائع الخطرة التي وافق عليها الاجتماع الحادي والعشرين لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة (DGP-WG / 21).

٢-٤-١-٢ وتمت الموافقة على التعديلات.

٢-٤-٢ التوصيات

٢-٤-٢-١ وفي ضوء المناقشة السابقة قام الاجتماع بإعداد التوصيات التالية:

التوصية ٢/٤ — تعديل إرشادات التصدي لطوارئ حوادث الطائرات الناجمة عن البضائع الخطرة (Doc 9481)، مقترح إدخاله في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤، من أجل معالجة المخاطر المتعلقة تحديداً بالسلامة الجوية وأوجه التعارض المرصودة

أن تعدل إرشادات التصدي لطوارئ حوادث الطائرات الناجمة عن البضائع الخطرة (Doc 9481) على النحو الموضح في المرفق (ج) بهذا التقرير.

— — — — —

البند رقم ٣: تسهيل النقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة عن طريق الجو

١-٣: نطاق تطبيق الشعبة 4.1 بالنسبة للبضائع الخطرة بكميات بسيطة (DGP/28-WP/27)

١-١-٣ حدد الجزء الثالث؛ الفقرة ٢-١-٤ أن مواد الشعبة 4.1 من مجموعتي التعبئة الثانية والثالثة، بخلاف المواد ذاتية التفاعل، مسموح بها بكميات محدودة. ومع ذلك، لا يُسمح بالعديد من المواد المصنفة على هذا النحو وفقاً لكل من الجدول ١-٣ وقائمة البضائع الخطرة في لوائح الأمم المتحدة النموذجية. وقد قُدم اقتراح بتعديل على الجزء الثالث؛ الفقرة ٢-١-٤ لتصحيح هذا الشذوذ من خلال القطع بأن هذه المواد المحددة غير مسموح بها بكميات محدودة.

٢-١-٣ كان هناك دعم للقصد من الاقتراح، بالإضافة إلى اقتراحات بمراجعات طفيفة. وشملت هذه الاقتراحات إدراج أرقام الأمم المتحدة بالترتيب العددي وإزالة عبارة "بغض النظر عن مجموعة التعبئة" حيث تم اعتبارها غير ذات صلة. وتمت الموافقة على تعديل منقح.

٢-٣: إدخال تنقيحات على رمز الجودة المُستثناة رقم E0 (DGP/28-WP/28)

١-٢-٣ تم الوقوف على بعض التناقضات فيما يتعلق بكيفية تخصيص رموز الكمية المستثناة للبند في الجدول ١-٣ التي كان يحظر نقلها. وفي بعض الحالات، تُرك حقل رمز الكمية المستثنى فارغاً وفي حالات أخرى تم إثبات القيمة "E0". وعليه قُدم اقتراح بإدخال تعديلات لإزالة التناقضات.

٢-٢-٣ عارض أحد الأعضاء إضافة "E0" إلى رقم الأمم المتحدة UN 0501 و 0509، لكنه لم يعترض على اعتماد التعديل نظراً للتأييد القوي الذي حظي به. وأقر آخرون بوجود بعض الانحرافات الطفيفة عن كيفية ظهور "E0" في لوائح الأمم المتحدة النموذجية، ولكن اعتبرت هذه مناسبة للطيران. وأشار مقرر مجموعة العمل المعنية بالتوافق مع الأمم المتحدة إلى أن التعديل المقترح يتماشى مع معايير تخصيص رموز الكمية المستثناة الواردة في المواد الإرشادية لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة للمساعدة في إعداد التعليمات الفنية والوثائق الداعمة.

٣-٢-٣ تمت الموافقة على التعديل. وأشار إلى وجود تناقضات إضافية فيما يتعلق بتخصيص "E0" لبعض البضائع الخطرة التي تخضع للأحكام الخاصة A2 في حين لم يتم تخصيصه للبعض الآخر. ويمكن النظر في هذه التناقضات خلال فترة السنتين المقبلة.

٣-٣: تنقيح تعليمات التعبئة رقم Y960 (DGP/28-WP/29)

١-٣-٣ تم تقديم اقتراح بتعديل تعليمات التعبئة Y960 لإضافة صناديق الألمنيوم والفولاذ إلى قائمة العبوات الخارجية للعبوات المركبة / المجتمعة المسموح بها ولإضافة عمود إلى جدول حدود الكميات القصوى المسموح بها من البضائع الخطرة لكل طرد. وتم اعتبار عدم تضمين صناديق الصلب والألومنيوم خطأ غير مقصود، نظراً لأن الصناديق المعدنية الأخرى تم إدراجها وأن صناديق الصلب والألومنيوم تم إدراجها في تعليمات التعبئة المناظرة في لوائح الأمم المتحدة النموذجية. وتم تقديم اقتراح بإدراج عمود إضافي إلى تعليمات التعبئة لتمييز الكمية القصوى المسموح بها لكل عبوة، كما تظهر في الجدول ١-٣، من الحد الأقصى لكمية البضائع الخطرة لكل مجموعة مستلزمات مسموح بها، كما تظهر في تعليمات التعبئة الحالية.

٣-٣-٢ ودار بعض النقاش حول ما إذا كان عمود "الحد الأقصى لكمية البضائع الخطرة لكل مجموعة مستلزمات" مطلوباً أم لا، ولكن تم التوصل إلى الاستنتاج بأنه مطلوب فعلاً، لأنه يشكل جزءاً من إجمالي الكتلة الكلية لحساب حد العبوة وهو يتماشى مع نقطة فرعية تحت العنوان "متطلبات التعبئة الإضافية للعبوات المركبة".

٣-٣-٣ تمت الموافقة على التعديل.

٤-٣ تعديلات تحريرية مقترح إدخالها على التعليمات الفنية (DGP/28-WP/32)

٣-٤-١ تم تقديم اقتراح بتتقيح تحريري لأرقام الأمم المتحدة الواردة في إشارة مرجعية للمحرك، الاحتراق الداخلي في إطار البند محركات التوربينات الغازية في الجدول ١-٣ وتتنقيح تحريري لمراجع أرقام الأمم المتحدة المرتبطة بمحركات الطائرات ومحركات خلايا الوقود والمحركات التوربينية المدرجة في مسرد المصطلحات (التذييل ٢). وتم تعديل تصنيف المحركات في طبعة ٢٠١٧-٢٠١٨ من التعليمات الفنية مما أدى إلى وجود ثلاثة أرقام للأمم المتحدة. وتضمنت التنقيحات المقترحة هذه الأرقام.

٣-٤-٢ حظي الاقتراح بالدعم من حيث المبدأ، ولكن أثير تساؤل عما إذا كان ينبغي توضيح أسماء الشحن المناسبة في الجدول ١-٣ وما إذا كانت الإشارة إلى "محركات توربينات الغاز" مناسبة، حيث لم يتم تعريف المصطلح في مسرد المصطلحات، على الرغم من أن المحركات التوربينية تم تعريفها. وطُرح تساؤل عما إذا كان ينبغي الإشارة إلى رقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3530 في الجدول ١-٣، لأن المحركات المخصصة لهذا البند لن تكون محركات توربينية. وعليه تم تطوير اقتراح منقح أضاف أسماء الشحن المناسبة لرقمي الأمم المتحدة UN 3528 وUN 3529، وحذف الإشارة إلى رقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3530، وإضاف "غاز" إلى البند في مسرد المحركات التوربينية وأخيراً نقح أرقام الأمم المتحدة المرتبطة بهذا البند. وتمت الموافقة على الاقتراح المنقح. وأشار إلى الحاجة إلى إدخال تعديلات على النسخة الروسية من الجدول ١-٣ والمسرد لتتماشى مع النسخة الإنجليزية.

٥-٣ أحكام تتعلق بزيادة الإنسولين المحمولة العاملة ببطاريات الليثيوم والتي يحملها الركاب (DGP/28-WP/37)

٣-٥-١ تم تقديم اقتراح بتعديل لإضافة ثلاثيات الإنسولين المحمولة التي تعمل ببطاريات الليثيوم إلى أحكام البضائع الخطرة التي يحملها الركاب وأفراد الطاقم الواردة في الجدول ١-٨. ففي حين أن هذه الأجهزة تعتبر جهازاً إلكترونياً محمولاً يعمل بالبطارية ويسمح به في إطار بند بطاريات الليثيوم (بما في ذلك الأجهزة الإلكترونية المحمولة)، كان هناك قلق من أن موظفي تسجيل الوصول قد يمنعون الركاب من حملها لأن الثلاثيات مدرجة في قائمة المواد التي يمكن أن تحتوي على بضائع خطرة المنصوص عليها في الجزء السابع؛ الفقرة ٦ كأداة مساعدة في التعرف على البضائع الخطرة غير المصرح بها.

٣-٥-٢ لم يحظ التعديل بالدعم نظراً لأن الأجهزة مسموح بها بالفعل بموجب أحكام الجدول ١-٨ الحالية. وعليه فإن إضافة عنصر معين يتعارض مع قرار سابق للجنة يقضي بالحفاظ على الطابع العام للجدول ١-٨. وأعرب مقدم الاقتراح عن رضاه عن الإقرار الوارد في تقرير DGP/28 بأن اللجنة وافقت على السماح للركاب وأفراد الطاقم بحمل ثلاثيات الإنسولين المحمولة التي تعمل ببطاريات الليثيوم بموجب بند بطاريات الليثيوم في الجدول ١-٨، والذي يتضمن الأجهزة الإلكترونية المحمولة.

٦-٣ تنقيح احتساب متطلبات القيمة "Q" فيما يخص الفئة (UN 3316) DGP/28-WP/38

١-٦-٣ تم تقديم اقتراح بمراجعة الاستثناءات من حساب قيمة "Q" في الجزء الرابع؛ الفقرة ١-١-٩ هـ) لتشمل رقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3316 - مجموعات المستلزمات الكيميائية أو مجموعات مستلزمات الإسعافات الأولية التي تحتوي على كمية إجمالية للبضائع الخطرة في عبوة ضمن الحدود المنصوص عليها في الجدول ١-٣. وكان القصد من التنقيح هو ضمان تطبيق الاستثناء من القيمة "Q"، حتى لو تباينت الحالات الفيزيائية أو مجموعة التعبئة الأكثر صرامة المخصصة لكل مادة على حدة في كل مجموعة مستلزمات. وقُدِّم اقتراح بأن حساب قيمة "Q" لن يكون ذا صلة برقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3316 لأنها ستكون دائماً أقل من أو مساوية لـ ١. والسبب في ذلك هو أن الحد الأقصى للكمية الصافية لكل طرد المحددة في الجدول ١-٣ هي نفسها بالنسبة لكل مجموعة مستلزمات بغض النظر عن الحالة الفيزيائية أو مجموعة التعبئة الأكثر صرامة المخصصة لفردى المواد في كل مجموعة.

٢-٦-٣ لم يتلق التعديل الدعم. حيث أعرب أعضاء الفريق عن اعتقادهم أن ذلك سيؤدي إلى حدوث ارتباك واعتبروه غير ضروري، بالنظر إلى أن قيمة "Q" ليست مطلوبة لمجموعات مستلزمات المواد الكيميائية أو مجموعات مستلزمات أدوات الإسعافات الأولية التي تحتوي على سلع خطرة متنوعة. وحظرت تعليمات التعبئة رقم ٩٦٠ تعبئة مجموعات المستلزمات مع سلع خطرة أخرى في نفس العبوة الخارجية (باستثناء الثلج الجاف)، غير أنه سُمح بسلع خطرة أخرى داخل مجموعات المستلزمات دون الحاجة إلى قيمة "Q".

٣-٦-٣ وأعرب مقدم الاقتراح عن تقديره للتعليقات وسيقوم بإجراء المزيد من الأبحاث حول هذه القضية بعد الاجتماع.

٧-٣ تنقيح مواد التعبئة الداخلية لحقيبة راتينج البولستر

١-٧-٣ التعديلات التحريرية لتعليمات التعبئة المخصصة لرقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3527 - مجموعة راتينج البولستر، مادة أساس صلبة ورقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3269 - مجموعة راتينج البولستر، مادة أساس سائلة تم اقتراحها. وتبين تعليمات التعبئة 450 و Y450، التي تم تخصيصها لرقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3527، حدود كمية التغليف الداخلية للمادة السائلة الأساسية على الرغم من أن رقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3527 هو مادة أساسية صلبة. وتم الاتفاق على تعديل للاستعاضة عن "المواد السائلة الأساسية" بعبارة "مواد الأساس الصلبة". وتبين تعليمات التعبئة 370 و Y370، المطبقة على رقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3269، أيضاً حدود كمية التغليف الداخلية لـ "المادة السائلة الأساسية". وتم الاتفاق على استبدال هذه الإشارة بعبارة "مادة أساس سائلة" من أجل التوافق مع اسم الشحن الصحيح. ولم تكن هناك اعتراضات على الاقتراح. ولوحظ أن لوائح الأمم المتحدة النموذجية لا تميز بين مادة أساس سائلة أو صلبة، وإنما أشارت ببساطة إلى مادة أساس. كما تم تحديد الحاجة إلى تعديلات إضافية على النسخة الإسبانية من التعليمات الفنية. وتمت الموافقة على التعديلات.

٨-٣ الأجهزة المساعدة على الحركة التي تعمل بالبطاريات (DGP/28-WP/43)

١-٨-٣ تم تقديم اقتراح بتعديلات على الأحكام الخاصة بوسائل المساعدة على الحركة التي تعمل بالبطاريات والتي يحملها الركاب وأفراد الطاقم في الجزء السابع؛ الفقرة ١٣-٢ والجدول ٨-١ بناءً على التعقيبات المقدمة في الاجتماع الحادي

والعشرين لمجموعة العمل التابعة لفريق الخبراء (انظر الفقرة ٣-٢-٢-٢٠ من تقرير الاجتماع). والقصد من التعديلات هو توضيح أن الشرط الحالي الذي يقضي بربط "البطارية" بشكل آمن مع وسيلة المساعدة على الحركة أو إزالتها من وسيلة المساعدة على الحركة لا يعني أنه يمكن إزالة بطارية واحدة فقط وتوضيح أنه لا يمكن أن يكون للبطارية الاحتياطية معدل واط في الساعة يتجاوز ٣٠٠ واط في الساعة، ولا يمكن أن يتجاوز تصنيف بطاريتين احتياطيتين للواط في الساعة ١٦٠ واط في الساعة لكل منهما.

٣-٨-٢ تمت الموافقة على اقتراح منقح يوضح القصد من الجزء السابع؛ الفقرة ٢-١٣-٣-٢ والجدول ٨-١ فيما يتعلق بحدود الواط في الساعة للبطاريات التي تتم إعادها من وسائل المساعدة على الحركة. وجرى بعض النقاش حول ما إذا كان القصد مناسباً أم لا، مع الاعتراف بأن التعديل أوضح أن العديد من البطاريات عالية السعة يمكن إعادها، لكن فريق الخبراء وافق على ذلك أثناء مناقشات الاجتماع الحادي والعشرين. وهناك حد للبطاريات الاحتياطية بحيث لا يمكن سوى حمل بطارية واحدة لا تتجاوز ٣٠٠ واط في الساعة أو بطاريتين اثنتين لا تتجاوزا ١٦٠ واط في الساعة، وليس هناك حد لعدد البطاريات المثبتة في وسيلة المساعدة على الحركة المسموح بها. وفي حين تم الاعتراف بإمكانية وجود عدد كبير من البطاريات عالية السعة، فقد وافق الفريق على أن الأمر متروك للمشغل لتقييم المخاطر وتنفيذ أي تدابير تخفيف ضرورية.

٣-٩ مراجعة تعليمات التعبئة رقم ٩٦٢ (DGP/28-WP/48) باللغة الإنجليزية فقط))

٣-٩-١ تم اقتراح إدخال تعديل على تعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٢ لزيادة صافي الكمية القصوى من المواد الخطرة بيئياً المسموح بها في عبوة مُودعة على أنها رقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3363 - بضائع خطيرة في سلع أو بضائع خطيرة في أجهزة أو بضائع خطيرة في آلات. تم إجراء التعديل لمعالجة فجوة تم إدخالها من خلال تعديل تمت الموافقة عليه في DGP-WG / 21 للسماح بنقل المواد التي تحتوي على مواد خطيرة بيئياً عن طريق الجو بوصفها UN 3548 - سلع تحتوي على بضائع خطيرة متنوعة غير محددة على نحو آخر، غ.م.أ. وتضمن التعديل المتفق عليه الحد الأدنى لصافي كمية المواد الخطرة بيئياً اللازمة لتطبيق هذا البند (٥ لترات للسوائل و٥ كيلوغرام للمواد الصلبة)، والذي وُضع لضمان التوافق بين تصنيف المواد التي تحتوي على مواد خطيرة بيئياً للطيران مع اللوائح التنظيمية النموذجية للأمم المتحدة. بيد أن ذلك أدى إلى وجود فجوة بين الحد الأعلى لصافي كمية المواد الخطرة بيئياً التي تم وضعها المقرر لرقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3363، أي ٥,٥ لتر للسوائل و ١ كجم للمواد الصلبة، والحدود الدنيا للكمية المقررة لرقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3548. وهذا يعني أن السبيل الوحيد إلى نقل مواد تحتوي على كميات من المواد الخطرة بيئياً أكبر من ٥,٥ لتر / ١ كجم ولكن أقل من ٥ لتر / ٥ كجم هو من خلال الموافقة وفقاً للحكم الخاص A107، وقد اعتبر ذلك غير ضروري.

٣-٩-٢ وفي حين تبدى بعض الدعم لسد الفجوة، لم يكن الأعضاء مقتنعين بأن التعديل المقترح يحل المشكلة بشكل فعال بل كانوا قلقين من أنه قد يؤدي إلى عواقب أخرى غير مقصودة. فهناك حاجة إلى مزيد من العمل. ولم يتم الاتفاق على التعديل.

١٠-٣ السلع الكبيرة التي تحتوي على مواد غ. م. أ. خطرة (DGP28-WP/49) (باللغة الإنجليزية فقط)

١-١٠-٣ تمت الموافقة في الاجتماع الحادي والعشرين على تعديلات من شأنها أن تسمح بنقل رقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3538 - سلع تحتوي على غاز غير قابل للاشتعال، غير سام، غ. م. أ. و UN 3548 - سلع تحتوي على بضائع خطرة متنوعة غير محددة على نحو آخر، غ. م. أ. في ظل ظروف محددة. وكان أحد الشروط أنه بالنسبة لرقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3538، كانت البضائع الخطرة الوحيدة المسموح بها في السلع عبارة عن غاز من الشعبة ٢،٢ بدون خطر إضافي، ولكن باستثناء الغازات والغازات المسيلة المبردة التي يُحظر نقلها على متن طائرات الركاب، وبالنسبة إلى رقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3548، فإن البضائع الخطرة الوحيدة المسموح بها في السلع هي مواد خطرة بيئيًا. وقد تحدد بعد مناقشات الاجتماع الحادي والعشرين لمجموعة العمل أن بعض المواد التي يفترض تخصيصها لـ UN 3538، مثل الماسحات الضوئية للتصوير بالرنين المغناطيسي (MRI)، يمكن أن تحتوي أيضًا على خلايا أو بطاريات صغيرة من الليثيوم. بينما سمح الجزء ٢؛ في الفقرة ٢-٦- بتضمين بطاريات الليثيوم في السلع، فقد اعتبر من المفيد تحديد أنها مسموح بها في الأحكام الخاصة الجديدة المتفق عليها في DGP-WG/21. وبنا عليه تم تقديم اقتراح بمراجعة الأحكام الخاصة الجديدة A224 المخصصة لرقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3548 و A225 المخصص لرقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3538 للسماح بخلايا الليثيوم أو البطاريات التي تستوفي أحكام القسم الثاني من تعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٧ أو تعليمات التعبئة ٩٧٠، حسب الاقتضاء.

٢-١٠-٣ ولم تكن هناك اعتراضات على الاقتراح. وكان هناك بعض النقاش حول كيفية تصنيف البطاريات إذا كانت أكبر مما يسمح به القسم الثاني. وأشار مقدم الاقتراح إلى أن تقييد ما هو مسموح به لبطاريات القسم الثاني كان مقصودًا بناءً على احتياجات الصناعة، والتي كانت تتمثل في بطاريات أصغر، ولتجنب المضاعفات المرتبطة بالبطاريات الخاضعة بالكامل للوائح تنظيمية. وتمت الموافقة على التعديل مع بعض التعديلات التحريرية الطفيفة.

١١-٣ التوصيات

١-١١-٣ وفي ضوء المناقشات السابقة، قام الاجتماع بإعداد التوصية التالية:

التوصية ١/٣ — تعديل لوثيقة التعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو (Doc 9284) مقترح إدخاله في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من أجل تيسير النقل

أن تُدرج التعديلات المشار إليها في المرفق (أ) بتقرير الاجتماع الثامن والعشرين لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة باعتبارها "تعديلات لتيسير النقل" في التعليمات الفنية.

البند رقم ٤ : إدارة مخاطر السلامة الناجمة عن نقل بطاريات الليثيوم جواً (المرجع: بطاقة الأعمال رقم DGP.003.03)

٤-١ : حذف القسم الثاني من "تعليمات التعبئة" رقم ٩٦٥ و ٩٦٨ (DGP-WG/21-WP/4) وحذف القسم الثاني من تعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٥ و ٩٦٨ (المرتبطة بورقة العمل (DGP-WG/21-IP/1) (DGP/28-WP/4)

٤-١-١ ناقش الاجتماع اقتراحًا بإلغاء الاستثناءات من التعليمات الفنية المدرجة في القسم الثاني من تعليمات التعبئة الخاصة برقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3480 - بطاريات أيونات الليثيوم (تعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٥) ورقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3090 - بطاريات (مراكم كهربائية) فلز الليثيوم (تعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٨) بحذف هذا القسم. وتم تصميم القسم الثاني لتسهيل نقل خلايا وبطاريات الليثيوم الصغيرة من معظم أحكام التعليمات الفنية، بما في ذلك شرط قيام المشغلين بإجراء فحص القبول للمعلومات التي يتعين تقديمها إلى قائد الطائرة. وقد جعلت هذه الاستثناءات البطاريات أقل وضوحًا للمشغل، مما يؤثر على قدرته على إجراء التقييمات المحددة لمخاطر السلامة بشأن نقل الأغراض في مقصورة الشحن على النحو المطلوب في الملحق السادس - تشغيل الطائرات، الجزء الأول - النقل الجوي التجاري الدولي - الطائرات. وأدى انخفاض الشفافية أيضًا إلى زيادة مخاطر تحميل مواد خاضعة لرقمي الأمم المتحدة UN 3480 أو UN 3090، أي مسموح بنقلها على متن طائرات الشحن فقط، عن غير قصد على متن طائرات الركاب. ولوحظ أنه لهذه الأسباب، قرر مجلس البضائع الخطرة للرابطة الدولية للنقل الجوي بالإجماع إزالة الاستثناءات من لوائح المنظمة للبضائع الخطرة اعتبارًا من ١ يناير ٢٠٢٢. ولم تكن هناك اعتراضات على إزالة الاستثناءات، على الرغم من أن بعض الأعضاء أعربوا عن قلقهم من أن هذا قد يؤدي إلى زيادة في حوادث بطاريات الليثيوم غير المصرح بها التي ينقلها الشاحنون الراغبون في توفير المال. لكن هذه المخاوف لم يقاسمها الجميع. والبضائع الخطرة غير المصرح بها مصدر قلق مستمر يجب معالجته بغض النظر عما إذا كانت الاستثناءات موجودة أم لا، ولا يعتقد معظم أعضاء اللجنة أن عدد الشاحنين غير النزيهين سيزداد إذا تمت إزالة الاستثناءات. وتمت مناقشة التأثير على الشاحنين، حيث طلب أحد مستشاري الصناعة استثناءً من متطلبات التدريب الكاملة ومن متطلبات وضع العلامات والتوسيم، إذا كانت أبعاد العبوة غير كافية لملصق خطر بطارية الليثيوم من الفئة ٩ مع ظهور ملصق طائرة الشحن فقط على نفس سطح العبوة. ولم ير أعضاء الفريق أن هناك تبريرًا كافيًا لهذه التدابير التخفيفية. وتمت الموافقة على التعديل كما هو مقترح. ويرد تقرير مفصل عن المناقشات في الملحق "أ" للتقرير المتعلق بهذا البند من جدول الأعمال.

٤-٢ : معيار التعبئة لبطاريات الليثيوم، القسمان IB و II (DGP/28-WP/5) وتوصيات لتعزيز السلامة في بطاريات الليثيوم المحمولة داخل المعدات (DGP/28-IP/2)

٤-٢-١ تم تقديم اقتراح بتعديل القسم IB من تعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٥ و ٩٦٨ والقسم الثاني (II) من تعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٦ و ٩٦٧ و ٩٦٩ و ٩٧٠ للتخفيف من مخاطر تلف البطاريات. وأدخلت التعديلات متطلبات إجراء اختبار رصة بمسافة ٣ أمتار في القسمين IB و II من تعليمات تعبئة بطارية الليثيوم (تعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٥ إلى ٩٧٠) واختبار إسقاط من علو ١,٢ متر في القسم II من تعليمات تعبئة بطارية الليثيوم للبطاريات الموجودة في المعدات (تعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٧ و ٩٧٠). ومطلب اختبار الإسقاط البالغ ١,٢ متر موجود في جميع تعليمات التعبئة الأخرى. ولذا فإن طلب إجراء اختبار رصة بمسافة ٣ أمتار واختبار إسقاط من علو ١,٢ متر متسق مع ما هو مطلوب للبضائع الخطرة التي يتم شحنها بكميات محدودة وفقًا للجزء الثالث؛ الفقرة ٥ من التعليمات. وقد نشأت الحاجة إلى التعديل بسبب حادثة اشتعلت فيها النيران في هواتف محمولة على منحدر أثناء انتظار تحميلها على متن طائرة. ولم يكن هناك دليل على عدم الامتثال، بما في ذلك لمتطلبات اختبار النوع التصميمي في دليل

الأمم المتحدة للاختبارات والمعايير، ولم يتوصل التحقيق إلى سبب الحادث بصورة حاسمة. لكن الهواتف المحمولة كانت مستثة على ارتفاع حوالي مترين فوق منصة نقالة، وأثير تساؤل عما إذا كان الهواتف تضررت من جراء ضغط العبوات الأخرى المكسدة في الأعلى. وتم تقديم عدد من التوصيات لتعزيز سلامة نقل بطاريات الليثيوم، بما في ذلك تغليف بطاريات أيونات الليثيوم وبطاريات فلز الليثيوم الموجودة في المعدات، في ورقة معلومات.

٢-٢-٤ وفي حين حظي الاقتراح بالدعم من حيث المبدأ، فقد اعتُبر أن الحاجة إلى اختبار الإسقاط بالنسبة للمعدات الكبيرة التي تحتوي على بطاريات تنطوي على مشاكل وغير ضرورية، لا سيما وأن المعدات غالباً ما تحتوي على بطاريات صغيرة جداً لا تشكل أي خطر. وتم التساؤل أيضاً عما إذا كان اختبار الرصة واختبار الأسقاط للبطاريات الموجودة في المعدات وفقاً للقسم الثاني من تعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٧ و ٩٧٠ معقولاً، نظراً لأن متطلبات التعبئة المعدلة ستجعل القسم الثاني أكثر صرامة مما هو مطلوب في القسم الأول. لهذا تم سحب الاقتراح القاضي بإضافة شرط اختبار الرصة للبطاريات المعبأة مع المعدات أو الموجودة داخلها في القسم الثاني من تعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٦ و ٩٦٧ و ٩٦٩ و ٩٧٠ واختبار الأسقاط للبطاريات الموجودة في المعدات في القسم الثاني من تعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٧ و ٩٧٠. وتمت الموافقة على الاقتراح الخاص بتضمين متطلبات اختبار الرصة في القسم IB من تعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٥ و ٩٦٨.

٣-٢-٤ وأثناء النظر في التعديلات، تم التعرف على بعض أوجه القصور في التعديلات على القسم II.2 من تعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٦ و ٩٦٩ التي تم الاتفاق بشأنها في الاجتماع العشرين لمجموعة العمل (انظر الفقرة ٣-١-٦-٣ من تقرير الاجتماع). وأدت التعديلات إلى استبعاد أشكال معينة للتغليف من الأحكام. ولم تتجح محاولات تصحيح أوجه القصور، وتم سحب التعديلات المتفق عليها في الاجتماع العشرين. وسيجري العمل على إيجاد حل للمشكلة خلال فترة السنتين المقبلة.

٣-٤ خفض مستويات شحن بطاريات أيونات الليثيوم (UN 3480) بما لا يتجاوز ٣٠ في المئة وفقاً لتعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٥ للفئة (DGP/28-WP/6)، وخفض مستويات الشحن بما لا يتجاوز نسبة ٣٠ في المائة وفقاً لمستويات التعبئة ٩٦٦ و ٩٦٧ فيما يخص الفئة (UN 3481)، وخفض مستويات الشحن بما لا يتجاوز نسبة ٣٠ في المائة فيما يخص الفئة (UN 3171) (DGP/28-WP/10)

١-٣-٤ ناقش الاجتماع التعديلات التي أدخلت على العديد من تعليمات تغليف بطاريات أيونات الليثيوم التي اقترحت اشتراط أن تكون الخلايا والبطاريات عند نقلها في أدنى حالة شحن ممكنة عملياً، على ألا تتجاوز ٣٠ في المائة. وتضمنت التعديلات مراجعة الحد الأقصى الحالي البالغ ٣٠ في المائة المطلوب لبطاريات أيونات الليثيوم وفقاً لرقم الأمم المتحدة - UN 3480 وتوسيع نطاقه ليشمل جميع شحنات بطاريات أيونات الليثيوم. أوضح مقدم الاقتراح أن القصد منه هو تقليل مخاطر الجموح الحراري، وانتقال الجموح الحراري من خلية إلى أخرى وتوليد الغازات المتفجرة أثناء النقل.

٢-٣-٤ وكانت تعليمات التعبئة التي تم اقتراح إدخال تعديلات عليها هي:

- (أ) تعليمات التعبئة رقم ٩٦٥ المخصصة لرقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3480 - بطاريات أيونات الليثيوم؛
- (ب) تعليمات التعبئة رقم ٩٦٦ المخصصة لرقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3481 - بطاريات أيونات الليثيوم المعبأة في معدات؛

(ج) تعليمات التعبئة رقم ٩٦٧ المخصصة لرقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3481 - بطاريات أيونات الليثيوم المحتواة في معدات؛

(د) تعليمات التعبئة ٩٥٢ المخصصة لرقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3171 - الأجهزة التي تعمل بالبطارية والمركبات التي تعمل بالبطارية.

كما تم اقتراح تعديلات على تعليمات التعبئة ٩١٠ و ٩٧٤ للإضافة الملحقه بالتعليمات الفنية. ويرد التقرير الخاص بمناقشة تعليمات التعبئة هذه في الفقرة ٤-٤.

٣-٣-٤ وناقش الاجتماع المقترحات من حيث المبدأ مع التركيز على:

(أ) اشتراط أدنى حالة شحن من الناحية العملية، على الا تتجاوز ٣٠ في المائة، دون مراجعة التعديل المقترح لكل واحدة من تعليمات التعبئة المحددة؛

(ب) توسيع نطاق الحد الأقصى لمستوى الشحن الوارد في تعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٥ بحيث يغطي تعليمات تعبئة بطاريات أيونات الليثيوم الأخرى مع التركيز على بطاريات أيونات الليثيوم المعبأة مع المعدات والمحتواة في داخلها.

٤-٣-٤ أدنى مستوى عملي للشحن، بما لا يتجاوز ٣٠ في المائة

١-٤-٣-٤ أيدت اللجنة القصد من اشتراط أدنى مستوى عملي للشحن (بما لا تتجاوز ٣٠ في المائة)، لكنها لم توافق على الاقتراح كما هو مكتوب لأنه اعتبر غامضاً ويصعب تنفيذه وإنفاذه. وحظيت التوصية ببعض التأييد، لكن لم يتم الاتفاق على الصياغة. واعتبر غالبية أعضاء الفريق أنه من السابق لأوانه إجراء أي تغييرات على التعليمات الفنية، لكنهم أيدوا قيام مجموعة العمل المعنية بتخزين الطاقة بدراسة المسألة دراسة متأنية خلال فترة السنتين المقبلة. وترد قائمة مفصلة بالتعليقات التي تم الإدلاء بها أثناء المناقشة في الملحق "ب" من التقرير بشأن هذا البند من جدول الأعمال.

٥-٣-٤ توسيع نطاق حدود مستوى الشحن الواردة في تعليمات التعبئة رقم ٩٦٥

بحيث تغطي تعليمات تعبئة بطاريات أيونات الليثيوم الأخرى

١-٥-٣-٤ على الرغم من وجود بعض الدعم لتوسيع نطاق الحد الأقصى لمستوى الشحن الحالي الخاص برقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3480 بحيث يغطي UN 3481، خاصة بالنسبة لبطاريات الليثيوم المعبأة مع المعدات، لم تتمكن اللجنة من التوصل إلى توافق في الآراء بشأن فرض مثل هذا المطلب دون إجراء تقييم شامل لمخاطر السلامة أولاً. وبسبب القيود الزمنية لم يكن ذلك ممكناً خلال اجتماع فريق الخبراء الثامن والعشرين. وقُدمت توصية بإجرائه بواسطة مجموعة عمل أجهزة تخزين الطاقة في أقرب وقت ممكن بعد الاجتماع الثامن والعشرين لفريق الخبراء، ويفضل أن يكون ذلك خلال النصف الأول من عام ٢٠٢٢. ونظرًا لتعقيد المهمة، أوصي أيضًا بإجراء تقييم لمخاطر السلامة بإشراف خبراء إدارة السلامة من خلال التنسيق مع الأمانة. فإذا حدد تقييم مخاطر السلامة وجود مخاطر لا يمكن تحملها، فإن اللجنة ستوصي بتدابير لتخفيف المخاطر، يمكن أن تشمل اشتراط مستوى مخفض للشحن. وشدد المشاركون من شركات صناعة البطاريات على أنه سيكون هناك تأثير اقتصادي هائل في حالة الحاجة إلى وضع حد لمستوى شحن المعدات. وتم التأكيد على الحاجة إلى تقييم مخاطر السلامة قبل النظر في التأثيرات المترتبة على الصناعة. وسيتم النظر في التأثيرات على صناعة البطاريات عند النظر في تدابير التخفيف من المخاطر، إذا كانت ضرورية. وإذا لزم الأمر، يمكن التوصية بإضافة ملحق

طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من التعليمات الفنية لإدراج التعديلات المتفق عليها. وترد قائمة مفصلة بالتعليقات التي تم الإدلاء بها أثناء المناقشة في الملحق (ب) من التقرير حول هذا البند من جدول الأعمال.

٤-٤ خفض مستوى الشحن بنسبة لا تزيد عن ٣٠ في المائة فيما يخص (UN 3481) وفقاً لتعليمات التعبئة رقم ٩١٠ من "الإضافة للتعليمات الفنية" (DGP/28-WP/9)، وخفض مستوى الشحن بنسبة لا تزيد عن ٣٠ في المائة فيما يخص بطاريات أيونات الليثيوم () التي تزيد كتلتها عن ٣٥ كج وفقاً لتعليمات التعبئة رقم ٩٧٤ (DGP/28-WP/8)

٤-٤-١ تم مجدداً اقتراح تقديم نفس التعديل الذي يتطلب نقل البطاريات بأدنى مستوى شحن ممكن عملياً، ولكن بما لا يتجاوز ٣٠ في المائة الذي تم اقتراحه لتعليمات تعبئة بطاريات الليثيوم في التعليمات الفنية (انظر الفقرة ٤-٣)، بالنسبة لتعليمات التعبئة ٩١٠ و ٩٧٤ من الإضافة. وتطبق تعليمات التعبئة رقم ٩١٠ على عمليات الإنتاج المحدودة والنماذج الأولية للبطاريات وخلايا الليثيوم التي لا تستوفي معايير اختبار الأمم المتحدة UN 38.3 المشحونة بموجب موافقة وتطبق تعليمات التعبئة ٩٧٤ على خلايا وبطاريات الليثيوم التي تزيد كتلتها عن ٣٥ كجم المشحونة بموجب موافقة. ولم تتم الموافقة على التعديل للسبب نفسه الذي حال دون الموافقة عليه لتعليمات التعبئة في التعليمات الفنية. وسيجري إمعان مزيد من النظر في المسألة بمجرد إجراء تقييم مخاطر السلامة.

٤-٤-٢ وتطبق تعليمات التعبئة ٩١٠ و ٩٧٤ على أرقام الأمم المتحدة UN 3480, 3091, 3090 و 3481. فكل رقم منها يحتوي على شرط نقل خلايا وبطاريات أيونات الليثيوم عند مستوى شحن لا يتجاوز ٣٠ في المائة من سعتها المقدرة لكنه لا ينص على أن الأمر ينطبق على رقمي الأمم المتحدة UN 3481 and 3480. وتمت الموافقة على تعديل لتعليمات التعبئة رقم ٩٧٤ لتوضيح أنه ينطبق على كليهما. وتم الاتفاق على تعديل مماثل لتعليمات التعبئة ٩١٠ في الاجتماع الحادي والعشرين (انظر الفقرة ٣-٢-٣-٢-٣ من تقرير (DGP-W/21).

٤-٥ منع الركاب وأفراد طاقم الطائرة من حمل بطاريات ليثيوم تالفة أو معيبة في الأمتعة المحمولة أو المسجلة (DGP/28-WP/24)

٤-٥-١ تم تقديم اقتراح بتعديل لأحكام البضائع الخطرة التي يحملها الركاب أو الطاقم الواردة في الجدول ٨-١ لمنع الركاب وأفراد الطاقم من حمل بطاريات الليثيوم التالفة أو المعيبة في أمتعة المقصورة أو الأمتعة المسجلة. والغرض من التعديل هو التخفيف من مخاطر نشوب حريق، الأمر الذي يحدث أكثر كما هو معلوم عندما تكون البطاريات تالفة أو معيبة. وهذا هو السبب في أن الحكم الخاص A154 يحظر نقلها كبضائع على متن الطائرات.

٤-٥-٢ ولم يتم الاتفاق على التعديل. فقد أقر الفريق بوجود مخاطر، لكنه لم يعتبر التعديل المقترح إجراءً فعالاً للتخفيف من حدتها. فمن الصعب تقييم ما إذا كانت البطارية قد تعرضت للضرر أم لا، وينطبق نفس الأمر بالنسبة لتنفيذ المطالب. فحظر شحن البطاريات التالفة والمعيبة كبضائع مختلف تماماً من منع الركاب من حمل بطاريات تالفة أو معيبة من حيث إنه سيكون من الصعب منع الركاب من حمل أغراضهم الشخصية على متن الطائرة. وتم كذلك التمييز بين الأجهزة التي تعمل ببطارية الليثيوم والتي تم استدعاؤها بسبب عيوب في التصنيع والجهاز الشخصي الذي يحمله الركاب الذي تعرض للتلف من خلال الاستخدام. وقد يكون من شأن استحداث نص تنظيمي أن يؤثر على الأول، ولكن من غير المحتمل أن يكون له تأثير

على سلوك الركاب. فتتقيد الركاب بشأن مخاطر السلامة المرتبطة بجميع البضائع الخطرة وكيفية تمكينهم من اتخاذ التدابير المناسبة لتقليل المخاطر سيكون نهجاً أفضل لتغيير سلوكهم.

٤-٥-٣ وأيد الفريق القيام بالمزيد من العمل بشأن هذه القضية. فقد ينتج عن ذلك لوائح و/ أو إرشادات إضافية عن كيفية الوصول إلى الركاب. وتم الإقرار بأن مجموعة العمل المخصصة تحديداً للنقل الآمن للبضائع التابعة لفريق خبراء عمليات الطيران قد كُلفت بوضع إرشادات بشأن كيفية تطوير إجراءات لمنع ومعالجة الحوادث الناجمة عن بطاريات الليثيوم التي يحملها الطاقم والركاب والمشغل. وجرى بعض النقاش عما إذا كان نطاق هذا العمل يقتصر على التعامل مع الحوادث أو يشمل أيضاً تدابير لمنع الركاب وأفراد الطاقم من إدخال مخاطر السلامة من خلال العناصر التي يحضرونها على متن الطائرة. وستقوم الأمانة بالتنسيق داخل الايكوا لتوضيح النطاق.

٤-٦ اشتراط إغلاق الأجهزة التي تحتوي علي بطاريات الليثيوم عند تقديمها للنقل ضمن البضائع (DGP/28-WP/25)

٤-٦-١ تم تقديم اقتراح بتعديل تعليمات التعبئة لبطاريات الليثيوم المحتواة في المعدات (تعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٧ و ٩٧٠) للمطالبة بإغلاق الجهاز المعني. والغرض من التعديل هو التخفيف من مخاطر نشوب حريق، وهي مخاطر تزيد عند تشغيل المعدات التي تحتوي على بطاريات. لهذا السبب، كان من الضروري الإبطال التام لتشغيل البطاريات الموجودة في الأجهزة الإلكترونية المحمولة التي يحملها الركاب أو الطاقم في الأمتعة المسجلة. وتحتوي تعليمات التعبئة على أحكام لمنع التنشيط العرضي غير المقصود أثناء النقل، ولكنها لا تتطلب صراحة إيقاف تشغيل الجهاز. ويلتضمن التعديل استثناءً لبطاقات تحديد الهوية بالترددات اللاسلكية (RFID)، والساعات، وأجهزة تسجيل درجات الحرارة المستخدمة أثناء النقل.

٤-٦-٢ وعلى الرغم من أن القصد من التعديل حظي ببعض التعاطف، لم يتم دعم التعديل على النحو المقترح. فقد أثريت مخاوف من أن يكون له عواقب غير مقصودة على الأجهزة التي لم تُدرج ضمن الاستثناءات، ولكنها تحتاج إلى التشغيل المستمر، بما في ذلك بعض الأجهزة الطبية. وعليه لم تتم الموافقة على التعديل، بيد أن البعض ممن رأوا بأنه من المناسب استحداث شرط للأجهزة التي لا تحتاج إلى التشغيل المستمر وافقوا على العمل مع مقدم الاقتراح بشأن تقديم اقتراح منقح خلال فترة السنتين المقبلة.

٤-٧ حذف الحكم الخاص A206 (DGP/28-WP/40)

٤-٧-١ تمت دعوة فريق الخبراء للنظر في حذف الحكم الخاص A206، الذي تم تخصيصه لبنود بطاريات أيونات الليثيوم وفلز الليثيوم في الجدول ٣-١ بغرض النص على أن السلع الخطرة المتنوعة - بطاريات الليثيوم، يجب تطبيق بطاقة وسم الرتبة ٩ على العبوات التي تحتوي عليها. وقد كان لهذا الحكم قيمة عندما تم تقديمه في البداية، لأنه تضمن فترة انتقالية يمكن خلالها تطبيق بطاقة وسم البضائع الخطرة العامة المتنوعة لكن تلك الفترة انقضت منذ ذلك الحين. لذا فالحكم فائض عن الحاجة بدون وجود الفترة الانتقالية، حيث إن علامة الوسم التي سيتم تطبيقها منصوص عليها في العمود ٥ من الجدول ٣-١، في القسم IB من تعليمات تعبئة بطارية الليثيوم، وفي الجزء الخامس؛ الفقرة ٣. وثمة حكم خاص مماثل مدرج في لوائح الأمم المتحدة النموذجية، ولكنه ضروري هناك لأن قائمة البضائع الخطرة في لوائح الأمم المتحدة النموذجية لا يوجد بها عمود لعلامة وسم، وتضمن الحكم الخاص شرطاً لوضع لوحات الإعلان على وحدات نقل البضائع، وهي لا تنطبق على حالة النقل الجوي. وتمت الموافقة على التعديل.

٨-٤ بطاريات الليثيوم التالفة أو المعيبة المركبة في المحركات، أو المعدات، أو المركبات أو الأجهزة المنقذة للحياة (DGP/28-WP/45) (بالإنجليزية فقط)

١-٨-٤ تعليمات التعبئة للمحركات، والآلات، والمركبات والأجهزة المنقذة للحياة (تعليمات التعبئة ٢٢٠ و ٣٧٨ و ٩٥٠ و ٩٥١ و ٩٥٢ و ٩٥٥ و ٩٧٢) تحتوي على أحكام لبطاريات الليثيوم ولكن ليس للبطاريات التالفة أو المعيبة. وفي هذا تضارب مع لوائح الأمم المتحدة النموذجية، التي تضمنت متطلبات محددة للبضائع التي تحتوي على بطاريات تالفة أو معيبة في شكل أحكام خاصة أو ضمن تعليمات التعبئة المخصصة لمعظم هذه البنود. وحظرت التعليمات الفنية نقل البطاريات التالفة والمعيبة في تعليمات التعبئة المخصصة لرقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3090 - بطاريات فلز الليثيوم، و UN 3091 - بطاريات فلز الليثيوم المحتواة في معدات أو المعبأة معها، UN 3480 - بطاريات أيونات الليثيوم UN 3481 - بطاريات أيونات الليثيوم أيون المحتواة داخل أو المعبأة مع المعدات ومن خلال الحكم الخاص A154 ، الذي تم تخصيصه لأرقام الأمم المتحدة: 3481، 3091، 3090، UN. وبناءً عليه، تم تقديم اقتراح بتعديل الحكم الخاص A154 لبنود المحركات والآلات، والمركبات والأجهزة المنقذة للحياة في الجدول ٣-١ (3166، 3171، 3072، UN 2990، 3528، 3530) (والتعديلات على تعليمات التعبئة المرتبطة بها (تعليمات التعبئة ٢٢٠، ٣٧٨، ٩٥٠، ٩٥١، ٩٥٢، ٩٥٥ و ٩٧٢) من أجل حظر نقل هذه الأشياء عن طريق الجو إذا كانت تحتوي على بطاريات ليثيوم تالفة أو معيبة.

٢-٨-٤ وتمت الموافقة على التعديل، رهنا بمراعاة التعديلات التحريرية لمواءمة النص مع الأحكام الإضافية لبطاريات الليثيوم التي لم يتم اختبارها وفقًا للقسم ٣٨،٣ من دليل الأمم المتحدة للاختبار والمعايير الذي وافق الفريق على إضافته (انظر الفقرة ٤-١٢). وأشار إلى أن لوائح الأمم المتحدة النموذجية لا تتضمن أحكامًا للبطاريات التالفة أو المعيبة فيما يتعلق برقم الأمم المتحدة - UN No. 2990 الأجهزة المنقذة للحياة، ذاتية النفخ أو رقم الأمم المتحدة - UN 3072 الأجهزة المنقذة للحياة، غير ذاتية النفخ. وسيتم إبلاغ اللجنة الفرعية للأمم المتحدة بقرار اللجنة القاضي بتطبيق الشرط الخاص A154 على هذه البنود.

٩-٤ توضيح أداء التعبئة للقسم الثاني من تعليمات التعبئة رقم ٩٦٦ و ٩٦٩ (DGP/28-WP/46) (بالإنجليزية فقط)

١-٩-٤ تم تقديم اقتراح بإدخال تعديلات على أحكام أداء العبوة في القسم الثاني من تعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٦ و ٩٦٩ لتتماشى مع التعديلات المقترحة للقسم الثاني من تعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٧ و ٩٧٠ التي تم الاتفاق عليها في الاجتماع الحادي والعشرين لمجموعة العمل (انظر الفقرة ٣-١-٣ من تقرير مجموعة العمل الحادي والعشرين). تم إغفال الحاجة إلى تعديل مماثل لتعليمات التعبئة ٩٦٦ و ٩٦٩ في ذلك الوقت. وأدمجت التعديلات جملتين متعلقتين بمتطلبات التعبئة (واحدة في القسم 1.2 II) في جملة واحدة، وبذلك أزيلت الإشارة غير المناسبة إلى الخلايا والبطاريات المعبأة في غلاف خارجي قوي. ولا يصدق هذا على بطاريات وخلايا الليثيوم المعبأة مع المعدات، لأن العبوة التي تحتوي على الخلايا أو البطاريات هي عبارة عن عبوة داخلية. وتمت الموافقة على التعديل.

١٠-٤ شروط العبوات الشاملة لبطاريات الليثيوم من القسم الثاني (DGP/28-WP/47) (بالإنجليزية فقط)

١-١٠-٤ القسم الثاني من تعليمات التعبئة الخاصة بطاريات الليثيوم (تعليمات التعبئة من ٩٦٥ إلى ٩٧٠) استثنى الطرود من جميع أحكام التعليمات الفنية بخلاف تلك المشار إليها تحديداً في تعليمات التعبئة. وتضمنت الاستثناءات استثناءً من شرط يقضي بتأمين الطرود الموضوعة في عبوات شاملة وبألا تتضرر المهمة المقصودة لكل طرد بالتجميع في عبوة شاملة (الجزء الخامس؛ الفقرة ١-١ و i). وأثار المشغلون وبعض السلطات التنظيمية مخاوف بشأن طرود بطاريات الليثيوم غير المحمية بشكل كافٍ والموضوعة في عبوات شاملة وأكياس غير صلبة، وبصفة رئيسية تلك التي يتم شحنها عبر التجارة الإلكترونية، وإمكانية تلف بطاريات الليثيوم الموجودة في هذه الطرود. لذلك تم تقديم اقتراح بإجراء تعديل لإدراج شروط الجزء الخامس؛ ١-١ و i) في القسم الثاني من تعليمات تعبئة بطاريات الليثيوم. وتمت الموافقة على التعديل.

١١-٤ مواءمة أحكام البندين الخاصين A88 و A99 من التعليمات الفنية مع تعليمات التعبئة رقم ٩٧٤ بالإضافة (DGP/28-WP/56)

١-١١-٤ تم تقديم اقتراح بتعديل الحكمين الخاصين A88 و A99 لاستبدال الإشارات إلى "البطاريات أو تجميع البطاريات" بعبارة "الخلية أو البطارية". ويتواءم النص المعدل مع النص الوارد في تعليمات التعبئة ذات الصلة، التي لا تشير إلى تجميعات البطاريات، كما يتواءم النص مع تعريف بطارية الليثيوم والملاحظة المصاحبة له في التذييل ٢ بالإرشادات الفنية. وتمت الموافقة على التعديل.

١٢-٤ بطاريات الليثيوم المركبة في مركبات لم تخضع لاختبار UN 38.3 (DGP/28-WP/57)

١-١٢-٤ تم تقديم اقتراح بتعديل على أحكام بطاريات الليثيوم الواردة في تعليمات التعبئة للمركبات والمركبات التي تعمل بالبطاريات أو المعدات لتصحيح عدم الاتساق مع الحكم الخاص A88. وقد نصت فرادى تعليمات التعبئة دون استثناء على أن بطاريات الليثيوم تخضع لأحكام الجزء الثاني؛ الفقرة ٣-٩، ما لم توافق على خلاف ذلك السلطة المختصة في دولة المنشأ. ويشترط الجزء الثاني؛ في الفقرة ٣-٩ أن تكون كل خلية أو بطارية من النوع الذي يفي بمتطلبات الجزء الثالث، القسم الفرعي ٣-٣٨ من دليل الأمم المتحدة للاختبارات والمعايير. ويسمح الحكم الخاص A88 بإجراء عمليات إنتاج منخفضة ونماذج أولية في مرحلة ما قبل الإنتاج لبطاريات الليثيوم أو الخلايا المنقولة للاختبار لشحنها على متن طائرات شحن دون تلبية هذه المتطلبات، إذا وافقت على ذلك السلطة المختصة في دولة المنشأ ودولة المشغل. وقد أدى ذلك إلى حدوث تضارب فيما يتعلق بشحن أنواع البطاريات غير المختبرة في المركبات أو المعدات حيث تتطلب تعليمات التعبئة موافقة من السلطة الوطنية المختصة في دولة المنشأ، بينما يشترط الحكم الخاص A88 موافقة من دولة المنشأ ودولة المشغل. وذكر أن الخطر الذي تشكله أي بطارية من نوع لم يخضع لاختبارات الأمم المتحدة هو خطر مماثل، على أقل تقدير، بغض النظر عما إذا كانت البطارية مركبة في إحدى السيارات أو المعدات أم لا. لذلك، أدخل التعديل المقترح حكماً جديداً على تعليمات التعبئة ليشمل دولة المشغل في عملية الموافقة على بطاريات الليثيوم غير المختبرة.

١-١٢-٤-٢ وتم تقديم اقتراح بتعديل ثانٍ على أحكام البطاريات في تعليمات التعبئة أزال النص الزائد عن الحاجة فيما يتعلق بضرورة تثبيت البطاريات بإحكام في السيارة وحمايتها من قصر الدائرة.

١-١٢-٤-٢ تمت الموافقة على التعديلات، رهنا بالتعديلات التحريرية.

١٣-٤ تقرير فرقة العمل المعنية بأجهزة تخزين الطاقة التابعة لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة (DGP/28-IP/3)

١-١٣-٤ قدم مقرر فرقة العمل المعنية بأجهزة تخزين الطاقة التابعة لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة تحديثاً عن عمل فرقة العمل. وترد تفاصيل هذا التحديث في الملحق "ج" بالتقرير المتعلق بهذا البند من جدول الأعمال.

٢-١٣-٤ البنود الجديدة المخصصة لفرقة العمل المعنية بأجهزة تخزين الطاقة خلال الاجتماع الثامن والعشرين، بما في ذلك إجراء تقييم مخاطر السلامة على بطاريات الليثيوم المعبأة أو الموجودة داخل المعدات التي وافق فريق الخبراء على ضرورة القيام بها (انظر الفقرة ٣-٤ من هذا التقرير)، ستجري جدولتها في عام ٢٠٢٢. وسيشمل العمل تقييم مخاطر السلامة المرتبطة بكل من البطاريات المعبأة والموجودة في المعدات فضلاً عن المركبات والمعدات التي تعمل بالبطاريات. وقد تم الإقرار بأن نتيجة التقييم من المرجح أن تكون مختلفة لكل منها، كما هو الحال مع أي تدابير تخفيف قد يوصى بها. وستقوم فرقة العمل المعنية بأجهزة تخزين الطاقة أيضاً بتطوير نص مقترح لمعالجة الهدف المتمثل في شحن بطاريات الليثيوم بأدنى مستوى شحن ممكن عملياً، وبما لا يزيد عن ٣٠ في المائة من سعتها المقدرة، على الأقل كإحدى أفضل الممارسات.

١٤-٤ التوصية

١-١٤-٤ وفي ضوء المناقشات السابقة، أعد الاجتماع التوصية التالية:

التوصية ١/٤ — تعديل للأحكام الخاصة ببطاريات الليثيوم، مقترح إدخاله في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ من وثيقة التعليمات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو (Doc 9484)

أن تُدرج التعديلات المشار إليها في المرفق (أ) بالتقرير باعتبارها "تعديلات للأحكام الخاصة ببطاريات الليثيوم" في التعليمات الفنية.

التوصية ٢/٤ — تعديل للأحكام الخاصة ببطاريات الليثيوم، مقترح إدخاله في طبعة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ للإضافة الملحق بالمعلومات الفنية للنقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة بطريق الجو (Doc 9481 SU)

أن تُدرج التعديلات المشار إليها في المرفق (ب) "باعتبارها تعديلات للأحكام الخاصة ببطاريات الليثيوم" في الإضافة الملحق بالتعليمات الفنية.

APPENDIX A TO THE REPORT ON AGENDA ITEM 4**(English only)****DETAILED REPORT ON PROPOSAL TO REMOVE EXCEPTIONS
FROM FULL REGULATION CONTAINED IN SECTION II OF
PACKING INSTRUCTIONS 965 AND 968**

The following are comments provided during discussions on proposals to remove exceptions from full regulation contained in Section II of Packing Instructions 965 and 968.

1. UNDECLARED LITHIUM BATTERIES

There was wide support for the proposal, although some members expressed concern that removing the exceptions would result in an increase in incidents of undeclared lithium batteries being offered by shippers wanting to save money. However, these concerns were not shared by all. Undeclared dangerous goods were an on-going concern that needed to be addressed regardless of whether or not the exceptions were in place, and most panel members did not believe the number of dishonest shippers would increase if the exceptions were removed. Maintaining the exceptions affected the ability of the operator to assess and manage the safety risks associated with the batteries because they were not visible in the system and because some of the existing mitigation measures built into the Technical Instructions did not apply to Section II batteries. Operators were implementing measures to reduce the risk of undeclared lithium batteries being loaded on aircraft, including additional security screening. They were requesting that regulatory authorities increase measures, including enforcement, as well. Some panel members noted that most operators in their States were already not accepting or would stop accepting Section II batteries because of challenges in managing the safety risk. Others, from both State authorities and airlines, noted that there was no increase in undeclared lithium batteries once Section II batteries stopped being accepted.

2. IMPACT ON SHIPPERS

The impact on shippers and whether or not there was data to assess the impact should the exceptions be removed was discussed, although one panel member suggested this was irrelevant in that there should be an impact, otherwise implementing a change was pointless. While there would be an additional cost to shippers who had been using Section II, this was necessary so that operators were provided with what they needed to manage the safety risk. Members of the battery industry advised that there would be minimal impact on large shippers but that there could be an impact in certain regions, notably Asia, where the Section II provisions were used more often. An adviser, while acknowledging that there might be little impact on large shippers if the exceptions were removed, noted that the majority of shippers who used the Section II provisions were small. It was questioned whether some relaxation could be provided to them. An industry adviser expressed particular concern with the added cost to shippers that would result from them being subject to the full training requirements of the Technical Instructions, the requirement for the Class 9 lithium battery hazard label and cargo aircraft only label to appear on the same surface of the package (which might result in a need for a larger packaging), and the operator being subject to a full acceptance check (which would likely result in a charge levied on the shipper). He suggested that these added costs would increase the risk of lithium batteries being shipped without being declared as dangerous goods. He

therefore requested the panel consider providing an exception from the full training requirements and from the “same surface” marking and labelling requirement if the package dimensions were inadequate for them to appear on the same surface of the package. While there was some sympathy expressed for an exception from the “same surface” marking and labelling requirement, there was little support for an exception from training. It was considered contradictory to not require training to ship lithium batteries when it was required for dangerous goods that posed a much lower safety risk. It was also considered contradictory to prohibit lithium batteries from transport on passenger aircraft because of the safety risk but to allow exceptions from some of the major mitigation measures that the Technical Instructions provided, including training, for transport on cargo only aircraft. The term “adequate instruction”, which was the existing requirement for Section II batteries, was also considered vague and inconsistent with the new training provisions that supported a competency-based approach to training and assessment. The potential need for much larger packaging relative to the cells or batteries inside, in order to accommodate marks and labels on the same surface, was raised. It was suggested the empty volume could affect the quality of packaging and introduce a safety risk. However, not having the hazard label with the cargo aircraft only label on the same surface also introduced a safety risk in that the information the labels conveyed might not be visible to the operator. An industry observer noted the millions of lithium battery packages moved by his airline and the importance of being able to see the labels clearly. If not clearly visible there was a risk that a cargo aircraft only label would be missed and a forbidden package loaded on a passenger aircraft. The impact exceptions had on the complexity of the provisions was also raised, as this went against the objective of simplifying the lithium battery provisions to aid with compliance.

3. IMPLEMENTATION

Whether an addendum to the current edition of the Technical Instructions would be appropriate was discussed, recognizing that the exceptions would be removed from the IATA Dangerous Goods Regulations beginning 1 January 2022. The panel did not consider this necessary.

— — — — —

APPENDIX B TO THE REPORT ON AGENDA ITEM 4**(English only)****DETAILED REPORT ON PROPOSALS TO INTRODUCE STATE OF CHARGE RESTRICTIONS TO LITHIUM BATTERY PACKING INSTRUCTIONS IN THE TECHNICAL INSTRUCTIONS**

The following are comments provided during discussions on proposals to introduce state of charge restrictions to lithium battery packing instructions in the Technical Instructions

1. REDUCED STATE OF CHARGE NOT EXCEEDING 30 PERCENT FOR UN 3480 THROUGH PACKING INSTRUCTION 965 (DGP/28-WP/6)

Support for requiring the lowest practical state of charge for lithium ion cells and batteries but not exceeding 30 per cent of their rated capacity

- a) All panel members supported the objective with agreement that shipping at the lowest, or safest, state of charge possible, without introducing a cell degradation hazard, was a good practice and might be something that could be recommended.
- b) There was data that indicated a problem, and proactive measures needed to be taken to prevent an accident.
- c) A 30 per cent state of charge limit for UN 3480 — **Lithium ion batteries** was introduced in the 2015-2016 Edition of the Technical Instructions based on FAA data that focused on 18650 cells, but this data was not extensive. It demonstrated that this limit significantly reduced the risk of thermal propagation for the majority of cell and battery types that were being transported at that time, but it was never accepted as providing a safe level for all. It was implemented to quickly and easily reduce the general risk the batteries posed to air transport. It was a prescriptive target. Some cells and batteries posed significant risk if they entered thermal runaway even at a 30 per cent state of charge. “Lowest practical” would reduce that risk.
- d) A reduced state of charge might not be possible for certain devices, including medical devices, and something could be done to address this, but it was unacceptable to put passengers at risk so that consumer devices could be ready for use when delivered.
- e) The wording of the amendment proposed was ambiguous, but could adapt it to clarify the intent. “Practicable” would be a more appropriate word choice than “practical”.

Justification for maintaining the status quo

- a) The language used was not appropriate for regulations.

- b) “Lowest practical state of charge” was not defined, which would make it very difficult to implement, particularly further down the supply chain. Manufacturers might be capable of determining the safest state of charge, but it would be challenging for others in the distribution chain.
- c) It would be difficult to enforce.
- d) What determined the lowest state of charge practical was not fixed for a given battery. The optimal level would change over the lifespan of a battery.
- e) A mandatory requirement was unjustified without data demonstrating that a 30 per cent limit was inadequate. Could be a best practice, but not a mandatory requirement.

2. EXTENDING 30 PERCENT STATE OF CHARGE LIMIT TO UN 3481 THROUGH PACKING INSTRUCTIONS 966, 967 AND UN 3171 THROUGH PACKING INSTRUCTION 952 (DGP/28-WP/7 AND DGP/28-WP/10)

Support for extending 30 per cent State of charge to Packing Instructions 966, 967 and 952

- a) There was some support to recommend state of charge limits for batteries packed with equipment through Packing Instruction 966 immediately, as these were not considered to be much different to batteries packed on their own. There was little data to demonstrate that equipment provided adequate protection from both thermal runaway propagation and explosive gas generation.
- b) Limiting the state of charge was accepted as a significant safety benefit for batteries packed on their own, and extending the requirement to UN 3481 would further reduce the risk of a lithium battery incident during transport.
- c) Not applying a state of charge limit to batteries packed with or contained in equipment may have been justified when the limit was applied to batteries packed on their own because of the protection the equipment provided, but there was an increased trend towards more powerful and energetic batteries, the numbers transported, and a diminishing ratio of equipment to batteries which meant less protection. The author of the proposal suggested that devices in the past usually consisted mostly of equipment that contained a battery, but that there was now a trend toward devices being composed mostly of batteries.
- d) Publicly-available FAA data and data from a reporting system established by UL (Thermal Runaway Incident Program (TRIP)) suggested that more air cargo incidents involving lithium battery powered equipment occurred than what was reported through mandatory reporting mechanisms. The number of airlines reporting to TRIP was a small subset of the aviation industry, but yet sixty-three cargo operation incidents involving lithium batteries had been reported between 2017-2021. This was just one system, and it was known that many incidents went unreported. While the number may have been small relative to the number of shipments, the severity of potential

consequences from an incident needed to be taken into account to assess risk. There was also an overwhelming amount of data identifying a reduced state of charge as a valuable mitigation measure against both the likelihood and the severity of an event. There was a need to be proactive, not reactive.

- e) A lack of confidence with a member from the battery industry's conclusion that the data from the cited report on the heat release analysis justified status quo was expressed (see 2 b) below). The batteries in the study were tested at 50 per cent state of charge, but there was no requirement in the Technical Instructions for them to be shipped at that rate. They could be shipped at 100 per cent state of charge in compliance with the Technical Instructions. The tests were conducted more than ten years ago, and a 50 per cent state of charge then may not be comparable to 50 per cent now because of increased energy density. There were significant differences in gas volume at different states of charge, which was concerning given the fact that greater volumes of gas made fires more hazardous.
- f) A fire incident involving mobile phones being shipped as cargo that were on a skid waiting to be loaded on the aircraft had led some stakeholders to explore the feasibility of extending the state of charge limit to UN 3481, and it was known that one manufacturer implemented this limit following the incident (see DGP/28-IP/2).
- g) While sympathetic to the impact on industry (see 2 c) below), concerns that there would be an enormous impact were also expressed when other restrictions were introduced. The industry adapted, significant safety measures were implemented, and the industry's growth was maintained. Shippers had learned how to reduce the state of charge for batteries packed on their own. It would be no different for batteries packed with equipment. The impact did not justify ignoring safety risks if they existed. Nevertheless, the impact on the lithium battery industry and any other areas would be considered when developing mitigating measures, if the safety risk assessment identified the need for them.
- h) Test data from UL further demonstrated the safety benefits of a reduced state of charge (see DGP/28-IP/9). It also demonstrated no significant drop in voltage over a nine month period, suggesting the concern that a lower state of charge could result in cell degradation over time (see 2 f) below) was not a factor for air transport.

***Support for not extending 30 per cent state of charge to Packing
Instructions 966, 967 and 952***

- a) Most panel members considered it premature to implement measures for lithium ion batteries contained in equipment because the safety risk had not been properly assessed and the impact would be much more severe than it would be for batteries packed with equipment, particularly with respect to medical devices. The risks associated with batteries contained in equipment were different to the risks with batteries packed with equipment. They wanted more time to consider with targeted discussions.
- b) Requiring a reduced state of charge for batteries packed on their own and not for batteries packed with or contained in equipment was a conscious decision the panel made. Batteries on their own were considered a much higher risk because of the

increased energy density, the known ability for thermal runaway to propagate from cell to cell and package to package, and the potential for a fire involving high density batteries to overwhelm the aircraft's fire protection features.

- c) Members of the battery industry reported that implementation of a state of charge limit to equipment would be difficult to do and that the economic impact would be enormous. They were of the opinion that there was insufficient data to justify a state of charge limit, including a lack of testing. They were also of the opinion that there was sufficient data to support not introducing a state of charge limit, including an extremely low incident rate relative to the number of electronic devices transported and their belief that most incidents reported involved lithium batteries carried in the cabin and in checked baggage. A report on a heat release analysis and tests of lithium ion batteries packed with and contained in equipment was cited, one of the conclusions from it being that batteries, when at 50 per cent state of charge, did not significantly contribute to the total heat released during combustion.
- d) Establishing a 30 per cent state of charge was routine for battery manufacturers, but not so easy for others in the supply chain.
- e) Specific difficulties with regard to medical devices were raised, and it was suggested a limit was unjustified for them as they were manufactured to high standards and had an excellent safety record. Some, such as pacemakers, were extremely small. The requirement would increase the cost of medical devices and have an impact on life-saving measures if adequately charged batteries were not available to medical staff.
- f) A lower state of charge could result in cell degradation over time which increased the risk of thermal runaway.

— — — — —

APPENDIX C TO THE REPORT ON AGENDA ITEM 4**(English only)****UPDATE ON ACTIVITIES OF THE DGP WORKING GROUP ON
ELECTRONIC STORAGE DEVICES (DGP-WG/ELECTRONIC
STORAGE DEVICES)**

1. The DGP Working Group on Electronic Storage Devices (DGP-WG/Electronic Storage Devices) consisted of thirty two members, which included panel members, their advisers and observers. The members were from both States and the aviation industry. The group had met three times in 2021 to progress the tasks assigned to the panel through ANC Job Card DGP.003.03 — Mitigating safety risks posed by the carriage of lithium batteries by air. It had prioritized three items from the job card: The SAE package performance standard and how it might be implemented once it was published, a mechanism to ensure transparency of all lithium battery shipments, and provisions to address the transport of data loggers and cargo tracking devices containing lithium batteries.
2. With respect to the SAE standard, the group had discussed whether it should be implemented through the Technical Instructions or through the Supplement as guidance for issuing approvals. The group had concerns with respect to States' ability for effective oversight to ensure compliance with the standard, and only permitting shipments through State approvals provided some control. The group had yet to formulate any recommendation, but would continue to follow the work of the SAE committee developing the standard.
3. With respect to transparency of shipments, the group had recommended removing the exceptions from full regulation provided in Section II of Packing Instructions 965 and 968, which had been agreed by the panel (see paragraph 4.1 of this report)
4. With respect to data loggers and cargo tracking devices containing lithium batteries, the group recognized that a multidisciplinary approach was needed to address all of the hazards, including electromagnetic interference. DGP-WG/Electronic Devices recommended that the provisions developed by DGP/27 be provided to FLTOPSP-SCG-SWG as a basis for their discussions.
5. The chair expressed appreciation for the work of DGP-WG/Energy Storage Devices on behalf of the panel, noting how broad and challenging the work was.

— — — — —

البند رقم ٥: توضيح مسؤوليات الدول عن المراقبة وفقاً للملحق الثامن عشر (المرجع: بطاقة الأعمال رقم DGP.005.03).

١-٥ تقرير مجموعة العمل المعنية بالإضافة التابعة لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة (DGP-WG/Supplement) (DGP/28-IP/4)

١-١-٥ قدمت مقررة مجموعة العمل المعنية بالإضافة التابعة لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة (DGP-WG/Supplement) تحديثاً عن أنشطة مجموعة العمل. فقد تم إنشاء المجموعة، التي تتكون من ستة عشر عضواً، للاضطلاع بمهمة تقديم إرشادات للدول تستكمل التعليمات الفنية أو تشرح بمزيد من التعمق المعلومات الواردة في الملحق الثامن عشر. وقد عُقدت المجموعة ثمان اجتماعات افتراضية منذ إنشائها في الدورة العشرين.

٢-١-٥ اقترحت مجموعة العمل المعنية بالإضافة في الاجتماع الحادي والعشرين للمجموعة إدخال تعديلات على الإضافة أوصى فريق الخبراء بإدراجها في دورة ٢٠٢٣-٢٠٢٤ (انظر فقرة هذا التقرير)، بما في ذلك تنقيحات لإرشادات الحكم الخاص A2 تتعلق بالسلامة وتنقيحات لتوضيح الأحكام الواردة في تعليمات التعبئة ٩١٠ لبطاريات الليثيوم المصنعة كجزء من عمليات الإنتاج ونماذج ما قبل الإنتاج للخلايا أو البطاريات المنقولة للاختبار.

٣-١-٥ وسيركز فريق العمل بعد ذلك على تطوير عملية للصيانة المستقبلية وتعديلات الإضافة المزمع تضمينها في الفصل العاشر من وثيقة فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة المعنونة *توجيهات لفريق الخبراء بغرض المساعدة في إعداد التعليمات الفنية والوثائق الداعمة* وعلى استعراض وتحديث المواد الإرشادية لمعالجة الإعفاءات والموافقات الواردة في الإضافة.

٤-١-٥ أعرب الرئيس، نيابة عن فريق الخبراء، عن تقديره لمجموعة العمل المعنية بالإضافة، مشيراً إلى مدى صعوبة العمل، لا سيما أثناء الجائحة. وأعربت المقررة عن تقديرها للمقرر المشارك ولأعضاء الفريق العامل الذين قدموا الدعم بسخاء، واجتمعوا في كثير من الأحيان في أوقات غير مناسبة.

٢-٥ تقرير مجموعة العمل المعنية بتوضيح مسؤوليات الدول في الملحق الثامن عشر (dgp/28-ip/6)

١-٢-٥ قدم مقرر مجموعة العمل المعنية بتوضيح مسؤوليات الدول في الملحق الثامن عشر التابع لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة تحديثاً عن عمل المجموعة. ولم تتمكن مجموعة العمل من الاجتماع وجهًا لوجه منذ الاجتماع السابع والعشرين لفريق الخبراء بسبب جائحة كوفيد-١٩، وكان التقدم في العمل افتراضياً صعباً بسبب تعقيد مهام مجموعة العمل. ومع ذلك، تم وضع مشروع إطار لكيفية تنقيح الملحق الثامن عشر وإعادة هيكلته لتوضيح مسؤوليات الدول. وتضمن الإطار مشروع جدول المحتويات، وفصلاً جديداً عن سلامة سلسلة الإمداد، ومشروع تذييل جديد يصف العلاقة بين الملحق الثامن عشر والملحقات السادس، والثامن والتاسع عشر. وكان القصد من ذلك أن يشكل نقطة انطلاق لبرنامج مجموعة العمل تمكنه من وضع هيكل جديد.

٢-٢-٥ ستكون الخطوات التالية لفريق العمل هي الاستفادة من مشروع الإطار لتطوير التنقيحات على الملحق الثامن عشر والتي تحدد بوضوح مسؤوليات الدول إزاء إدارة سلامة البضائع الخطرة وتعالج الثغرات المكتشفة، بما في ذلك الحاجة إلى ضمان أن يتم:

- (أ) أدراج مسؤوليات مراقبة السلامة التقليدية (ثمانية عناصر حاسمة) التي تشكل أساس برنامج الدولة للسلامة على أن تؤخذ في الاعتبار تعديلات الملحق التاسع عشر التي هي قيد التطوير؛
- (ب) دمج عناصر برنامج السلامة الاستباقية للدول؛
- (ج) حذف ما يتم اكتشافه من حالات التضارب مع ملاحق الايكوا الأخرى، بناءً على العلاقات المتبادلة المحددة في المرفق (ج) مع ورقة المعلومات (DGP/ 27-IP /2)؛
- (د) مواءمة مخرجات نظام DGP.002 (نظام الإبلاغ عن حوادث البضائع الخطرة والحوادث) مع الملحق المنقح والتعديلات القادمة على الملحق التاسع عشر؛
- (هـ) معالجة مخاطر السلامة المرتبطة بالكيانات خارج منظومة الطيران (DGP.003.02): التخفيف من مخاطر السلامة التي يشكلها نقل بطاريات الليثيوم عن طريق الجو) والبضائع الخطرة غير المصرح بها (الاجتماع السابع والعشرون فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة، التوصية ٢/٦).

٣-٢-٥ أعرب الحضور عن تقديرهم للمقرر وأعضاء مجموعة العمل لما أحرز من تقدم في العمل في هذه المهمة الحاسمة، مع الاعتراف بمدى صعوبة العمل، لا سيما أثناء الجائحة.

٤-٢-٥ تم إخطار الاجتماع بأن السيد حمد المهيري، عضو فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة الذي رشحته دولة الإمارات العربية المتحدة، نيابة عن سعادة السيد سيف محمد السويدي، مدير عام الهيئة العامة للطيران المدني في دولة الإمارات العربية المتحدة، عرض استضافة اجتماع لمدة خمسة أيام لمجموعة العمل المعنية بتوضيح مسؤوليات الرقابة الحكومية في الملحق الثامن عشر في الفترة من ٧ إلى ١١ مارس ٢٠٢٢ في كلية الإمارات للطيران في دبي. وأعرب الاجتماع عن امتنانه لهذه الدعوة كما أعرب عن تقديره العميق للدعم المتواصل الذي ظلت دولة الإمارات العربية المتحدة تقدمه لدفع عجلة العمل بغرض توضيح مسؤوليات الدول في الملحق الثامن عشر. فمن شأن الاجتماع وجهاً لوجه أن يساعد بشكل كبير في تقدم العمل.

البند رقم ٦: التنسيق مع أفرقة الخبراء الأخرى

٦-١: فريق خبراء عمليات الطيران (FLTOPSP) (المرجع) SCGSWG.001.01, SCGSWG.002.01, SCGSWG.003.01

٦-١-١ تحديث من مجموعة عمل النقل الآمن للبضائع التابعة لفريق خبراء عمليات الطيران (DGP/28-IP/10)

٦-١-١-١ تم تقديم عرض تفصيلي للاجتماع عن أنشطة مجموعة عمل النقل الآمن للبضائع التابعة لفريق خبراء عمليات الطيران (FLTOPSP-SWG-SCG). وتضمن العرض معلومات أساسية عن إنشاء مجموعة العمل المعنية، وعضويتها، واختصاصاتها، وبرنامج وأساليب عملها. وقُدمت تفاصيل بشأن التقدم المحرز في كل عنصر من عناصر بطاقات المهام المخصصة لمجموعة العمل المحددة، إلى جانب استعراض عام للتحديات التي تواجه مجموعة العمل.

— — — — —

البند رقم ٦: التنسيق مع أفرقة الخبراء الأخرى

٦-٢: فريق خبراء صلاحية الطائرات للطيران (AIRP) (المرجع: AIRP.012.04)

٦-٢-١ توصيات مؤتمر الإيكاو الرفيع المستوى بشأن جائحة فيروس كورونا المتعلقة بالبضائع الخطرة

٦-٢-١-١ تم تقديم تحديث بشأن المناقشات التي دارت في مؤتمر الإيكاو الرفيع المستوى للسلامة (افتراضي، من ١٢ إلى ٢٢ أكتوبر ٢٠٢١) فيما يتعلق بالبضائع الخطرة. وقُدمت ورقتا عمل تتعلقان بالبضائع الخطرة في إطار البند ٣-٢ من جدول الأعمال: التوحيد القياسي - إدارة المخاطر. وسلطت كلتا الورقتين الضوء على المخاوف المتعلقة بمخاطر عدم الامتثال للوائح البضائع الخطرة. وركزت أحدهما على حاجة الدول إلى تعزيز الرقابة وأنشطة الإنفاذ فيما يتعلق بسلاسل إمداد البضائع والبريد. وركزت الثانية على الحاجة إلى تنفيذ تدابير تخفيف استباقية بالتأسيس على التدخلات التعاونية التي استُحدثت أثناء الجائحة لتبادل بيانات السلامة والمعلومات في الوقت المناسب ومن خلال تبادل أفضل الممارسات لتتقيف أصحاب المصلحة بشأن مخاطر شحن البضائع الخطرة. وأدرجت توصياتها، التي تلقت دعم المؤتمر، في التوصية رقم ٣-٢/١ من توصيات المؤتمر الرفيع المستوى بشأن جائحة كورونا لعام ٢٠٢١- تحسين فعالية إدارة مخاطر سلامة الطيران.

٦-٢-١-٢ وأشار إلى أن أحد المقترحات تمثل في أن يقوم فريق الصلاحية للطيران باستعراض مدى كفاية معايير ترخيص مقصورات الشحن فيما يتعلق بالسلامة من الحرائق لتلبية التطورات الحالية في التكنولوجيا، ولكن الطبيعة رفيعة المستوى للمؤتمر لم توفر الفرصة لإجراء مناقشة مفصلة حول هذا الموضوع. وتوضح القواعد والتوصيات الدولية الخاصة بسلامة مقصورات الشحن في الملحق السادس الجديد أن هذه القدرات يجب أن يأخذها المشغل في الحسبان من خلال تقييمه المطلوب لمخاطر السلامة فيما يتعلق بنقل الأغراض في مقصورة الشحن. وجرى توضيح أن قدرات التصميم المتعلقة بأحكام الحماية من الحرائق في مقصورة الشحن في الملحق الثامن تستند إلى الأداء وتفوض دولة التصميم لكي تطلب من حاملي الموافقة على التصميم إتاحة المعلومات المتعلقة بالقدرات المتوفرة بمقصورة الشحن لتسهيل تنفيذ أحكام الملحق السادس.

البند رقم ٦: التنسيق مع أفرقة الخبراء الأخرى

٦-٣: فريق خبراء إدارة السلامة (SMP)

٦-٣-١ اقتراحات التعديلات الموحدة للملحق التاسع عشر - إدارة السلامة (DGP/28-IP/8)

٦-٣-١-١ تم تقديم استعراض مبكر لمشاريع مقترحات التعديل ٢ للملحق التاسع عشر - إدارة السلامة مع التركيز على المقترحات ذات الصلة بالجهات المعنية بالبضائع الخطرة. وتم التأكيد على أن المقترحات المقدمة ستخضع للمراجعة والمصادقة الرسمية من قبل فريق خبراء إدارة السلامة في اجتماعه الخامس، الذي سينعقد في الفترة من ٢٩ نوفمبر إلى ١٠ ديسمبر ٢٠٢١. وتضمنت التعديلات المقترحة ما يلي:

(أ) أن تُحول إلى قاعدة قياسية التوصية الحالية التي تقضي بأن تستحدث الدول سياسة إنفاذ تحدد الشروط والظروف التي بموجبها يُسمح لمقدمي الخدمات الذين لديهم نظام لإدارة السلامة بالتعامل مع بعض مشكلات السلامة وحلها في سياق نظام إدارة السلامة الخاص بهم؛

(ب) أن تُحول إلى قاعدة قياسية التوصية الحالية التي تقضي بأن تضع الدول عمليات لإدارة مخاطر السلامة، وتعنى بها وتوثقها؛

(ج) أن تُستحدث توصية جديدة بأن تستعرض الدول بشكل دوري الحاجة إلى توسيع نطاق نظامها لإدارة السلامة ليشمل قطاعات طيران إضافية بخلاف تلك المطلوبة لتنفيذ نظام إدارة السلامة وفقاً للفقرة ٣-٢ من الملحق التاسع عشر. وجرى بعض النقاش بشأن إمكانية تطبيق التوصية المقترحة على وكلاء الشحن. وذكر أنه ينبغي على كل دولة أن تصمم نهجها لتحقيق التحسين المنشود في أداء السلامة من خلال استكشاف خيارات متنوعة بما في ذلك المتطلبات القائمة على الامتثال، وتنفيذ أنظمة الإدارة البديلة التي تعزز التنفيذ الطوعي لنظام إدارة السلامة، وأخيراً توسيع نطاق تطبيق نظام إدارة السلامة. وتم التأكيد على أن توسيع نطاق تطبيق نظام إدارة السلامة ليس دائماً النهج الأكثر فعالية. وينبغي للدول أن تنتظر في جميع ضوابط مخاطر السلامة المتاحة لإدارة مخاطرها في مجال السلامة، مع مراعاة الموارد المطلوبة من قبل الدولة والصناعة إلى جانب الفوائد المحتملة.

(د) أن تُحول إلى قاعدة قياسية التوصية الحالية التي تقضي بأن تضع الدول إجراءات لمنح الأولوية لأنشطة الرقابة في المجالات التي تستدعي اهتمام أو حاجة أكبر فيما يتعلق بالسلامة؛

(هـ) أن تُستحدث توصية جديدة لتطوير وتعهد عملية لإدارة التغييرات بشكل استباقي على مستوى الدولة؛

(و) إزالة الإشارات إلى "تناسب مع الحجم والتعقيد" من إطار نظام إدارة السلامة في المرفق الثاني من الملحق التاسع عشر؛

(ز) استحداث قاعدة قياسية جديدة تنص على أن يغطي نظام إدارة السلامة نطاق محدد من المنتجات؛

(ح) استحداث قاعدة قياسية جديدة تنص على أن يشمل نظام إدارة السلامة تحديد الجهات البينية التنظيمية الضرورية لإدارة سلامة هذه المنتجات والخدمات.

البند رقم ٦: التنسيق مع أفرقة الخبراء الأخرى
٦-٤: فريق خبراء نُظم الطائرات الموجهة عن بُعد (RPASP) (المرجع: ROI-7-2020-2)

٦-٤-١ إعداد القواعد والتوصيات الدولية لنظم الطائرات الموجهة عن بُعد (dgp/28-ip/11)

٦-٤-١-١ قدم موظف من قسم نظم الطائرات الموجهة عن بُعد في الايكاو استعراضاً عاماً لمشاريع القواعد القياسية والتوصيات الدولية لجزء رابع جديد يسمى - عمليات قواعد الطيران الآلي الدولية - نظم الطائرات الموجهة عن بُعد من الملحق السادس - تشغيل الطائرات، وهي قواعد وتوصيات دولية أقرها الاجتماع الثامن عشر لفريق خبراء نظم الطائرات الموجهة عن بُعد الذي عُقد في الفترة من ٢٥ إلى ٢٩ أكتوبر ٢٠٢١. واستعرضت مجموعة عمل مخصصة تابعة لفريق البضائع الخطرة القواعد القياسية والتوصيات قبل اعتمادها من جانب فريق خبراء نظم الطائرات الموجهة عن بُعد. وسلط الموظف الضوء على كيفية معالجة التعليقات الواردة من مجموعة العمل هذه. واستندت القواعد القياسية والتوصيات الدولية إلى الملحق السادس، الجزء الأول - النقل الجوي التجاري الدولي - الطائرات. وعند استعراض الجزء الرابع، رأت مجموعة العمل المخصصة التابعة لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة أن هناك حاجة إلى مراجعة الأحكام الواردة في الجزء الأول ذات الصلة بالبضائع الخطرة. وذكر أن هناك حاجة أيضاً إلى النظر في كيفية تعديل الملحق الثامن عشر والتعليمات الفنية لاستيعاب نقل البضائع الخطرة على متن طائرات بدون طيار.

٦-٤-١-٢ وفي ضوء المناقشات السابقة، قام الاجتماع بإعداد التوصيات التالية:

التوصية ١/٦ - استعراض أحكام الملحق السادس ذات الصلة بالبضائع الخطرة

أن يجري استعراض الملحق السادس للتأكد من أن الأحكام ذات الصلة بالبضائع الخطرة تتواءم مع أحكام البضائع الخطرة كما تم توصيفها في مشروع بطاقة المهام الوارد في المرفق (أ) بالتقرير في إطار هذا البند من جدول الأعمال.

التوصية ٢/٦ - أحكام البضائع الخطرة لدعم عمليات نظم الطائرات الموجهة عن بُعد

أن يجري استعراض الملحق الثامن عشر والتعليمات الفنية للوقوف على التعديلات الضرورية لاستيعاب النقل الآمن للبضائع الخطرة في الطائرات الموجهة عن بُعد كما تم توصيفه في مشروع بطاقة المهام الوارد في المرفق (ب) بالتقرير في إطار هذا البند من جدول الأعمال.

البند رقم ٦: التنسيق مع أفرقة الخبراء الأخرى

٦-٥: فريق خبراء أمن الطيران (AVSECP)

٦-٥-١ لم تكن هناك أي تحديثات من فريق خبراء أمن الطيران.

البند رقم ٦: التنسيق مع أفرقة الخبراء الأخرى

٦-٦: أي أفرقة خبراء أخرى

١-٦-٦ لم تكن هناك تحديثات من أفرقة الخبراء الأخرى.

APPENDIX A TO THE REPORT ON AGENDA ITEM 6

(English only)

**DRAFT ANC JOB CARD FOR REVIEW OF ANNEX 6 PROVISIONS
HAVING AN IMPACT ON DANGEROUS GOODS**

JOB CARD

Title	Review of Annex 6 provisions having an impact on dangerous goods	Reference: DGP/28	DGP.008.01
Source	DGP/28		
Problem Statement	There are inconsistencies between provisions having an impact on dangerous goods in Part 6 and the provisions in Annex 18 and its associated dangerous goods documents		
Specific Details	The DGP identified a need for revisions to provisions in Annex 6 that have an impact on dangerous goods during its review of the draft RPAS SARP proposed as a new Part IV to Annex 6, which is based on Part I. A thorough review is necessary to ensure all provisions align.		
GANP/GASP Link	3.3: Operational safety risks		
Expected Benefits	Clarify States responsibilities with respect to evaluating an operator's ability to manage the risks associated with dangerous goods and provide operators with tools to manage the risks		
References	DGP-WG/20 Report, paragraph 3.6.4.1 DGP/28 Report, paragraph 6.4.1 Annex 6 — <i>Operation of Aircraft</i> , Part I — <i>International Commercial Air Transport — Aeroplanes</i> , Part II — <i>International General Aviation — Aeroplanes</i> and Part III — <i>International Operations — Helicopters</i> Annex 18 — <i>The Safe Transport of Dangerous Goods by Air</i> Doc 9284, <i>Technical Instructions for the Safe Transport of Dangerous Goods by Air</i> Doc 9284SU, <i>Supplement to the Technical Instructions for the Safe Transport of Dangerous Goods by Air</i> Doc 9481, <i>Emergency Response Guidance for Aircraft Incidents Involving Dangerous Goods</i>		
Primary Expert Group:	DGP		

WPE No.	Document Affected or Actions Needed	Description of Amendment proposal or Action	Supporting Expert Group	Status	Expected dates		
					Delivery	Effective	Applicability
	Annex 6	Draft amendments to Annex 6 provisions having an impact on dangerous goods provisions to ensure alignment with Annex 18, the Technical Instructions, its supplement and the <i>Emergency Response Guidance for Aircraft Incidents Involving Dangerous Goods</i>	FLTOPSP-SCG-SWG		Q4 2022	Q4 2022	Q4 2022
	Action	Preliminary assessment of impact of the above recommendations in terms of implementation			Q4 2023	n/a	n/a
Status:	Priority:	Initial Issue Date:	Date Approved:			Session / Meeting:	
	Medium		ANC:				

APPENDIX B TO THE REPORT ON AGENDA ITEM 6

(English only)

**DRAFT ANC JOB CARD FOR DANGEROUS GOODS PROVISIONS TO
SUPPORT REMOTELY PILOTED AIRCRAFT SYSTEM OPERATIONS**

JOB CARD

Title	Dangerous goods provisions to support RPAS operations	Reference: DGP/28	DGP.007.01
Source	DGP-WG/20 and DGP/28		
Problem Statement	Annex 18 and the Technical Instructions do not support draft Standards and Recommended Practices (SARPs) on the operation of remotely piloted aircraft currently proposed for Annex 6 — <i>Operation of Aircraft</i> as a new Part IV — <i>International Aviation — Remotely Piloted Aircraft Systems</i> .		
Specific Details	Draft SARPs endorsed by the eighteenth meeting of the Remotely Piloted Aircraft Systems Panel (RPASP/18) (25 to 29 October 2021) on the operation of remotely piloted aircraft developed for inclusion in Annex 6 — <i>Operation of Aircraft</i> as a new Part IV — <i>International Aviation — Remotely Piloted Aircraft Systems</i> include provisions allowing for the transport of dangerous goods, but Annex 18 — <i>The Safe Transport of Dangerous Goods by Air</i> , the <i>Technical Instructions for the Safe Transport of Dangerous Goods by Air</i> (Doc 9284) and the <i>Emergency Response Guidance for Aircraft Incidents Involving Dangerous Goods</i> (Doc 9481) do not. The dangerous goods documents include specific requirements and recommendations for the carriage of dangerous goods based on whether an aircraft is a passenger or cargo aircraft, as defined in those documents. A remotely piloted aircraft could be considered a cargo aircraft, but the requirements for cargo aircraft established in the Technical Instructions may not be appropriate. A thorough review of Annex 18 and the Technical Instructions is necessary to determine how they can safely support the transport of dangerous goods on remotely piloted aircraft.		
GANP/GASP Link	3.3: Operational safety risks		
Expected Benefits	Clarify States responsibilities with respect to evaluating an operator's ability to manage the risks associated with dangerous goods on remotely piloted aircraft and provide operators with tools to manage the risks		
References	DGP-WG/20 Report, paragraph 3.6.4.1 DGP/28 Report, paragraph 6.4.1 Annex 18 — <i>The Safe Transport of Dangerous Goods by Air</i> Doc 9284, <i>Technical Instructions for the Safe Transport of Dangerous Goods by Air</i> Doc 9284SU, <i>Supplement to the Technical Instructions for the Safe Transport of Dangerous Goods by Air</i> Doc 9481, <i>Emergency Response Guidance for Aircraft Incidents Involving Dangerous Goods</i>		
Primary Expert Group:	DGP		

WPE No.	Document Affected or Actions Needed	Description of Amendment proposal or Action	Supporting Expert Group	Status	Expected dates		
					Delivery	Effective	Applicability
	Action	Identify need for amendment or development of new SARPs in Annex 18, Instructions in Doc 9284 and guidance in Docs 9284SU and 9481 to support dangerous goods operations on remotely piloted aircraft in alignment with Annex 6			Q4 2022	Q4 2022	Q4 2022
	Action	Identify areas requiring collaboration between the DGP and other panels	FLTOPSP AIGP ADOP AIRP SMP AVSECP FALP		Q4 2022	Q4 2022	Q4 2022
	Action	Recommendation for amendments to Annex 18, associated dangerous goods documents and other Annexes	FLTOPSP AIGP ADOP AIRP SMP AVSECP FALP		Q4 2023	Q4 2023	Q4 2023
	Action	Preliminary assessment of impact of the above recommendations in terms of implementation			Q4 2023	n/a	n/a
Status:	Priority:	Initial Issue Date:	Date Approved:			Session / Meeting:	
	High		ANC:				

البند رقم ٧: مواءمة المواد الإرشادية لفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة للمساعدة في إعداد التعليمات الفنية والوثائق الداعمة" مع الأحكام المنقحة بشأن البضائع الخطرة

١-٧ النسخة المنقحة المقترحة للمواد الإرشادية الخاصة بفريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة (DGP/28-WP/55)

١-١-٧ وضع فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة مواد إرشادية للمساعدة في إعداد التعليمات الفنية والوثائق الداعمة. وتحتوي المواد على المبادئ العامة المستخدمة في وضع وثائق البضائع الخطرة وإرشادات لتقرير كيفية إجراء تغييرات عليها، وتتضمن كذلك آلية لتبرير الإبقاء على القرارات التي يتخذها الفريق. وقُصد من المواد الإرشادية أن تكون مصدرًا مفيدًا لأعضاء الفريق الحاليين والمستقبليين على حد سواء. والوثيقة بحاجة إلى مراجعة شاملة، حيث لم يتم تحديثها منذ عام ١٩٩٩. وتم تكليف مجموعة العمل المعنية بالمواءمة مع الأمم المتحدة المنشأة حديثًا في إطار فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة بتحديثها وتعهدتها بالرعاية في المستقبل.

٢-١-٧ قدم مقرر مجموعة العمل المعنية بالمواءمة نسخة منقحة إلى الاجتماع. وأشار إلى أن المبادئ التوجيهية للأمم المتحدة لتطوير اللوائح النموذجية للأمم المتحدة تخدم غرضًا مشابهًا وأن مجموعة العمل قد أخذت محتوى وهيكل تلك الوثيقة في الاعتبار عند مراجعة وتنقيح إرشادات فريق الخبراء. وتضمنت إرشادات فريق الخبراء قسمًا خاصًا بالإضافة الملحق بالتعليمات الفنية. وسيخضع هذا القسم لمزيد من المراجعة من قبل مجموعة العمل المعنية بالإضافة.

٣-١-٧ وأعرب أعضاء فريق الخبراء عن تقديرهم للعمل المنجز. وتمت الموافقة على الوثيقة المنقحة من حيث المبدأ، ريثما تخضع لمراجعة أكثر تفصيلًا من قبل أعضاء الفريق بهدف الموافقة عليها رسميًا في اجتماع مجموعة العمل في عام ٢٠٢٢. وستستمر مجموعة العمل المعنية بالمواءمة في صقل وتحديد المجالات التي تحتاج إلى تحسين قبل ذلك. وتم تشجيع أعضاء فريق الخبراء على تقديم ما لديهم من تعليقات إلى مقرر مجموعة العمل المعنية بالمواءمة، لا سيما إذا كانت هناك مجالات تحتاج إلى مزيد من التوضيح. واقترح أحد أعضاء فريق الخبراء أن المبادئ التوجيهية لفصل المواد المشعة تحتاج إلى مزيد من التنقيح، لا سيما فيما يتعلق بالمسافات القصوى اللازمة لتخزين المواد المشعة بعيدا عن الأشخاص وما إذا كانت المبادئ التوجيهية تكفل المستوى اللازم من الحماية لطاقم الرحلة أم لا. ودار بعض النقاش بشأن ما إذا كان ينبغي نشر الوثيقة على موقع عام على شبكة الإنترنت، كما حدث مع المبادئ التوجيهية للأمم المتحدة. وستقوم مجموعة العمل المعنية بالمواءمة بالنظر في إيجابيات وسلبيات المسألة من قبل ومن ثم سيتخذ فريق الخبراء قرارًا نهائيًا، مع مراعاة قواعد النشر لدى الأمانة. وتم الاتفاق على أنه ينبغي تقديمها لأعضاء الفريق الجدد كجزء من حزم الترحيب الخاصة بهم.

٤-١-٧ وتم الاتفاق على أن التعديلات المقترحة على التعليمات الفنية التي تتحرف عن اللوائح النموذجية للأمم المتحدة أو التي تقدم متطلبات خاصة بالنقل الجوي يجب أن تكون مصحوبة بتعديلات مقترحة للوثيقة التوجيهية لفريق الخبراء وأن بندا من بنود جدول الأعمال يختص بمواءمة المواد الإرشادية سيكون موجودا في جميع اجتماعات فريق الخبراء لكي يتسنى وضع آلية رسمية للاستعراض.

البند رقم ٨: الأعمال الأخرى

١-٨ تقرير عن اجتماعي مجموعة عمل فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة العشرين والحادي والعشرين (DGP/28-WP/2 and DGP/28-WP/3)

١-٨-١ استعرض الاجتماع الأجزاء السردية من تقارير اجتماعي ٢٠٢٠ و ٢٠٢١ لمجموعة عمل فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة، الاجتماع العشرين (افتراضي، ١٩-٢٣ أكتوبر ٢٠٢٠) والاجتماع الحادي والعشرين (افتراضي، ٢٤-٢٨ مايو ٢٠٢١). وتمت إجازة السرديات دون تعليق. وجرى استعراض التعديلات التي اقترحتها مجموعات العمل في إطار ورقات العمل ١١، ١٢، ١٣، ١٤، ١٥، ١٦، ١٩، ٢٠ (أنظر التقرير عن البند ١ من جدول الأعمال)، ٢١ (أنظر التقرير عن البند ٤ من جدول الأعمال)، ٢٢، ٢٣ (أنظر التقرير عن البند ٢ من جدول الأعمال)، التي تحتوي على تجميع لهذه التعديلات.

٢-٨ تقرير اجتماع مجموعة عمل ما قبل اجتماع فريق خبراء البضائع الخطرة الثامن والعشرين (DGP/28-WP/58)

١-٢-٨ استعرض الاجتماع بالتفصيل تقرير اجتماع مجموعة عمل البضائع الخطرة لما قبل اجتماع فريق الخبراء الثامن والعشرين على أساس أنه سيتم إدراجه تحت البند المناسب من بنود جدول الأعمال لهذا التقرير الثامن والعشرين. ووافق فريق الخبراء على نتائج مناقشات مجموعة العمل الواردة في التقرير على أساس أن التنقيحات التحريرية للسرد والتصويبات لأي مسائل غير طبيعية تُرصد في المرافق سيتم إجراؤها في هذا التقرير.

٣-٨ العمل المستقبلي مع الاتحاد البريدي العالمي (UPU)

١-٣-٨ ما برحت المخاطر المرتبطة بمكاتب التبادل الخارجية (ETOs) تشكل موضوعا لجدال مستمر في لجنة الاتصال المشتركة بين الاتحاد البريدي العالمي / الايكاو. وأفاد الأمين بوجود خطط لإنشاء مجموعة فرعية منبثقة من لجنة الاتصال لتطوير أحكام و/ أو مواد إرشادية لمعالجة هذه المخاطر، لا سيما فيما يتعلق بعدم كفاية إشراف الدولة. وستكون عضوية المجموعة الفرعية مفتوحة لجميع الأطراف المعنية، حتى لو لم تكن أعضاء في لجنة الاتصال. ووجهت الدعوة للراغبين في المشاركة للاتصال بالأمين.

٤-٨ الوداع

١-٤-٨ ودع الاجتماع إي. سيغريست، الذي عمل كمستشار لفريق الخبراء من المجلس الأوروبي للصناعات الكيماوية (CEFIC) منذ عام ٢٠٠٤. وأعرب الفريق عن تقديره لمساهماته وتمنى له التوفيق في مساعيه المستقبلية.

APPENDIX A TO THE REPORT**CONSOLIDATED AMENDMENTS TO THE TECHNICAL
INSTRUCTIONS RECOMMENDED UNDER
AGENDA ITEMS 1, 2, 3 AND 4****FOREWORD**

...

**GENERAL PRINCIPLES USED IN DEVELOPING THE PROVISIONS
OF THE TECHNICAL INSTRUCTIONS**

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.3 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.4 of DGP/28-WP/3:

Consequential to the addition of a definition for the IAEA Regulations in 1;3:

The provisions are based on material produced by the United Nations, which is contained in the Recommendations on the Transport of Dangerous Goods (ST/SG/AC.10/1), the Recommendations on the Transport of Dangerous Goods, Manual of Tests and Criteria (ST/SG/AC.10/11), and, for radioactive materials, the International Atomic Energy Agency Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material, 2012 **2018** Edition, ~~IAEA Safety Standards Series No. SSR-6, IAEA, Vienna 2012.~~ Using a United Nations system ensures compatibility between the international modes of transport so a consignment may be carried by more than one mode without intermediate reclassification and repacking. Modifications are made to the system to take account of the peculiarities of air transport, while keeping in mind the need to ensure modal compatibility.

...

Part 1

GENERAL

...

Chapter 1

SCOPE AND APPLICABILITY

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.3 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.4 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, Chapter 1.1, Note 1 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Note.— Recommendations on Tests and Criteria, which are incorporated by reference into certain provisions of these Instructions, are published as a separate Manual (United Nations Recommendations on the Transport of Dangerous Goods, Manual of Tests and Criteria) (ST/SG/AC.10/11/Rev.7 [and Amend.1](#)), the contents of which are:

Part I. Classification procedures, test methods and criteria relating to explosives of Class 1;

Part II. Classification procedures, test methods and criteria relating to self-reactive and polymerizing substances of Division 4.1 and organic peroxides of Division 5.2;

Part III. Classification procedures, test methods and criteria relating to substances or articles of Class 2, Class 3, Class 4, Division 5.1, Class 8 and Class 9;

Part IV. Test methods concerning transport equipment; and

Part V. Classification procedures, test methods and criteria relating to sectors other than transport.

Appendices. Information common to a number of different types of tests and national contacts for test details.

...

Amendments to manage aviation specific risks

Chapter 2

LIMITATION OF DANGEROUS GOODS ON AIRCRAFT

...

Paragraph 3.2.2.1 of DGP/28-WP/2 (incorporated in 2021-2022 Edition of Technical Instructions through Addendum No. 1):

2.2 EXCEPTIONS FOR DANGEROUS GOODS OF THE OPERATOR

2.2.1 The provisions of these Instructions do not apply to the following:

- a) articles and substances which would otherwise be classified as dangerous goods but which are required to be aboard the aircraft in accordance with the pertinent airworthiness requirements and operating regulations or that are authorized by the State of the Operator to meet special requirements;
- b) aerosols, alcoholic beverages, perfumes, colognes, liquefied gas lighters and portable electronic devices containing lithium metal or lithium ion cells or batteries provided that the batteries meet the provisions of Table 8-1, Item 1) carried aboard an aircraft by the operator for use or sale on the aircraft during the flight or series of flights, but excluding non-refillable gas lighters and those lighters liable to leak when exposed to reduced pressure;
- c) dry ice intended for use in food and beverage service aboard the aircraft;
- d) alcohol-based hand sanitizers and cleaning products carried aboard an aircraft by the operator for use on the aircraft during the flight or series of flights for the purposes of passenger and crew hygiene;
- ~~e~~) electronic devices, such as electronic flight bags, personal entertainment devices, and credit card readers, containing lithium metal or lithium ion cells or batteries and spare lithium batteries for such devices carried aboard an aircraft by the operator for use on the aircraft during the flight or series of flights, provided that the batteries meet the provisions of Table 8-1, Item 1). Spare lithium batteries must be individually protected so as to prevent short circuits when not in use. Conditions for the carriage and use of these electronic devices and for the carriage of spare batteries must be provided in the operations manual and/or other appropriate manuals as will enable flight crew, cabin crew and other employees to carry out the functions for which they are responsible.

2.2.2 Unless otherwise authorized by the State of the Operator, articles and substances intended as replacements for those referred to in 2.2.1 a), or articles and substances referred to in 2.2.1 a) which have been removed for replacement, must be transported in accordance with the provisions of these Instructions, except that when consigned by operators, they may be carried in containers specially designed for their transport, provided such containers are capable of meeting at least the requirements for the packagings specified in these Instructions for the items packed in the containers.

2.2.3 Unless otherwise authorized by the State of the Operator, articles and substances intended as replacements for those referred to in 2.2.1 b) ~~and c)~~ and d) must be transported in accordance with the provisions of these Instructions.

2.2.4 Unless otherwise authorized by the State of the Operator, battery-powered devices with installed batteries and spare batteries intended as replacements for those referred to in 2.2.1 ~~d) e)~~ must be transported in accordance with the provisions of these Instructions.

...

Chapter 3

GENERAL INFORMATION

...

3.1 DEFINITIONS

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraph 1.2.1.3 of this report:

Aerosol or aerosol dispenser. An article consisting of a non-refillable receptacle meeting the requirements of 6.3.2.7 6.5.4, made of metal, glass or plastics and containing a gas, compressed, liquefied or dissolved under pressure, with or without a liquid, paste or powder, and fitted with a release device allowing the contents to be ejected as solid or liquid particles in suspension in a gas, as a foam, paste or powder or in a liquid state or in a gaseous state.

Paragraphs 1.2.1.3 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.4 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, Chapter 1.2.1 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Bundle of cylinders. Not permitted for air transport. ~~An assembly of cylinders~~ A pressure receptacle comprising an assembly of cylinders or cylinder shells that are fastened together and which are interconnected by a manifold and transported as a unit.

...

Closed ~~C~~cryogenic receptacle. ~~A transportable~~, thermally insulated pressure receptacle for refrigerated liquefied gases, of a water capacity of not more than 1 000 litres.

Closure. A device which closes an opening in a receptacle.

Revisions to text in UN Model Regulations of an editorial nature:

Note.— Examples of closures for pressure receptacles are valves, pressure relief devices, pressure gauges or level indicators.

...

Cylinder. ~~A transportable~~ pressure receptacle of a water capacity not exceeding 150 litres.

...

GHS. The ~~seventh~~ ninth revised edition of the *Globally Harmonized System of Classification and Labelling of Chemicals*, published by the United Nations as document ST/SG/AC.10/30/Rev.79.

...

IAEA Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material. One of the editions of those Regulations, as follows:

- a) for the 1985, 1985 (as amended 1990) editions: IAEA Safety Series No. 6;
- b) for the 1996 edition: IAEA Safety Series No. ST-1;
- c) for the 1996 (revised) edition: IAEA Safety Series No. TS-R-1 (ST-1, Revised);
- d) for the 1996 (as amended 2003), 2005, 2009 editions: IAEA Safety Standards Series No. TS-R-1;
- e) for the 2012 edition: IAEA Safety Standards Series No. SSR-6; or

f) for the 2018 edition: IAEA Safety Standards Series No. SSR-6 (Rev.1).

Inner vessel. For a closed cryogenic receptacle, the pressure vessel intended to contain the refrigerated liquefied gas.

...

Liquids. A substance classified as dangerous goods which at 50°C ~~have~~ **has** a vapour pressure of not more than 300 kPa (3 bar), which ~~are~~ **is** not completely gaseous at 20°C and at a pressure of 101.3 kPa, and which ~~have~~ **has** a melting point or initial melting point of 20°C or less at a pressure of 101.3 kPa. A viscous substance for which a specific melting point cannot be determined must be subjected to the ASTM D 4359-90 test; or to the test for determining fluidity (penetrometer test) prescribed in section 2.3.4 of Annex A of the ~~European Agreement Concerning the International Carriage of Dangerous Goods by Road (ADR)~~ (United Nations publication: ECE/TRANS/257/300 (Sales No. E.4621.VIII.1).

...

UN Model Regulations, Chapter 1.2.1 (see ST/SG/AC.10/1/Rev.21, Vol. I and II Corrigendum 1)

Manual of Tests and Criteria. The ~~sixth~~ **seventh** revised edition of the United Nations publication ~~entitled Recommendations on the Transport of Dangerous Goods, Manual of Tests and Criteria~~ **bearing this title** (ST/SG/AC.10/11/Rev.7 **and Amend.1**).

...

UN Model Regulations, , Chapter 1.2.1 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Metal hydride storage system. A single complete hydrogen storage system, including a **pressure** receptacle **shell**, metal hydride, pressure relief device, shut-off valve, service equipment and internal components used for the transport of hydrogen only.

...

Paragraphs 1.2.1.3 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.4.1 a) of DGP/28-WP/3:

Model Regulations. The twenty-second revised edition of the United Nations publication **entitled Recommendations on the Transport of Dangerous Goods, Model Regulations** (ST/SG/AC.10/1/Rev.22).

...

Paragraphs 1.2.1.3 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.4 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, Chapter 1.2.1 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Pressure drum. (Not permitted for air transport.) A welded ~~transportable~~ pressure receptacle of a water capacity exceeding 150 litres and of not more than 1 000 litres (e.g. cylindrical receptacles equipped with rolling hoops, spheres on skids).

Pressure receptacle. A **transportable receptacle intended for holding substances under pressure including its closure(s) and other service equipment and a** collective term that includes cylinders, tubes, pressure drums, closed cryogenic receptacles, metal hydride storage systems, bundles of cylinders and salvage pressure receptacles.

Pressure receptacle shell. A cylinder, a tube, a pressure drum or a salvage pressure receptacle without its closures or other service equipment, but including any permanently attached device(s) such as a neck ring or a foot ring.

Note.— The terms “cylinder shell”, “pressure drum shell” and “tube shell” are also used.

...

Recycled plastic material. Material recovered from used industrial packagings that has been cleaned and prepared for processing into new packagings. The specific properties of the recycled material used for production of new packagings must be assured and documented regularly as part of a quality assurance programme recognized by the appropriate national authority. The quality assurance programme must include a record of proper pre-sorting and verification that each batch of recycled plastic material has the proper melt flow rate, density, and tensile yield strength, consistent with that of the design type manufactured from such recycled material. This necessarily includes knowledge about the packaging material from which the recycled plastic has been derived, as well as awareness of the prior contents of those packagings if those prior contents might reduce the capability of new packagings produced using that material. In addition, the packaging manufacturer's quality assurance programme must include performance of the mechanical design type test in Part 6, Chapter 4 on packagings manufactured from each batch of recycled plastic material. In this testing, stacking performance may be verified by appropriate dynamic compression testing rather than static load testing.

Note. — ISO 16103:2005 "Packaging — Transport packages for dangerous goods — Recycled plastics material", provides additional guidance on procedures to be followed in approving the use of recycled plastics material. These guidelines have been developed based on the experience of the manufacturing of drums and jerricans from recycled plastics material and as such may need to be adapted for other types of packagings, IBCs and large packagings made of recycled plastics material.

...

Service equipment. For pressure receptacles, includes:

- a) closure(s);
- b) manifold(s);
- c) piping;
- d) porous, absorbent or adsorbent material; and
- e) any structural devices such as those used for handling.

Tube. (Not permitted for air transport.) A ~~transportable~~ pressure receptacle of seamless or composite construction having a water capacity exceeding 150 litres but not more than 3 000 litres.

...

Working pressure. Either:

- a) for a compressed gas, the settled pressure of a compressed gas at a reference temperature of 15°C in a full pressure receptacle;
- b) for UN 1001 acetylene, dissolved, the calculated settled pressure at a uniform reference temperature of 15°C in an acetylene cylinder containing the specified solvent content and the maximum acetylene content; or
- c) for UN 3374 acetylene, solvent free, the working pressure which was calculated for the equivalent cylinder for UN 1001 acetylene, dissolved.

...

Chapter 5

DANGEROUS GOODS SECURITY

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.3 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.4 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, Chapter 1.4 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

5.5 RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL

For radioactive material, the provisions of this Chapter are deemed to be complied with when the provisions of the Convention on Physical Protection of Nuclear Material¹ ([INFCIRC/274/Rev.1, IAEA, Vienna \(1980\)](#)), and the IAEA circular on "Nuclear Security Recommendations on Physical Protection of Nuclear Material and Nuclear Facilities"² ([INFCIRC/225/Rev.5, IAEA, Vienna \(2011\)](#)), are applied.

...

Chapter 6

GENERAL PROVISIONS CONCERNING RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL

...

6.1 SCOPE AND APPLICATION

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.3 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.4 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, Chapter 1.5.1.1 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Consequential to the addition of a definition for the IAEA Regulations in 1;3:

6.1.1 These Instructions establish standards of safety which provide an acceptable level of control of the radiation, criticality and thermal hazards to people, property and the environment that are associated with the transport of radioactive material. These Instructions are based on the IAEA Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material, (2018 Edition), ~~IAEA Safety Standards Series No. SSR-6 (Rev.1), IAEA, Vienna (2018)~~. Explanatory material can be found in *Advisory Material for the IAEA Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material (2018 Edition)*, Safety Standard Series No. SSG-26 (Rev.1), IAEA, Vienna (2019). The prime responsibility for safety must rest with the person or organization responsible for facilities and activities that give rise to radiation risk.

...

¹ ~~INFCIRC/274/Rev.1, IAEA, Vienna (1980).~~

² ~~INFCIRC/225/Rev.5, IAEA, Vienna (2011).~~

Part 2

CLASSIFICATION OF DANGEROUS GOODS

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.4 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.5 of DGP/28-WP/3:

Chapter 1

CLASS 1 — EXPLOSIVES

...

1.4 COMPATIBILITY GROUPS

...

1.4.2.1 Certain Division 1.4S explosives, identified by Special Provision A165 in Table 3-1, are subject to Test Series 6 (d) of Part I of the ~~UN~~ UN *Manual of Tests and Criteria* (see ST/SG/AC.10/11/Rev.6 and Amend.4) to demonstrate that any hazardous effects arising from functioning are confined within the package. Evidence of a hazardous effect outside the package includes:

- a) denting or perforation of the witness plate beneath the package;
- b) a flash or flame capable of igniting such as a sheet of 80 ± 3 g/m² paper at a distance of 25 cm from the package;
- c) disruption of the package causing projection of the explosives contents; or
- d) a projection which passes completely through the packaging (a projection or fragment retained or stuck in the wall of the packaging is considered as non-hazardous).

The appropriate national authority may wish to take into account the expected effect of the initiator when assessing the results of the test, if these are expected to be significant when compared to the articles being tested. If there are hazardous effects outside the package, then the product is excluded from Compatibility Group S.

...

Chapter 4

CLASS 4 — FLAMMABLE SOLIDS; SUBSTANCES LIABLE TO SPONTANEOUS COMBUSTION; SUBSTANCES WHICH, IN CONTACT WITH WATER, EMIT FLAMMABLE GASES

4.2.3 Division 4.1 — Self-reactive substances

...

UN harmonization amendments

UN Model Regulations, 2.4.2.3.2 (see paragraph 1.2.1.4 a) of this report):

4.2.3.2 Classification of self-reactive substances

4.2.3.2.1 Self-reactive substances are classified into seven types according to the degree of danger they present. The types of self-reactive substance range from type A, which is forbidden in any mode of transport, to type G, which is not subject to the provisions for self-reactive substances of Division 4.1. The classification of types B to F is directly related to the maximum quantity allowed in one packaging.

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.4 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.5 of DGP/28-WP/3:

...

4.2.3.2.4 List of currently assigned self-reactive substances in packages

The following table (Table 2-6) is reproduced from 2.4.2.3.2.3 of the UN ~~Recommendations on the Transport of Dangerous Goods (Eighteenth revised edition)~~ Model Regulations, with irrelevant material removed.

Table 2-6. List of currently assigned self-reactive substances in packagings

Note.— Self-reactive substances to be transported must fulfil the classification and the control and emergency temperatures (derived from the self-accelerating decomposition temperature (SADT)) as listed.

Self-reactive substance	Concentration (%)	Control temperature (°C)	Emergency temperature (°C)	UN generic entry	Notes
...					
Introduced into 2021-2022 Edition of the Technical Instructions through a corrigendum (see paragraph 3.2.2.12 of DGP/28-WP/2):					
2-(AN , AN -Ethoxycarbonylphenylamino)-3-methoxy-4-(AN -methyl- AN -cyclohexylamino) benzenediazonium zinc chloride	63-92	+40	+45	3236	

<i>Self-reactive substance</i>	<i>Concentration (%)</i>	<i>Control temperature (°C)</i>	<i>Emergency temperature (°C)</i>	<i>UN generic entry</i>	<i>Notes</i>
2-(an , an -Ethoxycarbonylphenylamino)-3-methoxy-4-(an -methyl- an -cyclohexylamino) benzenediazonium zinc chloride	62	+35	+40	3236	
2-(an , an -Methylaminoethylcarbonyl)-4-(3,4-dimethylphenylsulphonyl) benzenediazonium hydrogen sulphate	96	+45	+50	3236	
UN Model Regulations, 2.4.2.3.2.3 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)					
3-(2-Hydroxyethoxy)-4-(pyrrolidin-1-yl) benzenediazonium zinc chloride	100	+40	+45	3236	
<u>(7-Methoxy-5-methyl-benzothiophen-2-yl) boronic acid</u>	<u>88-100</u>			<u>3230</u>	<u>9</u>
...					

NOTES:

Proposed to replace reference with “Model Regulations” because a definition for Model Regulations is proposed for Part 1;3 (see 3.1.2.4.1 a) of DGP/28-WP/3):

1. Azodicarbonamide formulations which fulfil the criteria of 2.4.2.3.3.2 (b) of the UN-Recommendations Model Regulations.
2. “EXPLOSIVE” subsidiary hazard label required and consequently forbidden for transport by air under any circumstance.
3. Azodicarbonamide formulations which fulfil the criteria of 2.4.2.3.3.2 (c) of the UN-Recommendations Model Regulations.
4. Azodicarbonamide formulations which fulfil the criteria of 2.4.2.3.3.2 (d) of the UN-Recommendations Model Regulations.
5. With a compatible diluent having a boiling point of not less than 150°C.
6. See 4.2.3.2.6.
7. This entry applies to mixtures of esters of 2-diazo-1-naphthol-4-sulphonic acid and 2-diazo-1-naphthol-5-sulphonic acid meeting the criteria of 2.4.2.3.3.2 d) of the UN Recommendations Model Regulations.
8. This entry applies to the technical mixture in n-butanol within the specified concentration limits of the (Z) isomer.
9. The technical compound with the specified concentration limits may contain up to 12% water and up to 1% organic impurities.

...

Amendments to manage aviation specific risks

Paragraphs 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.1 of DGP/28-WP/3:

4.2.3.3 Temperature control requirements

With the exception of self-reactive solids of type B, which are forbidden for transport by air under any circumstance, self-reactive substances which require temperature control during transport are forbidden for transport by air unless exempted (see 1;1.1.2.3). Self-reactive substances must be subject to temperature control if their self-accelerating decomposition temperature (SADT) is less than or equal to 55°C. Test methods for determining the SADT are given in the current edition of the UN *Manual of Tests and Criteria*. The test selected must be conducted in a manner which is representative of the package to be transported both in size and material of construction.

...

Chapter 5**CLASS 5 — OXIDIZING SUBSTANCES; ORGANIC PEROXIDES**

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraph 1.2.1.4 a) of this report:

5.3.2 Classification of organic peroxides

...

UN Model Regulations, 2.5.3.2.2

5.3.2.2 Organic peroxides are classified into seven types according to the degree of danger they present. The types of organic peroxide range from type A, which is forbidden in any mode of transport, to type G, which is not subject to the provisions for organic peroxides of Division 5.2. The classification of types B to F is directly related to the maximum quantity allowed in one packaging.

...

Amendments to manage aviation specific risks

5.3 ORGANIC PEROXIDES (DIVISION 5.2)

...

5.3.3 TEMPERATURE CONTROL REQUIREMENTS

Paragraphs 1.2.1.4 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.1 of DGP/28-WP/3:

5.3.3.1 An organic peroxide formulation must be regarded as possessing explosive properties when, in laboratory testing, the formulation is liable to detonate, to deflagrate rapidly or to show a violent effect when heated under confinement. With the exception of organic peroxides of type B, which are forbidden for transport by air under any circumstance, organic peroxides requiring temperature control during transport are forbidden for transport by air unless approved or exempted, as applicable (see 1;1.1.2 and 1;1.1.3).

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.4 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.5 of DGP/28-WP/3:

...

Table 2-7. List of currently assigned organic peroxides in packagings

Note.— Peroxides to be transported must fulfil the classification and the control and emergency temperatures (derived from the self-accelerating decomposition temperature (SADT)) as listed.

Organic peroxide	Concentration (per cent)	Diluent type A (per cent)	Diluent type B (per cent) (Note 1)	Inert solid (per cent)	Water (per cent)	Control tempera- ture (°C)	Emergency tempera- ture (°C)	UN generic entry	Sub- sidiary hazards and notes
UN Model Regulations, 2.5.3.2.4 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)									
Acetyl acetone peroxide	≤42	≥48			≥8			3105	2
<u>Acetyl acetone peroxide</u>	<u>≤35</u>	<u>≥57</u>			<u>≥8</u>			<u>3107</u>	<u>32</u>
tert-Butylperoxy isopropylcarbonate	≤77	≥23						3103	
1-(2-tert-Butylperoxyisopropyl)-3-isopropenylbenzene	≤77	≥23						3105	
<u>tert-Butylperoxy isopropylcarbonate</u>	<u>≤62</u>		<u>≥38</u>					<u>3105</u>	
...									
tert-Hexyl Peroxypivalate	≤72		≥28			+10	+15	3115	
<u>tert-Hexyl peroxypivalate</u>	<u>≤52 as a stable dispersion in water</u>					<u>+15</u>	<u>+20</u>	<u>3117</u>	

Paragraph 1.2.1.4 b) of this report:

3,6,9-Triethyl-3,6,9-trimethyl-1,4,7
triperoxonane

≤27 ≥83

3109

...

Notes:

...

31. Active oxygen ≤6.7 per cent.

32. Active oxygen ≤4.15 per cent.

...

Chapter 6

CLASS 6 — TOXIC AND INFECTIOUS SUBSTANCES

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.4 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.5 of DGP/28-WP/3:

INTRODUCTORY NOTE

UN Model Regulations, Chapter 2.6 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Note.— Toxins from plant, animal or bacterial sources which do not contain any infectious substances or toxins that are not contained in substances which are infectious substances should be considered for classification in Division 6.1 and assignment to UN 3172 or UN 3462.

...

Chapter 7

CLASS 7 — RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.4 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.5 of DGP/28-WP/3:

...

7.2.3 Determination of other material characteristics

7.2.3.1 Low specific activity (LSA) material

7.2.3.1.1 (Reserved)

...

UN Model Regulations, 2.7.2.3.1.4 and 2.7.2.3.1.5 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

7.2.3.1.4 ~~LSA-III material must be tested as follows:~~

~~A solid material sample representing the entire contents of the package must be immersed for 7 days in water at ambient temperature. The volume of water to be used in the test must be sufficient to ensure that at the end of the 7 day test period, the free volume of the unabsorbed and unreacted water remaining must be at least 10 per cent of the volume of the solid test sample itself. The water must have an initial pH of 6-8 and a maximum conductivity of 1 mS/m at 20°C. The total activity of the free volume of water must be measured following the 7 day immersion of the test sample.~~~~Deleted~~

7.2.3.1.5 ~~Demonstration of compliance with the performance standards in 7.2.3.1.4 must be in accordance with 6.7.11.1 and 6.7.11.2.~~~~Deleted~~

...

7.2.3.4 Low dispersible radioactive material

7.2.3.4.1 The design for low dispersible radioactive material requires multilateral approval. Low dispersible radioactive material must be such that the total amount of this radioactive material in a package, taking into account the provisions of 6;7.7.14, must meet the following requirements:

- a) The dose rate at 3 m from the unshielded radioactive material does not exceed 10 mSv/h;
- b) If subjected to the tests specified in 6;7.19.3 and 6;7.19.4, the airborne release in gaseous and particulate forms of up to 100 μm aerodynamic equivalent diameter would not exceed 100 A_2 . A separate specimen may be used for each test; and

UN Model Regulations, 2.7.2.3.4.1 (c) (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

- c) If subjected to the test specified in ~~7.2.3.4.1~~ **7.2.3.4.3**, the activity in the water would not exceed 100 A_2 . In the application of this test, the damaging effects of the tests specified in b) above must be taken into account.

7.2.3.4.2 Low dispersible material must be tested as follows:

A specimen that comprises or simulates low dispersible radioactive material must be subjected to the enhanced thermal test specified in 6;7.19.3 and the impact test specified in 6;7.19.4. A different specimen may be used for each of the tests. Following each test, the specimen must be subjected to the leach test specified in 7.2.3.1.4. After each test, it must be determined if the applicable requirements of 7.2.3.4.1 have been met.

UN Model Regulations, 2.7.2.3.4.3 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

7.2.3.4.3 A solid material sample representing the entire contents of the package must be immersed for 7 days in water at ambient temperature. The volume of water to be used in the test must be sufficient to ensure that at the end of the 7-day test period the free volume of the unabsorbed and unreacted water remaining must be at least 10 per cent of the volume of the solid test sample itself. The water must have an initial pH of 6-8 and a maximum conductivity of 1 mS/m at 20°C. The total activity of the free volume of water must be measured following the 7-day immersion of the test sample.

~~7.2.3.4.3.4~~ Demonstration of compliance with the performance standards in 7.2.3.4.1 ~~and~~ 7.2.3.4.2 and 7.2.3.4.3 must be in accordance with 6;7.11.1 and 6;7.11.2.

...

Paragraph 1.2.2 of this report:

7.2.4 Classification of packages

7.2.4.1 The quantity of radioactive material in a package must not exceed the relevant limits for the package type as specified below.

7.2.4.1.1 Classification as excepted packages

7.2.4.1.1.1 A package may be classified as excepted packages if it meets one of the following conditions:

- a) it is an empty packaging having contained radioactive material;
- b) it contains instruments or articles not exceeding the activity limits specified in columns 2 and 3 of Table 2-14;
- c) it contains articles manufactured of natural uranium, depleted uranium or natural thorium; or
- d) it contains radioactive material not exceeding the activity limits specified in column 4 of Table 2-14; or
- e) it contains less than 0.1 kg of uranium hexafluoride not exceeding the activity limits specified in column 4 of Table 2-14.

~~7.2.4.1.1.2 A package containing radioactive material may be classified as an excepted package provided that the dose rate at any point on its external surface does not exceed 5 $\mu\text{Sv/h}$.~~ **The dose rate at any point on the external surface of an excepted package must not exceed 5 $\mu\text{Sv/h}$.**

7.2.4.1.1.3 Radioactive material which is enclosed in or is included as a component part of an instrument or other manufactured article may be classified under UN 2911 — **Radioactive material, excepted package — instruments or articles** provided that:

- a) the dose rate at 10 cm from any point on the external surface of any unpackaged instrument or article is not greater than 0.1 mSv/h; and
- b) each instrument or article bears the mark "RADIOACTIVE" on its external surface except for the following:
 - i) radioluminescent time-pieces or devices;
 - ii) consumer products that either have received regulatory approval in accordance with 1;6.1.4 c) or do not individually exceed the activity limit for an exempt consignment in Table 2-12 (column 5), provided such products are transported in a package that bears the mark "RADIOACTIVE" on an internal surface in such a manner that a warning of the presence of radioactive material is visible on opening the package; and
 - iii) other instruments or articles too small to bear the mark "RADIOACTIVE", provided that they are transported in a package that bears the mark "RADIOACTIVE" on its internal surface in such a manner that a warning of the presence of radioactive material is visible on opening the package;
- c) the active material is completely enclosed by non-active components (a device performing the sole function of containing radioactive material must not be considered to be an instrument or manufactured article);
- d) the limits specified in columns 2 and 3 of Table 2-14 are met for each individual item and each package, respectively;
- e) *reserved*; and

UN Model Regulations, 2.7.2.4.1.3 (f) (see ST/SG/AC.10/1/Rev.21, Vol. I and II Corrigendum 1):

- f) if the package contains fissile material, one of the provisions of 7.2.3.5.1 a) to f) ~~must apply~~ applies.

7.2.4.1.1.4 Radioactive material in forms other than as specified in 7.2.4.1.1.3 and with an activity not exceeding the limits specified in column 4 of Table 2-14 may be classified under UN 2910 — **Radioactive material, excepted package — limited quantity of material**, provided that:

- a) the package retains its radioactive contents under routine conditions of transport;
- b) the package bears the mark "RADIOACTIVE" on either:
 - i) an internal surface in such a manner that a warning of the presence of radioactive material is visible on opening the package; or
 - ii) the outside of the package, where it is impractical to mark an internal surface; and

UN Model Regulations, 2.7.2.4.1.4 (c) (see ST/SG/AC.10/1/Rev.21, Vol. I and II Corrigendum 1):

- c) if the package contains fissile material, one of the provisions of 7.2.3.5.1 a) to f) ~~must apply~~ applies.

...

UN Model Regulations, 2.7.2.4.1.7 (e) (see ST/SG/AC.10/1/Rev.21, Vol. I and II Corrigendum 1):

7.2.4.1.1.7 An empty packaging which had previously contained radioactive material may be classified under UN 2908 — **Radioactive material, excepted package — empty packaging** provided that:

- a) it is in a well-maintained condition and securely closed;
- b) the outer surface of any uranium or thorium in its structure is covered with an inactive sheath made of metal or some other substantial material;
- c) the level of internal non-fixed contamination, when averaged over any 300 cm², does not exceed:
 - i) 400 Bq/cm² for beta and gamma emitters and low toxicity alpha emitters; and
 - ii) 40 Bq/cm² for all other alpha emitters;

- d) any labels which may have been displayed on it in conformity with 5;3.2.6 are no longer visible; and
- e) if the packaging has contained fissile material, one of the provisions of 7.2.3.5.1 a) to f) or one of the provisions for exclusion for fissile nuclides, as described in the definition for fissile nuclides in 7.1.3, ~~must apply~~ applies.

...

Chapter 8

CLASS 8 — CORROSIVE SUBSTANCES

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.4 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.5 of DGP/28-WP/3:

...

8.3 PACKING GROUP ASSIGNMENT FOR SUBSTANCES AND MIXTURES

8.3.1 Existing human and animal data, including information from single or repeated exposure, must be the first line of evaluation, as they give information directly relevant to effects on the skin.

UN Model Regulations, 2.8.3.2 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

8.3.2 In assigning the packing group in accordance with 8.2.3, account must be taken of human experience in instances of accidental exposure. In the absence of human experience, classification must be based on data obtained from experiments in accordance with OECD Guideline for the Testing of Chemicals No. 404, *Acute Dermal Irritation/Corrosion*, 2015, No. 435, *In Vitro Membrane Barrier Test Method for Skin Corrosion*, 2015, No. 431, *In Vitro Skin Corrosion: Reconstructed Human Epidermis (RHE) Test Method*, 2016 or No. 430, *In Vitro Skin Corrosion: Transcutaneous Electrical Resistance (TER) Test Method*, 2015.

8.3.2.1 A substance or mixture which is determined not to be corrosive in accordance with OECD Guideline for the Testing of Chemicals No. 404, No. 435, No. 431 or No. 430 or non-classified in accordance with No. 439, *In Vitro Skin Irritation: Reconstructed Human Epidermis Test Method*, 2015 may be considered not to be corrosive to skin for the purposes of these Instructions without further testing. If the ~~in-vitro~~ test results indicate that the substance or mixture is corrosive and not assigned to Packing Group I, but the test method does not allow discrimination between Packing Groups II and III, it must be considered to be Packing Group II. If the test results indicate that the substance or mixture is corrosive, but the test method does not allow discrimination between packing groups, it must be assigned to Packing Group I if no other test results indicate a different packing group.

8.3.3 Packing groups are assigned to corrosive substances in accordance with the following criteria (see Table 2-15):

- a) *Packing Group I* is assigned to substances that cause irreversible damage of intact skin tissue within an observation period of up to 60 minutes starting after the exposure time of 3 minutes or less.
- b) *Packing Group II* is assigned to substances that cause irreversible damage of intact skin tissue within an observation period of up to 14 days starting after the exposure time of more than 3 minutes but not more than 60 minutes.
- c) *Packing Group III* is assigned to substances that:
 - i) cause irreversible damage of intact skin tissue within an observation period of up to 14 days starting after the exposure time of more than 60 minutes but not more than 4 hours; or

UN Model Regulations, 2.8.3.3 (c) (ii) (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

- ii) are judged not to cause irreversible damage of intact skin tissue but which exhibit a corrosion rate on either steel or aluminium surfaces exceeding 6.25 mm a year at a test temperature of 55°C when tested on both materials. For the purposes of testing steel, type S235JR+CR (1.0037 resp. St 37-2), S275J2G3+CR (1.0144 resp. St 44-3), ISO 3574 ~~or~~ Unified Numbering System (UNS) G10200 ~~or a similar type~~ or SAE 1020, and for testing aluminium,

non-clad types 7075-T6 or AZ5GU-T6, must be used. An acceptable test is prescribed in the UN *Manual of Tests and Criteria*, Part III, Section 37.

Note.— Where an initial test on either steel or aluminium indicates the substance being tested is corrosive, the follow up test on the other metal is not required.

...

Chapter 9

CLASS 9 — MISCELLANEOUS DANGEROUS SUBSTANCES AND ARTICLES, INCLUDING ENVIRONMENTALLY HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES

...

9.3 LITHIUM BATTERIES

Cells and batteries, cells and batteries contained in equipment, or cells and batteries packed with equipment, containing lithium in any form must be assigned to UN Nos. 3090, 3091, 3480 or 3481, as appropriate. They may be transported under these entries if they meet the following provisions:

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.4 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.5.2 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 2.9.4 (g) (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

- g) except for button cells installed in equipment (including circuit boards), manufacturers and subsequent distributors of cells or batteries manufactured after 30 June 2003 must make available the test summary as specified in the UN *Manual of Tests and Criteria*, Part III, subsection 38.3, paragraph 38.3.5. ~~This test summary must be made available from 1 January 2020.~~

...

Part 3

DANGEROUS GOODS LIST, SPECIAL PROVISIONS AND LIMITED AND EXCEPTED QUANTITIES

...

Table 3-1. Dangerous Goods List

Name	UN No.	Class or division	Subsidiary hazard	Labels	State variations	Special provisions	UN packing group	Excepted quantity	Passenger and cargo aircraft		Cargo aircraft only	
									Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package	Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package
1	2	3	4		6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13

UN harmonization amendments

UN Model Regulations, Chapter 3.2, dangerous goods list (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1), paragraphs 1.2.1.5 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.6 of DGP/28-WP/3:

Air, compressed	1002	2.2		Gas non-flammable		A221		E1	200	75 kg	200	150 kg
-----------------	------	-----	--	-------------------	--	------	--	----	-----	-------	-----	--------

Amendments to facilitate transport

Paragraphs 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.22 of DGP/28-WP/3:

Articles containing miscellaneous dangerous goods, n.o.s.*	3548	9	See 2;0.6	Miscellaneous		A2 A224			FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Articles containing non-flammable, non-toxic gas, n.o.s.*	3538	2.2	See 2;0.6	Gas non-flammable		A2 A225			FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	

Appendix A to the Report

A-19

Name	UN No.	Class or division	Subsidiary hazard	Labels	State variations	Special provisions	UN packing group	Excepted quantity	Passenger and cargo aircraft		Cargo aircraft only	
									Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package	Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package
1	2	3	4		6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.5 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.6.1 a) of DGP/28-WP/3:

Batteries, wet, filled with acid , electric storage †	2794	8		Corrosive		A51 A164 A183		E0	870	30 kg	870	No limit 400 kg
Batteries, wet, filled with alkali , electric storage †	2795	8		Corrosive		A51 A164 A183		E0	870	30 kg	870	No limit 400 kg

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraph 4.8 of this report:

Battery-powered equipment	3171	9		Miscellaneous		A67 A87 A94 A154 A164 A182 A214		E0	952	No limit	952	No limit
Battery-powered vehicle	3171	9		Miscellaneous		A67 A87 A94 A154 A164 A214		E0	952	No limit	952	No limit

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.5 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.6 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, Chapter 3.2, dangerous goods list (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

Butylene	1012	2.1		Gas flammable	AU 1 CA 7 IR 3 NL 1 US 3	A1 A222		E0	FORBIDDEN		200	150 kg
-----------------	------	-----	--	---------------	--------------------------------------	----------------------------	--	----	-----------	--	-----	--------

Name	UN No.	Class or division	Subsidiary hazard	Labels	State variations	Special provisions	UN packing group	Excepted quantity	Passenger and cargo aircraft		Cargo aircraft only	
									Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package	Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package
1	2	3	4		6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13

Paragraphs 1.2.1.5 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.6.1 a) of DGP/28-WP/3:

Cells, containing sodium †	3292	4.3		Danger if wet		A94		E0	492	25 kg	492	No limit 400 kg
----------------------------	------	-----	--	---------------	--	-----	--	----	-----	-------	-----	-------------------------------

Paragraphs 1.2.1.5 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.6 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, Chapter 3.2, dangerous goods list (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

<u>Cobalt dihydroxide powder, containing not less than 10% respirable particles</u>	<u>3550</u>	<u>6.1</u>		<u>Toxic</u>			<u>I</u>	<u>E5</u>	<u>666</u>	<u>5 kg</u>	<u>673</u>	<u>50 kg</u>
---	-------------	------------	--	--------------	--	--	----------	-----------	------------	-------------	------------	--------------

Amendments to manage aviation specific risks

Paragraph 2.2.7 of this report:

Corrosive liquid, toxic, n.o.s.*	2922	8	6.1	Corrosive & Toxic		A3 <u>A4</u>	I II III	E0 E2 E1	850	0.5L	854	2.5L
									851	1L	855	30L
									Y840	0.5L		
									852 Y841	5L 1L	856	60L
Corrosive solid, toxic, n.o.s.*	2923	8	6.1	Corrosive & Toxic		A3 <u>A5</u>	I II III	E0 E2 E1	858	1kg	862	25kg
									859	15kg	863	50kg
									Y844	5kg		
									860 Y845	25kg 5kg	864	100kg

Appendix A to the Report

A-21

Name	UN No.	Class or division	Subsidiary hazard	Labels	State variations	Special provisions	UN packing group	Excepted quantity	Passenger and cargo aircraft		Cargo aircraft only	
									Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package	Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package
1	2	3	4		6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraph 4.8 of this report:

Engine, fuel cell, flammable gas powered †	3529	2.1		Gas flammable		A70 A87 A154 A176 A208		E0	FORBIDDEN		220	No limit
Engine, fuel cell, flammable liquid powered †	3528	3		Liquid flammable		A70 A87 A154 A176 A208		E0	378	No limit	378	No limit
Engine, internal combustion	3530	9		Miscellaneous		A87 A154 A208		E0	972	No limit	972	No limit
Engine, internal combustion, flammable gas powered	3529	2.1		Gas flammable		A70 A87 A154 A208		E0	FORBIDDEN		220	No limit
Engine, internal combustion, flammable liquid powered	3528	3		Liquid flammable		A70 A87 A154 A208		E0	378	No limit	378	No limit

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.5 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.6 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, Chapter 3.2, dangerous goods list (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

Ethyl bromide	1891	6.1 3	6.1	Liquid flammable & Toxic			II	E4 E2	654 352 Y644Y341	5 L 1 L	662 364	60 L
Extracts, aromatic, liquid†	1169	3		Liquid flammable		A3	II III	E2 E1	353 Y341 355 Y344	5 L 1 L 60 L 10 L	364 366	60 L 220 L

Name	UN No.	Class or division	Subsidiary hazard	Labels	State variations	Special provisions	UN packing group	Excepted quantity	Passenger and cargo aircraft		Cargo aircraft only	
									Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package	Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package
1	2	3	4		6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
Extracts, flavouring, liquid, for flavour or aroma †	1197	3		Liquid flammable		A3	II III	E2 E1	353 Y341 355 Y344	5 L 1 L 60 L 10 L	364 366	60 L 220 L

Amendments to facilitate transport

Paragraph 3.4 of this report:

Gas turbine engines †, see **Engine, internal combustion, flammable liquid powered** (UN No. 3530) or **Engine internal combustion, flammable gas powered** (UN No. 3529)

Amendments to manage aviation specific risks

Paragraphs 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.4 of DGP/28-WP/3:

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraph 4.8 of this report:

Life-saving appliances, not self-inflating containing dangerous goods as equipment	3072	9		Miscellaneous		A48 A87 A154 A182 A223		E0	see-955	No limit	see-955	No limit
Life-saving appliances, self-inflating	2990	9		Miscellaneous		A48 A87 A154 A223		E0	see-955	No limit	see-955	No limit

Appendix A to the Report

A-23

Name	UN No.	Class or division	Subsidiary hazard	Labels	State variations	Special provisions	UN packing group	Excepted quantity	Passenger and cargo aircraft		Cargo aircraft only	
									Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package	Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package
1	2	3	4		6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13

Paragraph 4.7 of this report:

Lithium ion batteries (including lithium ion polymer batteries)	3480	9		Miscellaneous — Lithium batteries	US 3	A88 A99 A154 A164 A183 A201 A206 A213		E0	FORBIDDEN		See 965	
Lithium ion batteries contained in equipment (including lithium ion polymer batteries)	3481	9		Miscellaneous — Lithium batteries	US 3	A48 A88 A99 A154 A164 A181 A185 A206 A213		E0	967	5 kg	967	35 kg
Lithium ion batteries packed with equipment (including lithium ion polymer batteries)	3481	9		Miscellaneous — Lithium batteries	US 3	A88 A99 A154 A164 A181 A185 A206 A213		E0	966	5 kg	966	35 kg
Lithium metal batteries (including lithium alloy batteries) †	3090	9		Miscellaneous — Lithium batteries	US 2 US 3	A88 A99 A154 A164 A183 A201 A206 A213		E0	FORBIDDEN		See 968	
Lithium metal batteries contained in equipment (including lithium alloy batteries) †	3091	9		Miscellaneous — Lithium batteries	US 2 US 3	A48 A88 A99 A154 A164 A181 A185 A206 A213		E0	970	5 kg	970	35 kg

Name	UN No.	Class or division	Subsidiary hazard	Labels	State variations	Special provisions	UN packing group	Excepted quantity	Passenger and cargo aircraft		Cargo aircraft only	
									Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package	Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package
1	2	3	4		6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
Lithium metal batteries packed with equipment (including lithium alloy batteries) †	3091	9		Miscellaneous — Lithium batteries	US 2 US 3	A88 A99 A154 A164 A181 A185 A206 A213		E0	969	5 kg	969	35 kg

Paragraph 4.8 of this report:

Machinery, fuel cell, flammable gas powered	3529	2.1		Gas flammable	A70 A87 <u>A154</u> A176 A208		E0	FORBIDDEN		220	No limit
Machinery, fuel cell, flammable liquid powered	3528	3		Liquid flammable	A70 A87 <u>A154</u> A176 A208		E0	378	No limit	378	No limit
Machinery, internal combustion	3530	9		Miscellaneous	A87 <u>A154</u> A208		E0	972	No limit	972	No limit
Machinery, internal combustion, flammable gas powered	3529	2.1		Gas flammable	A70 A87 <u>A154</u> A208		E0	FORBIDDEN		220	No limit
Machinery, internal combustion, flammable liquid powered	3528	3		Liquid flammable	A70 A87 <u>A154</u> A208		E0	378	No limit	378	No limit

Amendments to manage aviation specific risks

Paragraph 2.2.3 of this report:

Metal catalyst, dry*	2881	4.2		Spontaneous combustion		<u>A1</u> A3 A36	II III	E0 E1	FORBIDDEN FORBIDDEN 473	25 kg	FORBIDDEN FORBIDDEN 473	50 kg 100 kg
----------------------	------	-----	--	------------------------	--	------------------------	-----------	----------	-------------------------------	-------	-------------------------------	-----------------

Appendix A to the Report

A-25

Name	UN No.	Class or division	Subsidiary hazard	Labels	State variations	Special provisions	UN packing group	Excepted quantity	Passenger and cargo aircraft		Cargo aircraft only	
									Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package	Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package
1	2	3	4		6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
Mercaptan mixture, liquid, flammable, toxic, n.o.s.*	1228	3	6.1	Liquid flammable & toxic	AU 1 CA 7 IR 3 NL1 US 3	A1 A3 A36	II III	E0 E1	FORBIDDEN 373 Y373	5 L 1 L	373 373	60 L 220 L
Mercaptans, liquid, flammable, toxic, n.o.s.*	1228	3	6.1	Liquid flammable & toxic	AU 1 CA 7 IR 3 NL1 US 3	A1 A3 A36	II III	E0 E1	FORBIDDEN 373 Y373	5 L 1 L	373 373	60 L 220 L
Tear gas substance, liquid, n.o.s.*	1693	6.1		Toxic	AU 1 CA 7 IR 3 NL 1 US 3	A2 A36	II	E0	FORBIDDEN FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN 659	5 L

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraph 1.2.1.5 b) of this report:

Nitrocellulose membrane filters with not more than 12.6% nitrogen, by dry mass	3270	4.1		Solid flammable		A57 A73 A122	II	E2	458 Y458	1 kg 1 kg	458	15 kg
Nitrocellulose , with not more than 12.6% nitrogen, by dry mass, mixture without plasticizer, without pigment	2557	4.1		Solid flammable	BE 3	A57 A86 A217	II	E0	452	1 kg	453	15 kg
Nitrocellulose , with not more than 12.6% nitrogen, by dry mass, mixture without plasticizer, with pigment	2557	4.1		Solid flammable	BE 3	A57 A86 A217	II	E0	452	1 kg	453	15 kg
Nitrocellulose , with not more than 12.6% nitrogen, by dry mass, mixture with plasticizer, without pigment	2557	4.1		Solid flammable	BE 3	A57 A86 A217	II	E0	452	1 kg	453	15 kg

Name	UN No.	Class or division	Subsidiary hazard	Labels	State variations	Special provisions	UN packing group	Excepted quantity	Passenger and cargo aircraft		Cargo aircraft only	
									Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package	Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package
1	2	3	4		6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
Nitrocellulose , with not more than 12.6% nitrogen, by dry mass, mixture with plasticizer, with pigment	2557	4.1		Solid flammable	BE 3	A67 A86 A217	II	E0	452	1 kg	453	15 kg
Nitrocellulose with alcohol , not less than 25% alcohol, by mass and not less than 12.6% nitrogen, by dry mass	2556	4.1		Solid flammable	BE 3	A67 A217	II	E0	452	1 kg	453	15 kg
Nitrocellulose with water , not less than 25% water by mass	2555	4.1		Solid flammable	BE 3	A67 A217	II	E0	452	1 kg	453	15 kg

Paragraph 1.2.1.5 a) of this report:

Self-reactive liquid type B ^a <u>Self-reactive liquid type B*</u>	3224	4.1							FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Self-reactive liquid type B, temperature controlled ^a <u>Self-reactive liquid type B, temperature controlled*</u>	3234	4.1							FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	

...

Paragraphs 1.2.1.5 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.6 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, Chapter 3.2, dangerous goods list (see ST/SG/AC.10/1/Rev.21, Vol. I and II Corrigendum 1):

Radioactive material, surface contaminated objects (SCO-I or SCO-II or SCO-III) , non-fissile or fissile excepted	2913	7		Radioactive	CA 1	A78 A139 A159					See Part 2;7 and Part 4;9	
--	------	---	--	-------------	------	---------------------	--	--	--	--	---------------------------	--

...

Name	UN No.	Class or division	Subsidiary hazard	Labels	State variations	Special provisions	UN packing group	Excepted quantity	Passenger and cargo aircraft		Cargo aircraft only	
									Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package	Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package
1	2	3	4		6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraph 4.8 of this report:

Vehicle, flammable gas powered	3166	9		Miscellaneous		A70 A87 A118 A120 <u>A154</u> A214		E0	FORBIDDEN		951	No limit
Vehicle, flammable liquid powered	3166	9		Miscellaneous		A70 A87 A118 A120 <u>A154</u> A214		E0	950	No limit	950	No limit
Vehicle, fuel cell, flammable gas powered†	3166	9		Miscellaneous		A70 A87 A118 A120 <u>A154</u> A176 A214		E0	FORBIDDEN		951	No limit
Vehicle, fuel cell, flammable liquid powered †	3166	9		Miscellaneous		A70 A87 A118 A120 <u>A154</u> A176 A214		E0	950	No limit	950	No limit

...

Amendments to manage aviation specific risks

Additional amendments to Table 3-1 are presented below. The only column with amended values is Column 8, UN packing group. For the sake of simplicity, only the columns from Table 3-1 that are relevant to the proposal are shown.

Paragraph 2.2.4 of this report:

<i>Proper shipping name (1)</i>	<i>UN No. (2)</i>	<i>Class or divi- sion (3)</i>	<i>Sub- sidiary Hazard (4)</i>	<i>UN packing group (8)</i>
Acetone cyanohydrin, stabilized	1541	6.1		↓
Acrolein, stabilized	1092	6.1	3	↓
Allyl alcohol	1098	6.1	3	↓
Allyl chloroformate	1722	6.1	8 3	↓
Allylamine	2334	6.1	3	↓
Aluminium borohydride	2870	4.2	4.3	↓
Aluminium borohydride in devices	2870	4.2	4.3	↓
Aluminium phosphide pesticide	3048	6.1		↓
Ammonium nitrate emulsion	3375	5.1		↓
Ammonium nitrate gel	3375	5.1		↓
Ammonium nitrate suspension	3375	5.1		↓
Ammonium nitrate, liquid	2426	5.1		
Arsenic trichloride	1560	6.1		↓
Articles containing a substance liable to spontaneous combustion, n.o.s.*	3542	4.2	See 2;0.6	
Articles containing a substance which emits flammable gas in contact with water, n.o.s.*	3543	4.3	See 2;0.6	
Articles containing corrosive substance, n.o.s.*	3547	8	See 2;0.6	
Articles containing flammable liquid, n.o.s.*	3540	3	See 2;0.6	
Articles containing flammable solid, n.o.s.*	3541	4.1	See 2;0.6	
Articles containing miscellaneous dangerous goods, n.o.s.*	3548	9	See 2;0.6	
Articles containing oxidizing substance, n.o.s.*	3544	5.1	See 2;0.6	
Articles containing toxic substance, n.o.s.*	3546	6.1	See 2;0.6	
Asbestos, amphibole*	2212	9		↓
Azodicarbonamide	3242	4.1		↓
Barium alloys, pyrophoric	1854	4.2		↓
Bhusa	1327	4.1		
Boron tribromide	2692	8		↓
Bromine	1744	8	6.1	↓
Bromine pentafluoride	1745	5.1	6.1 8	↓
Bromine solution	1744	8	6.1	↓
Bromine trifluoride	1746	5.1	8 6.1	↓
Bromoacetone	1569	6.1	3	↓

<i>Proper shipping name (1)</i>	<i>UN No. (2)</i>	<i>Class or divi- sion (3)</i>	<i>Sub- sidiary Hazard (4)</i>	<i>UN packing group (8)</i>
n-Butyl chloroformate	2743	6.1	3 8	II
tert-Butyl hypochlorite	3255	4.2	8	I
tert-Butyl isocyanate	2484	6.1	3	I
n-Butyl isocyanate	2485	6.1	3	I
5-tert-Butyl-2,4,6-trinitro-m-xylene	2956	4.1		III
Calcium alloys, pyrophoric	1855	4.2		I
Calcium, pyrophoric	1855	4.2		I
Carbon	1361	4.2		II
Carbon	1361	4.2		III
Carbon disulphide	1131	3	6.1	I
Celluloid, scrap	2002	4.2		III
Chemical sample, toxic	3315	6.1		I
Chloric acid, aqueous solution	2626	5.1		II
Chloroacetic acid, molten	3250	6.1	8	II
Chloroacetone, stabilized	1695	6.1	8 3	I
Chloroacetonitrile	2668	6.1	3	I
Chloroacetyl chloride	1752	6.1	8	I
2-Chloroethanal	2232	6.1		I
Chloropicrin	1580	6.1		I
Chloropicrin mixture, n.o.s.*	1583	6.1		II
Chloropicrin mixture, n.o.s.*	1583	6.1		III
Chloropicrin mixture, n.o.s.*	1583	6.1		I
Chlorosulphonic acid	1754	8		I
Copra	1363	4.2		III
Corrosive liquid, water-reactive, n.o.s.*	3094	8	4.3	I
Cotton waste, oily	1364	4.2		III
Cotton, wet	1365	4.2		III
Crotonaldehyde	1143	6.1	3	I
Crotonaldehyde, stabilized	1143	6.1	3	I
Cyanogen bromide	1889	6.1	8	I
Cyclohexyl isocyanate	2488	6.1	3	I
Desensitized explosive, liquid, n.o.s.*	3379	3		I
Desensitized explosive, solid, n.o.s.*	3380	4.1		I
Dichlorodimethyl ether, symmetrical	2249	6.1	3	I
Diketene, stabilized	2521	6.1	3	I
Dimethyl disulphide	2381	3	6.1	II
Dimethyl sulphate	1595	6.1	8	I
Dimethylhydrazine, symmetrical	2382	6.1	3	I
Dimethylhydrazine, unsymmetrical	1163	6.1	3 8	I
Dinitrotoluenes, molten	1600	6.1		II
Diphenylamine chloroarsine	1698	6.1		I
Diphenylchloroarsine, liquid	1699	6.1		I
Elevated temperature liquid, n.o.s.*	3257	9		III
Elevated temperature liquid, flammable, n.o.s.*	3256	3		III
Elevated temperature solid, n.o.s.*	3258	9		III
Epibromohydrin	2558	6.1	3	I
Ethyl bromoacetate	1603	6.1	3	II

<i>Proper shipping name (1)</i>	<i>UN No. (2)</i>	<i>Class or divi- sion (3)</i>	<i>Sub- sidiary Hazard (4)</i>	<i>UN packing group (8)</i>
Ethyl chloroformate	1182	6.1	3 8	↓
Ethyl chlorothioformate	2826	8	3	↓
Ethyl isocyanate	2481	6.1	3	↓
Ethyl nitrite solution	1194	3	6.1	↓
Ethylidichloroarsine	1892	6.1		↓
Ethylene chlorohydrin	1135	6.1	3	↓
Ethylene dibromide	1605	6.1		↓
Ethyleneimine, stabilized	1185	6.1	3	↓
Fabrics, animal, n.o.s.	1373	4.2		↓
Fabrics, synthetic, n.o.s.	1373	4.2		↓
Fabrics, vegetable, n.o.s.	1373	4.2		↓
Fibres, animal	1372	4.2		↓
Fibres, animal, n.o.s.	1373	4.2		↓
Fibres, synthetic, n.o.s.	1373	4.2		↓
Fibres, vegetable	1372	4.2		↓
Fibres, vegetable, dry	3360	4.1		
Fibres, vegetable, n.o.s.	1373	4.2		↓
Fish meal, unstabilized	1374	4.2		↓
Fish scrap, stabilized	2216	9		↓
Fish scrap, unstabilized	1374	4.2		↓
Flammable solid, organic, molten, n.o.s.*	3176	4.1		↓
Flammable solid, organic, molten, n.o.s.*	3176	4.1		↓
Flammable solid, oxidizing, n.o.s.*	3097	4.1	5.1	↓
Flammable solid, oxidizing, n.o.s.*	3097	4.1	5.1	↓
Fumigated cargo transport unit	3359	9		
Hafnium powder, dry	2545	4.2		↓
Hay	1327	4.1		
Heat producing articles, battery operated equipment, such as under-water torches or soldering equipment, which, if accidentally activated, will generate extreme heat and can cause fire	0	9		
Hexachlorocyclopentadiene	2646	6.1		↓
Hydrobromic acid	1788	8		↓
Hydrocyanic acid, aqueous solution	1613	6.1		↓
Hydrogen cyanide, aqueous solution	1613	6.1		↓
Hydrogen cyanide, solution in alcohol	3294	6.1	3	↓
Hydrogen cyanide, stabilized	1614	6.1		↓
Hydrogen cyanide, stabilized	1051	6.1	3	↓
Hydrogen fluoride, anhydrous	1052	8	6.1	↓
Hydrogen peroxide, aqueous solution	2014	5.1	8	↓
Hydrogen peroxide, aqueous solution, stabilized	2015	5.1	8	↓
Hydrogen peroxide, stabilized	2015	5.1	8	↓
Iodine pentafluoride	2495	5.1	6.1 8	↓
Iron oxide, spent	1376	4.2		↓
Iron pentacarbonyl	1994	6.1	3	↓
Iron sponge, spent	1376	4.2		↓
Isobutyl isocyanate	2486	6.1	3	↓

<i>Proper shipping name (1)</i>	<i>UN No. (2)</i>	<i>Class or divi- sion (3)</i>	<i>Sub- sidiary Hazard (4)</i>	<i>UN packing group (8)</i>
Isopropyl chloroformate	2407	6.1	3 8	↓
Isopropyl isocyanate	2483	6.1	3	↓
Isosorbide-5-mononitrate	3251	4.1		III
Lithium batteries installed in cargo transport unit	3536	9		
Maleic anhydride, molten	2215	8		III
Matches, 'strike anywhere'	1331	4.1		III
Matches, fusee	2254	4.1		III
Metal catalyst, dry*	2881	4.2		↓
Methacrylonitrile, stabilized	3079	6.1	3	↓
Methanesulphonyl chloride	3246	6.1	8	↓
Methoxymethyl isocyanate	2605	6.1	3	↓
Methyl bromide and ethylene dibromide mixture, liquid	1647	6.1		↓
Methyl chloroacetate	2295	6.1	3	↓
Methyl chloroformate	1238	6.1	3 8	↓
Methyl chloromethyl ether	1239	6.1	3	↓
Methyl iodide	2644	6.1		↓
Methyl isocyanate	2480	6.1	3	↓
Methyl isothiocyante	2477	6.1	3	↓
Methyl orthosilicate	2606	6.1	3	↓
Methyl vinyl ketone, stabilized	1251	6.1	3 8	↓
2-Methyl-2-heptanethiol	3023	6.1	3	↓
Methylhydrazine	1244	6.1	3 8	↓
Motor fuel anti-knock mixture, flammable	3483	6.1	3	↓
Musk xylene	2956	4.1		III
Naphthalene, molten	2304	4.1		III
Nickel carbonyl	1259	6.1	3	↓
Nitric acid, red fuming	2032	8	5.1 6.1	↓
Nitroglycerin mixture, desensitized, liquid flammable, n.o.s.*	3343	3		
Nitroglycerin mixture, desensitized, liquid, n.o.s.*	3357	3		II
4-Nitrophenylhydrazine	3376	4.1		↓
Organometallic substance, liquid, pyrophoric*	3392	4.2		↓
Organometallic substance, liquid, pyrophoric, water reactive*	3394	4.2	4.3	↓
Organometallic substance, solid, pyrophoric*	3391	4.2		↓
Organometallic substance, solid, pyrophoric, water reactive*	3393	4.2	4.3	↓
Oxidizing liquid, corrosive, n.o.s.*	3098	5.1	8	↓
Oxidizing solid, flammable, n.o.s.*	3137	5.1	4.1	↓
Oxidizing solid, self-heating, n.o.s.*	3100	5.1	4.2	↓
Oxidizing solid, self-heating, n.o.s.*	3100	5.1	4.2	II
Oxidizing solid, water-reactive, n.o.s.*	3121	5.1	4.3	↓
Oxidizing solid, water-reactive, n.o.s.*	3121	5.1	4.3	II
Packagings, discarded, empty, uncleaned	3509	9		
Paper, unsaturated oil treated	1379	4.2		III

<i>Proper shipping name (1)</i>	<i>UN No. (2)</i>	<i>Class or divi- sion (3)</i>	<i>Sub- sidiary Hazard (4)</i>	<i>UN packing group (8)</i>
Pentaborane	1380	4.2	6.1	↓
Pentaerythrite tetranitrate mixture desensitized, solid, n.o.s.*	3344	4.1		↓
Pentaerythritol tetranitrate mixture desensitized, solid, n.o.s.*	3344	4.1		↓
Perchloromethyl mercaptan	1670	6.1		↓
PETN mixture desensitized, solid, n.o.s.*	3344	4.1		↓
Phenol, molten	2312	6.1		↓
Phenyl isocyanate	2487	6.1	3	↓
Phenyl mercaptan	2337	6.1	3	↓
Phenylcarbylamine chloride	1672	6.1		↓
Phosphorus oxybromide, molten	2576	8		↓
Phosphorus oxychloride	1810	6.1	8	↓
Phosphorus trichloride	1809	6.1	8	↓
Phosphorus, white, dry	1381	4.2	6.1	↓
Phosphorus, white, in solution	1381	4.2	6.1	↓
Phosphorus, white, molten	2447	4.2	6.1	↓
Phosphorus, white, under water	1381	4.2	6.1	↓
Phosphorus, yellow, dry	1381	4.2	6.1	↓
Phosphorus, yellow, in solution	1381	4.2	6.1	↓
Phosphorus, yellow, under water	1381	4.2	6.1	↓
Plastics, nitrocellulose-based, self-heating, n.o.s.*	2006	4.2		III
Polymerizing substance, liquid, temperature controlled, n.o.s.*	3534	4.1		III
Polymerizing substance, solid, temperature controlled, n.o.s.*	3533	4.1		III
n-Propyl chloroformate	2740	6.1	8 3	↓
n-Propyl isocyanate	2482	6.1	3	↓
Pyrophoric alloy, n.o.s.*	1383	4.2		↓
Pyrophoric liquid, inorganic, n.o.s.*	3194	4.2		↓
Pyrophoric liquid, organic, n.o.s.* †	2845	4.2		↓
Pyrophoric metal, n.o.s.*	1383	4.2		↓
Pyrophoric solid, inorganic, n.o.s.*	3200	4.2		↓
Pyrophoric solid, organic, n.o.s.*	2846	4.2		↓
Rags, oily	1856	4.2		
Seed cake	2217	4.2		III
Seed cake	1386	4.2		III
Self-heating solid, oxidizing, n.o.s.*	3127	4.2	5.1	III
Self-heating solid, oxidizing, n.o.s.*	3127	4.2	5.1	↓
Silver picrate, wetted	1347	4.1		↓
Straw	1327	4.1		
Sulphur trioxide, stabilized	1829	8		↓
Sulphur, molten	2448	4.1		III
Sulphuric acid, fuming	1831	8	6.1	↓
Sulphuryl chloride	1834	6.1	8	↓
Tear gas substance, liquid, n.o.s.*	1693	6.1		↓
Tetranitromethane	1510	6.1	5.1	↓
Textile waste, wet	1857	4.2		III
Thionyl chloride	1836	8		↓
Thiophosgene	2474	6.1		↓

<i>Proper shipping name (1)</i>	<i>UN No. (2)</i>	<i>Class or divi- sion (3)</i>	<i>Sub- sidiary Hazard (4)</i>	<i>UN packing group (8)</i>
Titanium powder, dry	2546	4.2		I
Titanium tetrachloride	1838	6.1	8	I
Titanium trichloride mixture, pyrophoric	2441	4.2	8	I
Titanium trichloride, pyrophoric	2441	4.2	8	I
Toxic by inhalation liquid, corrosive, n.o.s.*	3389	6.1	8	I
Toxic by inhalation liquid, corrosive, n.o.s.*	3390	6.1	8	I
Toxic by inhalation liquid, flammable, corrosive, n.o.s.*	3488	6.1	3 8	I
Toxic by inhalation liquid, flammable, corrosive, n.o.s.*	3489	6.1	3 8	I
Toxic by inhalation liquid, flammable, n.o.s.*	3384	6.1	3	I
Toxic by inhalation liquid, flammable, n.o.s.*	3383	6.1	3	I
Toxic by inhalation liquid, n.o.s.*	3381	6.1		I
Toxic by inhalation liquid, n.o.s.*	3382	6.1		I
Toxic by inhalation liquid, oxidizing, n.o.s.*	3387	6.1	5.1	I
Toxic by inhalation liquid, oxidizing, n.o.s.*	3388	6.1	5.1	I
Toxic by inhalation liquid, water-reactive, flammable, n.o.s.*	3491	6.1	3 4.3	I
Toxic by inhalation liquid, water-reactive, flammable, n.o.s.*	3490	6.1	3 4.3	I
Toxic by inhalation liquid, water-reactive, n.o.s.*	3386	6.1	4.3	I
Toxic by inhalation liquid, water-reactive, n.o.s.*	3385	6.1	4.3	I
Tributylphosphane	3254	4.2		I
Trichloroacetyl chloride	2442	8		II
Trichlorosilane	1295	4.3	3 8	I
Trimethylacetyl chloride	2438	6.1	3 8	I
Water-reactive solid, oxidizing, n.o.s.*	3133	4.3	5.1	III
Water-reactive solid, oxidizing, n.o.s.*	3133	4.3	5.1	II
Wool waste, wet	1387	4.2		III
Zirconium powder, dry	2008	4.2		I
Zirconium scrap	1932	4.2		III

Additional amendments to Table 3-1 are presented below. The only column with amended values is Column 9, Excepted quantity, other than for column 8, UN packing group for UN 3094 and UN 3098.

Paragraph 3.2 of this report:

Name	UN No.	Class or division	Subsidiary hazard	Labels	State variations	Special provisions	UN packing group	Excepted quantity	Passenger and cargo aircraft		Cargo aircraft only	
									Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package	Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
Adsorbed gas, toxic, n.o.s.*	3512	2.3			AU 1 CA 7 IR 3 NL 1 US 3	A2		E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Adsorbed gas, toxic, corrosive, n.o.s.*	3516	2.3	8		AU 1 CA 7 IR 3 NL 1 US 3	A2		E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Adsorbed gas, toxic, flammable, n.o.s.*	3514	2.3	2.1		AU 1 CA 7 IR 3 NL 1 US 3	A2		E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Adsorbed gas, toxic, flammable, corrosive, n.o.s.*	3517	2.3	2.1 8		AU 1 CA 7 IR 3 NL 1 US 3	A2		E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Adsorbed gas, toxic, oxidizing, n.o.s.*	3515	2.3	5.1		AU 1 CA 7 IR 3 NL 1 US 3	A2		E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Adsorbed gas, toxic, oxidizing, corrosive, n.o.s.*	3518	2.3	5.1 8		AU 1 CA 7 IR 3 NL 1 US 3	A2		E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Aluminium phosphide pesticide	3048	6.1				A128		E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Arsine, adsorbed	3522	2.3	2.1		AU 1 CA 7 IR 3 NL 1 US 3	A2		E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Boron trifluoride, adsorbed	3519	2.3	8		AU 1 CA 7 IR 3 NL 1 US 3	A2		E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Chlorine, adsorbed	3520	2.3	5.1 8		AU 1 CA 7 IR 3 NL 1 US 3	A2		E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Corrosive liquid, water-reactive, n.o.s.	3094	8	4.3	Corrosive & Danger if wet			I II	E0 E2	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	

Appendix A to the Report

A-35

Name	UN No.	Class or division	Subsidiary hazard	Labels	State variations	Special provisions	UN packing group	Excepted quantity	Passenger and cargo aircraft		Cargo aircraft only	
									Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package	Packing instruction	Max. net quantity per package
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
Dimethyl disulphide	2381	3	6.1				II	E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Germane, adsorbed	3523	2.3	2.1		AU 1 CA 7 IR 3 NL 1 US 3	A2		E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Hydrogen selenide, adsorbed	3526	2.3	2.1		AU 1 CA 7 IR 3 NL 1 US 3	A2		E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Lithium batteries installed in cargo transport unit lithium ion batteries or lithium metal batteries	3536	9						E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Oxidizing liquid, corrosive, n.o.s.*	3098	5.1	8	Oxidizer & Corrosive		A3	I II III	E0 E2 E1	FORBIDDEN 550 1 L Y540 0.5 L 551 2.5 L Y541 1 L		FORBIDDEN 554 5 L 555 30 L	
Packagings, discarded, empty, uncleaned	3509	9				A200		E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Phosphorus pentafluoride, adsorbed	3524	2.3	8		AU 1 CA 7 IR 3 NL 1 US 3	A2		E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Phosphine, adsorbed	3525	2.3	2.1		AU 1 CA 7 IR 3 NL 1 US 3	A2		E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Polymerizing substance, liquid, temperature controlled, n.o.s.*	3534	4.1				A209		E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Polymerizing substance, solid, temperature controlled, n.o.s.*	3533	4.1				A209		E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	
Powder, smokeless †	0509	1.4C		Explosive 1.4				E0	FORBIDDEN		114	75 kg
Propellant, solid	0501	1.4C		Explosive 1.4				E0	FORBIDDEN		114	75 kg
Silicon tetrafluoride, adsorbed	3521	2.3	8		AU 1 CA 7 IR 3 NL 1 US 3	A2		E0	FORBIDDEN		FORBIDDEN	

...

Chapter 3

SPECIAL PROVISIONS

...

Table 3-2. Special provisions

<i>TIs</i>	<i>UN</i>
Amendments to manage aviation specific risks	
Paragraphs 1.2.1.5 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.14 of DGP/28-WP/3:	
A1	<p>This article or substance may be transported on passenger aircraft only with the prior approval of the appropriate authority of the State of Origin and the State of the Operator under the written conditions established by those authorities. The conditions must include the quantity limitations and packing requirements and these must comply with S-3;1.2.2 of the Supplement. A copy of the document(s) of approval, showing the quantity limitations and packing requirements, must accompany the consignment. <u>Transport in accordance with this special provision must be noted on the dangerous goods transport document.</u> The article or substance may be carried on cargo aircraft in accordance with columns 12 and 13 of Table 3-1.</p> <p>When States, other than the State of Origin and the State of the Operator, have notified ICAO that they require prior approval of shipments made under this special provision, approval must also be obtained from these States, as appropriate.</p>
A2	<p>This article or substance may be transported on cargo aircraft only with the prior approval of the appropriate authority of the State of Origin and the State of the Operator under the written conditions established by those authorities.</p> <p>When States, other than the State of Origin and the State of the Operator, have notified ICAO that they require prior approval of shipments made under this special provision, approval must also be obtained from the States of transit, overflight and destination, as appropriate.</p> <p>In each case, the conditions must include the quantity limitations and packing requirements and these must comply with S-3;1.2.3 of the Supplement. A copy of the document(s) of approval, showing the quantity limitations and the packing and labelling requirements, must accompany the consignment. <u>Transport in accordance with this special provision must be noted on the dangerous goods transport document.</u></p>
...	
Paragraph 2.2.7 of this report:	

- A4 Liquids having a vapour inhalation toxicity of Packing Group I are forbidden on both passenger and cargo aircraft.
- Liquids having a mist inhalation toxicity of Packing Group I are forbidden on a passenger aircraft. They may be carried on cargo aircraft providing they are packed in accordance with the packing instructions for the Packing Group I substance and the maximum net quantity per package does not exceed 5 L, except where the limit specified in column 13 of Table 3-1 is less than 5 L, in which case the limit specified in column 13 applies. Transport in accordance with this special provision must be noted on the dangerous goods transport document.

TIs UN

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.5 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.6.1 b) of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, Chapter 3.3, SP 225 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

- A19 (225) Fire extinguishers under this entry may include installed actuating cartridges (cartridges, power device of Division 1.4C or 1.4S), without changing the classification of Division 2.2 provided the total quantity of deflagrating (propellant) explosives does not exceed 3.2 grams per extinguishing unit.

Fire extinguishers must be manufactured, tested, approved and labelled according to the provisions applied in the State of Manufacture. Fire extinguishers under this entry include:

Note.— Provisions applied in the State of Manufacture means the provisions applicable in the State of Manufacture or those applicable in the State of use.

- a) portable fire extinguishers for manual handling and operation;

Note.— Fire extinguishers may be considered portable even if some components that are necessary for their proper functioning (e.g. hoses and nozzles) are temporarily detached, as long as the safety of the pressurized extinguishing agent containers is not compromised and the fire extinguishers continue to be identified as a portable fire extinguisher.

- b) fire extinguishers for installation in aircraft;
- c) fire extinguishers mounted on wheels for manual handling;
- d) fire extinguishing equipment or machinery mounted on wheels or wheeled platforms or units transported similar to (small) trailers; and
- e) fire extinguishers composed of a non-rollable pressure drum and equipment, and handled, for example, by fork lift or crane when loaded or unloaded.

Cylinders which contain gases for use in the above-mentioned extinguishers or for use in stationary firefighting installations must meet the requirements in Part 6;5 and all requirements applicable to the relevant dangerous goods when these cylinders are transported separately.

...

Amendments to manage aviation specific risks

Paragraphs 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.7 of DGP/28-WP/3 Report:

- A35 This substance is not subject to these Instructions when:

- mechanically produced, particle size ~~more than~~ of 53 microns ~~or more~~; or
- chemically produced, particle size ~~more than~~ of 840 microns ~~or more~~.

TIs UN

Paragraph 2.2.3 of this report:

A36 ~~The provisions of Special Provision A2 apply to this entry for Packing Group I only and t~~The provisions of
Special Provision A1 apply to this entry for Packing Group II only, ~~as applicable.~~

...

Introduced into 2021-2022 Edition of the Technical Instructions through a corrigendum
Paragraph 3.2.2.5 of DGP/28-WP/2:

A46 (~216) Mixtures of solids which are not subject to these Instructions and flammable liquids may be transported under this entry without first applying the classification criteria of Division 4.1, providing there is no free liquid visible at the time the substance is packaged and, for single packagings, the packaging must pass a leakproofness test at the Packing Group II level. ~~Small inner packagings consisting of s~~Sealed packets or and articles containing less than 10 mL of a Packing Group II or III flammable liquid absorbed into a solid material are not subject to these Instructions provided there is no free liquid in the packet or articles.

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraph 1.2.1.5 b) of this report:

A57 ~~Packagings must be so constructed that explosion is not possible by reason of increased internal pressure.~~Not used.

...

Amendments to manage aviation specific risks

Paragraphs 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.7 of DGP/28-WP/2:

A61 (168) Asbestos which is immersed or fixed in a natural or artificial binder (such as cement, plastics, asphalt, resins or mineral ore) in such a way that no escape of hazardous quantities of respirable asbestos fibres can occur during transport is not subject to these Instructions. Manufactured articles, containing asbestos and not meeting this requirement, are nevertheless not subject to these Instructions, when packed so that no escape of hazardous quantities of respirable asbestos fibres can occur during transport.

The words "not restricted" and the special provision number A61 must be provided on the air waybill when an air waybill is issued.

...

TIs UN

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraph 4.11 of this report:

A88 Pre-production prototypes of lithium batteries or cells, when these prototypes are transported for testing, or low production runs (i.e. annual production runs consisting of not more than 100 lithium batteries or cells) of lithium batteries or cells that have not been tested to the requirements in Part III, subsection 38.3 of the UN *Manual of Tests and Criteria* may be transported aboard cargo aircraft if approved by the appropriate authority of the State of Origin and the State of the Operator and the requirements in Packing Instruction 910 of the Supplement are met.

A copy of the document of approval including the quantity limitations must accompany the consignment. Transport in accordance with this special provision must be noted on the dangerous goods transport document.

Irrespective of the limit specified in column 13 of Table 3-1, the ~~battery cell~~ or battery assembly as prepared for transport may have a mass exceeding 35 kg.

Paragraphs 2.2.1, 4.11 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.15 of DGP/28-WP/3:

A99 Irrespective of the quantity limits for cargo aircraft specified in column 13 of Table 3-1, and in Section I of Packing Instructions 965, 966, 967, 968, 969 and 970, a lithium ~~battery cell~~ or battery assembly (i.e. UN 3090 or UN 3480), including when packed with equipment or contained in equipment (i.e. UN 3091 or UN 3481) that meets the other requirements of Section I of the applicable packing instruction, may have a mass exceeding 35 kg, if approved by the appropriate authority of the State of Origin and the State of the Operator and the requirements in Packing Instruction 974 of the Supplement are met.

A copy of the document of approval must accompany the consignment. Transport in accordance with this special provision must be noted on the dangerous goods transport document.

...

Paragraphs 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.3 of DGP/28-WP/3:

A117 Wastes containing Category A infectious substances must be assigned to UN 2814, ~~or~~ UN 2900 or UN 3549, as applicable. Wastes transported under UN 3291 are wastes containing infectious substances in Category B or wastes that are reasonably believed to have a low probability of containing infectious substances. Decontaminated wastes which previously contained infectious substances may be considered as not subject to these Instructions unless the criteria of another class or division are met.

...

Paragraphs 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.6 of DGP/28-WP/3:

A132 (204) Articles containing smoke-producing substance(s) corrosive according to the criteria for Class 8 must be labelled with a "Corrosive" subsidiary hazard label. Articles containing smoke-producing substance(s) toxic by inhalation according to the criteria for Division 6.1 must be labelled with a "TOXIC" subsidiary hazard label (Figure 5-18), ~~except that those manufactured before 31 December 2016 may be offered for transport until 31 December 2018 without a "TOXIC" subsidiary label.~~

...

TIs UN

Paragraph 2.2.9 of this report:

A176 (356) Metal hydride storage systems installed in vehicles, vessels, machinery, engines or aircraft or in completed components or intended to be installed in vehicles, vessels, machinery, engines or aircraft must be approved by the appropriate national authority before acceptance for transport. Transport in accordance with this special provision must be noted on the dangerous goods transport document. The dangerous goods transport document must include an indication that the package was approved by the appropriate national authority or a copy of the appropriate national authority approval must accompany each consignment.

...

Paragraphs 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.11 of DGP/28-WP/2:

A180 Non-infectious specimens, such as specimens of mammals, birds, amphibians, reptiles, fish, insects and other invertebrates containing small quantities of UN 1170, UN 1198, UN 1987 or UN 1219 are not subject to these Instructions provided the following packing and marking requirements are met:

a) specimens are:

- 1) wrapped in paper towel and/or cheesecloth moistened with alcohol ~~or~~ an alcohol solution or a formaldehyde solution and then placed in a plastic bag that is heat-sealed. Any free liquid in the bag must not exceed 30 mL; or
- 2) placed in vials or other rigid containers with no more than 30 mL of alcohol ~~or~~ an alcohol solution or a formaldehyde solution;

b) the prepared specimens are then placed in a plastic bag that is then heat-sealed;

c) the bagged specimens are then placed inside ~~a~~ another plastic bag with absorbent material then heat-sealed;

d) the finished bag is then placed in a strong outer packaging with suitable cushioning material;

e) the total quantity of flammable liquid per outer packaging must not exceed 1 L; and

f) the completed package is marked "scientific research specimens, not restricted Special Provision A180 applies".

The words "not restricted" and the special provision number A180 must be provided on the air waybill when an air waybill is issued.

...

Paragraph 4.7 of this report:

A206 (384) ~~The hazard label must conform to the model shown in Figure 5-26.~~ Not used.

...

TIs UN

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraph 4.1 of this report:

A213 (387) Lithium batteries in conformity with 2.9.3 f) containing both primary lithium metal cells and rechargeable lithium ion cells must be assigned to UN Nos. 3090 or 3091 as appropriate. When such batteries are transported in accordance with Section IB ~~or II~~ of Packing Instruction 968 or in accordance with Section II of Packing Instruction 969 or 970, the total lithium content of all lithium metal cells contained in the battery must not exceed 1.5 g, and the total capacity of all lithium ion cells contained in the battery must not exceed 10 Wh.

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.5 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.6 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, Chapter 3.3, SP 397 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

A221 (397) Mixtures of nitrogen and oxygen containing not less than 19.5 per cent and not more than 23.5 per cent oxygen by volume may be transported under this entry when no other oxidizing gases are present. A Division 5.1 subsidiary hazard label is not required for any concentrations within this limit.

...

UN Model Regulations, Chapter 3.3, SP 398 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

A222 (398) This entry applies to mixtures of butylenes, 1-butylene, cis-2-butylene and trans-2-butylene. For isobutylene, see UN 1055.

Amendments to manage aviation specific risks

Paragraphs 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.4 of DGP/28-WP/3:

A223 (≈296) Life-saving appliances packed in strong rigid outer packagings with a total maximum gross mass not exceeding 40 kg, containing no dangerous goods other than Division 2.2 compressed or liquefied gases (with no subsidiary hazard) contained in receptacles with a capacity not exceeding 120 mL and installed solely for the purpose of the activation of the appliance, are not subject to these Instructions when carried as cargo.

TIs UN

Amendments to facilitate transport

Paragraphs 2.2.1, 8.1 and 3.10 of this report and 3.2.2.22 of DGP/28-WP/3:

A224

UN 3548 — **Articles containing miscellaneous dangerous goods, n.o.s.** may be transported on passenger and cargo aircraft irrespective of the indication of “forbidden” in columns 10 to 13 of Table 3-1, provided:

- a) with the exception of lithium cells or batteries that comply with Section II of Packing Instruction 967, as applicable, or Section II of Packing Instruction 970, as applicable, the only dangerous goods contained in the article is an environmentally hazardous substance;
- b) the articles are packed in accordance with Packing Instruction 975; and
- c) reference to Special Provision A224 is made on the dangerous goods transport document as required by Part 5.4.1.5.8

All other provisions of these Instructions apply. If the above conditions are met, the requirements of Special Provision A2 do not apply.

...

Paragraphs 2.2.1, 8.1 and 3.10 of this report and 3.2.2.22 of DGP/28-WP/3:

A225

UN 3538 — **Articles containing non-flammable, non-toxic gas, n.o.s.** may be transported on passenger and cargo aircraft irrespective of the indication of “forbidden” in columns 10 to 13 of Table 3-1, provided:

- a) with the exception of lithium cells or batteries that comply with Section II of Packing Instruction 967, as applicable, or Section II of Packing Instruction 970, as applicable, the only dangerous goods contained in the article is a Division 2.2 gas without a subsidiary hazard, but excluding refrigerated liquefied gases and gases forbidden for transport on passenger aircraft;
- b) the articles are packed in accordance with Packing Instruction 222; and
- c) reference to Special Provision A225 is made on the dangerous goods transport document as required by Part 5.4.1.5.8.

All other provisions of these Instructions apply. If the above conditions are met, the requirements of Special Provision A2 do not apply.

...

Chapter 4

DANGEROUS GOODS IN LIMITED QUANTITIES

Amendments to facilitate transport

Paragraph 3.1 of this report:

4.1 APPLICABILITY

4.1.1 Limited quantities of dangerous goods may only be carried in accordance with the limitations and provisions of this chapter and must meet all the applicable requirements of the Technical Instructions unless otherwise provided for below.

4.1.2 Only dangerous goods which are permitted on passenger aircraft and which meet the criteria of the following classes, divisions and packing groups (if appropriate) may be carried under these provisions for dangerous goods in limited quantities:

...

Division 4.1

Packing Groups II and III but excluding UN 2555, UN 2556, UN 2557, UN 2907, polymerizing substances and all self-reactive substances ~~irrespective of packing group~~

...

Part 4

PACKING INSTRUCTIONS

...

Chapter 1

GENERAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

*Parts of this Chapter are affected by State Variations JP 24;
see Table A-1*

1.1 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS APPLICABLE TO ALL CLASSES EXCEPT CLASS 7

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.6 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.7.1 a) of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 6.1.1.2 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

1.1.2 New, remanufactured, reused or reconditioned packagings which are listed in Tables 6-2 and 6-3, must meet the applicable requirements of Part 6 of these Instructions. Such packagings must be manufactured and tested under a quality assurance programme which satisfies the appropriate national authority, in order to ensure that such packagings meet those applicable requirements. Packagings may conform to one or more than one successfully tested design type and may bear more than one mark required by 6;2. Where packagings are required to be tested in accordance with 6;4, their subsequent use must be as specified in the applicable test report and conform in all respects with the design type which was tested, including the method of packing and size and type of any inner packagings, except as provided for in 1.1.10.1 or 6;4.1.7. Before being filled and handed over for transport, every packaging must be inspected to ensure that it is free from corrosion, contamination or other damage. Any packaging which shows signs of reduced strength as compared with the approved design type must no longer be used or must be so reconditioned that it is able to withstand the design type tests.

~~— Note. — ISO 16106:2006 Packaging — Transport packages for dangerous goods — Dangerous goods packagings, intermediate bulk containers (IBCs) and large packagings — Guidelines for the application of ISO 9001 provides acceptable guidance on procedures which may be followed.~~

...

1.1.20 For plastic drums and jerricans, rigid plastic IBCs and composite IBCs with plastic inner receptacles, unless otherwise approved by the appropriate national authority, the period of use permitted for the transport of dangerous goods must be not more than five years from the date of manufacture of the receptacles, except where a shorter period of use is prescribed because of the nature of the substance to be transported.

Paragraphs 1.2.1.6 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.7 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.1.15 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Note. — For composite IBCs the period of use refers to the date of manufacture of the inner receptacle.

1.1.21 Where ice is used as a coolant it must not affect the integrity of the packaging.

...

Chapter 2

GENERAL

2.1 Each of the succeeding Chapters of this Part is devoted to the specific packing instructions applicable to an individual class of dangerous goods. In some cases the Chapters start with general requirements which apply to all goods in that class.

2.2 The Dangerous Goods List (Table 3-1) shows for each article or substance, in columns 10 and 12, the number of the packing instruction that must be used.

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.6 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.7 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.3.3 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

2.3 Each instruction shows, where applicable, the acceptable single and combination packagings. For combination packagings, tables show the acceptable outer packagings and associated inner packagings with the maximum net quantity permitted in each inner packaging. Where provisions for particular articles or substances apply, a table shows the inner packagings with associated quantity limitations, the permitted quantity per package and, where applicable, an indication if single packagings are permitted. Where appropriate, additional packing requirements are also indicated at the end of a packing instruction. These additional packing requirements may impose a higher standard of packaging than would normally apply to the packing group, or may require specific packaging considerations. Where packagings which need not meet the requirements of 1.1.2 (e.g. crates, pallets, etc.) are authorized in a packing instruction or the special provisions named in the dangerous goods list, these packages are not subject to the mass or volume limits generally applicable to packagings conforming to the requirements of Part 6, unless otherwise indicated in the relevant packing instruction or special provision.

...

Chapter 3

CLASS 1 — EXPLOSIVES

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.6 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.7 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.4.1, P137 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Packing Instruction 137

Inner packagings

Bags
 plastics
Boxes
 fibreboard
 wood
Tubes
 fibreboard
 metal
 plastics
Dividing partitions in the
outer packagings

Intermediate packagings

Not necessary

Outer packagings

Boxes
 aluminium (4B)
 fibreboard (4G)
 natural wood, ordinary (4C1)
 natural wood, with siftproof walls (4C2)
 other metal (4N)
 plastics, solid (4H2)
 plywood (4D)
 reconstituted wood (4F)
 steel (4A)

PARTICULAR PACKING REQUIREMENTS OR EXCEPTIONS:

- For UN 0059, 0439, 0440 and 0441, when the shaped charges are packed singly, the conical cavity must face downwards and the package must be marked in accordance with 4.1.1.13 ~~as illustrated in Figure 5-29~~. When the shaped charges are packed in pairs, the conical cavities must face inwards to minimize the jetting effect in the event of accidental initiation.

...

Chapter 4

CLASS 2 — GASES

...

4.1 SPECIAL PACKING PROVISIONS FOR DANGEROUS GOODS OF CLASS 2

4.1.1 General requirements

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.6 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.7 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.6.1.6 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

4.1.1.6 Cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles must be filled according to the working pressures, filling ratios and provisions specified in the appropriate packing instruction for the specific substance and taking into account the lowest pressure rating of any component. Service equipment having a pressure rating lower than other components must nevertheless comply with 6.5.1.3.1. Reactive gases and gas mixtures must be filled to a pressure such that if complete decomposition of the gas occurs, the working pressure of the cylinder must not be exceeded.

...

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.6.1.8 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

4.1.1.8 Valves must be designed and constructed in such a way that they are inherently able to withstand damage without release of the contents or must be protected from damage, which could cause inadvertent release of the contents of the cylinder and closed cryogenic receptacle, by one of the following methods:

- a) Valves are placed inside the neck of the cylinder and closed cryogenic receptacle and protected by a threaded plug or cap;
- b) Valves are protected by caps. Caps must possess vent holes of a sufficient cross-sectional area to evacuate the gas if leakage occurs at the valves;
- c) Valves are protected by shrouds or guards;
- d) Not used; or
- e) Cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles are transported in an outer packaging. The packaging as prepared for transport must be capable of meeting the drop test specified in 6.4.3 at the Packing Group I performance level.

For cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles with valves as described in b) and c), the requirements of ISO 11117:1998, ISO 11117:2008 + Cor 1:2009 or ISO 11117:2019 must be met; for valves with inherent protection, the requirements of Annex A of ISO 10297:2006, Annex A of ISO 10297:2014 or Annex A of ISO 10297 + A1:2017 must be met. For cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles with self-closing valves with inherent protection, the requirements of Annex A of ISO 17879:2017 must be met. For metal hydride storage systems, the valve protection requirements specified in ISO 16111:2008 or ISO 16111:2018 must be met.

...

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.6.1.10 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

4.1.1.10 Refillable cylinders, other than closed cryogenic receptacles, must be periodically inspected according to the provisions of 6;5.1.6 and Packing Instruction 200-~~or~~, 214, 218 or 219. Cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles must not be filled after they become due for periodic inspection but may be transported after the expiry of the time limit.

...

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.4.1, P200(5) (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Packing Instruction 200

...

6) "Special packing provisions":

Material compatibility

- a) Aluminium alloy cylinders are forbidden.
- b) Copper valves are forbidden.
- c) Metal parts in contact with the contents must not contain more than 65 per cent copper.
- d) When steel cylinders or composite cylinders with steel liners are used, only those bearing the "H" mark in accordance with 6;5.2.7.4 p) are permitted.

...

...

Paragraph 1.2.1.6 of this report:

Packing Instruction 203

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 1950 and 2037 only

The general packing requirements of 4;1 must be met.

For the purposes of this packing instruction, a receptacle is considered to be an inner packaging.

Note.— “Receptacle” has the same meaning as set out in 1;3. Any reference in this packing instruction to receptacle will include “aerosols” of UN 1950 and “receptacles, small, containing gas” and “gas cartridges” of UN 2037.

~~Metal aerosols (IP.7, IP.7A, IP.7B) and non-refillable receptacles containing gas (gas cartridges)~~ Aerosols and receptacles, small containing gas (gas cartridges) must meet the requirements of Part 6:5.4.

The capacity of metal receptacles must not exceed 1 000 mL; plastics receptacles must not exceed 500 mL.

~~Non-refillable metal aerosols and non-refillable receptacles containing gas (gas cartridges) must not exceed 1 000 mL capacity.~~

The following conditions must be met:

- ~~a) the pressure in the receptacle must not exceed 1 500 kPa at 55°C and each receptacle must be capable of withstanding without bursting a pressure of at least 1.5 times the equilibrium pressure of the contents at 55°C;~~
- ~~b) if the pressure in the receptacle exceeds 970 kPa at 55°C but does not exceed 1 105 kPa at 55°C, an IP.7, IP.7A or IP.7B metal receptacle must be used;~~
- ~~c) if the pressure in the receptacle exceeds 1 105 kPa at 55°C but does not exceed 1 245 kPa at 55°C, an IP.7A or IP.7B metal receptacle must be used;~~
- ~~d) if the pressure in the receptacle exceeds 1 245 kPa at 55°C, an IP.7B metal receptacle must be used;~~
- ~~e) IP.7B metal receptacles having a minimum burst pressure of 1 800 kPa may be equipped with an inner capsule charged with a non-flammable, non-toxic compressed gas to provide the propellant function. In this case, the pressures indicated in a), b), c) or d) do not apply to the pressure within the capsule for an aerosol. The quantity of gas contained in the capsule must be so limited such that the minimum burst pressure of the receptacle would not be exceeded if the entire gas content of the capsule were released into the outer metal receptacle;~~
- ~~f) the liquid content must not completely fill the closed receptacle at 55°C; and~~
- ~~g) each receptacle exceeding 120 mL capacity must have been heated until the pressure in the receptacle is equivalent to the equilibrium pressure of the contents at 55°C, without evidence of leakage, distortion or other defect. For aerosols, non-flammable (tear gas devices), this heat test applies to all aerosols regardless of their capacity.~~

Plastic aerosols (IP.7C)

~~Non-refillable plastic aerosols must not exceed 120 mL capacity, except when the propellant is a non-flammable, non-toxic gas and the contents are not dangerous goods in accordance with the provisions of these Instructions, in which case the quantity must not exceed 500 mL.~~

The following conditions must be met:

- ~~a) the contents must not completely fill the closed receptacle at 55°C;~~
- ~~b) the pressure in the receptacle may not exceed 970 kPa at 55°C; and~~
- ~~c) each receptacle must be leak tested in accordance with the provisions of 6;3.2.8.1.6.~~

Non-flammable aerosols containing medical preparations or biological products

~~Aerosols, non-flammable, containing only a non-toxic substance or substances and biological products or a medical preparation which will be deteriorated by a heat test, are acceptable in inner non-refillable receptacles not exceeding 575 mL capacity each, providing all the following conditions are met:~~

- ~~a) the pressure in the aerosol must not exceed 970 kPa at 55°C;~~
- ~~b) the liquid contents must not completely fill the closed receptacle at 55°C;~~
- ~~c) one aerosol out of each lot of 500 or less must be heated until the pressure in the aerosol is equivalent to the equilibrium pressure of the contents at 55°C, without evidence of leakage, distortion or other defect; and~~
- ~~d) the valves must be protected by a cap or other suitable means during transport.~~

<i>UN number and name</i>	<i>Net quantity per package</i>	
	<i>Passenger</i>	<i>Cargo</i>
UN 1950 Aerosols, flammable	75 kg	150 kg
UN 1950 Aerosols, flammable (engine starting fluid)	Forbidden	150 kg
UN 1950 Aerosols, non-flammable	75 kg	150 kg
UN 1950 Aerosols, non-flammable (tear gas devices)	Forbidden	50 kg
UN 2037 Gas cartridges	1 kg	15 kg
UN 2037 Receptacles, small, containing gas	1 kg	15 kg

ADDITIONAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

- Packagings must meet Packing Group II performance requirements.
- Release valves on aerosols must be protected by a cap or other suitable means to prevent inadvertent release of the contents during normal conditions of air transport.
- Receptacles must be packed so as to prevent excessive movement and inadvertent discharge during normal conditions of transport.

UN 1950 Aerosols, non-flammable (tear gas devices) — Cargo Aircraft Only

- ~~— Only metal receptacles, IP.7, IP.7A, IP.7B are permitted. The aerosols must be individually placed into spiral wound tubes fitted with metal ends or a double faced fibreboard box with suitable padding before being packed into the outer packaging.~~

OUTER PACKAGINGS (see 6;3.1)*Boxes*

Aluminium (4B)
 Fibreboard (4G)
 Natural wood (4C1, 4C2)
 Other metal (4N)
 Plastics (4H1, 4H2)
 Plywood (4D)
 Reconstituted wood (4F)
 Steel (4A)

Drums

Aluminium (1B2)
 Fibre (1G)
 Other metal (1N2)
 Plastics (1H2)
 Plywood (1D)
 Steel (1A2)

Paragraph 1.2.1.6 of this report:

Packing Instruction Y203

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 1950 and 2037 only

The requirements of 3;4 must be met.

For the purposes of this packing instruction, a receptacle is considered to be an inner packaging.

Note.— “Receptacle” has the same meaning as set out in 1;3. Any reference in this packing instruction to receptacle will include “aerosols” of UN 1950 and “receptacles, small, containing gas” and “gas cartridges” of UN 2037.

~~Metal aerosols (IP.7, IP.7A, IP.7B) and non-refillable receptacles containing gas (gas cartridges)~~ Aerosols and receptacles, small containing gas (gas cartridges) must meet the requirements of Part 6;5.4.

The capacity of metal receptacles must not exceed 1 000 mL; plastics receptacles must not exceed 500 mL.

Non-refillable ~~metal~~ aerosols and non-refillable receptacles containing gas (gas cartridges) containing toxic substances must not exceed 120 mL capacity.

All other ~~non-refillable metal aerosols and non-refillable receptacles containing gas (gas cartridges)~~ must not exceed 1 000 mL capacity.

The following conditions must be met:

- ~~— a) the pressure in the receptacle must not exceed 1 500 kPa at 55°C and each receptacle must be capable of withstanding without bursting a pressure of at least 1.5 times the equilibrium pressure of the contents at 55°C;~~
- ~~— b) if the pressure in the receptacle exceeds 970 kPa at 55°C but does not exceed 1 105 kPa at 55°C, an IP.7, IP.7A or IP.7B metal receptacle must be used;~~
- ~~— c) if the pressure in the receptacle exceeds 1 105 kPa at 55°C, an IP.7A or IP.7B metal receptacle must be used;~~
- ~~— d) if the pressure in the receptacle exceeds 1 245 kPa at 55°C, an IP.7B metal receptacle must be used;~~
- ~~— e) IP.7B metal receptacles having a minimum burst pressure of 1 800 kPa may be equipped with an inner capsule charged with a non-flammable, non-toxic compressed gas to provide the propellant function. In this case, the pressures indicated in a), b), c) or d) do not apply to the pressure within the capsule for an aerosol. The quantity of gas contained in the capsule must be so limited such that the minimum burst pressure of the receptacle would not be exceeded if the entire gas content of the capsule were released into the outer metal receptacle;~~
- ~~— f) the liquid content must not completely fill the closed receptacle at 55°C;~~
- ~~— g) each receptacle exceeding 120 mL capacity must have been heated until the pressure in the receptacle is equivalent to the equilibrium pressure of the contents at 55°C, without evidence of leakage, distortion or other defect.~~

~~Plastic aerosols (IP.7C)~~

Non-refillable plastic aerosols must not exceed 120 mL capacity, except when the propellant is a non-flammable, non-toxic gas and the contents are not dangerous goods in accordance with the provisions of these Instructions, in which case the quantity must not exceed 500 mL.

The following conditions must be met:

- ~~— a) the contents must not completely fill the closed receptacle at 55°C;~~
- ~~— b) the pressure in the receptacle may not exceed 970 kPa at 55°C; and~~
- ~~— c) each receptacle must be leak tested in accordance with the provisions of 6;3.2.8.1.6.~~

~~Non-flammable aerosols containing medical preparations or biological products~~

~~Aerosols, non-flammable, containing only a non-toxic substance or substances and biological products or a medical preparation which will be deteriorated by a heat test, are acceptable in inner non-refillable receptacles not exceeding 575 mL capacity each, providing all the following conditions are met:~~

- ~~a) the pressure in the aerosol must not exceed 970 kPa at 55°C;~~
- ~~b) the liquid contents must not completely fill the closed receptacle at 55°C;~~
- ~~c) one aerosol out of each lot of 500 or less must be heated until the pressure in the aerosol is equivalent to the equilibrium pressure of the contents at 55°C, without evidence of leakage, distortion or other defect; and~~
- ~~d) the valves must be protected by a cap or other suitable means during transport.~~

<i>UN number and name</i>	<i>Total gross mass per package</i>
UN 1950 Aerosols, flammable	30 kg G
UN 1950 Aerosols, flammable (engine starting fluid)	30 kg G
UN 1950 Aerosols, non-flammable	30 kg G
UN 1950 Aerosols, non-flammable (tear gas devices)	30 kg G
UN 2037 Gas cartridges	1 kg
UN 2037 Receptacles, small, containing gas	1 kg

ADDITIONAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

- Release valves on aerosols must be protected by a cap or other suitable means to prevent inadvertent release of the contents during normal conditions of air transport.
- Receptacles must be packed so as to prevent excessive movement and inadvertent discharge during normal conditions of transport.

OUTER PACKAGINGS (see 6;3.1)*Boxes*

Aluminium
Fibreboard
Natural wood
Other metal
Plastics
Plywood
Reconstituted wood
Steel

Drums

Aluminium
Fibre
Other metal
Plastics
Plywood
Steel

Paragraphs 1.2.1.6 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.7.1 c) of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.4.1, P205 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Packing Instruction 214

Cargo aircraft only for UN 3468 only

This Instruction applies to storage systems containing hydrogen absorbed in a metal hydride (UN 3468) individually or when contained in equipment and apparatus when transported on cargo aircraft.

- 1) For metal hydride storage systems, the general packing requirements of 4;4.1 must be met.
- 2) Only cylinders not exceeding 150 L in water capacity and having a maximum developed pressure not exceeding 25 MPa are covered by this packing instruction.
- 3) Metal hydride storage systems meeting the applicable requirements of 6;5 for the construction and testing of cylinders containing gas may be used for the transport of hydrogen only.
- 4) When steel cylinders or composite cylinders with steel liners are used, only those bearing the "H" mark, in accordance with 6;5.2.9.2 j) are permitted.
- 5) Metal hydride storage systems must meet the service conditions, design criteria, rated capacity, type tests, batch tests, routine tests, test pressure, rated charging pressure and provisions for pressure relief devices for transportable metal hydride storage systems specified in ISO 16111:2008 or ISO 16111:2018, and their conformity and approval must be assessed in accordance with 6;5.2.5.
- 6) Metal hydride storage systems must be filled with hydrogen at a pressure not exceeding the rated charging pressure shown in the permanent mark on the system as specified in ISO 16111:2008 or ISO 16111:2018.
- 7) The periodic test requirements for a metal hydride storage system must be in accordance with ISO 16111:2008 or ISO 16111:2018 and carried out in accordance with 6;5.2.6, and the interval between periodic inspections must not exceed five years. See 6;5.2.4.2 to determine which standard is applicable at the time of periodic inspection and test.
- 8) Storage systems with a water capacity of less than 1 L must be packaged in rigid outer packagings constructed of suitable material of adequate strength and design in relation to the packaging capacity and its intended use. They must be adequately secured or cushioned so as to prevent damage during normal conditions of transport.
- 9) Maximum net quantity per package for cargo aircraft is 100 kg of metal hydride storage systems, including when such storage systems are packed with equipment or contained in equipment.

...

Paragraphs 1.2.1.6 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.7 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.4.1, P208 (1)(a) and (11) (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Packing Instruction 219

For cylinders, the general packing requirements of 4;1.1 and 4;4.1.1 must be met.

This Instruction applies to Class 2 adsorbed gases.

- 1) The following packagings are permitted provided the general packing requirements of 4.1.1 are met:
 - a) Cylinders constructed as specified in 6;5.2 and in accordance with ISO 11513:2011 ~~or~~ [ISO 11513:2019](#), ISO 9809-1:2010 [or ISO 9809-1:2019](#); and
 - b) Cylinders constructed before 1 January 2016 in accordance with 6;5.3 and a specification approved by the appropriate national authorities of the countries of transport and use.
- 2) The pressure of each filled cylinder must be less than 101.3 kPa at 20°C and less than 300 kPa at 50°C.
- 3) The minimum test pressure of the cylinder is 21 bar.
- 4) The minimum burst pressure of the cylinder is 94.5 bar.
- 5) The internal pressure at 65°C of the filled cylinder must not exceed the test pressure of the cylinder.
- 6) The adsorbent material must be compatible with the cylinder and must not form harmful or dangerous compounds with the gas to be adsorbed. The gas in combination with the adsorbent material must not affect or weaken the cylinder or cause a dangerous reaction (e.g. a catalyzing reaction).
- 7) The quality of the adsorbent material must be verified at the time of each fill to assure the pressure and chemical stability requirements of this packing instruction are met each time an adsorbed gas package is offered for transport.
- 8) The adsorbent material must not meet the criteria of any of the classes or divisions in these Instructions.
- 9) The filling procedure must be in accordance with Annex A of ISO 11513:2011 [\(applicable until 31 December 2024\) or Annex A of ISO 11513:2019](#).
- 10) The maximum period for periodic inspections is five years.
- 11) The construction materials of the cylinders and their accessories must be compatible with the contents and must not react to form harmful or dangerous compounds therewith.

Paragraphs 1.2.1.6 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.7.1 d) of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.4.1, P005 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Packing Instruction 220

Cargo aircraft only for UN 3529 only

(See Packing Instruction 378 for flammable liquid-powered engines or machinery, Packing Instruction 950 for flammable liquid-powered vehicles, Packing Instruction 951 for flammable gas-powered vehicles, Packing Instruction 952 for battery-powered equipment and vehicles or Packing Instruction 972 for engines or machinery containing only environmentally hazardous fuels)

General requirements

Part 4, Chapter 1 requirements must be met, including:

Compatibility requirements

- Substances must be compatible with their packagings as required by 4.1.1.3.

<i>UN number and proper shipping name</i>		<i>Quantity — passenger</i>	<i>Quantity — cargo</i>
UN 3529	Engine, internal combustion, flammable gas powered or Machinery, internal combustion, flammable gas powered or Engine, fuel cell, flammable gas powered or Machinery, fuel cell, flammable gas powered	Forbidden	No limit

ADDITIONAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

General

- 1) The engine or machinery, including the means of containment containing dangerous goods, must be in compliance with the construction requirements specified by the appropriate national authority;
- 2) The engines or machinery must be oriented to prevent inadvertent leakage of dangerous goods and secured by means capable of restraining the engines or machinery to prevent any movement during transport which would change the orientation or cause them to be damaged.

ADDITIONAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

If the engine or machinery is constructed and designed so that the means of containment containing the dangerous goods affords adequate protection, an outer packaging is not required. Dangerous goods in engines or machinery must otherwise be packed in outer packagings constructed of suitable material, and of adequate strength and design in relation to the packaging capacity and its intended use, and meeting the applicable requirements of 4.1.1.1, or they must be fixed in such a way that they will not become loose during normal conditions of transport, e.g. in cradles or crates or other handling devices.

Flammable gas vessels

- 1) for flammable gas-powered machines or equipment, pressurized vessels containing the flammable gas must be completely emptied of flammable gas. Lines from vessels to gas regulators, and gas regulators themselves, must also be drained of all trace of flammable gas. To ensure that these conditions are met, gas shut-off valves must be left open and connections of lines to gas regulators must be left disconnected upon delivery of the engine or machinery to the operator. Shut-off valves must be closed and lines reconnected at gas regulators before loading aboard the aircraft;
- or alternatively,
- 2) flammable gas-powered machines or equipment that have pressure receptacles (fuel tanks) equipped with electrically operated valves that close automatically in case the power is disconnected, or with manual shut-off valves, may be transported under the following conditions:
 - i) the tank shut-off valves must be in the closed position and in the case of electrically operated valves, power to those valves must be disconnected;

- ii) after closing the tank shut-off valves, the equipment or machinery must be operated until it stops from lack of fuel before being loaded aboard the aircraft;
- iii) in no part of the closed system must the remaining pressure of compressed gases exceed 5 per cent of the maximum allowable working pressure of the pressure receptacle (fuel tank) system, or more than 2 000 kPa (20 bar), whichever is the lower.

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraphs 4.8 and 4.12 of this report:

Batteries

All batteries must be installed and securely fastened in the battery holder of the machine or equipment and must be protected in such a manner so as to prevent damage and short circuits. In addition:

- 1) ~~if~~ spillable batteries are installed, and it is possible for the machine or equipment to be handled in such a way that batteries would not remain in their intended orientation, they must be removed and packed according to Packing Instruction 492 or 870 as applicable;
- 2) ~~if~~ lithium batteries are installed:
 - i) lithium batteries identified as being damaged or defective in accordance with Special Provision A154 are forbidden for transport; and
 - ii) they lithium batteries must meet the provisions of Part 2;9.3, unless otherwise approved by the appropriate authority of the State of Origin, must be securely fastened in the machinery or equipment and must be protected in such a manner so as to prevent damage and short circuits; and, except that pre-production prototypes of lithium batteries or cells, when these prototypes are transported for testing, or low production runs of lithium batteries or cells that have not been tested to the requirements in Part III, subsection 38.3 of the UN Manual of Tests and Criteria may be transported aboard cargo aircraft if approved by the appropriate authority of the State of Origin and the State of the Operator. A copy of the document of approval must accompany the consignment.
- 3) ~~if~~ sodium batteries are installed they must conform to the requirements of Special Provision A94.

Other operational equipment

- 1) Dangerous goods required for the operation or safety of the machine or equipment, such as fire extinguishers, tire inflation canisters or safety devices, must be securely mounted in the machine or equipment.

Internal combustion or fuel cell engine shipped separately (not installed)

- 1) When internal combustion engines or fuel cell engines are being shipped separately, all fuel, coolant or hydraulic systems remaining in or on the engine must be drained as far as practicable and all disconnected fluid pipes must be sealed with leakproof caps, which are positively retained.
- 2) This requirement also applies to machines or equipment containing internal combustion engines or fuel cell engines which are being shipped in a dismantled state such that fuel lines have been disconnected.

Amendments to facilitate transport

Paragraphs 2.2.1, 8.1 and 3.10 of this report and 3.2.2.22 of DGP/28-WP/3:

Packing Instruction 222

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 3538 only

Introduction

This packing instruction is only permitted for articles which do not have an existing proper shipping name and which contain only gases of Division 2.2 without a subsidiary hazard, but excluding refrigerated liquefied gases and gases forbidden for transport on passenger aircraft, where the quantity of the Division 2.2 gas exceeds the quantity limits for UN 3363 as prescribed in Packing instruction 962. In addition to the Division 2.2 gas, the article may also contain lithium cells or batteries that comply with Section II of Packing Instruction 967, as applicable, or Section II of Packing Instruction 970, as applicable.

General requirements

Part 4;1.1.1, 4;1.1.3, 4;1.1.12 and 4;2 requirements must be met.

<u>UN number and proper shipping name</u>	<u>Maximum net quantity of gas — passenger</u>	<u>Maximum net quantity of gas — cargo</u>
UN 3538 <u>Articles containing non-flammable, non-toxic gas, n.o.s.*</u>	75 kg	150 kg

ADDITIONAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

- Packagings must meet the Packing Group II performance requirements.
- Receptacles within articles containing gases must meet the requirements of 4;4.1.1 and 6;5 as appropriate or meet a national or regionally recognized pressure receptacle standard such as the European Pressure Equipment Directive (2014/68/EU) or ASME Section VII, Div.1 R that is capable of providing an equivalent level of protection as Packing Instructions 200 or 219.
- Articles must be packed to prevent movement and inadvertent operation during normal conditions of transport.

ROBUST ARTICLES

Robust articles may alternatively be transported in strong outer packagings constructed of suitable material and of adequate strength and design in relation to the packaging capacity and its intended use. The packagings must achieve a level of protection that is at least equivalent to that provided by 6;1. Articles may be transported unpackaged or on pallets when the dangerous goods are afforded equivalent protection by the article in which they are contained. In such cases the additional requirement related to Packing Group II performance requirements and the requirement for UN specification packagings do not apply.

OUTER PACKAGINGS (see 6;3.1)

Boxes

Aluminium (4B)
Fibreboard (4G)
Natural wood (4C1, 4C2)
Other metal (4N)
Plastics (4H1, 4H2)
Plywood (4D)
Reconstituted wood (4F)
Steel (4A)

Drums

Aluminium (1B2)
Fibre (1G)
Other metal (1N2)
Plastics (1H2)
Plywood (1D)
Steel (1A2)

Jerricans

Aluminium (3B2)
Plastics (3H2)
Steel (3A2)

Chapter 5

CLASS 3 — FLAMMABLE LIQUIDS

...

Amendments to facilitate transport

Paragraph 3.7 of this report:

Packing Instruction 370

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 3269 (Packing Group II or III) only

...

COMBINATION PACKAGINGS						SINGLE PACKAGINGS
<i>Packing conditions</i>	<i>Inner packaging (see 6;3.2)</i>	<i>Inner packaging quantity (per receptacle) — for liquid base liquid material</i>	<i>Inner packaging quantity (per receptacle) — for liquid activator</i>	<i>Inner packaging quantity (per receptacle) — for solid activator</i>	<i>Total quantity per package</i>	

...

...

Packing Instruction Y370

Limited quantities

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 3269 (Packing Group II or III) only

...

COMBINATION PACKAGINGS						SINGLE PACKAGINGS
<i>Packing conditions</i>	<i>Inner packaging (see 6;3.2)</i>	<i>Inner packaging quantity (per receptacle) — for liquid base liquid material</i>	<i>Inner packaging quantity (per receptacle) — for liquid activator</i>	<i>Inner packaging quantity (per receptacle) — for solid activator</i>	<i>Total quantity per package</i>	

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.6 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.7.1 d) of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.4.1, P005 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Packing Instruction 378

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 3528 only
(See Packing Instruction 220 for flammable gas-powered engines or machinery, Packing Instruction 950 for flammable liquid-powered vehicles, Packing Instruction 951 for flammable gas-powered vehicles, Packing Instruction 952 for battery-powered equipment and vehicles or Packing Instruction 972 for engines or machinery containing only environmentally hazardous fuels)

General requirements

Part 4, Chapter 1 requirements must be met, including:

Compatibility requirements

- Substances must be compatible with their packagings as required by 4.1.1.3.

<i>UN number and proper shipping name</i>		<i>Quantity — passenger</i>	<i>Quantity — cargo</i>
UN 3528	Engine, internal combustion, flammable liquid powered or Machinery, internal combustion, flammable liquid powered or Engine, fuel cell, flammable liquid powered or Machinery, fuel cell, flammable liquid powered	No limit	No limit

ADDITIONAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

General

- 1) The engine or machinery, including the means of containment containing dangerous goods, must be in compliance with the construction requirements specified by the appropriate national authority;
- 2) Any valves or openings (e.g. venting devices) must be closed during transport;
- 3) The engines or machinery must be oriented to prevent inadvertent leakage of dangerous goods and secured by means capable of restraining the engines or machinery to prevent any movement during transport which would change the orientation or cause them to be damaged.

ADDITIONAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

If the engine or machinery is constructed and designed so that the means of containment containing the dangerous goods affords adequate protection, an outer packaging is not required. Dangerous goods in engines or machinery must otherwise be packed in outer packagings constructed of suitable material, and of adequate strength and design in relation to the packaging capacity and its intended use, and meeting the applicable requirements of 4.1.1.1, or they must be fixed in such a way that they will not become loose during normal conditions of transport, e.g. in cradles or crates or other handling devices.

Flammable liquid fuel tanks

Except as otherwise provided for in this packing instruction, fuel tanks must be drained of fuel and tank caps fitted securely. Special precautions are necessary to ensure complete drainage of the fuel system of machines or equipment incorporating internal combustion engines, such as lawn mowers and outboard motors, where such machines or equipment could possibly be handled in other than an upright position. When it is not possible to handle in other than an upright position, machinery must be drained of fuel as far as practicable, and if any fuel remains, it must not exceed one-quarter of the tank capacity.

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraphs 4.8 and 4.12 of this report:

Batteries

All batteries must be installed and securely fastened in the battery holder of the machine or equipment and must be protected in such a manner so as to prevent damage and short circuits. In addition:

- 1) ~~if~~ spillable batteries are installed, and it is possible for the machine or equipment to be handled in such a way that batteries would not remain in their intended orientation, they must be removed and packed according to Packing Instruction 492 or 870 as applicable;
- 2) ~~if~~ lithium batteries are installed,
 - i) lithium batteries identified as being damaged or defective in accordance with Special Provision A154 are forbidden for transport; and
 - ii) they lithium batteries must meet the provisions of Part 2;9.3, unless otherwise approved by the appropriate authority of the State of Origin, must be securely fastened in the machine or equipment and must be protected in such a manner so as to prevent damage and short circuits; and, except that pre-production prototypes of lithium batteries or cells, when these prototypes are transported for testing, or low production runs of lithium batteries or cells that have not been tested to the requirements in Part III, subsection 38.3 of the UN Manual of Tests and Criteria may be transported aboard cargo aircraft if approved by the appropriate authority of the State of Origin and the State of the Operator. A copy of the document of approval must accompany the consignment.
- 3) ~~if~~ sodium batteries are installed they must conform to the requirements of Special Provision A94.

...

Chapter 6

CLASS 4 — FLAMMABLE SOLIDS; SUBSTANCES LIABLE TO SPONTANEOUS COMBUSTION; SUBSTANCES WHICH, IN CONTACT WITH WATER, EMIT FLAMMABLE GASES

...

Amendments to facilitate transport

Paragraph 3.7 of this report:

Packing Instruction 450

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 3527 (Packing Group II or III) only

...

COMBINATION PACKAGINGS						SINGLE PACKAGINGS
<i>Packing conditions</i>	<i>Inner packaging (see 6.3.2)</i>	<i>Inner packaging quantity (per receptacle) — for liquid solid base material</i>	<i>Inner packaging quantity (per receptacle) — for liquid activator</i>	<i>Inner packaging quantity (per receptacle) — for solid activator</i>	<i>Total quantity per package</i>	

...

...

Packing Instruction Y450

Limited quantities

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 3527 (Packing Group II or III) only

...

COMBINATION PACKAGINGS						SINGLE PACKAGINGS
<i>Packing conditions</i>	<i>Inner packaging (see 6.3.2)</i>	<i>Inner packaging quantity (per receptacle) — for liquid solid base material</i>	<i>Inner packaging quantity (per receptacle) — for liquid activator</i>	<i>Inner packaging quantity (per receptacle) — for solid activator</i>	<i>Total quantity per package</i>	

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.6 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.7.1 e) of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.4.1, P408 (2) (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Packing Instruction 492

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 3292 only

General requirements

Part 4, Chapter 1 requirements must be met, including:

1) Compatibility requirements

- Substances must be compatible with their packagings as required by 4;1.1.3.
- Metal packagings must be corrosion resistant or be protected against corrosion.

2) Closure requirements

- Closures must meet the requirements of 4;1.1.4.

<i>UN number and proper shipping name</i>	<i>Packing conditions</i>	<i>Total quantity per package — passenger</i>	<i>Total quantity per package — cargo</i>
UN 3292 Batteries, containing sodium	Batteries may be offered for transport and transported unpacked or in protective enclosures such as fully enclosed or wooden slatted crates that are not subject to the requirements of Part 6 of these Instructions.	Forbidden	No limit
UN 3292 Cells, containing sodium	There must be sufficient cushioning material to prevent contact between cells and between cells and the internal surfaces of the outer packaging and to ensure that no dangerous movement of the cells within the outer packaging occurs in transport.	25 kg	No limit 400 kg

ADDITIONAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

- Packagings for cells must meet the Packing Group II performance requirements.
- Cells and batteries must be protected against short circuit and must be isolated in such a manner as to prevent short circuits.

PACKAGINGS*Boxes*

Aluminium (4B)
Fibreboard (4G)
Natural wood (4C1, 4C2)
Other metal (4N)
Plastics (4H1, 4H2)
Plywood (4D)
Reconstituted wood (4F)
Steel (4A)

Drums

Aluminium (1B2)
Fibre (1G)
Other metal (1N2)
Plastics (1H2)
Plywood (1D)
Steel (1A2)

Jerricans

Aluminium (3B2)
Plastics (3H2)
Steel (3A2)

...

Chapter 8

CLASS 6 — TOXIC AND INFECTIOUS SUBSTANCES

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.6 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.7.1 f) and 3.2.2.12 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.4.1, P621 (1) (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Packing Instruction 621

General requirements

~~The general packing~~ Part 4, Chapter 1 requirements of 4.1 except 1.1.20 must be met.

ADDITIONAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

~~— Consignments must be prepared in such a manner that they arrive at their destination in good condition and present no hazard to persons or animals during transport.~~

~~Consignments must be packed in steel drums (1A2), aluminium drums (1B2), other metal drums (1N2), plywood drums (1D), fibre drums (1G), plastic drums (1H2), steel jerricans (3A2), aluminium jerricans (3B2), plastic jerricans (3H2), steel boxes (4A), aluminium boxes (4B), wooden boxes (4C1, 4C2), plywood boxes (4D), reconstituted wood boxes (4F) or fibreboard boxes (4G), plastic boxes (4H1, 4H2), other metal boxes (4N).~~

Moved to end of list:

~~Packagings must meet Packing Group II requirements.~~

~~— The packaging tests may be those appropriate for solids when there is sufficient absorbent material to absorb the entire amount of liquid present and the packaging is capable of retaining liquids. In all other circumstances, the packaging tests must be those appropriate for liquids.~~

~~— Packagings intended to contain sharp objects such as broken glass and needles must be resistant to puncture and retain liquids under the performance test conditions for the packaging.~~

Moved from above with addition of "the" to align with other packing instructions:

~~— Packagings must meet the Packing Group II performance requirements.~~

Reformatted from list above:

OUTER PACKAGINGS

Boxes

Aluminium (4B)
Fibreboard (4G)
Natural wood (4C1, 4C2)
Other metal (4N)
Plastics (4H1, 4H2)
Plywood (4D)
Reconstituted wood (4F)
Steel (4A)

Drums

Aluminium (1B1, 1B2)
Fibre (1G)
Other metal (1N1, 1N2)
Plastics (1H1, 1H2)
Plywood (1D)
Steel (1A1, 1A2)

Jerricans

Aluminium (3B1, 3B2)
Plastics (3H1, 3H2)
Steel (3A1, 3A2)

...

Chapter 10**CLASS 8 — CORROSIVE SUBSTANCES**

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.6 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.7.1 e) of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.4.1, P801 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Packing Instruction 870

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 2794 and 2795 only

General requirements

Part 4, Chapter 1 requirements must be met, including:

1) Compatibility requirements

- Substances must be compatible with their packagings as required by 4;1.1.3.
- Metal packagings must be corrosion resistant or be protected against corrosion.

2) Closure requirements

- Closures must meet the requirements of 4;1.1.4.

<i>UN number and proper shipping name</i>	<i>Packing conditions</i>	<i>Total quantity per package — passenger</i>	<i>Total quantity per package — cargo</i>
UN 2794 Batteries, wet, filled with acid UN 2795 Batteries, wet, filled with alkali	<p>Batteries must be placed in an acid/alkali-proof liner of sufficient strength and adequately sealed to positively preclude leakage in the event of spillage. The batteries must be packed so that the fill openings and vents, if any, are upward; they must be incapable of short-circuiting and be securely cushioned in the packagings. The upright position of the package must be indicated on it by "Package orientation" labels (Figure 5-29) as required by 5.3. The words "This side up" or "This end up" may also be displayed on the top of the package.</p> <p>Amendments to manage aviation specific risks</p> <p>Paragraphs 1.2.1.6 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.11 of DGP/28-WP/3:</p> <p>Batteries installed in equipment</p> <p>If batteries are shipped as an integral component of assembled equipment, they must be securely installed and fastened in an upright position and protected against contact with other articles so as to prevent short circuits. Batteries must be removed and packed according to this packing instruction if the assembled equipment is likely to be carried in other than an upright position.</p>	30 kg	No limit 400 kg

ADDITIONAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

- Packagings must meet the Packing Group II performance requirements.
- For batteries, electric storage, packed with battery fluid in the same outer packaging, see UN 2796 and UN 2797.

PACKAGINGS*Boxes*

Aluminium (4B)
Fibreboard (4G)
Natural wood (4C1, 4C2)
Plastics (4H1, 4H2)
Plywood (4D)
Reconstituted wood (4F)
Steel (4A)

Drums

Aluminium (1B2)
Fibre (1G)
Other metal (1N2)
Plastics (1H2)
Plywood (1D)
Steel (1A2)

Jerricans

Aluminium (3B2)
Plastics (3H2)
Steel (3A2)

...

Chapter 11

CLASS 9 — MISCELLANEOUS DANGEROUS GOODS

...

Packing Instruction 950

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 3166 only
(See Packing Instruction 220 for flammable gas-powered engines and machinery, Packing Instruction 378 for flammable liquid-powered engines and machinery, Packing Instruction 951 for flammable gas-powered vehicles, Packing Instruction 952 for battery-powered equipment and vehicles or Packing Instruction 972 for engines or machinery containing only environmentally hazardous fuels)

General requirements

Part 4, Chapter 1 requirements must be met, including:

...

ADDITIONAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

...

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraphs 4.8 and 4.12 of this report:

Batteries

All batteries must be installed and securely fastened in the battery holder of the vehicle and must be protected in such a manner so as to prevent damage and short circuits. In addition:

- 1) ~~if~~ spillable batteries are installed, and it is possible for the vehicle to be handled in such a way that batteries would not remain in their intended orientation, they must be removed and packed according to Packing Instruction 492 or 870 as applicable;
- 2) ~~if~~ lithium batteries are installed,
 - i) lithium batteries identified as being damaged or defective in accordance with Special Provision A154 are forbidden for transport; and
 - ii) they lithium batteries must meet the provisions of Part 2;9.3, unless otherwise approved by the appropriate authority of the State of Origin, must be securely fastened in the vehicle and must be protected in such a manner so as to prevent damage and short circuits; and, except that pre-production prototypes of lithium batteries or cells, when these prototypes are transported for testing, or low production runs of lithium batteries or cells that have not been tested to the requirements in Part III, subsection 38.3 of the UN Manual of Tests and Criteria may be transported aboard cargo aircraft if approved by the appropriate authority of the State of Origin and the State of the Operator. A copy of the document of approval must accompany the consignment.
- 3) ~~if~~ sodium batteries are installed they must conform to the requirements of Special Provision A94.

...

...

Packing Instruction 951

Cargo aircraft only for UN 3166 only

(See Packing Instruction 220 for flammable gas-powered engines and machinery, Packing Instruction 378 for flammable liquid-powered engines and machinery, Packing Instruction 950 for flammable liquid-powered vehicles, Packing Instruction 952 for battery-powered equipment and vehicles or Packing Instruction 972 for engines or machinery containing only environmentally hazardous fuels)

General requirements

Part 4, Chapter 1 requirements must be met, including:

...

ADDITIONAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

...

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraphs 4.8 and 4.12 of this report:

Batteries

All batteries must be installed and securely fastened in the battery holder of the vehicle and must be protected in such a manner so as to prevent damage and short circuits. In addition:

- 1) ~~if~~ spillable batteries are installed, and it is possible for the vehicle to be handled in such a way that batteries would not remain in their intended orientation, they must be removed and packed according to Packing Instruction 492 or 870 as applicable;
- 2) ~~if~~ lithium batteries are installed:
 - i) lithium batteries identified as being damaged or defective in accordance with Special Provision A154 are forbidden for transport; and
 - ii) they lithium batteries must meet the provisions of Part 2;9.3, unless otherwise approved by the appropriate authority of the State of Origin, must be securely fastened in the vehicle and must be protected in such a manner so as to prevent damage and short circuits; and, except that pre-production prototypes of lithium batteries or cells, when these prototypes are transported for testing, or low production runs of lithium batteries or cells that have not been tested to the requirements in Part III, subsection 38.3 of the UN Manual of Tests and Criteria may be transported aboard cargo aircraft if approved by the appropriate authority of the State of Origin and the State of the Operator. A copy of the document of approval must accompany the consignment.
- 3) ~~if~~ sodium batteries are installed they must conform to the requirements of Special Provision A94.

...

Packing Instruction 952

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 3171 only

(See Packing Instruction 220 for flammable gas-powered engines and machinery, Packing Instruction 378 for flammable liquid-powered engines and machinery, Packing Instruction 950 for flammable liquid-powered vehicles, Packing Instruction 951 for flammable gas-powered vehicles or Packing Instruction 972 for engines or machinery containing only environmentally hazardous fuels)

General requirements

Part 4, Chapter 1 requirements must be met, including:

...

ADDITIONAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

...

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraphs 4.8 and 4.12 of this report:

Battery-powered vehicles, machines or equipment must meet the following requirements:

Batteries

All batteries must be installed and securely fastened in the battery holder of the vehicle, machine or equipment and must be protected in such a manner so as to prevent damage and short circuits. In addition:

- 1) ~~if~~ spillable batteries are installed, and it is possible for the vehicle, machine or equipment to be handled in such a way that batteries would not remain in their intended orientation, they must be removed and packed according to Packing Instruction 492 or 870 as applicable;
- 2) ~~if~~ lithium batteries are installed ~~in a vehicle~~:
 - i) lithium batteries identified as being damaged or defective in accordance with Special Provision A154 are forbidden for transport; and
 - ii) ~~they~~ lithium batteries must meet the provisions of Part 2;9.3, unless otherwise approved by the appropriate authority of the State of Origin, except that pre-production prototypes of lithium batteries or cells, when these prototypes are transported for testing, or low production runs of lithium batteries or cells that have not been tested to the requirements in Part III, subsection 38.3 of the UN Manual of Tests and Criteria may be transported aboard cargo aircraft if approved by the appropriate authority of the State of Origin and the State of the Operator. A copy of the document of approval must accompany the consignment.
 - iii) Where the lithium battery is removed from the vehicle and is packed separate from the vehicle in the same outer packaging, the package must be consigned as UN 3481— Lithium ion batteries packed with equipment or UN 3091 — Lithium metal batteries packed with equipment and packed according to Packing Instruction 966 or 969, as applicable; and.
- 3) ~~if~~ sodium batteries are installed they must conform to the requirements of Special Provision A94.

...

Packing Instruction 955

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 2990 and UN 3072 only

...

ADDITIONAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

Life-saving appliances may only contain the dangerous goods listed below:

- a) Division 2.2 gases, must be contained in cylinders which conform to the requirements of the appropriate national authority of the country in which they are approved and filled. Such cylinders may be connected to the life-saving appliance. These cylinders may include installed actuating cartridges (cartridges, power device of Division 1.4C and 1.4S) provided the aggregate quantity of deflagrating (propellant) explosives does not exceed 3.2 grams per unit. When the cylinders are shipped separately, they must be classified as appropriate for the Division 2.2 gas contained and need not be marked, labelled or described as explosive articles;
- b) signal devices (Class 1), which may include smoke and illumination signal flares; signal devices must be packed in plastic or fibreboard inner packagings;
- c) small quantities of flammable substances, corrosive solids and organic peroxides (Class 3, Class 8, Division 4.1 and 5.2), which may include a repair kit and not more than 30 strike-anywhere matches. The organic peroxide may only be a component of a repair kit and the kit must be packed in strong inner packaging. The strike-anywhere matches must be packed in a cylindrical metal or composition packaging with a screw-type closure and be cushioned to prevent movement;
- d) electric storage batteries (Class 8), which must be disconnected or electrically isolated and protected against short circuits;

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraph 4.8 of this report:

- e) lithium batteries:
 - 1) identified as damaged or defective in accordance with Special Provision A154 are forbidden for transport;
 - 2) must meet the applicable requirements of 2;9.3;
 - 2)3) must be disconnected or electrically isolated and protected against short circuits; and
 - 3)4) must be secured against movement within the appliance.
- f) first aid kits which may include flammable, corrosive and toxic articles or substances.

The appliances must be packed, so that they cannot be accidentally activated, in strong outer packagings and, except for life vests, the dangerous goods must be in inner packagings packed so as to prevent movement. The dangerous goods must be an integral part of the appliance without which it would not be operational and in quantities which do not exceed those appropriate for the actual appliance when in use.

Amendments to manage aviation specific risks

Paragraphs 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.4 of DGP/28-WP/3:

~~Life-saving appliances packed in strong rigid outer packagings with a total maximum gross mass of 40 kg, containing no dangerous goods other than Division 2.2 compressed or liquefied gases with no subsidiary hazard in receptacles with a capacity not exceeding 120 mL, installed solely for the purpose of the activation of the appliance, are not subject to these instructions when carried as cargo.~~

Life-saving appliances may also include articles and substances not subject to these Instructions which are an integral part of the appliance.

...

Amendments to manage aviation specific risks

Paragraph 2.2.2 of this report:

...

Packing Instruction Y956

Limited quantities
 Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 3077 and UN 3335 only

...

COMBINATION PACKAGINGS						SINGLE PACKAGINGS
UN number and proper shipping name	Packing group	Inner packaging (see 6.3.2)	Inner packaging quantity (per receptacle)	Total quantity per package	Total gross mass per package	
UN 3077 Environmentally hazardous substance, solid, n.o.s. UN 3335 Aviation regulated solid, n.o.s.*	III	Glass	5.0 kg	30 kg	30 kg	No
		Plastics	5.0 kg			
		Metal	5.0 kg			
		Paper bag	5.0 kg			
		Plastic bag	5.0 kg			
		Fibre	5.0 kg			

...

...

Packing Instruction Y958

Limited quantities
Passenger and cargo aircraft

...

COMBINATION PACKAGINGS						SINGLE PACKAGINGS
UN number and proper shipping name	Packing group	Inner packaging (see 6;3.2)	Inner packaging quantity (per receptacle)	Total quantity per package	Total gross mass per package	
UN 2071 Ammonium nitrate based fertilizers	III	Glass	5.0 kg	30 kg G	30 kg	No
		Plastics	5.0 kg			
		Metal	5.0 kg			
		Paper bag	5.0 kg			
		Plastic bag	5.0 kg			
		Fibre	5.0 kg			

...

Amendments to facilitate transport

Paragraph 3.3 of this report:

Packing Instruction Y960

Limited quantities
Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 3316 only

...

UN number and proper shipping name	State	Inner packaging* (see 6;3.2)	Maximum quantity of dangerous goods per kit	<u>Maximum quantity of dangerous goods per package</u>	Total gross mass per package	SINGLE PACKAGINGS
UN 3316 Chemical kit or First aid kit	Liquid	30 mL	1 kg	<u>1 kg</u>	30 kg	No
	Solid	100 g				

*Containing dangerous goods.

...

OUTER PACKAGINGS OF COMBINATION PACKAGINGS (see 6;3.1)

Boxes

Aluminium

Fibreboard

Natural wood

Other metal

Plastics

Plywood

Reconstituted wood

Steel

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraph 1.2.1.6 of this report:

Packing Instruction Y963

Limited quantities
Passenger and cargo aircraft for ID 8000 only

Consumer commodities are materials that are packaged and distributed in a form intended or suitable for retail sale for the purposes of personal care or household use. These include items administered or sold to patients by doctors or medical administrations. Except as otherwise provided below, dangerous goods packed in accordance with this packing instruction do not need to comply with 4.1 or Part 6 of these Instructions; they must, however, comply with all other applicable requirements. Other dangerous goods not classified as ID 8000 must not be packed in the same outer packaging with ID 8000.

- a) Each packaging must be designed and constructed to prevent leakage that may be caused by changes in altitude and temperature during air transport.

...

- h) Class 2 substances must be further limited to aerosol products containing non-toxic compressed or liquefied gas(es) ~~that are necessary to expel liquids, powders or pastes, packed in inner non-refillable non-metal receptacles not exceeding 120 mL capacity each, or in inner non-refillable metal receptacles not exceeding 820 mL capacity each (except that flammable aerosols must not exceed 500 mL capacity each), subject in either case to the following provisions.~~ Aerosols must meet the requirements of Part 6.5.4. The valves must be protected by a cap or other suitable means during transport.

- 1) ~~the pressure in the aerosol must not exceed 1 500 kPa at 55°C and each receptacle must be capable of withstanding, without bursting, a pressure of at least 1.5 times the equilibrium pressure of the contents at 55°C;~~
 - 2) ~~if the pressure in the aerosol exceeds 970 kPa at 55°C but does not exceed 1 105 kPa at 55°C, an inner IP.7, IP.7A or IP.7B metal receptacle must be used;~~
 - 3) ~~if the pressure in the aerosol exceeds 1 105 kPa at 55°C but does not exceed 1 245 kPa at 55°C, an IP.7A or IP.7B metal receptacle must be used;~~
 - 4) ~~if the pressure in the aerosol exceeds 1 245 kPa at 55°C, an IP.7B metal receptacle must be used;~~
 - 5) ~~IP.7B metal receptacles having a minimum burst pressure of 1 800 kPa may be equipped with an inner capsule charged with a non-flammable, non-toxic compressed gas to provide the propellant function. In this case, the pressures indicated in 1), 2), 3) or 4) do not apply to the pressure within the capsule. The quantity of gas contained in the capsule must be so limited such that the minimum burst pressure of the receptacle would not be exceeded if the entire gas content of the capsule were released into an aerosol;~~
 - 6) ~~the liquid contents must not completely fill the closed receptacle at 55°C;~~
 - 7) ~~each aerosol exceeding 120 mL capacity must have been heated until the pressure in the aerosol is equivalent to the equilibrium pressure of the contents at 55°C, without evidence of leakage, distortion or other defect; and~~
 - 8) ~~the valves must be protected by a cap or other suitable means during transport.~~
- i) ~~For aerosols containing a biological or medical preparation which will be deteriorated by a heat test and which are non-toxic and non-flammable, packed in inner non-refillable receptacles not exceeding 575 mL capacity each, the following provisions are applicable:~~
- 1) ~~the pressure in the aerosol must not exceed 970 kPa at 55°C;~~
 - 2) ~~the liquid contents must not completely fill the closed receptacle at 55°C;~~

3) ~~one aerosol out of each lot of 500 or less must be heated until the pressure in the aerosol is equivalent to the equilibrium pressure of the contents at 55°C, without evidence of leakage, distortion or other defect; and~~

4) ~~the valves must be protected by a cap or other suitable means during transport.~~

j) ~~i)~~ Except for aerosols, inner packagings must not exceed:

1) 500 mL for liquids; and

2) 500 g for solids.

k) ~~i)~~ Consumer commodities shipped according to these provisions may be shipped in a unit load device prepared by a single shipper provided they contain no other dangerous goods other than UN 1845 — **Carbon dioxide, solid** (dry ice) used as a refrigerant. When the unit load device contains dry ice, the provisions of these Instructions applicable to dry ice must be met in addition to the provisions set out in this packing instruction. The shipper must provide the operator with written documentation stating the number of packages of consumer commodities contained in each unit load device.

h) ~~k)~~ The gross mass on the dangerous goods transport document must be shown as:

1) for one package, the actual gross mass of the package;

2) for more than one package, either the actual gross mass of each package or as the average mass of the packages. (For example, if there are 10 packages and the total gross mass of them is 100 kg, the dangerous goods transport document may show this as "average gross mass per package 10 kg".)

m) ~~j)~~ Packages prepared in accordance with these provisions must be durably and legibly marked with the mark shown in Figure 3-1.

...

Amendments to manage aviation specific risks

Paragraph 2.2.2 of this report:

Packing Instruction Y964

Limited quantities

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 1941, UN 1990, UN 3082 and UN 3334 only

...

COMBINATION PACKAGINGS					SINGLE PACKAGINGS			
UN number and proper shipping name	Inner packaging (see 6.3.2)	Inner packaging quantity (per receptacle)	Total quantity per package	Total gross mass per package				
UN 1941 Dibromodifluoromethane	Glass	5.0 L	30 kg	30 kg	No			
UN 1990 Benzaldehyde	Plastics	5.0 L						
UN 3082 Environmentally hazardous substance, liquid, n.o.s.	Metal	5.0 L						
UN 3334 Aviation regulated liquid, n.o.s.*								

...

...

...

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Packing Instruction 965

Cargo aircraft only for UN 3480

Paragraph 4.1 of this report:

1. Introduction

This entry applies to lithium ion or lithium polymer batteries. This packing instruction is structured as follows:

- Section IA applies to lithium ion cells with a Watt-hour rating in excess of 20 Wh and lithium ion batteries with a Watt-hour rating in excess of 100 Wh, which must be assigned to Class 9 and are subject to all of the applicable requirements of these Instructions; **and**
- Section IB applies to lithium ion cells with a Watt-hour rating not exceeding 20 Wh and lithium ion batteries with a Watt-hour rating not exceeding 100 Wh ~~packed in quantities that exceed the allowance permitted in Section II, Table 965-II, and~~
- ~~— Section II applies to lithium ion cells with a Watt-hour rating not exceeding 20 Wh and lithium ion batteries with a Watt-hour rating not exceeding 100 Wh packed in quantities not exceeding the allowance permitted in Section II, Table 965-II.~~

A single cell battery as defined in Part III, sub-section 38.3.2.3 of the UN *Manual of Tests and Criteria* is considered a "cell" and must be transported according to the requirements for "cells" for the purpose of this packing instruction.

2. Lithium batteries forbidden from transport

The following applies to all lithium ion cells and batteries in this packing instruction:

Cells or batteries identified as being damaged or defective in accordance with Special Provision A154 are forbidden for transport.

Waste lithium batteries and lithium batteries being shipped for recycling or disposal are forbidden from air transport unless approved by the appropriate national authority of the State of Origin and the State of the Operator.

IA. SECTION IA

Each cell or battery must meet the provisions of 2;9.3.

IA.1 General requirements

- Part 4;1 requirements must be met.
- Lithium ion cells and batteries must be offered for transport at a state of charge not exceeding 30 per cent of their rated capacity. Cells and/or batteries at a state of charge greater than 30 per cent of their rated capacity may only be shipped with the approval of the State of Origin and the State of the Operator under the written conditions established by those authorities.

Note.— Guidance and methodology for determining the rated capacity can be found in sub-section 38.3.2.3 of the UN Manual of Tests and Criteria.

Table 965-IA

UN number and proper shipping name	Net quantity per package	
	Passenger	Cargo
UN 3480 Lithium ion batteries	Forbidden	35 kg

IA.2 Additional requirements

- Lithium ion cells and batteries must be protected against short circuits.
- Lithium ion cells and batteries must be placed in inner packagings that completely enclose the cell or battery then placed in an outer packaging. The completed package for the cells or batteries must meet the Packing Group II performance requirements.
- Lithium ion cells and batteries must not be packed in the same outer packaging with substances and articles of Class 1 (explosives) other than Division 1.4S, Division 2.1 (flammable gases), Class 3 (flammable liquids), Division 4.1 (flammable solids) or Division 5.1 (oxidizers).

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.6 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.7 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.4.1, P903(2) (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

- ~~A lithium ion cell or batteries~~ **battery** with a mass of 12 kg or greater and having a strong, impact-resistant outer casing, ~~or assemblies of such batteries,~~ may be transported when packed in strong outer packagings or protective enclosures (e.g. in fully enclosed or wooden slatted crates) not subject to the requirements of Part 6 of these Instructions, if approved by the appropriate authority of the State of Origin. A copy of the document of approval must accompany the consignment.
- Batteries manufactured after 31 December 2011 must be marked with the Watt-hour rating on the outside case.

IA.3 Outer packagings*Boxes*

Aluminium (4B)
Fibreboard (4G)
Natural wood (4C1, 4C2)
Other metal (4N)
Plastics (4H1, 4H2)
Plywood (4D)
Reconstituted wood (4F)
Steel (4A)

Drums

Aluminium (1B2)
Fibre (1G)
Other metal (1N2)
Plastics (1H2)
Plywood (1D)
Steel (1A2)

Jerricans

Aluminium (3B2)
Plastics (3H2)
Steel (3A2)

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraph 4.1 of this report:

IB. SECTION IB

~~Quantities of lithium ion cells or batteries that exceed the allowance permitted in Section II, Table 965 II~~ **prepared in accordance with this section** are subject to all of the applicable provisions of these Instructions (including the requirements in paragraph 2 of this packing instruction and of this section) except for the provisions of Part 6.

Lithium ion cells or batteries shipped in accordance with the provisions of Section IB must be described on a dangerous goods transport document as set in Part 5;4. The packing instruction number "965" required by 5;4.1.5.8.1 a) must be supplemented with "IB". All other applicable provisions of Part 5;4 apply.

Lithium ion cells and batteries may be offered for transport provided that each cell and battery meets the provisions of 2;9.3 a), e) and g) and the following:

- 1) for lithium ion cells, the Watt-hour rating (see the Glossary of Terms in Attachment 2) is not more than 20 Wh;
- 2) for lithium ion batteries, the Watt-hour rating is not more than 100 Wh;
 - the Watt-hour rating must be marked on the outside of the battery case except for those batteries manufactured before 1 January 2009;

IB.1 General requirements

- Cells and batteries must be packed in strong outer packagings that conform to Part 4;1.1.1, 1.1.3.1 and 1.1.10 (except 1.1.10.1).
- Lithium ion cells and batteries must be offered for transport at a state of charge not exceeding 30 per cent of their rated capacity. Cells and/or batteries at a state of charge greater than 30 per cent of their rated capacity may only be shipped with the approval of the State of Origin and the State of the Operator under the written conditions established by those authorities.

Note.— Guidance and methodology for determining the rated capacity can be found in sub-section 38.3.2.3 of the UN Manual of Tests and Criteria.

Table 965-IB

Contents	Net quantity per package	
	Passenger	Cargo
Lithium ion cells and batteries	Forbidden	10 kg

IB.2 Additional requirements

- Cells and batteries must be packed in inner packagings that completely enclose the cell or battery then placed in a strong rigid outer packaging.
- Cells and batteries must not be packed in the same outer packaging with substances and articles of Class 1 (explosives) other than Division 1.4S, Division 2.1 (flammable gases), Class 3 (flammable liquids), Division 4.1 (flammable solids) or Division 5.1 (oxidizers).
- Cells and batteries must be protected so as to prevent short circuits. This includes protection against contact with electrically conductive material within the same packaging that could lead to a short circuit.
- Each package must be capable of withstanding a 1.2 m drop test in any orientation without:
 - damage to cells or batteries contained therein;
 - shifting of the contents so as to allow battery to battery (or cell to cell) contact;
 - release of contents.

Paragraph 4.2 of this report:

- Each package must be capable of withstanding, without damage to the cells or batteries contained therein and without any reduction of effectiveness, a force applied to the top surface equivalent to the total weight of identical packages stacked to a height of 3 m (including the test sample) for a duration of 24 hours.
- Each package must be marked with the appropriate lithium battery mark (Figure 5-3) in addition to the appropriate Class 9 hazard label (Figure 5-26) and the cargo aircraft only label (Figure 5-28).

IB.3 Outer packagings**Boxes**

Aluminium
Fibreboard
Natural wood
Other metal
Plastics
Plywood
Reconstituted wood
Steel

Drums

Aluminium
Fibre
Other metal
Plastics
Plywood
Steel

Jerricans

Aluminium
Plastics
Steel

~~II. SECTION II~~

- ~~Lithium ion cells and batteries, when complying with Section II of this packing instruction, are only subject to the following additional provisions of these Instructions:~~
- ~~Part 1;2.3 (General Transport of dangerous goods by post);~~
- ~~Part 5;1.1 g) and j) (Shipper's responsibilities General requirements);~~

- Part 5;2.4.16 (Shipper's responsibilities — Special marking requirements for lithium batteries);
- Part 7;2.1 (Operator's responsibilities — Loading restrictions on the flight deck and for passenger aircraft);
- Part 7;2.4.1 (Operator's responsibilities — Loading of cargo aircraft);
- Part 7;4.4 (Operator's responsibilities — Reporting of dangerous goods accidents and incidents);
- Part 7;4.5 (Operator's responsibilities — Reporting of undeclared and misdeclared dangerous goods);
- Part 8;1.1 (Provisions concerning passengers and crew — Dangerous goods carried by passengers or crew);
- and
- Paragraphs 1 and 2 of this packing instruction.

- Lithium ion cells and batteries may be offered for transport provided that each cell and battery meets the provisions of 2;9.3 a), e) and g) and the following:

- 1) for lithium ion cells, the Watt-hour rating (see the Glossary of Terms in Attachment 2) is not more than 20 Wh;
- 2) for lithium ion batteries, the Watt-hour rating is not more than 100 Wh;
- the Watt-hour rating must be marked on the outside of the battery case except for those batteries manufactured before 1 January 2009.

II.1 General requirements

- Cells and batteries must be packed in strong outer packagings that conform to Part 4;1.1.1, 1.1.3.1 and 1.1.10 (except 1.1.10.1).

Lithium ion cells and batteries must be offered for transport at a state of charge not exceeding 30 per cent of their rated capacity.

Note. — Guidance and methodology for determining the rated capacity can be found in sub-section 38.3.2.3 of the UN Manual of Tests and Criteria.

Table 965-II

<i>Contents</i>	<i>Lithium ion cells and/or batteries with a Watt-hour rating not more than 2.7 Wh</i>	<i>Lithium ion cells with a Watt-hour rating more than 2.7 Wh, but not more than 20 Wh</i>	<i>Lithium ion batteries with a Watt-hour rating more than 2.7 Wh, but not more than 100 Wh</i>
1	2	3	4
Maximum number of cells / batteries per package	No limit	8 cells	2 batteries
Maximum net quantity (mass) per package	2.5 kg	n/a	n/a

- The limits specified in columns 2, 3 and 4 of Table 965-II must not be combined in the same package.

II.2 Additional requirements

- Cells and batteries must be packed in inner packagings that completely enclose the cell or battery then placed in a strong rigid outer packaging.
- Cells and batteries must not be packed in the same outer packaging with other dangerous goods.
- Cells and batteries must be protected so as to prevent short circuits. This includes protection against contact with electrically conductive material within the same packaging that could lead to a short circuit.
- Each package must be capable of withstanding a 1.2 m drop test in any orientation without:
 - damage to cells or batteries contained therein;
 - shifting of the contents so as to allow battery to battery (or cell to cell) contact;
 - release of contents.
- Each package must be marked with the appropriate lithium battery mark (Figure 5-3) and the cargo aircraft only label (Figure 5-28).
 - the package must be of such size that there is adequate space to affix the mark on one side without the mark being folded.
 - the cargo aircraft only label must be located on the same surface of the package near the lithium battery mark, if the package dimensions are adequate.
 - A shipper is not permitted to offer for transport more than one package prepared according to this section in any single consignment.
- The words "lithium ion batteries, in compliance with Section II of PI965" — cargo aircraft only" or "lithium ion batteries, in compliance with Section II of PI965 — CAO" must be placed on the air waybill, when an air waybill is used. Where packages of Section II lithium batteries from multiple packing instructions are included on one air waybill, the compliance statement for the different lithium battery types and/or packing instructions may be

combined into a single statement provided that the statement identifies the applicable lithium battery type(s), packing instruction numbers and "CAO".

- Packages and overpacks of lithium ion batteries prepared in accordance with the provisions of Section II must be offered to the operator separately from cargo which is not subject to these Instructions and must not be loaded into a unit load device before being offered to the operator.
- Any person preparing or offering cells or batteries for transport must receive adequate instruction on these requirements commensurate with the functions for which they are responsible.

II.3 Outer packagings

Boxes

Aluminium
Fibreboard
Natural wood
Other metal
Plastics
Plywood
Reconstituted wood
Steel

Drums

Aluminium
Fibre
Other metal
Plastics
Plywood
Steel

Jerricans

Aluminium
Plastics
Steel

II.4 Overpacks

Not more than one package prepared in accordance with this section may be placed into an overpack.

Packages prepared in accordance with this section must not be placed into an overpack with packages containing substances and articles of Class 1 (explosives) other than Division 1.4S, Division 2.1 (flammable gases), Class 3 (flammable liquids), Division 4.1 (flammable solids) or Division 5.1 (oxidizers).

When the package is placed in an overpack, the lithium battery mark (Figure 5-3) and the cargo aircraft only label (Figure 5-28) required by this packing instruction must either be clearly visible or the mark and label must be reproduced on the outside of the overpack and the overpack must be marked with the word "Overpack" in lettering of at least 12 mm high.

Note. For the purpose of Section II, an overpack is an enclosure used by a single shipper that contains no more than one package prepared in accordance with this section. For shipments prepared in accordance with Section IA and/or IB, this limit of one package of Section II batteries per overpack still applies.

...

Packing Instruction 966

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 3481 (packed with equipment) only

...

I. SECTION I

Each cell or battery must meet the provisions of 2;9.3.

...

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraphs 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report and 3.3.6.1 and 3.3.6.2 of DGP/28-WP/2:

I.2 Additional requirements

- Lithium ion cells and batteries must be protected against short circuits. This includes protection against contact with conductive materials within the same packaging that could lead to a short circuit.
- Lithium ion cells ~~or~~ and batteries must:
 - be placed in inner packagings that completely enclose the cell or battery, then placed in ~~an outer~~ packaging of a type shown below that meets the Packing Group II performance requirements, then placed with the equipment in a strong, rigid outer packaging. ~~The completed package for the cells or batteries must meet the Packing Group II performance requirements;~~ or
 - be placed in inner packagings that completely enclose the cell or battery, then placed with the equipment in a packaging of a type shown below that meets the Packing Group II performance requirements.
- The equipment must be secured against movement within the outer packaging ~~and must be equipped with an effective means of preventing accidental activation.~~
- The number of cells or batteries in each package must not exceed the number required for the equipment's operation, plus two spare sets. A "set" of cells or batteries is the number of individual cells or batteries that are required to power each piece of equipment.
- Batteries manufactured after 31 December 2011 must be marked with the Watt-hour rating on the outside case.

...

...

Packing Instruction 966

II. SECTION II

...

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraphs 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report, 3.3.6.1 and 3.3.6.2 of DGP/28-WP/2, and 4.2 and 4.9 of this report:

II.1 General requirements

~~Cells and batteries must be packed in strong outer packagings that conform to Part 4:1.1.1, 1.1.3.1 and 1.1.10 (except 1.1.10.1).~~

...

II.2 Additional requirements

- Lithium ion cells and batteries must:
 - be placed in inner packagings that completely enclose the cell or battery, then placed in a strong rigid outer packaging that conforms to Part 4:1.1.1, 1.1.3.1 and 1.1.10 (except 1.1.10.1); or
 - be placed in inner packagings that completely enclose the cell or battery, then placed with the equipment in a strong rigid outer packaging that conforms to Part 4:1.1.1, 1.1.3.1 and 1.1.10 (except 1.1.10.1).
- Cells and batteries must be protected ~~so as to prevent~~ against short circuits. This includes protection against contact with electrically conductive material within the same packaging that could lead to a short circuit.
- The equipment must be secured against movement within the outer packaging ~~and must be equipped with an effective means of preventing accidental activation.~~
- The number of cells or batteries in each package must not exceed the number required for the equipment's operation, plus two spare sets. A "set" of cells or batteries is the number of individual cells or ~~batters~~ batteries that are required to power each piece of equipment.

...

Paragraph 4.1 of this report:

- The words "lithium ion batteries, in compliance with Section II of PI966" must be placed on the air waybill, when an air waybill is used. Where packages of Section II lithium batteries from multiple packing instructions are included on one air waybill, the compliance statement for the different lithium battery types and/or packing instructions may be combined into a single statement provided that the statement identifies the applicable lithium battery type(s), and packing instruction numbers ~~and "CAO", when applicable.~~

...

Paragraph 4.10 of this report:

II.4 Overpacks

When packages are placed in an overpack, ~~;~~

- a) the packages must be secured within the overpack;
- b) the intended function of each package must not be impaired by the overpack; and
- c) the lithium battery mark (Figure 5-3) required by this packing instruction must either be clearly visible or the mark must be reproduced on the outside of the overpack and the overpack must be marked with the word "Overpack" in lettering of at least 12 mm high.

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraph 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report and paragraph 3.3.1.1 of DGP/28-WP/3:

Packing Instruction 967

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 3481 (contained in equipment) only

...

I. SECTION I

Each cell or battery must meet the provisions of 2;9.3.

I.1 General requirements

Equipment must be packed in strong rigid outer packagings that conform to Part 4;1.1.1, 1.1.3.1 and 1.1.10 (except 1.1.10.1). Large equipment can be offered for transport unpackaged or on pallets when the cells or batteries are afforded equivalent protection by the equipment in which they are contained.

UN number and proper shipping name	Package quantity (Section I)	
	Passenger	Cargo
UN 3481 Lithium ion batteries contained in equipment	5 kg of lithium ion cells or batteries	35 kg of lithium ion cells or batteries

I.2 Additional requirements

- The equipment must be secured against movement within the outer packaging and ~~be packed so as to prevent accidental operation during air transport~~ must be equipped with an effective means of preventing accidental activation.
- ~~The equipment must be packed in strong rigid outer packagings constructed of suitable material of adequate strength and design in relation to the packaging's capacity and its intended use unless the battery is afforded equivalent protection by the equipment in which it is contained.~~ Where multiple pieces of equipment are packed in the same outer packaging, each piece of equipment must be packed to prevent contact with other equipment.
- Batteries manufactured after 31 December 2011 must be marked with the Watt-hour rating on the outside case.

I.3 Outer packagings*Boxes*

Aluminium
Fibreboard
Natural wood
Other metal
Plastics
Plywood
Reconstituted wood
Steel

Drums

Aluminium
Fibre
Other metal
Plastics
Plywood
Steel

Jerricans

Aluminium
Plastics
Steel

II. SECTION II

...

II.1 General requirements

Equipment must be packed in strong rigid outer packagings that conform to Part 4;1.1.1, 1.1.3.1 and 1.1.10 (except 1.1.10.1). Large equipment can be offered for transport unpackaged or on pallets when the cells or batteries are afforded equivalent protection by the equipment in which they are contained.

Contents	Package quantity (Section II)	
	Passenger	Cargo
Net quantity of lithium ion cells or batteries per package	5 kg	5 kg

II.2 Additional requirements

- The equipment must be secured against movement within the outer packaging and must be equipped with an effective means of preventing accidental activation.
- Cells and batteries must be protected so as to prevent short circuits.
- ~~The equipment must be packed in strong rigid outer packagings constructed of suitable material of adequate strength and design in relation to the packaging's capacity and its intended use unless the battery is afforded equivalent protection by the equipment in which it is contained.~~ Where multiple pieces of equipment are packed in the same outer packaging, each piece of equipment must be packed to prevent contact with other equipment.
- Each package must be marked with the appropriate lithium battery mark (Figure 5-3). The package must be of such size that there is adequate space to affix the mark on one side without the mark being folded.
 - This requirement does not apply to:
 - packages containing only button cell batteries installed in equipment (including circuit boards); and
 - packages containing no more than four cells or two batteries installed in equipment, where there are not more than two packages in the consignment.

Paragraph 4.1 of this report:

- Where a consignment includes packages bearing the lithium battery mark, the words "lithium ion batteries, in compliance with Section II of PI967" must be placed on the air waybill, when an air waybill is used. Where packages of Section II lithium batteries from multiple packing instructions are included on one air waybill, the compliance statement for the different lithium battery types and/or packing instructions may be combined into a single statement provided that the statement identifies the applicable lithium battery type(s), and packing instruction numbers ~~and "CAO", when applicable.~~
- Any person preparing or offering cells or batteries for transport must receive adequate instruction on these requirements commensurate with the functions for which they are responsible.

...

Paragraph 4.10 of this report:

II.4 Overpacks

When packages are placed in an overpack, ~~;~~

- a) the packages must be secured within the overpack;
- b) the intended function of each package must not be impaired by the overpack; and
- c) the lithium battery mark (Figure 5-3) required by this packing instruction must either be clearly visible or the mark must be reproduced on the outside of the overpack and the overpack must be marked with the word "Overpack" in lettering of at least 12 mm high.

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Packing Instruction 968

Cargo aircraft only for UN 3090

Paragraph 4.1 of this report:

1. Introduction

This entry applies to lithium metal or lithium alloy batteries. This packing instruction is structured as follows:

- Section IA applies to lithium metal cells with a lithium metal content in excess of 1 g and lithium metal batteries with a lithium metal content in excess of 2 g, which must be assigned to Class 9 and are subject to all of the applicable requirements of these Instructions; **and**
- Section IB applies to lithium metal cells with a lithium metal content not exceeding 1 g and lithium metal batteries with a lithium metal content not exceeding 2 g ~~packed in quantities that exceed the allowance permitted in Section II, Table 968-II; and~~
- ~~Section II applies to lithium metal cells with a lithium metal content not exceeding 1 g and lithium metal batteries with a lithium metal content not exceeding 2 g packed in quantities not exceeding the allowance permitted in Section II, Table 968-II.~~

A single cell battery as defined in Part III, sub-section 38.3.2.3 of the UN *Manual of Tests and Criteria* is considered a “cell” and must be transported according to the requirements for “cells” for the purpose of this packing instruction.

2. Lithium batteries forbidden from transport

The following applies to all lithium metal cells and batteries in this packing instruction:

Cells or batteries identified as being damaged or defective in accordance with Special Provision A154 are forbidden for transport.

Waste lithium batteries and lithium batteries being shipped for recycling or disposal are forbidden from air transport unless approved by the appropriate national authority of the State of Origin and the State of the Operator.

IA. SECTION IA

Each cell or battery must meet the provisions of 2;9.3.

IA.1 General requirements

Part 4;1 requirements must be met.

Table 968-IA

UN number and proper shipping name	Net quantity per package	
	Passenger	Cargo
UN 3090 Lithium metal batteries	Forbidden	35 kg

IA.2 Additional requirements

- Lithium metal cells and batteries must be protected against short circuits.
- Lithium metal cells and batteries must be placed in inner packagings that completely enclose the cell or battery, then placed in an outer packaging. The completed package for the cells or batteries must meet the Packing Group II performance requirements.
- Lithium metal cells and batteries must not be packed in the same outer packaging with substances and articles of Class 1 (explosives) other than Division 1.4S, Division 2.1 (flammable gases), Class 3 (flammable liquids), Division 4.1 (flammable solids) or Division 5.1 (oxidizers).

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraph 3.1.2.7 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.4.1, P903(2) (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

- ~~A~~ ~~L~~ ~~lithium metal cell or batteries~~ ~~battery~~ with a mass of 12 kg or greater and having a strong, impact-resistant outer casing, ~~or assemblies of such batteries,~~ may be transported when packed in strong outer packagings or protective enclosures (e.g. in fully enclosed or wooden slatted crates) not subject to the requirements of Part 6 of these Instructions, if approved by the appropriate authority of the State of Origin. A copy of the document of approval must accompany the consignment.

IA.3 Outer packagings*Boxes*

Aluminium (4B)
Fibreboard (4G)
Natural wood (4C1, 4C2)
Other metal (4N)
Plastics (4H1, 4H2)
Plywood (4D)
Reconstituted wood (4F)
Steel (4A)

Drums

Aluminium (1B2)
Fibre (1G)
Other metal (1N2)
Plastics (1H2)
Plywood (1D)
Steel (1A2)

Jerricans

Aluminium (3B2)
Plastics (3H2)
Steel (3A2)

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraph 4.1 of this report:

IB. SECTION IB

~~Quantities of~~ ~~L~~ ~~lithium metal cells or batteries~~ ~~prepared in accordance with this section that exceed the allowance permitted in Section II, Table 968 II,~~ are subject to all of the applicable provisions of these Instructions (including the requirements in paragraph 2 of this packing instruction and of this section) except for the provisions of Part 6.

Lithium metal cells or batteries shipped in accordance with the provisions of Section IB must be described on a dangerous goods transport document as set in Part 5;4. The packing instruction number “968” required by 5;4.1.5.8.1 a) must be supplemented with “IB”. All other applicable provisions of Part 5;4 apply.

Lithium metal or lithium alloy cells and batteries may be offered for transport provided that each cell and battery meets the provisions of 2;9.3 a), e), f) (if applicable) and g) and the following:

- 1) for lithium metal cells, the lithium content is not more than 1 g;
- 2) for lithium metal or lithium alloy batteries, the aggregate lithium content is not more than 2 g.

IB.1 General requirements

Cells and batteries must be packed in strong outer packagings that conform to Part 4;1.1.1, 1.1.3.1 and 1.1.10 (except 1.1.10.1).

Table 968-IB

<i>Contents</i>	<i>Net quantity per package</i>	
	<i>Passenger</i>	<i>Cargo</i>
Lithium metal cells and batteries	Forbidden	2.5 kg

IB.2 Additional requirements

- Cells and batteries must be packed in inner packagings that completely enclose the cell or battery then placed in a strong rigid outer packaging.
- Cells and batteries must not be packed in the same outer packaging with substances and articles of Class 1 (explosives) other than Division 1.4S, Division 2.1 (flammable gases), Class 3 (flammable liquids), Division 4.1 (flammable solids) or Division 5.1 (oxidizers).
- Cells and batteries must be protected so as to prevent short circuits. This includes protection against contact with electrically conductive material within the same packaging that could lead to a short circuit.
- Each package must be capable of withstanding a 1.2 m drop test in any orientation without:
 - damage to cells or batteries contained therein;
 - shifting of the contents so as to allow battery to battery (or cell to cell) contact;
 - release of contents.

Paragraph 4.2 of this report:

- Each package must be capable of withstanding, without damage to the cells or batteries contained therein and without any reduction of effectiveness, a force applied to the top surface equivalent to the total weight of identical packages stacked to a height of 3 m (including the test sample) for a duration of 24 hours.
- Each package must be marked with the appropriate lithium battery mark (Figure 5-3) in addition to the appropriate Class 9 hazard label (Figure 5-26) and the cargo aircraft only label (Figure 5-28).

IB.3 Outer packagings*Boxes*

Aluminium
Fibreboard
Natural wood
Other metal
Plastics
Plywood
Reconstituted wood
Steel

Drums

Aluminium
Fibre
Other metal
Plastics
Plywood
Steel

Jerricans

Aluminium
Plastics
Steel

~~II. SECTION II~~

~~Lithium metal or lithium alloy cells and batteries, when complying with Section II of this packing instruction, are only subject to the following additional provisions of these Instructions:~~

- ~~Part 1;2.3 (General — Transport of dangerous goods by post);~~
- ~~Part 5;1.1 g) and j) (Shipper's responsibilities — General requirements);~~
- ~~Part 5;2.4.16 (Shipper's responsibilities — Special marking requirements for lithium batteries);~~
- ~~Part 7;2.1 (Operator's responsibilities — Loading restrictions on the flight deck and for passenger aircraft);~~
- ~~Part 7;2.4.1 (Operator's responsibilities — Loading of cargo aircraft);~~
- ~~Part 7;4.4 (Operator's responsibilities — Reporting of dangerous goods accidents and incidents);~~
- ~~Part 7;4.5 (Operator's responsibilities — Reporting of undeclared and misdeclared dangerous goods);~~
- ~~Part 8;1.1 (Provisions concerning passengers and crew — Dangerous goods carried by passengers or crew); and~~
- ~~Paragraphs 1 and 2 of this packing instruction.~~

Lithium metal or lithium alloy cells and batteries may be offered for transport provided that each cell and battery meets the provisions of 2.9.3 a), e), f) (if applicable) and g) and the following:

- 1) for a lithium metal cell, the lithium content is not more than 1 g;
- 2) for a lithium metal or lithium alloy battery, the aggregate lithium content is not more than 2 g.

II.1 General requirements

Cells and batteries must be packed in strong outer packagings that conform to Part 4; 1.1.1, 1.1.3.1 and 1.1.10 (except 1.1.10.1).

Table 968-II

<i>Contents</i>	<i>Lithium metal cells and/or batteries with a lithium content not more than 0.3 g</i>	<i>Lithium metal cells with a lithium content more than 0.3 g but not more than 1 g</i>	<i>Lithium metal batteries with a lithium content more than 0.3 g but not more than 2 g</i>
1	2	3	4
Maximum number of cells / batteries per package	No limit	8 cells	2 batteries
Maximum net quantity (mass) per package	2.5 kg	n/a	n/a

The limits specified in columns 2, 3 and 4 of Table 968-II must not be combined in the same package.

II.2 Additional requirements

- Cells and batteries must be packed in inner packagings that completely enclose the cell or battery, then placed in a strong rigid outer packaging.
- Cells and batteries must not be packed in the same outer packaging with other dangerous goods.
- Cells and batteries must be protected so as to prevent short circuits. This includes protection against contact with electrically conductive material within the same packaging that could lead to a short circuit.
- Each package must be capable of withstanding a 1.2 m drop test in any orientation without:
 - damage to cells or batteries contained therein;
 - shifting of the contents so as to allow battery to battery (or cell to cell) contact;
 - release of contents.
- Each package must be marked with the appropriate lithium battery mark (Figure 5-3) and the cargo aircraft only label (Figure 5-28).
- the package must be of such size that there is adequate space to affix the mark on one side without the mark being folded.
- the cargo aircraft only label must be located on the same surface of the package near the lithium battery mark, if the package dimensions are adequate.
- A shipper is not permitted to offer for transport more than one package prepared according to this section in any single consignment.
- The words "lithium metal batteries, in compliance with Section II of PI968 — cargo aircraft only" or "lithium metal batteries, in compliance with Section II of PI968 — CAO" must be placed on the air waybill, when an air waybill is used. Where packages of Section II lithium batteries from multiple packing instructions are included on one air waybill, the compliance statement for the different lithium battery types and/or packing instructions may be combined into a single statement provided that the statement identifies the applicable lithium battery type(s), packing instruction numbers and "CAO".
- Packages and overpacks of lithium metal batteries prepared in accordance with the provisions of Section II must be offered to the operator separately from cargo which is not subject to these Instructions and must not be loaded into a unit load device before being offered to the operator.
- Any person preparing or offering cells or batteries for transport must receive adequate instruction on these requirements commensurate with the functions for which they are responsible.

II.3 Outer packagings**Boxes**

Aluminium
Fibreboard
Natural wood
Other metal
Plastics
Plywood
Reconstituted wood
Steel

Drums

Aluminium
Fibre
Other metal
Plastics
Plywood
Steel

Jerricans

Aluminium
Plastics
Steel

II.4 Overpacks

Not more than one package prepared in accordance with this section may be placed into an overpack.

Packages prepared in accordance with this section must not be placed into an overpack with packages containing substances and articles of Class 1 (explosives) other than Division 1.4S, Division 2.1 (flammable gases), Class 3 (flammable liquids), Division 4.1 (flammable solids) or Division 5.1 (oxidizers).

When the package is placed in an overpack, the lithium battery mark (Figure 5-3) and the cargo aircraft only label (Figure 5-28) required by this packing instruction must either be clearly visible or the mark and label must be reproduced on the outside of the overpack and the overpack must be marked with the word "Overpack" in lettering of at least 12 mm high.

Note. — For the purpose of Section II, an overpack is an enclosure used by a single shipper that contains no more than one package prepared in accordance with this section. For shipments prepared in accordance with Section IA and/or IB, this limit of one package of Section II batteries per overpack still applies.

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraphs 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report and 3.3.6.1 and 3.3.6.2 of DGP/28-WP/2:

Packing Instruction 969

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 3091 (packed with equipment) only

I. SECTION I

Each cell or battery must meet the provisions of 2;9.3.

...

I.2 Additional requirements

- Lithium metal cells and batteries must be protected against short circuits. This includes protection against contact with conductive materials within the same packaging that could lead to a short circuit.
- Lithium metal cells ~~or~~ and batteries must:
 - be placed in inner packagings that completely enclose the cell or battery, then placed in ~~an outer~~ packaging of a type shown below that meets the Packing Group II performance requirements, then placed with the equipment in a strong, rigid outer packaging. ~~The completed package for the cells or batteries must meet the Packing Group II performance requirements;~~ or
 - be placed in inner packagings that completely enclose the cell or battery, then placed with the equipment in a packaging of a type shown below that meets the Packing Group II performance requirements.
- The equipment must be secured against movement within the outer packaging ~~and must be equipped with an effective means of preventing accidental activation.~~
- The number of cells or batteries in each package must not exceed the number required for the equipment's operation, plus two spare sets. A "set" of cells or batteries is the number of individual cells or batteries that are required to power each piece of equipment.
- For lithium metal cells and batteries prepared for transport on passenger aircraft as Class 9:
 - cells and batteries offered for transport on passenger aircraft must be packed in intermediate or outer rigid metal packaging surrounded by cushioning material that is non-combustible and non-conductive and placed inside an outer packaging.

...
 II. **SECTION II**
 ...

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraphs 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report, 3.3.6.1 and 3.3.6.2 of DGP/28-WP/2, and 4.2 and 4.9 of this report:

II.1 General requirements

- ~~Cells and batteries must be packed in strong outer packagings that conform to Part 4;1.1.1, 1.1.3.1 and 1.1.10 (except 1.1.10.1).~~

II.2 Additional requirements

- Lithium metal cells and batteries must:
 - be placed in inner packagings that completely enclose the cell or battery, then placed in a strong rigid outer packaging that conforms to Part 4;1.1.1, 1.1.3.1 and 1.1.10 (except 1.1.10.1); or
 - be placed in inner packagings that completely enclose the cell or battery, then placed with the equipment in a strong rigid outer packaging that conforms to Part 4;1.1.1, 1.1.3.1 and 1.1.10 (except 1.1.10.1).
- Cells and batteries must be protected ~~so as to prevent~~ against short circuits. This includes protection against contact with electrically conductive material within the same packaging that could lead to a short circuit.
- The equipment must be secured against movement within the outer packaging ~~and must be equipped with an effective means of preventing accidental activation.~~

...
 Paragraph 4.1 of this report:

- The words “lithium metal batteries, in compliance with Section II of PI969” must be placed on the air waybill, when an air waybill is used. Where packages of Section II lithium batteries from multiple packing instructions are included on one air waybill, the compliance statement for the different lithium battery types and/or packing instructions may be combined into a single statement provided that the statement identifies the applicable lithium battery type(s); and packing instruction numbers ~~and “CAO”, when applicable.~~

...
 Paragraph 4.10 of this report:

II.4 Overpacks

When packages are placed in an overpack,:

- a) the packages must be secured within the overpack;
- b) the intended function of each package must not be impaired by the overpack; and
- c) the lithium battery mark (Figure 5-3) required by this packing instruction must either be clearly visible or the mark must be reproduced on the outside of the overpack and the overpack must be marked with the word “Overpack” in lettering of at least 12 mm high.

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraphs 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report and 3.3.1.1 of DGP/28-WP/3:

Packing Instruction 970

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 3091 (contained in equipment) only

1. Introduction

...

I. SECTION I

Each cell or battery must meet the provisions of 2;9.3.

I.1 General requirements

Equipment must be packed in strong rigid outer packagings that conform to Part 4;1.1.1, 1.1.3.1 and 1.1.10 (except 1.1.10.1). Large equipment can be offered for transport unpackaged or on pallets when the cells or batteries are afforded equivalent protection by the equipment in which they are contained.

UN number and proper shipping name	Package quantity (Section I)	
	Passenger	Cargo
UN 3091 Lithium metal batteries contained in equipment	5 kg of lithium metal cells or batteries	35 kg of lithium metal cells or batteries

I.2 Additional requirements

- The equipment must be secured against movement within the outer packaging and must be equipped with an effective means of preventing accidental activation.
- ~~The equipment must be packed in strong rigid outer packagings constructed of suitable material of adequate strength and design in relation to the packaging's capacity and its intended use unless the battery is afforded equivalent protection by the equipment in which it is contained.~~ Where multiple pieces of equipment are packed in the same outer packaging, each piece of equipment must be packed to prevent contact with other equipment.
- The quantity of lithium metal contained in any piece of equipment must not exceed 12 g per cell and 500 g per battery.

...

II. SECTION II

...

II.1 General requirements

Equipment must be packed in strong rigid outer packagings that conform to Part 4;1.1.1, 1.1.3.1 and 1.1.10 (except 1.1.10.1). Large equipment can be offered for transport unpackaged or on pallets when the cells or batteries are afforded equivalent protection by the equipment in which they are contained.

Contents	Package quantity (Section II)	
	Passenger	Cargo
Net quantity of lithium metal cells or batteries per package	5 kg	5 kg

II.2 Additional requirements

- The equipment must be secured against movement within the outer packaging and must be equipped with an effective means of preventing accidental activation.
- Cells and batteries must be protected so as to prevent short circuits.
- ~~The equipment must be packed in strong rigid outer packagings constructed of suitable material of adequate strength and design in relation to the packaging's capacity and its intended use unless the battery is afforded equivalent protection by the equipment in which it is contained.~~ Where multiple pieces of equipment are packed in the same outer packaging, each piece of equipment must be packed to prevent contact with other equipment.
- Each package must be marked with the appropriate lithium battery mark (Figure 5-3). The package must be of such size that there is adequate space to affix the mark on one side without the mark being folded.
 - This requirement does not apply to:
 - packages containing only button cell batteries installed in equipment (including circuit boards); and
 - packages containing no more than four cells or two batteries installed in equipment, where there are not more than two packages in the consignment.

...

Paragraph 4.1 of this report:

- Where a consignment includes packages bearing the lithium battery mark, the words "lithium metal batteries, in compliance with Section II of PI970" must be placed on the air waybill, when an air waybill is used. Where packages of Section II lithium batteries from multiple packing instructions are included on one air waybill, the compliance statement for the different lithium battery types and/or packing instructions may be combined into a single statement provided that the statement identifies the applicable lithium battery type(s) and packing instruction numbers ~~and "CAO", when applicable.~~
- Any person preparing or offering cells or batteries for transport must receive adequate instruction on these requirements commensurate with the functions for which they are responsible.

...

Paragraph 4.10 of this report:

II.4 Overpacks

When packages are placed in an overpack, ~~;~~

- a) the packages must be secured within the overpack;
- b) the intended function of each package must not be impaired by the overpack; and
- c) the lithium battery mark (Figure 5-3) required by this packing instruction must either be clearly visible or the mark must be reproduced on the outside of the overpack and the overpack must be marked with the word "Overpack" in lettering of at least 12 mm high.

...

Packing Instruction 972

Passenger or cargo aircraft for UN 3530 only

(See Packing Instruction 220 for flammable gas-powered engines and machinery, Packing Instruction 378 for flammable liquid-powered engines and machinery, Packing Instruction 950 for flammable liquid-powered vehicles, Packing Instruction 951 for flammable gas-powered vehicles or Packing Instruction 952 for battery-powered equipment and vehicles)

General requirements

Part 4, Chapter 1 requirements must be met, including:

...

ADDITIONAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

...

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraphs 4.8 and 4.12 of this report:

Batteries

All batteries must be installed and securely fastened in the battery holder of the machine or equipment and must be protected in such a manner so as to prevent damage and short circuits. In addition:

- 1) ~~if~~ spillable batteries are installed, and it is possible for the machine or equipment to be handled in such a way that batteries would not remain in their intended orientation, they must be removed and packed according to Packing Instruction 492 or 870 as applicable;
- 2) ~~if~~ lithium batteries are installed;
 - i) lithium batteries identified as being damaged or defective in accordance with Special Provision A154 are forbidden for transport; and
 - ii) they must meet the provisions of Part 2;9.3, unless otherwise approved by the appropriate authority of the State of Origin, must be securely fastened in the machinery or equipment and must be protected in such a manner so as to prevent damage and short circuits; and, except that pre-production prototypes of lithium batteries or cells, when these prototypes are transported for testing, or low production runs of lithium batteries or cells that have not been tested to the requirements in Part III, subsection 38.3 of the UN Manual of Tests and Criteria may be transported aboard cargo aircraft if approved by the appropriate authority of the State of Origin and the State of the Operator. A copy of the document of approval must accompany the consignment.
- 3) ~~if~~ sodium batteries are installed they must conform to the requirements of Special Provision A94.

...

Amendments to facilitate transport

Paragraphs 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report, 3.2.2.22 of DGP/28-WP/3 Report and 3.10 of this report:

Packing Instruction 975

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 3548 only

Introduction

This packing instruction is only permitted for articles which do not have an existing proper shipping name and which contain only environmentally hazardous substances where the quantity of the environmentally hazardous substance in the article exceeds 5 L or 5 kg. In addition to the environmentally hazardous substances, the article may also contain lithium cells or batteries that comply with Section II of Packing Instruction 967, as applicable, or Section II of Packing Instruction 970, as applicable.

General requirements

Part 4;1.1.1, 4;1.1.3, 4;1.1.12 and 4;2 requirements must be met.

<u>UN number and proper shipping name</u>	<u>Quantity — passenger</u>	<u>Quantity — cargo</u>
UN 3548 Articles containing miscellaneous dangerous goods, n.o.s.*	No limit	No limit

ADDITIONAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

- Packagings must meet the Packing Group II performance requirements.
- Receptacles containing liquids or solids within articles must be constructed of suitable materials and secured in the article in such a way that, under normal conditions of transport, they cannot break, be punctured or leak their contents into the article itself or the outer packaging.
- Receptacles containing liquids with closures must be packed with their closures correctly oriented. The receptacles must in addition conform to the internal pressure test provisions of 6;4.5.
- Receptacles that are liable to break or be punctured easily, such as those made of glass or of certain plastics materials must be properly secured, and any leakage of the contents must not substantially impair the protective properties of the article or of the outer packaging.
- Where there is no receptacle within the article, the article must fully enclose the dangerous goods and prevent their release under normal conditions of transport.
- Articles must be packed to prevent movement and inadvertent operation during normal conditions of transport.

ROBUST ARTICLES

Robust articles may alternatively be transported in strong outer packagings constructed of suitable material and of adequate strength and design in relation to the packaging capacity and its intended use. The packagings must achieve a level of protection that is at least equivalent to that provided by 6;1. Articles may be transported unpackaged or on pallets when the dangerous goods are afforded equivalent protection by the article in which they are contained. In such cases the additional requirement related to Packing Group II performance requirements and the requirement for UN specification packagings do not apply.

OUTER PACKAGINGS (see 6;3.1)

Boxes

Aluminium (4B)
Fibreboard (4G)
Natural wood (4C1, 4C2)
Other metal (4N)
Plastics (4H1, 4H2)
Plywood (4D)
Reconstituted wood (4F)
Steel (4A)

Drums

Aluminium (1B2)
Fibre (1G)
Other metal (1N2)
Plastics (1H2)
Plywood (1D)
Steel (1A2)

Jerricans

Aluminium (3B2)
Plastics (3H2)
Steel (3A2)

...

Part 5

SHIPPER'S RESPONSIBILITIES

...

Chapter 1

GENERAL

...

1.2 GENERAL PROVISIONS FOR CLASS 7

1.2.1 Approval of shipments and notification

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.7 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.8 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 5.1.5.1.3 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

1.2.1.3 *Shipment approval by special arrangement*

Provisions may be approved by a A competent authority may approve provisions under which a consignment~~s~~, which does that do not satisfy all of the applicable requirements of these Instructions may be transported under special arrangement (see 1;6.4).

...

1.5 SALVAGE PACKAGINGS

Before a person offers any salvage packaging for transport by air, that person must ensure that:

- it is marked with the proper shipping name and UN number of, and bear all the labels appropriate for, the dangerous goods contained therein;
- it is marked with the word “Salvage” and the lettering of the “Salvage” mark must be at least 12 mm high;

UN harmonization amendments

UN Model Regulations, 5.4.1.5.3 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1) (see also revision to 5;4.1.5.2 of Technical Instructions below)

- the words “Salvage ~~package~~ packaging” are added after the description of the goods in the dangerous goods transport document required by 4.1; and
- where the package contains dangerous goods restricted to transport on cargo aircraft only, it bears a “Cargo aircraft only” label and the dangerous goods transport document contains the necessary statement according to 4.1.5.8.1 c).

In addition, that person must ensure that all other applicable requirements are met.

...

Chapter 2

MARKING

...

2.4.16 Special marking requirements for lithium batteries

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraph 4.1 of this report:

2.4.16.1 Packages containing lithium cells or batteries prepared in accordance with Section II of Packing Instructions ~~965, 966, 967, 969~~ ~~to or~~ 970 and Section IB of Packing Instructions 965 and 968 must be marked as shown in Figure 5-3.

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.7 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.8 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 5.2.1.9.2 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

2.4.16.2 The mark must indicate:

a) ~~the~~ the appropriate UN number preceded by the letters "UN" as follows:

- ~~4a)~~ "UN 3090" for lithium metal cells or batteries;
- ~~2b)~~ "UN 3480" for lithium ion cells or batteries;
- ~~3c)~~ "UN 3091" for lithium metal cells or batteries contained in, or packed with, equipment; or
- ~~4d)~~ "UN 3481" for lithium ion cells or batteries contained in, or packed with, equipment.

Where a package contains lithium cells or batteries assigned to different UN numbers, all applicable UN numbers must be indicated on one or more marks.

~~b) a telephone number for additional information.~~

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.5 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.8.1 a) and 3.1.2.8.3 of DGP/28-WP/3:



- * Place for UN number(s)
 ** Place for telephone number for additional information —

Figure 5-3. Lithium battery mark

Paragraph 1.2.1.7 of this report:

Note. — The mark illustrated in Figure 5-3 of the 2019-2020 Edition of the Technical Instructions with minimum dimensions of 120 mm × 140 mm may continue to be used. The mark shown in Figure 5-3 of the 2021-2022 Edition of the Technical Instructions may continue to be applied until 31 December 2026.

...

Chapter 4

DOCUMENTATION

...

4.1.4.3 Information which supplements the proper shipping name in the dangerous goods description

The proper shipping name in the dangerous goods description must be supplemented as follows:

- a) *Technical names for "n.o.s." and other generic descriptions*: Proper shipping names that are assigned an asterisk in column 1 of the Dangerous Goods List must be supplemented with their technical or chemical group names as described in 3;1.2.7;
- b) *Empty uncleaned packagings*: Empty means of containment which contain the residue of dangerous goods of classes other than Class 7 must be described as such by, for example, placing the words "Empty uncleaned" or "Residue last contained" before or after the dangerous goods description specified in 4.1.4.1 a) to e);

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.7 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.8.1 b) of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 5.4.1.4.3 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

- c) *Wastes*: For waste dangerous goods (other than radioactive wastes) which are being transported for disposal, or for processing for disposal, the proper shipping name must be preceded by the word "Waste", unless this is already a part of the proper shipping name;
- d) *Molten substances*: When a substance, which is solid in accordance with the definition in 1;3.1, is offered for transport in the molten state, the qualifying word "Molten" must be added as part of the proper shipping name, unless it is already part of the proper shipping name (see 3;1.2.4);
- d) ~~*Elevated temperature substances*: For solid substances, unless the word "Molten" is already included in the proper shipping name, it must be added to the proper shipping name on the dangerous goods transport document when a substance is offered for air transport in the molten state (see Part 3, Chapter 1).~~
- e) *Stabilized substances*: Unless already part of the proper shipping name the word "Stabilized" must be added to the proper shipping name if stabilization is used.

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.7 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.8 of DGP/28-WP/3:

4.1.5 Information required in addition to the dangerous goods description

...

UN Model Regulations, 5.4.1.5.3 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1) (see also revision to 5;1.4 of Technical Instructions above)

4.1.5.2 Salvage packagings

For dangerous goods transported in salvage packagings in accordance with 4;1.4, the words "Salvage ~~package~~ packaging" must be included.

...

Amendments to manage aviation specific risks

Paragraphs 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.8 of DGP/28-WP/2:

4.1.5.7 *Radioactive material*

4.1.5.7.1 The following information must be included for each consignment of Class 7 material, as applicable, in the order given:

- a) The name or symbol of each radionuclide or, for mixtures of radionuclides, an appropriate general description or a list of the most restrictive nuclides;

Paragraph 2.2.1.1 b) of this report:

Note.— When Table 2-13 is used, refer to 5:4.1.5.8.1 g) for additional information required on the dangerous goods transport document.

- b) A description of the physical and chemical form of the material, or a notation that the material is special form radioactive material or low dispersible radioactive material. A generic chemical description is acceptable for chemical form;

Note.— For empty Type B(U) or Type B(M) packages as specified in the Note to 2;7.2.4.1.1.7, the name or symbol of the radionuclide of the shielding material followed by the physical and chemical form must be included (e.g. U-dep., solid, metal oxide) in which case the indicated radionuclide may differ from the radionuclide(s) authorized in the package design certificate.

...

4.1.5.8 *Additional requirements*

4.1.5.8.1 The dangerous goods transport document must also contain:

- a) except for radioactive material, the packing instruction applied. For shipments of lithium batteries prepared in accordance with Section IB of Packing Instruction 965 or Packing Instruction 968, the letters "IB" must be added following the packing instruction number;

Paragraph 2.2.1.1 a) of this report:

~~*Note.— Packing Instruction 622 from the 2019-2020 Edition of these Instructions was renumbered as 621 in this edition. Until 31 March 2021, Packing Instruction 622 may continue to be indicated on the dangerous goods transport document when applied to UN 3291, Biomedical waste, n.o.s., Clinical waste, unspecified, n.o.s., Medical waste, n.o.s., or Regulated medical waste, n.o.s.*~~

Paragraphs 2.2.1, 2.2.9 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.14 and 3.2.2.15 of DGP/28-WP/3:

- b) when applicable, reference to Special Provision A1, A2, A4, A5, A51, ~~A78~~, A88, A99, A176, A190, A191, A201, A202, ~~A208, A211 or~~, A212, A224 or A225;
- c) a statement indicating that the shipment is within the limitations prescribed for either passenger and cargo aircraft or cargo-only aircraft, as appropriate;

Note.— To qualify as acceptable for transport aboard passenger aircraft, passenger aircraft packing instruction number(s) must be used, and the package must not bear the "Cargo aircraft only" label. To qualify as acceptable for transport aboard cargo-only aircraft, cargo aircraft packing instruction number(s) must be used, and the package must bear the "Cargo aircraft only" label; or passenger aircraft instruction number(s) must be shown and no "Cargo aircraft only" label applied. However, where the packing instruction number(s) and the permitted quantity per package are identical for passenger and cargo aircraft, the "Cargo aircraft only" label should not be used.

- d) special handling information, when appropriate;
- e) an indication that an overpack has been used, when appropriate; ~~and~~
- f) the "Q" value rounded up to the first decimal place, if substances are packed in accordance with 3;4.3.3 or 4;1.1.9 e); ~~and~~

Paragraphs 2.2.1.1 b) and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.8 of DGP/28-WP/2:

- g) for individual radionuclides or for mixtures of radionuclides for which relevant data are not available or which are not listed in Table 2-12 and where Table 2-13 was used to determine the maximum allowed activity, the use of Table 2-13 must be referenced as well as the radioactive contents as specified in the first column of Table 2-13. For example: "Table 2-13 used. Only beta- or gamma- emitting nuclides are known to be present".

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.7 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.8.2 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 5.4.1.5.12 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

4.1.5.10 Application of special provisions

Where, in accordance with a special provision in Table 3-2, additional information is necessary, this additional information must be included on the dangerous goods transport document.

Part 6

PACKAGING NOMENCLATURE, MARKING, REQUIREMENTS AND TESTS

...

Chapter 1

APPLICABILITY, NOMENCLATURE AND CODES

1.1 APPLICABILITY

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.8 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.9 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 6.1.1.2 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

1.1.2 The requirements for packagings in Chapter 3 are based on packagings currently used. In order to take into account progress in science and technology, there is no objection to the use of packagings having specifications different from those in Chapter 3, provided they are equally effective, acceptable to the appropriate authority and able to successfully ~~to~~ withstand the tests fulfil the requirements described in 4;1.1.18 and Chapter 4. Methods of testing other than those described in these Instructions are acceptable, provided they are equivalent.

Added for sake of alignment with 6.1.1.4 of the UN Model Regulations:

1.1.3 Packagings must be manufactured and tested under a quality assurance programme which satisfies the appropriate national authority in order to ensure that each packaging meets the requirements of Chapters 1 to 4.

UN Model Regulations, 6.3.2.2 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

The following note was moved from 4;1.1.2 and amended to align with the UN Model Regulations:

Note.— ISO 16106:2006/2020 ~~Packaging~~ — Transport packages for dangerous goods — Dangerous goods packagings, intermediate bulk containers (IBCs) and large packagings — Guidelines for the application of ISO 9001 provides acceptable guidance on procedures which may be followed.

~~4.1.3~~ 1.1.4 Manufacturers and subsequent distributors of packagings must provide information regarding procedures to be followed (including closure instructions for inner packagings and receptacles), a description of the types and dimensions of the closures (including required gaskets) and any other components needed to ensure that packages, as presented for transport, are capable of passing the applicable performance tests of Chapters 4 to 7 and the pressure differential requirements of 4;1.1.6 as applicable.

...

Paragraph 1.2.1.8 a) of this report:

Table 6-3. Index of inner packagings

<i>Code</i>	<i>Kind</i>	<i>Paragraph</i>
	Glass	3.2.1
	Plastic	3.2.2
	Metal cans, tins or tubes	3.2.3
	Paper bags	3.2.4
	Plastic bags	3.2.5
	Fibre cans or boxes	3.2.6
IP.7	Metal receptacles (aerosols), non-refillable	3.2.7.1
IP.7A	Metal receptacles (aerosols), non-refillable	3.2.7.1
IP.7B	Metal receptacles (aerosols), non-refillable	3.2.7.2
IP.7C	Plastic receptacle (aerosols), non-refillable	3.2.8
	Metal or plastic flexible tubes	3.2.9 <u>3.2.7</u>

...

Chapter 3

REQUIREMENTS FOR PACKAGINGS

...

3.2 REQUIREMENTS FOR INNER PACKAGINGS

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraph 1.2.1.8 a) of this report:

3.2.7 — Metal receptacles (aerosols), non-refillable (IP.7, IP.7A, IP.7B)

~~3.2.7.1 Receptacles (aerosols) IP.7 and IP.7A~~

~~3.2.7.1.1 Materials and construction.~~ Uniform quality steel plate or non-ferrous metal of uniform drawing quality must be used:

- ~~IP.7 receptacles must have a minimum wall thickness of 0.18 mm;~~
- ~~IP.7A receptacles must have a minimum wall thickness of 0.20 mm.~~

~~The receptacles may be seamless or with seams welded, soldered, brazed, double-seamed or swaged. The ends must be of pressure design. Maximum capacity must not exceed 1 L and the maximum inner diameter must not exceed 76 mm.~~

~~3.2.7.1.2 Performance test.~~ One out of each lot of 25 000 or less receptacles successively produced per day must be pressure tested to destruction:

- ~~IP.7 receptacles must not burst below 1 650 kPa gauge pressure;~~
- ~~IP.7A receptacles must not burst below 1 860 kPa gauge pressure.~~

~~3.2.7.2 Receptacles (aerosols) IP.7B~~

~~3.2.7.2.1 Materials and construction.~~ Uniform quality steel plate or non-ferrous metal of uniform drawing quality must be used. The receptacles may be seamless or with seams welded, soldered, brazed, double-seamed or swaged. The ends must be of pressure design. Maximum capacity must not exceed 1 000 mL and the maximum inner diameter must not exceed 76 mm. The aerosol, including its valve, must be virtually hermetically sealed under normal conditions of transport and the valve must be suitably protected to prevent actuation during transport.

~~3.2.7.2.2 Performance tests required:~~

- ~~hydraulic pressure test;~~
- ~~bursting test;~~
- ~~leakage test.~~

~~3.2.7.2.3 Hydraulic pressure test.~~ Number of samples: six receptacles.

~~Method of testing and pressure applied: the pressure must be applied slowly. The test pressure must be 50 per cent higher than the internal pressure at 50°C but at least 1 000 kPa. The test pressure must be applied for 25 seconds.~~

~~Criteria for passing the test successfully: the receptacle must not show major distortions, leaks or similar faults, but a slight symmetrical distortion of the base, or one affecting the profile of the top end shall be allowed, provided that the receptacle passes the bursting test.~~

~~3.2.7.2.4 Bursting test.~~ Number of samples: six receptacles; these may be the same receptacles used in the hydraulic pressure test.

~~Method of testing and pressures applied: a hydraulic pressure at least 20 per cent higher than the test pressure as mentioned in 3.2.7.2.3 must be applied.~~

~~Criteria for passing the test successfully: no receptacle may leak.~~

~~3.2.7.2.5 — Leakage test. Number of samples: every aerosol.~~

Method of testing: each aerosol must be immersed in a bath of water. The temperature of the water and the duration of the test must be such that the internal pressure reaches that which would be reached at 55°C, or 50°C if the liquid phase does not exceed 95 per cent of the capacity of the aerosol at 50°C. When an aerosol is sensitive to heat, the temperature of the bath may be set at between 20°C and 30°C in which case one receptacle in 2 000 must be tested at the higher temperature.

Equally effective methods of testing may also be used.

Criteria for passing the test successfully: the aerosol must not show visible permanent distortions or any leakage.

3.2.8 — Plastic receptacles (aerosols) non-refillable (IP.7C)~~3.2.8.1 — Receptacles (aerosols) IP.7C~~

~~3.2.8.1.1 — Materials and construction.~~ The receptacle must be of polyethylene terephthalate (PET), polyethylene naphthalate (PEN), polyamide (Nylon), or a blend containing some combination of PET, PEN, ethyl vinyl alcohol (EVOH) and Nylon. Thermoplastic processes ensuring uniformity of the completed container shall be applied. No used material other than production residues or re-grind from the same manufacturing process may be used. The packaging shall be adequately resistant to aging and to degradation caused either by the substance contained or by ultraviolet radiation. Maximum capacity must not exceed 500 mL.

~~3.2.8.1.2 — Performance tests required:~~

- ~~— drop test;~~
- ~~— hydraulic pressure test;~~
- ~~— bursting test;~~
- ~~— leakage test.~~

~~3.2.8.1.3 — Drop test.~~ Method of testing: to ensure that creep does not affect the ability of the receptacle type to retain the contents the receptacles shall be dropped as follows: three groups of twenty-five filled receptacles shall be dropped from 1.8 m on to a rigid, non-resilient, flat and horizontal surface. One group must be conditioned at 38°C for 26 weeks, the second group for 100 hours at 50°C and the third group for 18 hours at 55°C, prior to the drop test.

Criteria for passing the test successfully: the receptacle must not break or leak.

~~3.2.8.1.4 — Hydraulic pressure test. Number of samples: six receptacles.~~

Method of testing: receptacles must resist a test pressure equal to at least 1 200 kPa.

Criteria for passing the test successfully: the receptacle must not show major distortions, leaks or similar faults, but a slight symmetrical distortion of the base, or one affecting the profile of the top end, shall be allowed, provided that the receptacle passes the bursting test.

~~3.2.8.1.5 — Bursting test. Number of samples: six. These may be the same receptacles used in the hydraulic pressure test.~~

Method of testing and pressures applied: a hydraulic pressure at least 20 per cent higher than the test pressure as mentioned in 3.2.8.1.4 must be applied.

Criteria for passing the test successfully: the receptacle must not leak.

~~3.2.8.1.6 — Leakage test. Every aerosol. A leakage test in accordance with 6.5.4.1.2 or 6.5.4.3 approved by the competent authority must be used.~~

3.2.9.7 Metal or plastic flexible tubes

The materials of construction of flexible tubes and their closures must, where in contact with the organic peroxide, not affect the thermal stability.

...

Chapter 5

REQUIREMENTS FOR THE CONSTRUCTION AND TESTING OF CYLINDERS AND CLOSED CRYOGENIC RECEPTACLES, AEROSOL DISPENSERS AND SMALL RECEPTACLES CONTAINING GAS (GAS CARTRIDGES) AND FUEL CELL CARTRIDGES CONTAINING LIQUEFIED FLAMMABLE GAS

...

5.1 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

5.1.1 Design and construction

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.8 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.9 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.1.1.1 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

5.1.1.1 Cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles ~~and their closures~~ must be designed, manufactured, tested and equipped in such a way as to withstand all conditions, including fatigue, to which they will be subjected during normal conditions of transport and intended use.

...

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.1.1.4 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

5.1.1.4 For welded cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles, only metals of weldable quality must be ~~used~~ welded.

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.1.1.5 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

5.1.1.5 The test pressure of cylinders shells must be in accordance with Packing Instruction 200 or, for a chemical under pressure, with Packing Instruction 218. The test pressure for closed cryogenic receptacles must be in accordance with Packing Instruction 202. The test pressure of a metal hydride storage system must be in accordance with Packing Instruction 214. The test pressure of a cylinder shell for an adsorbed gas must be in accordance with Packing Instruction 219.

...

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.1.1.8.2 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

5.1.1.8.2 The closed cryogenic receptacles must be thermally insulated. The thermal insulation must be protected against impact by means of a jacket. If the space between the ~~closed cryogenic receptacle~~ inner vessel and the jacket is evacuated of air (vacuum-insulation), the jacket must be designed to withstand without permanent deformation an external pressure of at least 100 kPa (1 bar) calculated in accordance with a recognized technical code or a calculated critical collapsing pressure of not less than 200 kPa (2 bar) gauge pressure. If the jacket is so closed as to be gas-tight (e.g. in the case of vacuum-insulation), a device must be provided to prevent any dangerous pressure from developing in the insulating layer in the event of inadequate gas-tightness of the ~~closed cryogenic receptacle~~ inner vessel or its fittings service equipment. The device must prevent moisture from penetrating into the insulation.

...

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.1.1.9 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

5.1.1.9 Additional requirements for the construction of ~~pressure receptacles for~~ acetylene cylinders

Cylinders shells for UN 1001— **Acetylene, dissolved** and UN 3374 — **Acetylene, solvent free** must be filled with a porous mass, uniformly distributed, of a type that conforms to the requirements and testing specified by a standard or technical code recognized by the appropriate national authority and which:

- a) is compatible with the cylinder shell and does not form harmful or dangerous compounds either with the acetylene or with the solvent in the case of UN 1001; and
- b) is capable of preventing the spread of decomposition of the acetylene in the porous material.

In the case of UN 1001, the solvent must be compatible with those parts of the cylinders that are in contact with it.

5.1.2 Materials

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.1.2.1 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

5.1.2.1 Construction materials of cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles ~~and their closures~~ which are in direct contact with dangerous goods must not be affected or weakened by the dangerous goods intended and must not cause a dangerous effect (e.g. catalysing a reaction or reacting with the dangerous goods).

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.1.2.2 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

5.1.2.2 Cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles ~~and their closures~~ must be made of the materials specified in the design and construction technical standards and the applicable packing instruction for the substances intended for transport in the cylinder and closed cryogenic receptacle. The materials must be resistant to brittle fracture and to stress corrosion cracking as indicated in the design and construction technical standards.

5.1.3 Service equipment

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.1.3.1 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

Broke the sentence up into a list for better readability:

5.1.3.1 ~~Valves, piping and other fittings~~ Service equipment subjected to pressure, excluding:

a) porous, absorbent or adsorbent material;

b) pressure relief devices;

c) pressure gauges; or

d) indicators;

must be designed and constructed so that the burst pressure is at least 1.5 times the test pressure of the cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles.

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.1.3.2 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1) (did not include last new sentence from UN because manifolds are not permitted in air transport, i.e. “Manifold piping leading to shut-off valves must be sufficiently flexible to protect the shut-off valves and the piping from shearing or releasing the pressure receptacle contents”):

5.1.3.2 Service equipment must be configured or designed to prevent damage and unintended opening that could result in the release of the cylinder and closed cryogenic receptacle contents during normal conditions of handling and transport. ~~The filling and discharge valves and any protective caps must be capable of being secured against unintended opening. Valves must~~ All closures must be protected in the same manner ~~as specified~~ is required for valves in 4.4.1.1.8.

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.1.3.3 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

5.1.3.3 Cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles that are not capable of being handled manually or rolled must be fitted with handling devices (skids, rings, straps) ensuring that they can be safely handled by mechanical means and arranged so as not to impair the strength of, nor cause undue stresses in, the cylinder and closed cryogenic receptacle.

5.1.3.4 Individual cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles must be equipped with pressure relief devices as specified in Packing Instruction 200(1), 202 or 214, or 5.1.3.6.4 and 5.1.3.6.5. Pressure-relief devices must be designed to prevent the entry of foreign matter, the leakage of gas and the development of any dangerous excess pressure.

5.1.3.5 Cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles whose filling is measured by volume must be provided with a level indicator.

...

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.1.4.1 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

5.1.4 Approval of cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles

5.1.4.1 The conformity of cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles must be assessed at the time of manufacture as required by the appropriate national authority. ~~Cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles must be inspected, tested and approved by an inspection body.~~ The technical documentation must include full specifications on design and construction, and full documentation on the manufacturing and testing.

5.1.4.2 Quality assurance systems must conform to the requirements of the appropriate national authority.

...

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.1.4.3 and 6.2.1.4.4 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

5.1.4.3 Cylinder shells and the inner vessels of closed cryogenic receptacles must be inspected, tested and approved by an inspection body.

5.1.4.4 For refillable cylinders, the conformity assessment of the shell and the closure(s) may be carried out separately. In these cases, an additional assessment of the final assembly is not required.

5.1.4.4.1 For closed cryogenic receptacles, the inner vessels and the closures may be assessed separately, but an additional assessment of the complete assembly is required.

5.1.4.4.2 For acetylene cylinders, conformity assessment must comprise either:

a) one assessment of conformity covering both the cylinder shell and the contained porous material; or

b) a separate assessment of conformity for the empty cylinder shell and an additional assessment of conformity covering the cylinder shell with the contained porous material.

...

5.1.5 Initial inspection and testing

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.1.5.1 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

5.1.5.1 New cylinders, other than closed cryogenic receptacles and metal hydride storage systems, must be subjected to inspection and testing during and after manufacture in accordance with the applicable design standards or recognized technical codes including the following:

On an adequate sample of cylinders ~~shells~~:

- a) testing of the mechanical characteristics of the material of construction;
- b) verification of the minimum wall thickness;
- c) verification of the homogeneity of the material for each manufacturing batch;

- d) inspection of the external and internal conditions ~~of the cylinders~~;
- e) inspection of the ~~neck~~ threads used to fit closures;
- f) verification of the conformance with the design standard;

For all cylinders shells:

- g) a hydraulic pressure test. Cylinders shells must meet the acceptance criteria specified in the design and construction technical standard or technical code;

Note.— With the agreement of the appropriate national authority, the hydraulic pressure test may be replaced by a test using a gas, where such an operation does not entail any danger.

- h) inspection and assessment of manufacturing defects and either repairing them or rendering the cylinders shells unserviceable. In the case of welded cylinders shells, particular attention must be paid to the quality of the welds;
- i) an inspection of the marks on the cylinders shells;
- j) in addition, cylinders shells intended for the transport of UN 1001 — **Acetylene, dissolved**, and UN 3374 — **Acetylene, solvent free**, must be inspected to ensure proper installation and condition of the porous material and, if applicable, the quantity of solvent.

On an adequate sample of closures:

- k) verification of materials;
- l) verification of dimensions;
- m) verification of cleanliness;
- n) inspection of completed assembly;
- o) verification of the presence of marks;

For all closures:

- p) testing for leakproofness;

5.1.5.2 ~~On an adequate sample of closed cryogenic receptacles, the inspections and tests specified in 5.1.5.1 a), b), d) and f) must be performed. In addition, welds must be inspected by radiographic, ultrasonic or another suitable non-destructive test method on a sample of closed cryogenic receptacles according to the applicable design and construction standard. This weld inspection does not apply to the jacket. Additionally, all closed cryogenic receptacles must undergo the inspections and tests specified in 5.1.5.1 g), h) and i), as well as a leakproofness test and a test of the satisfactory operation of the service equipment after assembly.~~ must be subjected to testing and inspection during and after manufacture in accordance with the applicable design standards or recognized technical codes including the following:

On an adequate sample of inner vessels:

- a) testing of the mechanical characteristics of the material of construction;
- b) verification of the minimum wall thickness;
- c) inspection of the external and internal conditions;
- d) verification of the conformance with the design standard or technical code;
- e) inspection of welds by radiographic, ultrasonic or other suitable non-destructive test method according to the applicable design and construction standard or technical code;

For all inner vessels:

- f) a hydraulic pressure test. The inner vessel must meet the acceptance criteria specified in the design and construction technical standard or technical code;

Note.— With the agreement of the competent authority, the hydraulic pressure test may be replaced by a test using a gas, where such an operation does not entail any danger.

g) inspection and assessment of manufacturing defects and either repairing them or rendering the inner vessel unserviceable;

h) an inspection of the marks;

On an adequate sample of closures:

i) verification of materials;

j) verification of dimensions;

k) verification of cleanliness;

l) inspection of completed assembly;

m) verification of the presence of marks.

For all closures:

n) testing for leakproofness.

On an adequate sample of completed closed cryogenic receptacles:

o) testing the satisfactory operation of service equipment;

p) verification of the conformance with the design standard or technical code.

For all completed closed cryogenic pressure receptacles:

q) testing for leakproofness.

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.1.5.3 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

5.1.5.3 For metal hydride storage systems, it must be verified that the inspections and tests specified in 5.1.5.1 a), b), c), d), e) if applicable, f), g), h) and i) have been performed on an adequate sample of the pressure receptacles shells used in the metal hydride storage system. In addition, on an adequate sample of metal hydride storage systems, the inspections and tests specified in 5.1.5.1 c) and f) must be performed, as well as 5.1.5.1 e) if applicable, and inspection of the external conditions of the metal hydride storage system. Additionally, all metal hydride storage systems must undergo the initial inspections and tests specified in 5.1.5.1 h) and i), as well as a leakproofness test and a test of the satisfactory operation of the service equipment.

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.1.5.4 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

Did not incorporate in Technical Instructions because it applies to bundles of cylinders which are not permitted for air transport.

5.1.6 Periodic inspection and testing

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.1.6.1 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

5.1.6.1 Refillable cylinders other than cryogenic receptacles must be subjected to periodic inspections and tests by a body authorized by the appropriate national authority, in accordance with the following:

- a) check of the external conditions of the cylinder and verification of the equipment and the external marks;
- b) check of the internal conditions of the cylinder (e.g. internal inspection, verification of minimum wall thickness);
- c) check of the threads either:
- i) if there is evidence of corrosion; or

- ii) if the ~~fittings~~ closures or other service equipment are removed;
- d) a hydraulic pressure test of the cylinder shell and, if necessary, verification of the characteristics of the material by suitable tests;

Note 1.— With the agreement of the appropriate national authority, the hydraulic pressure test may be replaced by a test using a gas, where such an operation does not entail any danger.

Note 2.— For seamless steel cylinders shells the check of 5.1.6.1 b) and hydraulic pressure test of 5.1.6.1 d) may be replaced by a procedure conforming to ISO 16148:2016 “Gas cylinders — Refillable seamless steel gas cylinders and tubes — Acoustic emission examination (AT) and follow-up ultrasonic examination (UT) for periodic inspection and testing”.

Note 3.— The check of internal conditions of 5.1.6.1 b) and the hydraulic pressure test of 5.1.6.1.d) may be replaced by ultrasonic examination carried out in accordance with ISO 10461:2005 + A1:2006 18119:2018 for seamless steel and seamless aluminium alloy ~~gas cylinders~~ shells ~~and in accordance with ISO 6406:2005 for seamless steel gas cylinders~~. For a transitional period until 31 December 2024 the standard ISO 10461:2005 + A1:2006 may be used for seamless aluminium alloy cylinders and ISO 6406:2005 may be used for seamless steel cylinder shells for this same purpose.

- e) check of service equipment, ~~other accessories and pressure relief devices~~, if to be reintroduced into service. This check may be carried out separately from the inspection of the cylinder shell.

Note.— For the periodic inspection and test frequencies, see Packing Instruction 200 or, for a chemical under pressure, Packing Instruction 218.

...

5.1.7 Requirements for manufacturers

5.1.7.1 The manufacturer must be technically able and must possess all resources required for the satisfactory manufacture of cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles; this relates in particular to qualified personnel:

- a) to supervise the entire manufacturing process;
- b) to carry out joining of materials; and
- c) to carry out the relevant tests.

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.1.7.2 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

5.1.7.2 ~~The~~ A proficiency test of ~~a the~~ manufacturers of cylinder shells and the inner vessels of closed cryogenic receptacle must in all instances be carried out by an inspection body approved by the ~~appropriate national~~ competent authority of the country of approval. Proficiency testing of manufacturers of closures must be carried out if the competent authority requires it. This test must be carried out either during design type approval or during production inspection and certification.

...

5.2 REQUIREMENTS FOR UN CYLINDERS AND CLOSED CRYOGENIC RECEPTACLES

In addition to the general requirements of 5.1, UN cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles must comply with the requirements of this section, including the standards, as applicable. Manufacture of new UN cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles or service equipment according to any particular standard in 5.2.1 and 5.2.3 is not permitted after the date shown in the right hand column of the tables.

Note 1.— With the agreement of the appropriate national authority, more recently published versions of the standards, if available, may be used.

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

Note 2.— UN cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles ~~and service equipment~~ constructed according to standards applicable at the date of manufacture may continue in use subject to the periodic inspection provisions of these Instructions.

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.1.1 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

5.2.1 Design, construction and initial inspection and testing

5.2.1.1 The following standards apply for the design, construction and initial inspection and test of refillable UN cylinders shells, except that inspection requirements related to the conformity assessment system and approval must be in accordance with 5.2.5:

Reference	Title	Applicable for manufacture
ISO 9809-1:1999	Gas cylinders — Refillable seamless steel gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing — Part 1: Quenched and tempered steel cylinders with tensile strength less than 1 100 MPa. <i>Note.— The note concerning the F factor in section 7.3 of this standard must not be applied for UN cylinders.</i>	Until 31 December 2018
ISO 9809-1:2010	Gas cylinders — Refillable seamless steel gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing — Part 1: Quenched and tempered steel cylinders with tensile strength less than 1 100 MPa.	Until further notice <u>31 December 2026</u>
<u>ISO 9809-1:2019</u>	<u>Gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing of refillable seamless steel gas cylinders and tubes — Part 1: Quenched and tempered steel cylinders and tubes with tensile strength less than 1 100 MPa.</u>	<u>Until further notice</u>
ISO 9809-2:2000	Gas cylinders — Refillable seamless steel gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing — Part 2: Quenched and tempered steel cylinders with tensile strength greater than or equal to 1 100 MPa.	Until 31 December 2018
ISO 9809-2:2010	Gas cylinders — Refillable seamless steel gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing — Part 2: Quenched and tempered steel cylinders with tensile strength greater than or equal to 1 100 MPa.	Until further notice <u>31 December 2026</u>
<u>ISO 9809-2:2019</u>	<u>Gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing of refillable seamless steel gas cylinders and tubes — Part 2: Quenched and tempered steel cylinders and tubes with tensile strength greater than or equal to 1 100 MPa.</u>	<u>Until further notice</u>
ISO 9809-3:2000	Gas cylinders — Refillable seamless steel gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing — Part 3: Normalized steel cylinders.	Until 31 December 2018
ISO 9809-3:2010	Gas cylinders — Refillable seamless steel gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing — Part 3: Normalized steel cylinders.	Until further notice <u>31 December 2026</u>
<u>ISO 9809-3:2019</u>	<u>Gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing of refillable seamless steel gas cylinders and tubes — Part 3: Normalized steel cylinders and tubes.</u>	<u>Until further notice</u>
ISO 9809-4:2014	Gas cylinders — Refillable seamless steel gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing — Part 4: Stainless steel cylinders with an Rm value of less than 1 100 MPa	Until further notice
ISO 7866:1999	Gas cylinders — Refillable seamless aluminium alloy gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing. <i>Note.— The note concerning the F factor in section 7.2 of this standard must not be applied for UN cylinders. Aluminium alloy 6351A — T6 or equivalent must not be authorized.</i>	Until 31 December 2020
ISO 7866: 2012+ Cor 1:2014	Gas cylinders — Refillable seamless aluminium alloy gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing <i>Note.— Aluminium alloy 6351A or equivalent must not be used.</i>	Until further notice
ISO 4706:2008	Gas cylinders — Refillable welded steel cylinders — Test pressure 60 bar and below.	Until further notice
ISO 18172-1:2007	Gas cylinders — Refillable welded stainless steel cylinders — Part 1: Test pressure 6 MPa and below.	Until further notice
ISO 20703:2006	Gas cylinders — Refillable welded aluminium-alloy cylinders — Design, construction and testing.	Until further notice

Reference	Title	Applicable for manufacture
ISO 11118:1999	Gas cylinders — Non-refillable metallic gas cylinders — Specification and test methods.	Until 31 December 2020
ISO 11118:2015	Gas cylinders — Non-refillable metallic gas cylinders — Specification and test methods.	Until further notice
ISO 11119-1:2002	Gas cylinders of composite construction — Specification and test methods — Part 1: Hoop wrapped composite gas cylinders.	Until 31 December 2020
ISO 11119-1:2012	Gas cylinders — Refillable composite gas cylinders and tubes — Design, construction and testing — Part 1: Hoop wrapped fibre reinforced composite gas cylinders and tubes up to 450 L	Until further notice
ISO 11119-2:2002	Gas cylinders of composite construction — Specification and test methods — Part 2: Fully wrapped fibre reinforced composite gas cylinders with load-sharing metal liners.	Until 31 December 2020
ISO 11119-2:2012 + Amd 1:2014	Gas cylinders — Refillable composite gas cylinders and tubes — Design, construction and testing — Part 2: Fully wrapped fibre reinforced composite gas cylinders and tubes up to 450 L with load-sharing metal liners.	Until further notice
ISO 11119-3:2002	Gas cylinders of composite construction — Specification and test methods — Part 3: Fully wrapped fibre reinforced composite gas cylinders with non-load-sharing metallic or non-metallic liners. <i>Note.— This standard must not be used for linerless cylinders manufactured from two parts joined together.</i>	Until 31 December 2020
ISO 11119-3:2013	Gas cylinders — Refillable composite gas cylinders and tubes — Design, construction and testing — Part 3: Fully wrapped fibre reinforced composite gas cylinders and tubes up to 450 L with non-load-sharing metallic or non-metallic liners. <i>Note.— This standard must not be used for linerless cylinders manufactured from two parts joined together.</i>	Until further notice
ISO 11119-4: 2016	Gas cylinders — Refillable composite gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing — Part 4: Fully wrapped fibre reinforced composite gas cylinders up to 150 L with load-sharing welded metallic liners.	Until further notice

Note 1.— In the above-referenced standards, composite cylinders shells must be designed for a design life of not less than fifteen years.

Note 2.— Composite cylinders shells with a design life longer than fifteen years must not be filled after fifteen years from the date of manufacture, unless the design has successfully passed a service life test programme. The programme must be part of the initial design type approval and must specify inspections and tests to demonstrate that composite cylinders shells manufactured accordingly remain safe to the end of their design life. The service life test programme and the results must be approved by the appropriate national authority of the country of approval that is responsible for the initial approval of the cylinder design. The service life of a composite cylinder shell must not be extended beyond its initial approved design life.

5.2.1.2 Not used.

5.2.1.3 The following standards apply for the design, construction and initial inspection and test of UN acetylene cylinders except that inspection requirements related to the conformity assessment system and approval must be in accordance with 5.2.5.

Note.— The maximum of 1 000 L volume as mentioned in the ISO standard ISO 21029-1:2004 Cryogenic vessels, does not apply for refrigerated liquefied gases in closed cryogenic receptacles installed in apparatus (e.g. MRI or cooling machines).

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.1.3 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

For the cylinder shell:

Reference	Title	Applicable for manufacture
ISO 9809-1:1999	Gas cylinders — Refillable seamless steel gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing — Part 1: Quenched and tempered steel cylinders with tensile strength less than 1 100 MPa.	Until 31 December 2018

	<i>Note.— The note concerning the F factor in section 7.3 of this standard must not be applied for UN cylinders.</i>	
ISO 9809-1:2010	Gas cylinders — Refillable seamless steel gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing — Part 1: Quenched and tempered steel cylinders with tensile strength less than 1 100 MPa.	Until further notice <u>31 December 2026</u>
<u>ISO 9809-1:2019</u>	<u>Gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing of refillable seamless steel gas cylinders and tubes — Part 1: Quenched and tempered steel cylinders and tubes with tensile strength less than 1 100 MPa.</u>	<u>Until further notice</u>
ISO 9809-3:2000	Gas cylinders — Refillable seamless steel gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing — Part 3: Normalized steel cylinders.	Until 31 December 2018
ISO 9809-3:2010	Gas cylinders — Refillable seamless steel gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing — Part 3: Normalized steel cylinders.	Until further notice <u>31 December 2026</u>
<u>ISO 9809-3:2019</u>	<u>Gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing of refillable seamless steel gas cylinders and tubes — Part 3: Normalized steel cylinders and tubes.</u>	<u>Until further notice</u>
ISO 4706:2008	Gas cylinders — Refillable welded steel cylinders — Test pressure 60 bar and below	Until further notice
ISO 7866:2012 + Cor 1:2014	Gas cylinders — Refillable seamless aluminium alloy gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing <i>Note.— Aluminium alloy 6351A or equivalent must not be used</i>	Until further notice

For the acetylene cylinder including the porous mass in the cylinder:

<i>Reference</i>	<i>Title</i>	<i>Applicable for manufacture</i>
ISO 3807-1:2000	Cylinders for acetylene — Basic requirements — Part 1: Cylinders without fusible plugs.	Until 31 December 2020
ISO 3807-2:2000	Cylinders for acetylene — Basic requirements — Part 2: Cylinders with fusible plugs.	Until 31 December 2020
ISO 3807:2013	Gas cylinders — Acetylene cylinders — Basic requirements and type testing	Until further notice

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.1.4 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

5.2.1.4 The following standard applies for the design, construction and initial inspection and test of UN closed cryogenic receptacles, except that inspection requirements related to the conformity assessment system and approval must be in accordance with 5.2.5:

<i>Reference</i>	<i>Title</i>	<i>Applicable for manufacture</i>
ISO 21029-1:2004	Cryogenic vessels — Transportable vacuum insulated vessels of not more than 1 000 L volume — Part 1: Design, fabrication, inspection and tests.	Until further notice <u>31 December 2026</u>
<u>ISO 21029-1:2018 + Amd.1:2019</u>	<u>Cryogenic vessels — Transportable vacuum insulated vessels of not more than 1 000 L volume — Part 1: Design, fabrication, inspection and tests.</u>	<u>Until further notice</u>

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.1.5 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

5.2.1.5 The following standards apply for the design, construction, and initial inspection and test of UN metal hydride storage systems, except that inspection requirements related to the conformity assessment system and approval must be in accordance with 5.2.5:

<i>Reference</i>	<i>Title</i>	<i>Applicable for manufacture</i>
ISO 16111:2008	Transportable gas storage devices — Hydrogen absorbed in reversible metal hydride.	Until further notice <u>31 December 2026</u>
<u>ISO 16111:2018</u>	<u>Transportable gas storage devices — Hydrogen absorbed in reversible metal hydride.</u>	<u>Until further notice</u>

5.2.1.6 Not used.

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.1.7 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

5.2.1.7 The following standards apply for the design, construction and initial inspection and test of UN cylinders for adsorbed gases except that the inspection requirements related to the conformity assessment system and approval must be in accordance with 5.2.5.

<i>Reference</i>	<i>Title</i>	<i>Applicable for manufacture</i>
ISO 11513:2011	Gas cylinders — Refillable welded steel cylinders containing materials for sub-atmospheric gas packaging (excluding acetylene) — Design, construction, testing, use and periodic inspection.	Until further notice <u>31 December 2026</u>
<u>ISO 11513:2019</u>	<u>Gas cylinders — Refillable welded steel cylinders containing materials for sub-atmospheric gas packaging (excluding acetylene) — Design, construction, testing, use and periodic inspection.</u>	<u>Until further notice</u>
ISO 9809-1:2010	Gas cylinders — Refillable seamless steel gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing — Part 1: Quenched and tempered steel cylinders with tensile strength less than 1 100 MPa.	Until further notice <u>31 December 2026</u>
<u>ISO 9809-1:2019</u>	<u>Gas cylinders — Design, construction and testing of refillable seamless steel gas cylinders and tubes — Part 1: Quenched and tempered steel cylinders and tubes with tensile strength less than 1 100 MPa.</u>	<u>Until further notice</u>

5.2.1.8 Not used.

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.1.9 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

5.2.1.9 The following standards apply for the design, construction and initial inspection and test of non-refillable UN cylinders except that the inspection requirements related to the conformity assessment system and approval must be in accordance with 6.5.2.5.

<i>Reference</i>	<i>Title</i>	<i>Applicable for manufacture</i>
<u>ISO 11118:1999</u>	<u>Gas cylinders — Non-refillable metallic gas cylinders — Specification and test methods.</u>	<u>Until 31 December 2020</u>
<u>ISO 13340:2001</u>	<u>Transportable gas cylinders — Cylinder valves for non-refillable cylinders — Specification and prototype testing.</u>	<u>Until 31 December 2020</u>
<u>ISO 11118:2015</u>	<u>Gas cylinders — Non-refillable metallic gas cylinders — Specification and test methods.</u>	<u>Until 31 December 2026</u>
<u>ISO 11118:2015 + Amd.1:2019</u>	<u>Gas cylinders — Non-refillable metallic gas cylinders — Specification and test methods.</u>	<u>Until further notice</u>

5.2.2 Materials

In addition to the material requirements specified in the ~~cylinder and closed cryogenic receptacle~~ design and construction standards, and any restrictions specified in the applicable Packing Instruction for the gas(es) to be transported (e.g. Packing Instruction 200, Packing Instruction 202 or Packing Instruction 214), the following standards apply to material compatibility:

<i>Reference</i>	<i>Title</i>	<i>Applicable for manufacture</i>
ISO 11114-1:2012 + A1:2017	Gas cylinders — Compatibility of cylinder and valve materials with gas contents — Part 1: Metallic materials.	Until further notice
ISO 11114-2:2013	Gas cylinders — Compatibility of cylinder and valve materials with gas contents — Part 2: Non-metallic materials.	Until further notice

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.3 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

5.2.3 ~~Service equipment~~ Closures and their protection

The following standards apply to the design, construction, and initial inspection and test of closures and their protection:

<i>Reference</i>	<i>Title</i>	<i>Applicable for manufacture</i>
ISO 11117:1998	Gas cylinders — Valve protection caps and valve guards for industrial and medical gas cylinders — Design, construction and tests.	Until 31 December 2014
ISO 11117:2008+ Cor 1:2009	Gas cylinders — Valve protection caps and valve guards — Design, construction and tests.	Until further notice <u>31 December 2026</u>
<u>ISO 11117:2019</u>	<u>Gas cylinders — Valve protection caps and guards — Design, construction and tests.</u>	<u>Until further notice</u>
ISO 10297:1999	Gas cylinders — Refillable gas cylinder valves — Specification and type testing.	Until 31 December 2008
ISO 10297:2006	Gas cylinders — Refillable gas cylinder valves — Specification and type testing.	Until 31 December 2020
ISO 10297:2014	Gas cylinders — Cylinder valves — Specification and type testing	Until 31 December 2022
ISO 10297:2014 + A1:2017	Gas cylinders — Cylinder valves — Specification and type testing	Until further notice
ISO 13340:2004	Transportable gas cylinders — Cylinder valves for non-refillable cylinders — Specification and prototype testing.	Until 31 December 2020
ISO 14246:2014	Gas cylinders — Cylinder valves — Manufacturing tests and examination	Until 31 December 2024
ISO 14246:2014 + A1:2017	Gas cylinders — Cylinder valves — Manufacturing tests and examination	Until further notice
ISO 17871:2015	Gas cylinders — Quick-release cylinders valves — Specification and type testing <u>Note.— This standard must not be used for flammable gases.</u>	Until further notice <u>31 December 2026</u>
Paragraph 3.1.2.9.2 of DGP/28-WP/3:		
<u>ISO 17871:2020</u>	<u>Gas cylinders — Quick-release cylinder valves — Specification and type testing.</u>	<u>Until further notice</u>
ISO 17879:2017	Gas cylinders — Self-closing cylinder valves — Specification and type testing <u>Note.— This standard must not be applied to self-closing valves in acetylene cylinders.</u>	Until further notice

Paragraph 3.1.2.9 of DGP/28-WP/3:

For UN metal hydride storage systems, the requirements specified in the following standard apply to closures and their protection:

<i>Reference</i>	<i>Title</i>	<i>Applicable for manufacture</i>
ISO 16111:2008	Transportable gas storage devices — Hydrogen absorbed in reversible metal hydride	Until further notice <u>31 December 2026</u>
<u>ISO 16111:2018</u>	<u>Transportable gas storage devices — Hydrogen absorbed in reversible metal hydride.</u>	<u>Until further notice</u>

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.4 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

5.2.4 Periodic inspection and test

5.2.4.1 The following standards apply to the periodic inspection and testing of UN cylinders and their closures:

Reference	Title	Applicable for manufacture
ISO 6406:2005	Seamless steel gas cylinders — Periodic inspection and testing.	Until further notice <u>31 December 2024</u>
<u>ISO 18119:2018</u>	<u>Gas cylinders — Seamless steel and seamless aluminium-alloy gas cylinders and tubes — Periodic inspection and testing.</u>	Until further notice
ISO 10460:2005	Gas cylinders — Welded carbon-steel gas cylinders — Periodic inspection and testing. <i>Note.— The repair of welds described in clause 12.1 of this standard must not be permitted. Repairs described in clause 12.2 require the approval of the appropriate national authority which approved the periodic inspection and test body in accordance with 5.2.6.</i>	Until further notice <u>31 December 2024</u>
<u>ISO 10460:2018</u>	<u>Gas cylinders — Welded aluminium-alloy, carbon and stainless steel gas cylinders — Periodic inspection and testing.</u>	Until further notice
ISO 10461:2005/A1:2006	Seamless aluminium-alloy gas cylinders — Periodic inspection and testing.	Until further notice <u>31 December 2024</u>
ISO 10462:2013	Gas cylinders — Acetylene cylinders — Periodic inspection and maintenance.	Until further notice <u>31 December 2024</u>
<u>ISO 10462:2013 + Amd1:2019</u>	<u>Gas cylinders — Acetylene cylinders — Periodic inspection and maintenance.</u>	Until further notice
ISO 11513:2011	Gas cylinders — Refillable welded steel cylinders containing materials for sub-atmospheric gas packaging (excluding acetylene) — Design, construction, testing, use and periodic inspection.	Until further notice <u>31 December 2024</u>
<u>ISO 11513:2019</u>	<u>Gas cylinders — Refillable welded steel cylinders containing materials for sub-atmospheric gas packaging (excluding acetylene) — Design, construction, testing, use and periodic inspection.</u>	Until further notice
ISO 11623:2002	Transportable gas cylinders — Periodic inspection and testing of composite gas cylinders.	Until 31 December 2020
ISO 11623:2015	Gas cylinders — Composite construction — Periodic inspection and testing	Until further notice
ISO 22434:2006	Transportable gas cylinders — Inspection and maintenance of cylinder valves <i>Note.— These requirements may be met at times other than at the periodic inspection and test of UN cylinders.</i>	Until further notice
ISO 20475:2018	Gas cylinders — Cylinder bundles — Periodic inspection and testing	Until further notice
<u>ISO 23088:2020</u>	<u>Gas cylinders — Periodic inspection and testing of welded steel pressure drums — Capacities up to 1 000 L.</u>	Until further notice

5.2.4.2 The following standard applies to the periodic inspection and testing of UN metal hydride storage systems.

Reference	Title	Applicable for manufacture
ISO 16111:2008	Transportable gas storage devices — Hydrogen absorbed in reversible metal hydride	Until further notice <u>31 December 2024</u>
<u>ISO 16111:2018</u>	<u>Transportable gas storage devices — Hydrogen absorbed in reversible metal hydride.</u>	Until further notice

5.2.5 Conformity assessment system and approval for manufacture of cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles

Paragraphs 1.2.1.8 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.9.1 c) of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.5 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

5.2.5.1 General

5.2.5.1.1 Definitions

For the purposes of this section:

Conformity assessment system: a system for appropriate national authority approval of a manufacturer, by cylinder and closed cryogenic receptacle design type approval, approval of manufacturer's quality system and approval of inspection bodies.

Design type: a cylinder and closed cryogenic receptacle design as specified by a particular cylinder and closed cryogenic receptacle standard.

Verify: confirm by examination or provision of objective evidence that specified requirements have been fulfilled.

Paragraphs 1.2.1.8 b), c) and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.9.1 a) of DGP/28-WP/3:

5.2.5.1.2 The requirements of 5.2.5 must be used for the conformity assessments of cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles. Paragraph 5.1.4.4 gives details of which parts of cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles may be conformity assessed separately. However, the requirements of 5.2.5 may be replaced by requirements specified by the competent authority in the following cases:

a) conformity assessment of closures:

Paragraphs 1.2.1.8 d) and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.9.1 b) of DGP/28-WP/3:

b) Not used; and

Paragraphs 1.2.1.8 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.9 of DGP/28-WP/3:

c) conformity assessment of the complete assembly of closed cryogenic receptacles provided the inner vessel has been conformity assessed in accordance with the requirements of 5.2.5.

...

5.2.5.4.9 *Procedure for design type approval*

5.2.5.4.9.1 The inspection body must:

a) examine the technical documentation to verify that:

- i) the design is in accordance with the relevant provisions of the standard; and
- ii) the prototype lot has been manufactured in conformity with the technical documentation and is representative of the design;

b) verify that the production inspections have been carried out as required in accordance with 5.2.5.5;

Paragraphs 1.2.1.8 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.9.1 a) of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.5.4.9 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

c) ~~select cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles from a prototype production lot and supervise the tests of these cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles~~ as required by the cylinder and closed cryogenic receptacle standard or technical code, carry out or supervise the tests of pressure receptacles as required for design type approval;

- d) perform or have performed the examinations and tests specified in the cylinder and closed cryogenic receptacle standard to determine that:
 - i) the standard has been applied and fulfilled; and
 - ii) the procedures adopted by the manufacturer meet the requirements of the standard; and
- e) ensure that the various type approval examinations and tests are correctly and competently carried out.

5.2.5.4.9.2 After prototype testing has been carried out with satisfactory results and all applicable requirements of 5.2.5.4 have been satisfied, a Design Type Approval Certificate must be issued which must include the name and address of the manufacturer, results and conclusions of the examination, and the necessary data for identification of the design type. If it was not possible to evaluate exhaustively the compatibility of the materials of construction with the contents of the cylinder or closed cryogenic receptacle when the certificate was issued, a statement that compatibility assessment was not completed must be included in the design type approval certificate.

...

5.2.7 Marking of UN refillable cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles


Paragraphs 1.2.1.8 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.9 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.7 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

Note.— Marking requirements for UN metal hydride storage systems are given in 5.2.9 and marking requirements for closures are given in 5.2.11.

5.2.7.1 Refillable UN cylinders shells and closed cryogenic receptacles must be marked clearly and legibly with certification, operational and manufacturing marks. These marks must be permanently affixed (e.g. stamped, engraved or etched) ~~on the cylinder~~. The marks must be on the shoulder, top end or neck of the cylinder shell and closed cryogenic receptacle or on a permanently affixed component of the cylinder and closed cryogenic receptacle (e.g. welded collar or corrosion-resistant plate welded to the outer jacket of a closed cryogenic receptacle). Except for the UN packaging symbol, the minimum size of the marks must be 5 mm for cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles with a diameter greater than or equal to 140 mm and 2.5 mm for cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles with a diameter less than 140 mm. The minimum size of the UN packaging symbol must be 10 mm for cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles with a diameter greater than or equal to 140 mm and 5 mm for cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles with a diameter less than 140 mm.

5.2.7.2 The following certification marks must be applied:

- a) The UN packaging symbol 

This symbol must not be used for any purpose other than certifying that a packaging complies with the relevant requirements in Chapters 1 to 6;

Paragraphs 1.2.1.8 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.9 d) of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.7.2 b) (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

- b) The technical standard (e.g. ISO 9809-1) used for the design, construction and testing and, for acetylene cylinders, the standard ISO 3807.
- c) The character(s) identifying the country of approval, as indicated by the distinguishing signs used on vehicles in international road traffic;

Note 1.— The distinguishing sign used on vehicles in international road traffic is the distinguishing sign of the State of registration used on motor vehicles and trailers in international road traffic, e.g. in accordance with the Geneva Convention on Road Traffic of 1949 or the Vienna Convention on Road Traffic of 1968.

Note 2.— For the purpose of this mark the State of approval means the State of the appropriate national authority that authorized the initial inspection and test of the individual receptacle at the time of manufacture.

- d) The identity mark or stamp of the inspection body that is registered with the appropriate national authority of the country authorizing the marking;
- e) The date of the initial inspection, the year (four digits) followed by the month (two digits) separated by a slash (i.e. “/”).

Paragraphs 1.2.1.8 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.9 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.7.2 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

Note.— When an acetylene cylinder is conformity assessed in accordance with 5.1.4.4.2 b) and the inspection bodies for the cylinder shell and the acetylene cylinder are different, their respective marks (d)) are required. Only the initial inspection date (e)) of the completed acetylene cylinder is required. If the country of approval of the inspection body responsible for the initial inspection and test is different a second mark (c)) must be applied.

5.2.7.3 The following operational marks must be applied:

- f) The test pressure in bar, preceded by the letters “PH” and followed by the letters “BAR”;

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.7.3 g) (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

- g) The mass of the empty cylinder and closed cryogenic receptacle including all permanently attached integral parts (e.g. neck ring, foot ring, etc.) in kilograms, followed by the letters “KG”. This mass must not include the mass of ~~valve, valve cap closure(s), valve protection cap~~ or valve guard, any coating, or porous mass for acetylene. The mass must be expressed to three significant figures rounded up to the last digit. For cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles of less than 1 kg, the mass must be expressed to two significant figures rounded up to the last digit. In the case of cylinders for UN 1001 **Acetylene, dissolved** and UN 3374 **Acetylene, solvent free**, at least one decimal must be shown after the decimal point and two digits for cylinders of less than 1 kg;
- h) The minimum guaranteed wall thickness of the cylinder in millimetres followed by the letters “MM”. This mark is not required for cylinders with a water capacity less than or equal to 1 litre or for composite cylinders or for closed cryogenic receptacles;

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.7.3 i) (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

- i) In the case of cylinders for compressed gases, UN 1001 **Acetylene, dissolved**, and UN 3374 **Acetylene, solvent free**, the working pressure in bar, preceded by the letters “PW”. In the case of closed cryogenic receptacles, the maximum allowable working pressure preceded by the letters “MAWP”;

Note.— When a cylinder shell is intended for use as an acetylene cylinder (including the porous material), the working pressure mark is not required until the acetylene cylinder is completed.

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.7.3 j) (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

- j) In the case of cylinders for liquefied gases ~~and dissolved gases~~ and closed cryogenic receptacles, the water capacity in litres expressed to three significant figures rounded down to the last digit, followed by the letter “L”. If the value of the minimum or nominal water capacity is an integer, the digits after the decimal point may be neglected;

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.7.3 k) and l) (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

- k) In the case of cylinders for UN 1001 **Acetylene, dissolved**:
 - i) ~~the tare in kilograms consisting of the total of the mass of the empty receptacle, the fittings and accessories not removed during filling, any coating, the porous mass, the solvent and the saturation gas~~ cylinder shell, the service equipment (including porous material) not removed during filling, any coating, the solvent and the saturation gas expressed to three significant figures rounded down to the last digit followed by the letters “KG”. At least one decimal must be shown after the decimal point. For cylinders of less than 1 kg, the mass must be expressed to two significant figures rounded down to the last digit;
 - ii) the identity of the porous material (e.g. name or trademark); and
 - iii) the total mass of the filled acetylene cylinder in kilograms followed by the letters “KG”;

- l) In the case of cylinders for UN 3374 **Acetylene, solvent free**:

i) the tare in kilograms consisting of the total of the mass of the empty receptacle, the fittings and accessories not removed during filling, any coating, and the porous mass cylinder shell, the service equipment (including porous material) not removed during filling and any coating expressed to three significant figures rounded down to the last digit followed by the letters "KG". At least one decimal must be shown after the decimal point. For cylinders of less than 1 kg, the mass must be expressed to two significant figures rounded down to the last digit;

ii) the identity of the porous material; and

iii) the total mass of the filled acetylene cylinder in kilograms followed by the letters "KG".

5.2.7.4 The following manufacturing marks must be applied:

- m) Identification of the cylinder thread (e.g. 25E). This mark is not required for closed cryogenic receptacles;

Note.— Information on marks that may be used for identifying threads for cylinders is given in ISO/TR 11364, Gas cylinders — Compilation of national and international valve stem/gas cylinder neck threads and their identification and marking system.

- n) The manufacturer's mark registered by the appropriate national authority. When the country of manufacture is not the same as the country of approval, then the manufacturer's mark must be preceded by the character(s) identifying the country of manufacture, as indicated by the distinguishing signs used on vehicles in international road traffic. The country mark and the manufacturer's mark must be separated by a space or slash;

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.7.4 n) (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

Note 1.— The distinguishing sign used on vehicles in international road traffic is the distinguishing sign of the State of registration used on motor vehicles and trailers in international road traffic, e.g. in accordance with the Geneva Convention on Road Traffic of 1949 or the Vienna Convention on Road Traffic of 1968.

Note 2.— For acetylene cylinders, if the manufacturer of the acetylene cylinder and the manufacturer of the cylinder shell are different, only the mark of the manufacturer of the completed acetylene cylinder is required.

...

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.7.8 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

5.2.7.8 ~~For acetylene cylinders, with the agreement of the national authority, the date of the most recent periodic inspection and the stamp of the body performing the periodic inspection and test~~ The marks in accordance with 5.2.7.7 may be engraved on a metallic ring held on affixed to the cylinder by when the valve is installed. ~~The ring must be configured so that it can be and which is removed~~ removable only by disconnecting the valve from the cylinder.

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.8.1 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

5.2.8 Marking of non-refillable UN cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles

5.2.8.1 ~~Non-refillable UN cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles~~ must be marked clearly and legibly with certification and gas or cylinder ~~and closed cryogenic receptacle~~ specific marks. These marks must be permanently affixed (e.g. stencilled, stamped, engraved or etched) on the cylinder. Except when stencilled, the marks must be on the shoulder, top end or neck of the cylinder ~~shell and closed cryogenic receptacle~~ or on a permanently affixed component of the cylinder ~~and closed cryogenic receptacle~~ (e.g. welded collar). Except for the "UN" mark and the "DO NOT REFILL" mark, the minimum size of the marks must be 5 mm for cylinders ~~and closed cryogenic receptacles~~ with a diameter greater than or equal to 140 mm and 2.5 mm ~~and closed cryogenic receptacles~~ for cylinders with a diameter less than 140 mm. The minimum size of the "UN" mark must be 10 mm for cylinders ~~and closed cryogenic receptacles~~ with a diameter greater than or equal to 140 mm and 5 mm for cylinders ~~and closed cryogenic receptacles~~ with a diameter less than 140 mm. The minimum size of the "DO NOT REFILL" mark must be 5 mm.

5.2.8.2 The marks listed in 5.2.7.2 to 5.2.7.4 must be applied with the exception of g), h) and m). The serial number o) may be replaced by the batch number. In addition, the words "DO NOT REFILL" in letters of at least 5 mm in height are required.

5.2.8.3 The requirements of 5.2.7.5 must apply.

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.8.3 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

Note.— Non-refillable cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles may, on account of their size, substitute a label for these permanent marks.

5.2.8.4 Other marks are allowed provided they are made in low stress areas other than the side wall and are not of a size and depth that will create harmful stress concentrations. Such marks must not conflict with required marks.

5.2.9 Marking of UN metal hydride storage systems

5.2.9.1 UN metal hydride storage systems must be marked clearly and legibly with the marks listed in 5.2.9.2. These marks must be permanently affixed (e.g. stamped, engraved, or etched) on the metal hydride storage system. The marks must be on the shoulder, top end or neck of the metal hydride storage system or on a permanently affixed component of the metal hydride storage system. Except for the United Nations packaging symbol, the minimum size of the marks must be:

- 5 mm for metal hydride storage systems with a smallest overall dimension greater than or equal to 140 mm; and
- 2.5 mm for metal hydride storage systems with a smallest overall dimension less than 140 mm.

The minimum size of the United Nations packaging symbol must be:

- 10 mm for metal hydride storage systems with a smallest overall dimension greater than or equal to 140 mm; and
- 5 mm for metal hydride storage systems with a smallest overall dimension less than 140 mm.

5.2.9.2 The following marks must be applied:

- a) The UN packaging symbol 

This symbol must not be used for any purpose other than for certifying that a packaging complies with the relevant requirements in Chapters 1 to 6;

- b) "ISO 16111" (the technical standard used for design, manufacture and testing);
- c) The character(s) identifying the country of approval, as indicated by the distinguishing signs used on vehicles in international road traffic;

Note 1.— The distinguishing sign used on vehicles in international road traffic is the distinguishing sign of the State of registration used on motor vehicles and trailers in international road traffic, e.g. in accordance with the Geneva Convention on Road Traffic of 1949 or the Vienna Convention on Road Traffic of 1968.

Note 2.— For the purpose of this mark the State of approval means the State of the appropriate national authority that authorized the initial inspection and test of the individual system at the time of manufacture.

- d) The identity mark or stamp of the inspection body that is registered with the appropriate national authority of the country authorizing the marking;
- e) The date of the initial inspection, the year (four digits), followed by the month (two digits) and separated by a slash (i.e. "/");
- f) The test pressure of the cylinder in bar, preceded by the letters "PH" and followed by the letters "BAR";
- g) The rated charging pressure of the metal hydride storage system in bar, preceded by the letters "RCP" and followed by the letters "BAR";
- h) The manufacturer's mark registered by the appropriate national authority. When the country of manufacture is not the same as the country of approval, then the manufacturer's mark must be preceded by the character(s) identifying the country of manufacture, as indicated by the distinguishing signs used on vehicles in international road traffic. The country mark and the manufacturer's mark must be separated by a space or slash;

Note.— The distinguishing sign used on vehicles in international road traffic is the distinguishing sign of the State of registration used on motor vehicles and trailers in international road traffic, e.g. in accordance with the Geneva Convention on Road Traffic of 1949 or the Vienna Convention on Road Traffic of 1968.

- i) The serial number assigned by the manufacturer;

- j) In the case of steel cylinders and composite cylinders with steel liner, the letter "H" showing compatibility of the steel (see ISO 11114-1:2012); and
- k) In the case of metal hydride storage systems having limited life, the date of expiry, denoted by the letters "FINAL" followed by the year (four digits), followed by the month (two digits) and separated by a slash (i.e. "/").

The certification marks specified in a) to e) above must appear consecutively in the sequence given. The test pressure referred to in f) must be immediately preceded by the rated charging pressure referred to in g). The manufacturing marks specified in h) to k) must appear consecutively in the sequence given.

5.2.9.3 Other marks are allowed in areas other than the side wall, provided they are made in low stress areas and are not of a size and depth that will create harmful stress concentrations. Such marks must not conflict with required marks.

5.2.9.4 In addition to the preceding marks, each metal hydride storage system that meets the periodic inspection and test requirements of 5.2.4 must be marked indicating:

- a) the character(s) identifying the country authorizing the body performing the periodic inspection and test, as indicated by the distinguishing sign used on vehicles in international road traffic. This mark is not required if this body is approved by the appropriate national authority of the country approving manufacture;

Note.— The distinguishing sign used on vehicles in international road traffic is the distinguishing sign of the State of registration used on motor vehicles and trailers in international road traffic, e.g. in accordance with the Geneva Convention on Road Traffic of 1949 or the Vienna Convention on Road Traffic of 1968.

- b) the registered mark of the body authorized by the appropriate national authority for performing periodic inspection and test;
- c) the date of the periodic inspection and test, the year (two digits), followed by the month (two digits) and separated by a slash (i.e. "/"). Four digits may be used to indicate the year.

The above marks must appear consecutively in the sequence given.

5.2.10 Not used.

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.2.11 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1) and paragraph 1.2.1.8 c) of this report:

5.2.11 Marking of closures for refillable UN cylinders and closed cryogenic receptacles

5.2.11.1 For closures the following permanent marks must be applied clearly and legibly (e.g. stamped, engraved or etched):

- a) manufacturer's identification mark;
- b) design standard or design standard designation;
- c) date of manufacture (year and month or year and week); and
- d) the identity mark of the inspection body responsible for the initial inspection and test, if applicable.

5.2.11.2 The valve test pressure must be marked when it is less than the test pressure which is indicated by the rating of the valve filling connection.

...

5.4 REQUIREMENTS FOR AEROSOL DISPENSERS, SMALL RECEPTACLES CONTAINING GAS (GAS CARTRIDGES) AND FUEL CELL CARTRIDGES CONTAINING LIQUEFIED FLAMMABLE GAS

UN Model Regulations, 6.2.4 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1) and paragraph 1.2.1.8 a) of this report:

5.4.1 The internal pressure of aerosol dispensers at 50°C must not exceed 1.2 MPa (12 bar) when using flammable liquefied gases, 1.32 MPa (13.2 bar) when using non-flammable liquefied gases, and 1.5 MPa (15 bar) when using non-flammable compressed or dissolved gases. In case of a mixture of several gases, the stricter limit applies.

5.4.2 For aerosol dispensers, the liquid content must not completely fill the closed receptacle at 55°C.

5.4.3 The capacity of metal receptacles must not exceed 1 000 mL; plastics receptacles must not exceed 500 mL

5.4.4 Each model of receptacles (aerosol dispensers or cartridges) must, before being put into service, satisfy a hydraulic pressure test:

5.4.4.1 The internal pressure to be applied (test pressure) must be 1.5 times the internal pressure at 50°C, with a minimum pressure of 1 MPa (10 bar).

5.4.4.2 The hydraulic pressure tests must be carried out on at least five empty receptacles of each model:

a) until the prescribed test pressure is reached, by which time no leakage or visible permanent deformation must have occurred; and

b) until leakage or bursting occurs; the dished end, if any, must yield first and the receptacle must not leak or burst until a pressure 1.2 times the test pressure has been reached or passed.

5.4.5 Each filled aerosol dispenser or gas cartridge or fuel cell cartridge must be subjected to a test in a hot water bath in accordance with 5.4.5.1 or an approved water bath alternative in accordance with 5.4.5.2.

5.4.5.1 HOT WATER BATH TEST

5.4.5.1.1 The temperature of the water bath and the duration of the test must be such that the internal pressure reaches that which would be reached at 55°C (50°C if the liquid phase does not exceed 95 per cent of the capacity of the aerosol dispenser, gas cartridge or fuel cell cartridge at 50°C). If the contents are sensitive to heat or if the aerosol dispensers, gas cartridges or fuel cell cartridges are made of plastics material which softens at this test temperature, the temperature of the bath must be set at between 20°C and 30°C but, in addition, one aerosol dispenser, gas cartridge or fuel cell cartridge in 2 000 must be tested at the higher temperature.

5.4.5.1.2. No leakage or permanent deformation of an aerosol dispenser, gas cartridge or fuel cell cartridge may occur, except that a plastic aerosol dispenser, gas cartridge or fuel cell cartridge may be deformed through softening provided that it does not leak.

5.4.5.2 ALTERNATIVE METHODS

With the approval of the appropriate national authority, alternative methods which provide an equivalent level of safety may be used provided that the requirements of 5.4.2.5.1 and, as appropriate, 5.4.2.5.2 or 5.4.2.5.3 are met.

5.4.5.2.1 Quality system

5.4.5.2.1.1 Aerosol dispenser, gas cartridge or fuel cell cartridge fillers and component manufacturers must have a quality system. The quality system must implement procedures to ensure that all aerosol dispensers, gas cartridges or fuel cell cartridges that leak or that are deformed are rejected and not offered for transport.

5.4.5.2.1.1.1 The quality system must include:

a) a description of the organizational structure and responsibilities;

b) the relevant inspection and test, quality control, quality assurance, and process operation instructions that will be used;

- c) quality records, such as inspection reports, test data, calibration data and certificates;
- d) management reviews to ensure the effective operation of the quality system;
- e) a process for control of documents and their revision;
- f) a means for control of non-conforming aerosol dispensers, gas cartridges or fuel cell cartridges;
- g) training programmes and qualification procedures for relevant personnel; and
- h) procedures to ensure that there is no damage to the final product.

5.4.5.2.1.1.2 An initial audit and periodic audits must be conducted to the satisfaction of the appropriate national authority. These audits must ensure the approved system is and remains adequate and efficient. Any proposed changes to the approved system must be notified to the appropriate national authority in advance.

5.4.5.2.2 *Aerosol dispensers*

5.4.5.2.2.1 *Pressure and leak testing of aerosol dispensers before filling*

Each empty aerosol dispenser must be subjected to a pressure equal to or in excess of the maximum expected in the filled aerosol dispensers at 55°C (50°C if the liquid phase does not exceed 95 percent of the capacity of the receptacle at 50°C). This must be at least two-thirds of the design pressure of the aerosol dispenser. If any aerosol dispenser shows evidence of leakage at a rate equal to or greater than 3.3×10^{-2} mbar.l.s⁻¹ at the test pressure, distortion or other defect, it must be rejected.

5.4.5.2.2.2 *Testing of the aerosol dispensers after filling*

5.4.5.2.2.2.1 Prior to filling, the filler must ensure that the crimping equipment is set appropriately and the specified propellant is used.

5.4.5.2.2.2.2 Each filled aerosol dispenser must be weighed and leak tested. The leak detection equipment must be sufficiently sensitive to detect at least a leak rate of 2.0×10^{-3} mbar.l.s⁻¹ at 20°C.

5.4.5.2.2.3 Any filled aerosol dispenser which shows evidence of leakage, deformation or excessive mass must be rejected.

5.4.5.2.3 *Gas cartridges and fuel cell cartridges*

5.4.5.2.3.1 *Pressure testing of gas cartridges and fuel cell cartridges*

5.4.5.2.3.1.1 Each gas cartridge or fuel cell cartridge must be subjected to a test pressure equal to or in excess of the maximum expected in the filled receptacle at 55°C (50°C if the liquid phase does not exceed 95 per cent of the capacity of the receptacle at 50°C). This test pressure must be that specified for the gas cartridge or fuel cell cartridge and must not be less than two thirds the design pressure of the gas cartridge or fuel cell cartridge. If any gas cartridge or fuel cell cartridge shows evidence of leakage at a rate equal to or greater than 3.3×10^{-2} mbar.l.s⁻¹ at the test pressure, distortion or any other defect, it must be rejected.

5.4.5.2.3.2 *Leak testing gas cartridges and fuel cell cartridges*

5.4.5.2.3.2.1 Prior to filling and sealing, the filler must ensure that the closures (if any) and the associated sealing equipment are closed appropriately and the specified gas is used.

5.4.5.2.3.2.2 Each filled gas cartridge or fuel cell cartridge must be checked for the correct mass of gas and must be leak tested. The leak detection equipment must be sufficiently sensitive to detect at least a leak rate of 2.0×10^{-3} mbar.l.s⁻¹ at 20°C.

5.4.5.2.3.2.3 Any gas cartridge or fuel cell cartridge that has a gas mass not in conformity with the declared mass limits or shows evidence of leakage or deformation, must be rejected.

5.4.5.3 With the approval of the appropriate national authority, aerosols and receptacles, small, are not subject to 5.4.2.1 and 5.4.5.2 if they are required to be sterile, but may be adversely affected by water bath testing, provided:

- a) they contain a non-flammable gas and either:
 - i) contain other substances that are constituent parts of pharmaceutical products for medical, veterinary or similar purposes; or
 - ii) contain other substances used in the production process for pharmaceutical products; or
 - iii) are used in medical, veterinary or similar applications;
- b) an equivalent level of safety is achieved by the manufacturer's use of alternative methods for leak detection and pressure resistance, such as helium detection and water bathing using a statistical sample of at least 1 in 2 000 from each production batch; and
- c) for pharmaceutical products according to a) i) and iii) above, they are manufactured under the authority of a national health administration. If required by the appropriate national authority, the principles of Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) established by the World Health Organization (WHO)³ must be followed.

³. WHO Publication: Quality assurance of pharmaceuticals. A compendium of guidelines and related materials. Volume 2: Good manufacturing practices and inspection.

Chapter 6

PACKAGINGS FOR INFECTIOUS SUBSTANCES OF CATEGORY A (UN 2814 AND UN 2900)

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.8 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.9 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 6.3.2.1 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

6.2 REQUIREMENTS FOR PACKAGINGS

6.2.1 The requirements for packagings in this section are based on packagings, as specified in Chapter 2, currently used. In order to take into account progress in science and technology, there is no objection to the use of packagings having specifications different from those in this chapter provided that they are equally effective, acceptable to the competent authority and able to successfully to withstand the tests fulfil the requirements described in 6.5. Methods of testing other than those described in these Instructions are acceptable provided they are equivalent.

6.2.2 Packagings must be manufactured and tested under a quality assurance programme which satisfies the competent authority in order to ensure that each packaging meets the requirements of this chapter.

The following note is in the Model Regulations but not the Technical Instructions, so added for sake of alignment:

Note.— ISO 16106:2020 Transport packages for dangerous goods — Dangerous goods packagings, intermediate bulk containers (IBCs) and large packagings — Guidelines for the application of ISO 9001 provides acceptable guidance on procedures which may be followed.

6.2.3 Manufacturers and subsequent distributors of packagings must provide information regarding procedures to be followed (including closure instructions for inner packagings and receptacles), a description of the types and dimensions of the closures (including required gaskets) and any other components needed to ensure that packages, as presented for transport, are capable of passing the applicable performance tests of this chapter.

...

UN Model Regulations, 6.4.12.1 (see Corrigendum No. 1 to ST/SG/AC.10/1/Rev.21, Vol. I and II):

6.5.3.2.2 Where the samples are in the shape of a drum or a jerrican, three must be dropped, one in each of the following orientations:

- a) diagonally on the top ~~chime~~ edge, with the centre of gravity directly above the point of impact;
- b) diagonally on the base ~~chime~~ edge;
- c) flat on the body or side.

...

Chapter 7

REQUIREMENTS FOR THE CONSTRUCTION, TESTING AND APPROVAL OF PACKAGES FOR RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL AND FOR THE APPROVAL OF SUCH MATERIAL

...

UN harmonization amendments

7.11 TEST PROCEDURES AND DEMONSTRATION OF COMPLIANCE

Paragraphs 1.2.1.8 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.9 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 6.4.12.1 (see Corrigendum No. 1 to ST/SG/AC.10/1/Rev.21, Vol. I and II):

7.11.1 Demonstration of compliance with the performance standards required in ~~2;7.2.3.1.3, 2;7.2.3.1.4, 2;7.2.3.3.1, 2;7.2.3.3.2, 2;7.2.3.4.1, 2;7.2.3.4.2, 2;7.2.3.4.3~~ and 6;7.1 to 6;7.10 must be accomplished by any of the methods listed below or by a combination thereof:

- a) Performance of tests with specimens representing special form radioactive material, or low dispersible radioactive material or with prototypes or samples of the packaging, where the contents of the specimen or the packaging for the tests must simulate, as closely as practicable, the expected range of radioactive contents and the specimen or packaging to be tested must be prepared as presented for transport;
- b) Reference to previous satisfactory demonstrations of a sufficiently similar nature;
- c) Performance of tests with models of appropriate scale incorporating those features which are significant with respect to the item under investigation when engineering experience has shown results of such tests to be suitable for design purposes. When a scale model is used, the need for adjusting certain test parameters, such as penetrator diameter or compressive load, must be taken into account;
- d) Calculation, or reasoned argument, when the calculation procedures and parameters are generally agreed to be reliable or conservative.

7.11.2 After the specimen, prototype or sample has been subjected to the tests, appropriate methods of assessment must be used to assure that the requirements for the test procedures have been fulfilled in compliance with the performance and acceptance standards prescribed in ~~2;7.2.3.1.3, 2;7.2.3.1.4, 2;7.2.3.3.1, 2;7.2.3.3.2, 2;7.2.3.4.1, 2;7.2.3.4.2, 2;7.2.3.4.3~~ and 6;7.1 to 6;7.10.

7.11.3 All specimens must be inspected before testing in order to identify and record faults or damage including the following:

- a) divergence from the design;
- b) defects in manufacture;
- c) corrosion or other deterioration; and
- d) distortion of features.

The containment system of the package must be clearly specified. The external features of the specimen must be clearly identified so that reference may be made simply and clearly to any part of such a specimen.

UN Model Regulations, 6.4.24.1 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

7.24 TRANSITIONAL MEASURES FOR CLASS 7

7.24.1 Packages not requiring competent authority approval of design under the 1985, 1985 (As AMENDED 1990), 1996-edition, 1996-edition (revised), 1996 (as amended 2003), 2005, 2009 and 2012 editions of the IAEA Safety Series No. 6 and 2012 edition of IAEA Safety Standards Series No. SSR-6 Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material

≠ Packages not requiring competent authority approval of design (excepted packages, Type IP-1, Type IP-2, Type IP-3 and Type A packages) must meet these Instructions in full, except that:

- a) packages that meet the requirements of the 1985 or 1985 (As Amended 1990) Editions of ~~IAEA Safety Series No. 6~~ the IAEA Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material:
 - i) may continue in transport provided that they were prepared for transport prior to 31 December 2003, and are subject to the requirements of 6.4.24.4 of the UN Model Regulations, if applicable;
 - ii) may continue to be used, provided that all of the following conditions are met:
 - 1) they were not designed to contain uranium hexafluoride;
 - 2) the applicable requirements of 1;6.3 of these Instructions are applied;
 - 3) the activity limits and classification in Part 2;7 of these Instructions are applied;
 - 4) the requirements and controls for transport in Parts 1, 3, 4, 5 and 7 of these Instructions are applied;
 - 5) the packaging was not manufactured or modified after 31 December 2003.
- b) packages that meet the requirements of the 1996, 1996 (revised), 1996 (as amended 2003), 2005 ~~or~~, 2009 or 2012 Editions of ~~IAEA Safety Series No. 6, or 2012 Edition of IAEA Safety Standards Series No. SSR-6~~ the IAEA Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material:
 - i) may continue in transport provided that they were prepared for transport prior to 31 December 2025 and are subject to the requirements of 6.4.24.4 of the UN Model Regulations, if applicable; or
 - ii) may continue to be used, provided that all the following conditions are met:
 - 1) the applicable requirements of 1;6.3 of these Instructions are applied;
 - 2) the activity limits and classification in Part 2;7 of these Instructions are applied;
 - 3) the requirements and controls for transport in Parts 1, 3, 4, 5 and 7 of these Instructions are applied; and
 - 4) the packaging was not manufactured or modified after 31 December 2025.

UN Model Regulations, 6.4.24.2 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

7.24.2 Package designs approved under the 1985, 1985 (As amended 1990), 1996, 1996 (revised), 1996 (as amended 2003), 2005 and, 2009 and 2012 Editions of the IAEA Safety Series No. 6 and 2012 Edition of IAEA Safety Standards Series No. SSR-6 Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material

7.24.2.1 Packages requiring competent authority approval of the design must meet these Instructions in full except that:

- a) packagings that were manufactured to a package design approved by the competent authority under the provisions of the 1985 or 1985 (As Amended 1990) Editions of ~~the IAEA Safety Series No. 6~~ Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material may continue to be used provided that all of the following conditions are met:
 - i) the package design is subject to multilateral approval;
 - ii) the applicable requirements of 1;6.3 of these Instructions are applied;
 - iii) the activity limits and classification in Part 2;7 of these Instructions are applied;

- iv) the requirements and controls for transport in in Parts 1, 3, 4, 5 and 7 of these Instructions are applied;
- v) for a package containing fissile material and transported by air, the requirement of 7.10.11 is met;
- b) packagings that were manufactured to a package design approved by the competent authority under the provisions of the 1996, 1996 (revised), 1996 (as amended 2003), 2005-~~or~~ 2009 or 2012 Editions of ~~the IAEA Safety Series No. 6, or 2012 Edition of IAEA Safety Standards Series No. SSR-6~~ Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material may continue to be used provided that all of the following conditions are met:
 - i) the package design is subject to multilateral approval after 31 December 2025;
 - ii) the applicable requirements of 1;6.3 of these Instructions are applied;
 - iii) the activity limits and material restrictions of Part 2;7 of these Instructions are applied;
 - iv) the requirements and controls for transport in Parts 1, 3, 4, 5 and 7 of these Instructions are applied.

UN Model Regulations, 6.4.24.3 (see Corrigendum No. 1 to ST/SG/AC.10/1/Rev.21, Vol. I and II):

7.24.2.2 No new manufacture of packagings to a package design meeting the provisions of the ~~1973, 1973 (As Amended), 1985, and 1985 (As Amended 1990) Editions of the IAEA Safety Series No. 6~~ Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material is permitted to commence.

UN Model Regulations, 6.4.24.4 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

7.24.2.3 No new manufacture of packagings of a package design meeting the provisions of the 1996, 1996 (revised), 1996 (as amended 2003), 2005-~~or~~ 2009 or 2012 Editions of ~~the IAEA Safety Series No. 6, or 2012 Edition of IAEA Safety Standards Series No. SSR-6~~ Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material is permitted to commence after 31 December 2028.

UN Model Regulations, 6.4.24.6 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

7.24.3 Special ~~FORM~~ form radioactive material approved under the 1985, 1985 (As amended 1990), 1996, 1996 (revised), 1996 (as amended 2003), 2005-~~or~~ 2009 and 2012 Editions of ~~the IAEA Safety Series No. 6 or 2012 Edition of IAEA Safety Standards Series No. SSR-6~~ Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material

Special form radioactive material manufactured to a design that ~~which~~ had received unilateral approval by the competent authority under the 1985, 1985 (As Amended 1990), 1996, 1996 (revised), 1996 (as amended 2003), 2005-~~and~~ 2009 and 2012 editions of ~~the IAEA Safety Series No. 6 and 2012 Edition of IAEA Safety Standards Series No. SSR-6~~ Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material may continue to be used when in compliance with the mandatory management system in accordance with the applicable requirements of 1;6.3. There must be no new manufacture of special form radioactive material to a design that had received unilateral approval by the competent authority under the 1985 or 1985 (As amended 1990) Editions of ~~the IAEA Safety Series No. 6~~ Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material. No new manufacture of special form radioactive material to a design that had received unilateral approval by the competent authority under the 1996, 1996 (revised), 1996 (as amended 2003), 2005-~~and~~ 2009 Editions of ~~IAEA Safety Series No. 6, and 2012 Editions of the IAEA Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material~~ Safety Standards Series No. SSR-6 is permitted to commence after 31 December 2025.

...

Part 7

OPERATOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES

...

Chapter 2

STORAGE AND LOADING

Amendments to manage aviation specific risks

...

Paragraph 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.16 of DGP/28-WP/3:

2.7 REPLACEMENT OF MARKS AND LABELS

When an operator discovers that any of the marks required by 5;2.4.9, 5;2.4.11, 5;2.4.12 or 5;2.4.16 or labels for packages of dangerous goods have become lost, detached or illegible the operator must replace them with appropriate marks or labels in accordance with the information provided on the dangerous goods transport document or other transport document, such as an air waybill, when applicable.

...

Amendments to facilitate transport

Paragraphs 2.2.1, 3.8 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.21 of DGP/28-WP/3:

2.13 LOADING OF BATTERY-POWERED MOBILITY AIDS CARRIED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF PART 8

2.13.1 Loading of mobility aids powered by non-spillable wet batteries or batteries which comply with Special Provision A123 or A199

2.13.1.1 An operator must secure, by use of straps, tie-downs or other restraint devices, a battery-powered mobility aid with installed ~~batteries~~ battery(ies). The mobility aid, the ~~batteries~~ battery(ies), electrical cabling and controls must be protected from damage including by the movement of baggage, mail or cargo.

2.13.1.2 An operator must verify that:

a) the passenger has confirmed that the battery(ies) is:

- 1) a non-spillable wet battery that complies with Special Provision A67;
- 2) a dry battery that complies with Special Provision A123; or
- 3) a nickel-metal hydride battery that complies with Special Provision A199.

b) the battery terminals are protected from short circuits (e.g. by being enclosed within a battery container);

c) the battery(ies) is either:

- 1) adequately protected against damage by the design of the mobility aid and securely attached to the mobility aid ~~and the~~. The electrical circuits ~~are~~ must be isolated following the manufacturer's instructions; or

- 2) removed by the user, if the mobility aid is specifically designed to allow it to be from the mobility aid, following the manufacturer's instructions; and

d) a maximum of one non-spillable wet spare battery is carried per passenger.

2.13.1.3 An operator must ensure that any battery(ies) removed from the mobility aid and any spare battery are carried in strong, rigid packagings, protected from short circuit and stowed in the cargo compartment.

2.13.1.4 The operator must inform the pilot-in-command of the location of any mobility aids with installed batteries battery(ies), removed batteries battery(ies) and spare batteries battery(ies).

2.13.2 Loading of mobility aids powered by spillable batteries

2.13.2.1 An operator must secure, by use of straps, tie-downs or other restraint devices, a battery-powered mobility aid with installed batteries battery(ies). The mobility aid, the batteries battery(ies), electrical cabling and controls must be protected from damage including by the movement of baggage, mail or cargo.

2.13.2.2 An operator must verify that:

- a) the battery terminals are protected from short circuits (e.g. by being enclosed within a battery container);
- b) the battery(ies) is fitted, where feasible, with spill resistant-vent caps; and
- c) the battery(ies) is either:
 - 1) adequately protected against damage by the design of the mobility aid and securely attached to the mobility aid and the. The electrical circuits are must be isolated following the manufacturer's instructions; or
 - 2) removed from the mobility aid, following the manufacturer's instructions when required by 2.13.2.3.

2.13.2.3 An operator must load, stow, secure, and unload a spillable battery-powered mobility aid in an upright position. If the mobility aid cannot be loaded, stowed, secured and unloaded always in an upright position or if the mobility aid does not adequately protect the battery(ies), the operator must remove the batteries battery(ies) and carry them in strong, rigid packagings, as follows:

- a) packagings must be leak-tight, impervious to battery fluid and be protected against being overturned by securing them to pallets or by securing them in cargo compartments using appropriate means of securement;
- b) batteries battery(ies) must be protected against short circuits, secured upright in these packagings and surrounded by compatible absorbent material sufficient to absorb their total liquid contents; and
- c) these packagings must be marked "Battery, wet, with wheelchair" or "Battery, wet, with mobility aid" and be labelled with a Corrosive" label (Figure 5-24) and with package orientation labels (Figure 5-29) as required by 5;3.

2.13.2.4 The operator must inform the pilot-in-command of the location of any mobility aids with installed spillable batteries battery(ies) and removed batteries battery(ies).

2.13.3 Loading of mobility aids powered by lithium ion batteries

2.13.3.1 An operator must secure, by use of straps, tie-downs or other restraint devices, a battery-powered mobility aid with installed batteries battery(ies). The mobility aid, the batteries battery(ies), electrical cabling and controls must be protected from damage including by the movement of baggage, mail or cargo.

2.13.3.2 An operator must verify that:

- a) the battery terminals are protected from short circuits (e.g. by being enclosed within a battery container);
- b) the battery battery(ies) is either:
 - 1) adequately protected against damage by the design of the mobility aid and securely attached to the mobility aid and the. The electrical circuits are must be isolated following the manufacturer's instructions; or
 - 2) removed by the user, if the mobility aid is specifically designed to allow it to be from the mobility aid, following the manufacturer's instructions; and

- c) ~~the each~~ removed battery does not exceed 300 Wh and that its spare battery does not exceed 300 Wh or its two spare batteries do not exceed 160 Wh each. A maximum of one spare battery not exceeding 300 Wh or two spare batteries with each not exceeding 160 Wh may be carried.

2.13.3.3 An operator must ensure that any battery(ies) removed from the mobility aid and any spare-batteries battery(ies) are carried in the cabin and protected from damage (e.g., by placing each battery in a protective pouch) and the battery terminals protected from short circuit (by insulating the terminals, e.g. by taping over exposed terminals).

2.13.3.4 The operator must inform the pilot-in-command of the location of any mobility aids with installed lithium ion batteries battery(ies), removed-batteries battery(ies) and spare-batteries battery(ies).

...

Chapter 4

PROVISION OF INFORMATION

4.1 INFORMATION TO THE PILOT-IN-COMMAND

...

Table 7-9. Dangerous goods not required to appear in the information to the pilot-in-command

<i>UN Number</i>	<i>Item</i>	<i>Reference</i>
...		
Amendments to lithium battery provisions		
Paragraph 4.1 of this report:		
UN 3090	Lithium metal batteries (including lithium alloy batteries) when meeting the requirements of Packing Instruction 968, Section II	Packing Instruction 968, Section II
UN 3091	Lithium metal batteries contained in equipment (including lithium alloy batteries) when meeting the requirements of Packing Instruction 970, Section II	Packing Instruction 970, Section II
UN 3091	Lithium metal batteries packed with equipment (including lithium alloy batteries) when meeting the requirements of Packing Instruction 969, Section II	Packing Instruction 969, Section II
Amendments to manage aviation specific risks		
Paragraphs 2.2.1 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.17 of DGP/28-WP/3:		
<u>UN 3164</u>	<u>Articles, pressurized, hydraulic</u> containing non-flammable gas when meeting the requirements of Packing Instruction 208 a)	<u>Packing Instruction 208, a)</u>
<u>UN 3164</u>	<u>Articles, pressurized, pneumatic</u> containing non-flammable gas when meeting the requirements of Packing Instruction 208 a)	<u>Packing Instruction 208, a)</u>
UN 3245	Genetically modified micro-organisms	Packing Instruction 959
...		

<i>UN Number</i>	<i>Item</i>	<i>Reference</i>
Amendments to lithium battery provisions		
Paragraph 4.1 of this report:		
UN 3480	Lithium ion batteries (including lithium ion polymer batteries) when meeting the requirements of Packing Instruction 965, Section II	Packing Instruction 965, Section II
UN 3481	Lithium ion batteries contained in equipment (including lithium ion polymer batteries) when meeting the requirements of Packing Instruction 967, Section II	Packing Instruction 967, Section II
UN 3481	Lithium ion batteries packed with equipment (including lithium ion polymer batteries) when meeting the requirements of Packing Instruction 966, Section II	Packing Instruction 966, Section II

...

Part 8

PROVISIONS CONCERNING PASSENGERS AND CREW

...

Chapter 1

PROVISIONS FOR DANGEROUS GOODS CARRIED BY PASSENGERS OR CREW

...

Amendments to facilitate transport

Table 8-1. Provisions for dangerous goods carried by passengers or crew

<i>Dangerous Goods</i>	<i>Location</i>		<i>Approval of the operator(s) is required</i>	<i>Restrictions</i>
	<i>Checked baggage</i>	<i>Carry-on baggage</i>		
Batteries				

...

Paragraphs 2.2.1, 3.8 and 8.1 of this report and 3.2.2.21 of DGP/28-WP/3 Report:

4)	Mobility aids (e.g. wheelchairs) powered by:	Yes	(see e) ⁱⁱ⁾	Yes	<p>a) for use by passengers whose mobility is restricted by either a disability, their health or age, or a temporary mobility problem (e.g. broken leg);</p> <p>b) the passenger should make advance arrangements with each operator and provide information on the type of battery installed and on the handling of the mobility aid (including instructions on how to isolate the battery);</p> <p><u>c) the battery(ies) is either:</u></p> <p><u>i) adequately protected against damage by the design of the mobility aid and securely attached to the mobility aid. The electrical circuits must be isolated following the manufacturer's instructions; or</u></p> <p><u>ii) removed from the mobility aid, following the manufacturer's instructions;</u></p> <p><u>d) the battery terminals must be protected from short circuits (e.g. by being enclosed in a battery container);</u></p> <p><u>e) all removed and spare battery(ies) must be protected from damage (e.g. by placing each battery in a strong, rigid packaging);</u></p>
	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> – spillable batteries; – non-spillable wet batteries; – dry batteries; – nickel-metal hydride batteries; or – lithium ion batteries 				

<i>Dangerous Goods</i>	<i>Location</i>		<i>Approval of the operator(s) is required</i>	<i>Restrictions</i>
	<i>Checked baggage</i>	<i>Carry-on baggage</i>		
				<p>f) in the case of a spillable battery, if the mobility aid cannot be loaded, stowed, secured and unloaded always in an upright position, the battery must be removed and carried in a strong, rigid packaging;</p> <p>eg) in the case of a dry battery or nickel-metal hydride battery, each battery must comply with Special Provision A123 or A199, respectively;</p> <p>dh) in the case of a non-spillable wet battery:</p> <p>i) each battery must comply with Special Provision A67; and</p> <p>ii) a maximum of one spare battery may be carried per passenger;</p> <p>ei) in the case of a lithium ion battery:</p> <p>i) each battery must be of a type which meets the requirements of each test in the <i>UN Manual of Tests and Criteria</i>, Part III, subsection 38.3;</p> <p>ii) when the mobility aid does not provide adequate protection to the battery:</p> <p>the battery must be removed in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions;</p> <p>the battery must not exceed 300 Wh;</p> <p>the battery terminals must be protected from short circuit (by insulating the terminals, e.g. by taping over exposed terminals);</p> <p>the battery must be protected from damage (e.g. by placing each battery in a protective pouch); and</p> <p>the battery must be carried in the cabin; if the battery(ies) is removed:</p> <p>— each battery must not exceed 300 Wh; and</p> <p>— the battery(ies) must be carried in the cabin;</p> <p>iii) a maximum of one spare battery not exceeding 300 Wh or two spare batteries not exceeding 160 Wh each may be carried. Spare batteries <u>battery(ies)</u> must be carried in the cabin.</p>

...

Attachment 1

LISTS OF PROPER SHIPPING NAMES

Editorial Note.— Consequential amendments to Attachment 1;1 will be generated automatically based on changes to Table 3-1.

...

Chapter 2

LIST OF N.O.S. AND GENERIC PROPER SHIPPING NAMES

...

THE MOST SPECIFIC APPLICABLE NAME MUST ALWAYS BE USED

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 1.2.1.10 and 8.1 of this report and 3.1.2.10 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, Appendix A (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

<i>Class or Division</i>	<i>Subsidiary hazard</i>	<i>UN No.</i>	<i>Proper shipping name</i>
------------------------------	------------------------------	-------------------	-----------------------------

...

CLASS 7

General entries

7		2908	Radioactive material, excepted package — empty packaging
7		2909	Radioactive material, excepted package — articles manufactured from natural uranium or depleted uranium or natural thorium
7		2910	Radioactive material, excepted package — limited quantity of material
7		2911	Radioactive material, excepted package — instruments or articles
7		2912	Radioactive material, low specific activity (LSA-I), non-fissile or fissile excepted
7		2913	Radioactive material, surface contaminated objects (SCO-I, SCO-II or SCO-III), non-fissile or fissile excepted

...

Amendments to facilitate transport

Paragraph 3.4 of this report:

Attachment 2

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Glossary of terms

<i>Term and explanation</i>	<i>UN Number(s), when relevant</i>
AIRCRAFT ENGINES. Generic term for engines powering flying craft fuelled by flammable liquid (jet-fuel, petrol, kerosene, etc.) which applies to piston designs, turbine designs and includes auxiliary power units (APU). . . .	3166 <u>3528</u>
FUEL CELL ENGINE. See Part 1;3.1. . . .	3166 <u>3528, 3529</u>
<u>GAS</u> TURBINE ENGINES. Generic term used for turbine engines fuelled by flammable liquid, flammable gas or other combustible fuels. They may power fixed wing aircraft, rotorcraft, hover craft (cushion craft), marine vessels, land vehicles, pumps and power-generating plants. . . .	3166 <u>3528, 3529</u>

— — — — —

APPENDIX B TO THE REPORT**CONSOLIDATED AMENDMENTS TO THE SUPPLEMENT TO THE
TECHNICAL INSTRUCTIONS RECOMMENDED UNDER AGENDA
ITEMS 1, 2, 3 AND 4****Part S-3****DANGEROUS GOODS LIST,
SPECIAL PROVISIONS AND QUANTITY LIMITATIONS****Chapter 1****GENERAL**

...

1.2 QUANTITY LIMITATIONS AND PACKING REQUIREMENTS

...

Amendments to manage aviation specific risks

Paragraphs 2.3.1 and 8.1 of this report and paragraph 3.2.3.1 of DGP/28-WP/3:

1.2.3 In the case of Special Provision A2, dangerous goods may be transported on ~~passenger and~~ cargo aircraft **only** with the prior approval of the appropriate authority of the State of Origin and the State of the Operator provided that the quantity per package does not exceed the quantity shown in Table S-3-1 and the packing is in accordance with the packing instruction indicated by Table S-3-1. The detailed requirements of the packing instruction are given in Part S-4, unless they already appear in the Technical Instructions. The consignment must be accompanied by a copy of the documents of approval showing the quantity limitations and packing and labelling requirements.

...

Chapter 2

SUPPLEMENTARY DANGEROUS GOODS LIST

UN harmonization amendments

Name 1	UN No. 2	Class or divi- sion 3	Sub- sidiary hazard 4	Labels 5	State vari- ations 6	Special provi- sions 7	UN packing group 8	Excepted quantity 9	Passenger and cargo aircraft		Cargo aircraft only	
									Packing instruction 10	Max. net quantity per package 11	Packing instruction 12	Max. net quantity per package 13

Paragraphs 2.3.1 and 8.1 of this report and paragraph 3.1.3.1.1 a) DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, Chapter 3.2, dangerous goods list (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Articles containing non-flammable, non toxic gas, n.o.s.*	3538	2.2	See 2;0.6	Gas non-flammable		A2 A333 A335			FORBIDDEN		221	450 kg No limit
---	------	-----	-----------	-------------------	--	--------------------	--	--	-----------	--	-----	-----------------

Paragraph 2.2.3 of this report:

Metal catalyst, dry*	2881	4.2		Spontaneous combustion		A1 A3 A36	I II	E0	FORBIDDEN 473	(15 kg)	FORBIDDEN 473	FORBIDDEN 50 kg
----------------------	------	-----	--	------------------------	--	-----------------	---------	----	------------------	---------	------------------	--------------------

...

Chapter 6

SPECIAL PROVISIONS

...

UN harmonization amendments

Table S-3-4. Special Provisions

Supplementary special provisions

...

Paragraphs 2.3.1 and 8.1 of this report and paragraph 3.1.3.1 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, Chapter 3.3, SP 396 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

A335 (396) Large and robust articles may be transported with connected gas cylinders with the valves open regardless of Part 4;4.1.1.5 of the Technical Instructions provided:

- a) the gas cylinders contain nitrogen of UN 1066 or compressed gas of UN 1956 or compressed air of UN 1002;
- b) the gas cylinders are connected with the article through pressure regulators and fixed piping in such a way that the pressure of the gas (gauge pressure) in the article does not exceed 35 kPa (0.35 bar);
- c) the gas cylinders are properly secured so that they cannot move in relation to the article and are fitted with strong and pressure resistant hoses and pipes;
- d) the gas cylinders, pressure regulators, piping and other components are protected from damage and impacts during transport by wooden crates or other suitable means; and
- e) the transport document includes a statement indicating that transport is in accordance with this special provision.

Paragraphs 2.3.1 and 8.1 of this report and paragraph 3.1.3.1.1 b) of DGP/28-WP/3:

- f) operators must be made aware when the gas contained in the gas cylinder poses an asphyxiation hazard so that the appropriate precautions can be taken.

...

Part S-4

PACKING INSTRUCTIONS

...

Chapter 4

CLASS 2 — GASES

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 2.3.1 and 8.1 of this report, paragraph 3.1.3.1.1 c) DGP/28-WP/3 and paragraph 1.3.1.1 a) of this report:

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.4.1, P200(5) (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Packing Instruction 200

For cylinders, the general packing requirements of 4;1.1 and 4;4.1.1 must be met.

...

6) "Special packing provisions":

Material compatibility

- a) Aluminium alloy cylinders are forbidden.
- b) Copper valves are forbidden.
- c) Metal parts in contact with the contents must not contain more than 65 per cent copper.
- d) When steel cylinders or composite cylinders with steel liners are used, only those bearing the "H" mark in accordance with 6;5.2.7.4 p) are permitted.

...

...

Paragraph 1.3.1.1 b) of this report:

Packing Instruction 203

Passenger and cargo aircraft for UN 1950 and 2037 only

The general packing requirements of 4;1 must be met.

For the purposes of this packing instruction, a receptacle is considered to be an inner packaging.

Note.— “Receptacle” has the same meaning as set out in 1;3. Any reference in this packing instruction to receptacle will include “aerosols” of UN 1950 and “receptacles, small, containing gas” and “gas cartridges” of UN 2037.

~~Metal aerosols (IP.7, IP.7A, IP.7B) and non-refillable receptacles containing gas (gas cartridges)~~ Aerosols and receptacles, small containing gas (gas cartridges) must meet the requirements of Part 6;5.4 of the Technical Instructions.

The capacity of metal receptacles must not exceed 1 000 mL; plastics receptacles must not exceed 500 mL.

~~Non-refillable metal aerosols and non-refillable receptacles containing gas (gas cartridges) must not exceed 1 000 mL capacity.~~

~~The following conditions must be met:~~

- ~~a) the pressure in the receptacle must not exceed 1 500 kPa at 55°C and each receptacle must be capable of withstanding without bursting a pressure of at least 1.5 times the equilibrium pressure of the contents at 55°C;~~
- ~~b) if the pressure in the receptacle exceeds 970 kPa at 55°C but does not exceed 1 105 kPa at 55°C, an IP.7, IP.7A or IP.7B metal receptacle must be used;~~
- ~~c) if the pressure in the receptacle exceeds 1 105 kPa at 55°C but does not exceed 1 245 kPa at 55°C, an IP.7A or IP.7B metal receptacle must be used;~~
- ~~d) if the pressure in the receptacle exceeds 1 245 kPa at 55°C, an IP.7B metal receptacle must be used;~~
- ~~e) IP.7B metal receptacles having a minimum burst pressure of 1 800 kPa may be equipped with an inner capsule charged with a non-flammable, non-toxic compressed gas to provide the propellant function. In this case, the pressures indicated in a), b), c) or d) do not apply to the pressure within the capsule for an aerosol. The quantity of gas contained in the capsule must be so limited such that the minimum burst pressure of the receptacle would not be exceeded if the entire gas content of the capsule were released into the outer metal receptacle;~~
- ~~f) the liquid content must not completely fill the closed receptacle at 55°C;~~
- ~~g) each receptacle exceeding 120 mL capacity must have been heated until the pressure in the receptacle is equivalent to the equilibrium pressure of the contents at 55°C, without evidence of leakage, distortion or other defect.~~

Plastic aerosols (IP.7C)

~~Non-refillable plastic aerosols must not exceed 120 mL capacity, except when the propellant is a non-flammable, non-toxic gas and the contents are not dangerous goods in accordance with the provisions of the Technical Instructions, in which case the quantity must not exceed 500 mL.~~

~~The following conditions must be met:~~

- ~~a) the contents must not completely fill the closed receptacle at 55°C;~~
- ~~b) the pressure in the receptacle may not exceed 970 kPa at 55°C; and~~
- ~~c) each receptacle must be leak tested in accordance with the provisions of 6;3.2.8.1.6 of the Technical Instructions.~~

Non-flammable aerosols containing medical preparations or biological products

~~Aerosols, non-flammable, containing only a non-toxic substance or substances and biological products or a medical preparation which will be deteriorated by a heat test, are acceptable in inner non-refillable receptacles not exceeding 575 mL capacity each, providing all the following conditions are met:~~

- ~~a) the pressure in the aerosol must not exceed 970 kPa at 55°C;~~
- ~~b) the liquid contents must not completely fill the closed receptacle at 55°C;~~
- ~~c) one aerosol out of each lot of 500 or less must be heated until the pressure in the aerosol is equivalent to the equilibrium pressure of the contents at 55°C, without evidence of leakage, distortion or other defect;~~
- ~~d) the valves must be protected by a cap or other suitable means during transport.~~

UN number and name	Net quantity per package	
	Passenger	Cargo
UN 1950 Aerosols , flammable	75 kg	150 kg
UN 1950 Aerosols , flammable (engine starting fluid)	(75 kg)	150 kg
UN 1950 Aerosols , non-flammable	75 kg	150 kg
UN 1950 Aerosols , non-flammable (tear gas devices)	(25 kg)	50 kg
UN 2037 Gas cartridges	1 kg	15 kg
UN 2037 Receptacles, small, containing gas	1 kg	15 kg

ADDITIONAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

- Packagings must meet Packing Group II performance requirements.
- Release valves on aerosols must be protected by a cap or other suitable means to prevent inadvertent release of the contents during normal conditions of air transport.
- Receptacles must be tightly packed, so as to prevent movement.

UN 1950 Aerosols, non-flammable (tear gas devices) — Cargo Aircraft Only

- ~~Only metal receptacles, IP.7, IP.7A, IP.7B are permitted. The aerosols must be individually placed into spiral wound tubes fitted with metal ends or a double-faced fibreboard box with suitable padding before being packed into the outer packaging.~~

OUTER PACKAGINGS (see 6;3.1)*Boxes*

Aluminium (4B)
 Fibreboard (4G)
 Natural wood (4C1, 4C2)
 Other metal (4N)
 Plastics (4H1, 4H2)
 Plywood (4D)
 Reconstituted wood (4F)
 Steel (4A)

Drums

Aluminium (1B2)
 Fibre (1G)
 Other metal (1N2)
 Plastics (1H2)
 Plywood (1D)
 Steel (1A2)

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 2.3.1 and 8.1 of this report and paragraph 3.1.3.1 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.4.1, P208 (1)(a) and (11) (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Packing Instruction 219

For cylinders, the general packing requirements of 4.1.1 and 4.1.1 must be met.

This Instruction applies to Class 2 adsorbed gases.

- 1) The following packagings are permitted provided the general packing requirements of 4.1.1 are met:

Cylinders specified in 6.5 and in accordance with ISO 11513:2011, ISO 11513:2019, ~~or~~ ISO 9809-1:2010 or ISO 9809-1:2019.

- 2) The pressure of each filled cylinder must be less than 101.3 kPa at 20°C and less than 300 kPa at 50°C.
- 3) The minimum test pressure of the cylinder is 21 bar.
- 4) The minimum burst pressure of the cylinder is 94.5 bar.
- 5) The internal pressure at 65°C of the filled cylinder must not exceed the test pressure of the cylinder.
- 6) The adsorbent material must be compatible with the cylinder and must not form harmful or dangerous compounds with the gas to be adsorbed. The gas in combination with the adsorbent material must not affect or weaken the cylinder or cause a dangerous reaction (e.g. a catalyzing reaction).
- 7) The quality of the adsorbent material must be verified at the time of each fill to assure the pressure and chemical stability requirements of this packing instruction are met each time an adsorbed gas package is offered for transport.
- 8) The adsorbent material must not meet the criteria of any of the classes or divisions in these Instructions.
- 9) The filling procedure must be in accordance with Annex A of ISO 11513:2011 (applicable until 31 December 2024) or Annex A of ISO 11513:2019.
- 10) The maximum period for periodic inspections is five years.
- 11) The construction materials of the cylinders and their accessories must be compatible with the contents and must not react to form harmful or dangerous compounds therewith.

...

Chapter 8

CLASS 6 — TOXIC AND INFECTIOUS SUBSTANCES

...

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 2.3.1 and 8.1 of this report and paragraph 3.1.3.1 of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.4.1, P622, Additional requirement (1) (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Packing Instruction 622

Cargo aircraft only for UN 3549 only

...

ADDITIONAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

- Outer packaging must meet Packing Group I performance requirements for solids.
- Fragile articles must be contained in either a rigid inner packaging or a rigid intermediate packaging.
- Inner packagings containing sharp objects such as broken glass and needles must be rigid and resistant to puncture.
- The inner packaging, the intermediate packaging, and the outer packaging must be capable of retaining liquids. Outer packagings that are not capable of retaining liquids by design must be fitted with a liner or suitable measure of retaining liquids.
- The inner packaging and/or the intermediate packaging may be flexible. When flexible packagings are used, they must be capable of passing the impact resistance test ~~to~~ of at least 165 g according to ISO 7765-1:1988 *Plastics film and sheeting — Determination of impact resistance by the free-falling dart method — Part 1: Staircase methods* and the tear resistance test ~~to~~ of at least 480 g in both parallel and perpendicular planes with respect to the length of the bag in accordance with ISO 6383-2:1983 *Plastics — Film and sheeting — Determination of tear resistance — Part 2: Elmendorf method*. The maximum net mass of each flexible inner packaging must be 30 kg.
- Each flexible intermediate packaging must contain only one inner packaging.
- Inner packagings containing a small amount of free liquid may be included in intermediate packaging provided that there is sufficient absorbent or solidifying material in the inner or intermediate packaging to absorb or solidify all the liquid content present. Suitable absorbent material which withstands the temperatures and vibrations liable to occur under normal conditions of transport must be used.
- Intermediate packagings must be secured in outer packagings with suitable cushioning and/or absorbent material.

...

...

Chapter 11

CLASS 9 — MISCELLANEOUS DANGEROUS GOODS

Packing Instruction 910

Cargo aircraft only

Introduction

This packing instruction applies to UN Nos. 3090, 3091, 3480 and 3481 annual production runs consisting of not more than 100 cells or batteries and to pre-production prototypes of cells or batteries when these prototypes are transported for testing.

General requirements

Part 4, Chapter 1 requirements of the Technical Instructions must be met.

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraphs 2.3.1 and 8.1 of this report and paragraph 3.2.3.3 of DGP/28-WP/3:

Lithium ion cells and batteries (UN 3480), including when packed with or contained in equipment (UN 3481), must be offered for transport at a state of charge not exceeding 30 per cent of their rated capacity unless a higher state of charge is specifically approved by the States of Origin and the State of the Operator.

ADDITIONAL PACKING REQUIREMENTS

- Packagings, including large packagings, must meet the Packing Group I performance requirements.
- Cells and batteries must be protected against short circuit. Protection against short circuits includes, but is not limited to:
 - individual protection of the battery terminals;
 - inner packaging to prevent contact between cells and batteries;
 - batteries with recessed terminals designed to protect against short circuits; or
 - the use of an electrically non-conductive and non-combustible cushioning material to fill empty space between the cells or batteries in the packaging.

Cells and batteries, including when packed with equipment

- 1) Batteries and cells, including equipment, of different sizes, shapes or masses must be packaged in an outer packaging of a tested design type listed below provided the total gross mass of the package does not exceed the gross mass for which the design type has been tested. Rigid large packagings, as shown below, are permitted for a single battery; ~~including when packed with or contained in equipment~~;
- 2) Each cell or battery must be individually packed in an inner packaging and placed inside an outer packaging;
- 3) Each inner packaging must be completely surrounded by sufficient non-combustible and electrically non-conductive thermal insulation material to protect against a dangerous evolution of heat;
- 4) Appropriate measures must be taken to minimize the effects of vibration and shocks and prevent movement of the cells or batteries within the package that may lead to damage and a dangerous condition during transport. Cushioning material that is non-combustible and electrically non-conductive may be used to meet this requirement;
- 5) Non-combustibility must be assessed according to a standard recognized in the State where the packaging is designed or manufactured;
- 6) A cell or battery with a net mass of more than 30 kg is limited to one cell or battery per outer packaging.

Cells and batteries contained in equipment

- 1) Equipment of different sizes, shapes or masses must be packed in an outer packaging of a tested design type listed below provided the total gross mass of the package does not exceed the gross mass for which the design type has been tested. Rigid large packagings, as shown below, are permitted for a single item of equipment containing cells or batteries;
- 2) The equipment must be constructed or packaged in such a manner as to prevent accidental operation during transport;
- 3) Appropriate measures must be taken to minimize the effects of vibration and shocks and prevent movement of the equipment within the package that may lead to damage and a dangerous condition during transport. When cushioning material is used to meet this requirement it must be non-combustible and electrically non-conductive; and
- 4) Non-combustibility must be assessed according to a standard recognized in the State where the packaging is designed or manufactured.

Packagings not subject to Part 6 of the Technical Instructions

The equipment or batteries may be packed in outer packagings or protective enclosures not subject to the requirements of Part 6 of the Technical Instructions under conditions specified by the appropriate national authority. Additional conditions that may be considered in the approval process include, but are not limited to:

- 1) The equipment or the battery must be strong enough to withstand the shocks and loadings normally encountered during transport, including trans-shipment between unit load devices and between unit load devices and warehouses as well as any removal from a pallet or unit load device for subsequent manual or mechanical handling; and
- 2) The equipment or the battery must be fixed in cradles or crates or other handling devices in such a way that it will not become loose during normal conditions of transport.

UN harmonization amendments

Paragraphs 2.3.1 and 8.1 of this report and paragraph 3.1.2.7.1 b) of DGP/28-WP/3:

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.4.1, P910 (3) (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Note.— The packagings authorized may exceed a net mass of 400 kg (see 2.3).

...

...

Packing Instruction 974

Cargo aircraft only

Introduction

This packing instruction applies to UN Nos. 3090, 3091, 3480 and 3481 where the lithium cell or battery has a mass exceeding 35 kg.

Amendments to lithium battery provisions

Paragraph 4.4 of this report:

General requirements

Part 4, Chapter 1 requirements of the Technical Instructions must be met.

Lithium ion cells and batteries (UN 3480), including when packed with or contained in equipment (UN 3481), must be offered for transport at a state of charge not exceeding 30 per cent of their rated capacity unless a higher state of charge is specifically approved by the State of Origin and the State of the Operator.

...

Packagings not subject to Part 6 of the Technical Instructions

Lithium cells or batteries employing a strong, impact resistant outer casing may be transported:

- 1) in strong outer packagings;
- 2) in protective enclosures (e.g. in fully enclosed or wooden slatted crates); or
- 3) on pallets or other handling devices.

Cells or batteries must be secured to prevent inadvertent movement and the terminals must not support the weight of other superimposed elements.

UN harmonization amendments

UN Model Regulations, 4.1.4.1, P903 (see ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1)

Note.— The packagings authorized may exceed a net mass of 400 kg (see 2.3).

...

...

Amendments to manage aviation specific risks

Paragraphs 2.3.1 and 8.1 of this report and paragraph 3.2.3.2 of DGP/28-WP/3:

Part S-7

**STATE'S RESPONSIBILITIES
WITH RESPECT TO OPERATORS**

...

Chapter 2

STORAGE AND LOADING

...

Chapter 2

STORAGE AND LOADING

...

2.2 LOADING ON PASSENGER AIRCRAFT

...

2.2.2 The dangerous goods may only be in the following classes or divisions:

...

Class 9 (except UN 1931, UN 1941, UN 1990, UN 2211, UN 2590, UN 3268, UN 3314, UN 3316, UN 3363, ~~UN~~
~~ID~~ 8000)

...

المرفق (ج) بالتقرير

مشاريع التعديلات على وثيقة إرشادات التعامل مع حالات الطوارئ
المرتبطة بحوادث الطائرات الناتجة عن البضائع الخطرة"

التعديلات الهادفة إلى التصدي لمخاطر الطيران تحديدا

الفقرتان ١-٤-٢ و ١-٨ من هذا التقرير والفقرة ٣-٢-٤-١ من ورقة العمل DGP/28-WP/3:

....

القسم الأول

معلومات عامة

.....

١-٥ سهولة الوصول إلى البضائع الخطرة

.....

(ب) البضائع الخطرة المصنفة كما يلي

- (١) السوائل القابلة للاشتعال (الرتبة ٣)، فئة التغليف الثالثة، من غير السوائل ذات الأخطار الجانبية للرتبة ٨؛
- (٢) المواد السامة (الشعبة ٦-١) التي ليست لها مخاطر غير أخطار الرتبة ٣؛
- (٣) المواد المعدية (الرتبة ٦-٢)؛
- (٤) المواد المشعة (الرتبة ٧)؛
- (٥) البضائع الخطرة المختلفة (الرتبة ٩).
- (٦) رقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3528 محركات احتراق داخلي، تعمل بالغازات اللهبية، أو محركات خلايا وقودية، تعمل بالغازات اللهبية، أو آلات احتراق داخلي، تعمل بالغازات اللهبية، أو آلات خلايا وقودية، تعمل بالغازات اللهبية.
- (٧) رقم الأمم المتحدة UN 3529 محركات احتراق داخلي، تعمل بالغازات اللهبية، أو محركات خلايا وقودية، تعمل بالغازات اللهبية، أو آلات احتراق داخلي، تعمل بالغازات اللهبية، أو آلات خلايا وقودية، تعمل بالغازات اللهبية.

ولا يشترط توفير هذه السهولة في الوصول إلى البضائع الأخرى الخطرة (التي لا تحمل إشارة "للشحن على طائرات البضاعة فقط").

يحدد الفصل الثاني من الباب السابع من التعليمات الفنية جميع شروط تسهيل الوصول إلى البضائع الخطرة المشحونة على متن طائرات البضائع.

.....

الفقرة ٢-٤-١ من هذا التقرير.

مواءمة أرقام الأمم المتحدة واسم الشحن الأصلي مع لوائح الأمم المتحدة النموذجية، الفصل ٣-٢، قائمة البضائع الخطرة (أنظر ST/SG/AC.10/48/Add.1):

تعديل الجدولين ٢-٤ و ٣-٤ على النحو الموضح:

رقم الأمم المتحدة	رقم التصنيف	اسم الرسمي المستخدم في النقل
٣٥٥٠	6L	مسحوق ثنائي هايدروكسيد الكوبالت
١٨٩١	3P-6L	بروميد الأثيل
١١٦٩	3L	خلاصات عطرية سائلة
١١٩٧	3L	خلاصات سائلة مكسبة للنكهة
٢٩١٣	7L	مواد مشعة، أجسام ملوثة السطح (SCO-I, SCO-II) أو (SCO-III)، غير انشطارية أو انشطارية مستثناة

___ انتهى ___